
DPFG Management & Consulting, LLC www.dpfg.com

PARKLAND PRESERVE
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

Advanced Meeting Package

Regular Meeting
Meeting

Monday
April 16, 2018

9:30 a.m.

Location:
Fletcher Davis

101 E. Town Place
Suite 150

St. Augustine FL  32092

Note:  The Advanced Meeting Package is a working document and thus all materials 
are considered DRAFTS prior to presentation and Board acceptance, approval or 
adoption.



Parkland Preserve
Community Development District

DPFG Management & Consulting LLC
15310 Amberly Drive, Suite 175, Tampa, Florida 33647

Phone: 813-374-9105

Board of Supervisors
Parkland Preserve
Community Development District

Dear Board Members:

The Meeting of the Board of Supervisors of the Parkland Preserve Community Development District
is scheduled for Monday, April 16, 2018 at 9:30 a.m. at Fletcher Davis, 101 E. Town Place, Suite 
150, St. Augustine, FL  32092

The advanced copy of the agenda for the meeting is attached along with associated documentation
for your review and consideration. Any additional support material will be presented at the meeting.

The balance of the agenda is routine in nature and staff will present their reports at the meeting. If
you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me.

Sincerely,

Patricia Comings-Thibault 
District Manager



 
Parkland Preserve District 

Organizational Meeting Agenda 
 

       Date: Monday, April 16, 2018     
       Time: 9:30 a.m.       
        Location: Fletcher Davis 
    101 E. Town Place 
    Suite 101 
    St. Augustine FL 
                Dial-In #:    712-775-7031 
                          Guest Access Code:    109-516-380 
 

Board of Supervisors Meeting 
             
I. Call to Order 
 
II. Public Comment 
 
III. Organizational Matters 
 
 A. Affidavit of Publication 
 B. Review of Special Act and Chapter 189 and 190, Florida Statutes 
 C. Review of Sunshine Law and Code of Ethics for Public 
  Officers and Employees 
 D. Oaths of Office         
 E. Resolution 2018-01 Designating Officers    EXHIBIT 1 
 F. Resolution 2018-02 Setting a Landowners Election   EXHIBIT 2 
 
IV. Administrative Matters 
 
 A. Resolution 2018-03 Appointing District Manager   EXHIBIT 3 
  1. District Management Agreement 
 
 B. Resolution 2018-04 Appointing District Counsel    EXHIBIT 4 
  1. District Counsel Agreement 
 
 C. Resolution 2018-05 Designating Registered Agent and Office  EXHIBIT 5 
 
 D. Resolution 2018-06 Designating Local Records Office   EXHIBIT 6 
 
 E. Resolution 2018-07 Adopting a Records Retention Schedule  EXHIBIT 7 
 
 F. Resolution 2018-08 Authorization to Record “Notice of   EXHIBIT 8  
  Establishment” 
 
 G. Resolution 2018-09 Setting Forth District Policy for Legal Defense EXHIBIT 9 
  of Board Members and Officers 

  1. Authorization to Obtain General Liability and Public Officers’ 
    Insurance 



 
 H.  Resolution 2018-10 Setting Forth District Travel Reimbursement  EXHIBIT 10  
  Policy 
 
 I. Resolution 2018-11 Setting Forth District Policy on Opportunity to EXHIBIT 11 
   be Heard Addressing Public Meetings and Public Comment Period 
 
 J. Resolution 2018-12 Setting Forth District Prompt Payment Policy EXHIBIT 12 
 
 K. Resolution 2018-13 Authorizing the Retention of Interim Engineer EXHIBIT 13 
  1. Authorization to Issue Request for Qualifications (RFQ) for 
   District Engineering Services 
 
 L. Resolution 2018-14 Authorizing Chairman to Execute Plats,  EXHIBIT 14 
  Permits and Conveyances 
 
 M. Consideration of Establishment of Audit Committee    EXHIBIT 15 
 
 N. Consideration of Proposal for District Website Services   EXHIBIT 16 
 
V. Designation of Meeting and Public Hearing Dates 
 
 A. Resolution 2018-15 Designating Regular Meeting Dates, Time and EXHIBIT 17 
  Location 
 
 B. Resolution 2018-16 Approving Proposed Budget for Fiscal Year  EXHIBIT 18  
  2018 and Setting a Public Hearing Date for Adoption. 

  1. Consider Funding Agreement for FY 2018 
 
 C. Resolution 2018-17 Setting Public Hearing on Rules of  EXHIBIT 19 
  Procedure 
  1. Discuss proposed draft rules and notices 
 
 D. Resolution 2018-18 Setting Public Hearing on Uniform  EXHIBIT 20 
   Method of Collection 
 
VI. Banking Matters 
 
 A. Resolution 2018-19 Selecting Qualified Public Depository  EXHIBIT 21 
   for District Operating Account 
 
 B. Resolution 2018-20 Authorizing Bank Account Signatories  EXHIBIT 22 
 
 C. Resolution 2018-21 Approving Disbursement of Expenses  EXHIBIT 23 
 
 D. Funding Request No. 1      EXHIBIT 24 
 
 
 



VII. Capital Improvements and Bond Issuance Matters 
 
 A. Consideration of Financing Team Funding Agreement  EXHIBIT 25 
 
 B. Appointment of Financing Team 
  1. Resolution 2018-22 Appointing Bond Counsel  EXHIBIT 26 
   a. Akerman LLP - Bond Counsel Agreement 

  2. Resolution 2018-23 Appointing FMS Bonds for  EXHIBIT 27 
Underwriter Services & G17 Disclosure  

   a. Underwriter Services & G17 Disclosure  
    Agreement 

  3. Resolution 2018-24 Appointing BNY Mellon as Trustee EXHIBIT 28 

 
 C. Consideration of Engineer’s Report     EXHIBIT 29 
   
 D. Consideration of Assessment Methodology    EXHIBIT 30 
 
 E. Resolution 2018-25 Declaring Special Assessments   EXHIBIT 31 
 
 F. Resolution 2018-26 Authorizing the Issuance of Bonds,   EXHIBIT 32 
  Approving Form of Indenture and Authorizing the  
  Commencement of Validation Proceedings 
 

 G. Consideration of Construction Related Matters    

 H. Florida Valuation – Appraisal Report and Invoice   EXHIBIT 33  

  
VIII. Staff Reports 
 
 A. District Counsel 
 B. Interim Engineer 
 C. District Manager 
 
IX. Supervisor Requests and Audience comments 
 
X. Next Meeting Scheduled – TBD 
 
XI. Adjournment 



EXHIBIT 1.



PARKLAND PRESERVE
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS
OATH OF OFFICE

I, ____________________________, A CITIZEN OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA AND OF 
THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, AND BEING EMPLOYED BY OR AN OFFICER OF 
PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT AND A RECIPIENT 
OF PUBLIC FUNDS AS SUCH EMPLOYEE OR OFFICER, DO HEREBY SOLEMNLY 
SWEAR OR AFFIRM THAT I WILL SUPPORT THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED 
STATES AND OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA.

_______________________________________
Board Supervisor 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF OATH BEING TAKEN

STATE OF FLORIDA
COUNTY OF ST. JOHNS

The foregoing oath was administered before me this ___ day of _______________, 2018,
by _________________________________, who personally appeared before me, and is 
personally known to me or has produced _________________________ as identification, and is 
the person described in and who took the aforementioned oath as a Member of the Board of 
Supervisors of Parkland Preserve Community Development District and acknowledged to and 
before me that he/she took said oath for the purposes therein expressed.

(NOTARY SEAL)

_________________________________________
Notary Public, State of Florida

Print Name: _______________________________

Commission No.: ___________ Expires: ________

 



RESOLUTION 2018-01 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE PARKLAND 
PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT DESIGNATING THE 
OFFICERS OF THE DISTRICT, AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
WHEREAS, the Parkland Preserve Community Development District (“District”) is a local unit 

of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, being 
situated entirely within St. Johns County, Florida; and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, the Board of Supervisors (“Board”), 

shall organize by designating one of its members as Chair and by designating a Secretary, and such other 
officers as the Board may deem necessary. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
OF THE PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 

 
1. DISTRICT OFFICERS.  The District officers are as follows: 
 

 ___________________________ is appointed Chairperson. 

  ___________________________ is appointed Vice-Chairperson. 

  Patricia Comings-Thibault    is appointed Secretary. 

  Janet Johns                                    is appointed Assistant Secretary. 

  ___________________________ is appointed Assistant Secretary. 

  ___________________________ is appointed Assistant Secretary. 

  ___________________________ is appointed Assistant Secretary. 

  Patricia Comings- Thibault           is appointed Treasurer. 

  Maik Aagaard                               is appointed Assistant Treasurer. 

 
2. CONFLICTS.  All Resolutions or parts of Resolutions in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed to the extent of such conflict. 
 
3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its 

adoption. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 16th day of April, 2018. 

Attest: PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY  
 DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
 

________________________________ _______________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 

 



EXHIBIT 2.



RESOLUTION 2018-02 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT DESIGNATING A DATE, TIME, AND LOCATION FOR 
LANDOWNERS MEETING OF THE DISTRICT, AND PROVIDING 
FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, Parkland Preserve Community Development District (“District”) is a local 

unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida 
Statutes, being situated entirely within St. Johns County, Florida; and 
 

WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (“Board”) is statutorily authorized to 
exercise the powers granted to the District; and  

 
WHEREAS, all meetings of the Board shall be open to the public and governed by 

provisions of Chapter 286, Florida Statutes; and 
 

WHEREAS, the effective date of Ordinance 2018-14 creating the District 
(“Ordinance”) is March 20, 2018; and  

 
WHEREAS, the District is statutorily required to hold a meeting of the landowners of 

the District for the purpose of electing five (5) supervisors for the District within ninety (90) days 
after the effective date of the Ordinance. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 

 
1. LANDOWNERS ELECTION MEETING. In accordance with section 

190.006(2), Florida Statutes, the initial meeting of the landowners to elect five (5) supervisors of 
the District, shall be held on the _____ day of _____________, 2018, at ______ __.m., located 
at ______________________________________. 

 
2. PUBLICATION.  The District's Secretary is hereby directed to publish notice of 

this landowners meeting in accordance with the requirements of Section 190.006(2)(a), Florida 
Statutes. 
 

3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon 
its adoption. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this 16th day of April, 2018. 

 
ATTEST:     PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY  
      DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
_____________________________  ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary   Chairman, Board of Supervisors 



EXHIBIT 3.



RESOLUTION 2018-03

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
APPOINTING AND FIXING THE COMPENSATION OF THE DISTRICT 
MANAGER AND ASSESSMENT CONSULTANT; AND PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE 

WHEREAS, the Parkland Preserve Community Development District (“District”) is a 
local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida 
Statutes, being situated entirely within St. Johns County, Florida; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District (“Board”) must employ and fix 
compensation of a “District Manager;” and

WHEREAS, the Board desires to appoint an “Assessment Consultant” to advise 
regarding the proposed issuance of special assessment bonds and other financing methods for 
District improvements; and

WHEREAS, the Board has determined that the appointment of a District Manager and 
Assessment Consultant is necessary, appropriate and in the District’s best interests; and

WHEREAS, the Board desires to appoint a District Manager, and Assessment 
Consultant, and to provide compensation for their services.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT:

1. APPROVAL OF MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT. DPFG Management and 
Consulting, LLC is appointed as District Manager, and Assessment Consultant, and shall be 
compensated for their services in such capacity in the manner prescribed in the agreement 
incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit A.

2. EFFECTIVE DATE. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon 
its adoption.

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 16th day of April, 2018.

ATTEST: PARKLAND PRESERVE
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT

Secretary/Assistant Secretary Chair/Vice Chair
Exhibit A: District Manager Fee Agreement



Page 2 of 2

EXHIBIT A



250 International Parkway, Suite 280 

Lake Mary, FL 

Tel: (321) 263-0132 

www.dpfg.com

Page 1 of 3 
Parkland Preserve CDD 
Management Agreement 

DISTRICT MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT 

 
Based upon mutual consideration, the Parkland Preserve Community Development District 
(“CDD” or “District”) and DPFG Management & Consulting LLC (“DPFG”) agree effective April 16, 
2018 as follows:  

 
1. Core District Management Services: DPFG will provide Core District Management Services 

(“CDMS”) at a fee of $2,500 per month to the CDD. The CDMS shall include: 
 
a. Management Services – Manage the District pursuant to Chapter 190 and related 

provisions of Florida Statutes; advise the Board on substantive, procedural and 
regulatory issues relating to District matters; and assist the Board with budget 
development and implementation; 
 

b. Government Accounting Services – Produce financial statements; set up accounting 
system; implement government investment policy; prepare government mandated 
financial reports; coordinate with auditors on annual independent audits; perform all 
other government required financial functions pertaining to District administration, 
including assessment levy and collection and related financial matters; 
 

c. Records Administration – Prepare legal notices, agendas and meeting packets; prepare 
official minutes; organize, and archive official records; file appropriate records and 
reports with government agencies; process records requests and other 
communications. 

 
3. Construction Project Services (Owner Rep Services): Services related to overseeing certain 

parts of the District’s construction projects from start to finish or consultation with 
developers on construction related issues (for example construction planning, work 
structuring, pre-construction-services, procurement and contracting, etc.) will be provided 
as needed and billed upon mutual agreement under separate budget. 
 

4. Construction Accounting Services: Services related to the construction accounting and 
financial management of the District’s construction project from start to finish or 
consultation with developers on construction accounting related issues will be provided at a 
fee of $10,000 per fiscal year. Such service may include, bank reconciliations, accounts 
payable, process contractors payment applications, review of job cost activity, maintenance 
of accounting files and tracking, and preparation/organization of various forms, reports and 
analysis. 

 
 
 



Page 2 of 3 
Parkland Preserve CDD 
Management Agreement 

5. Field Services: DPFG will be responsible for keeping track of various components of routine 
maintenance operations of CDD property to preserve and enhance public infrastructure. 
These components typically include interaction with new homeowners on CDD rules and 
regulations, addressing resident concerns, turf care and mowing, landscape and pond 
maintenance, general security within the District, management of RFP/RFI’s for ongoing 
maintenance/operation contracts after property turn-over, and maintaining relationship 
with concerned/interested residents as the case may be. DPFG will regularly report to the 
Board on existing conditions and deficiencies, and assist in property turnover from 
developer to District including permits and warranties. Such services will be provided as 
needed and billed upon mutual agreement under separate budget. 

 
6. Amenity Center Services: Maintain and operate Amenity Center and use of other amenity 

and recreational facilities, services include but are not limited to track and handle facility 
access keys, coordination of janitorial services, track and coordinate facility rental activities, 
security operations, and implement general operations and rules for the District’s amenity 
and recreational facilities. Such services will be provided as needed and billed upon mutual 
agreement under separate budget 
 

7. Out of Pocket Expenses: The CDD shall reimburse DPFG for all out-of-pocket expenses 
reasonably incurred by DPFG for services related to this agreement. 
 

8. Fee Review: On an annual basis as part of the budget adoption process, the District may 
adjust compensation in accordance with increasing scope of work considerations for the 
CDMS and FCS functions.  
 

9. Indemnification: Each party hereto (“Indemnitor”) agrees to hold harmless, defend and 
indemnify the other party hereto and its officers, directors, agents, employees, 
subcontractors and consultants (“Indemnities”) from any and all claims, actions, causes of 
action, damages and liabilities to the extent arising out of the negligence or intentional 
misconduct of the Indemnitor or its officers, directors, agents, employees, subcontractors or 
consultants on the Project. 
 

10. Limits Of Liability: DPFG’s liability for damages to the CDD shall not exceed, to the 
maximum extent permitted by law, the compensation received by DPFG in accordance with 
this Agreement. The limitations of liability and indemnities apply whether liability arises due 
to breach of contract or warranty; tort, including negligence, statutory liability, or any other 
cause of action. This limit shall apply to the officers and employees of DPFG as well as its 
subcontractors. 
 

11. Term: This Agreement shall commence and be effective as of April 16, 2018 and be binding 
upon your acceptance hereof and shall remain in effect until such time as the agreement 
has been terminated in accordance with Section 12 hereof. 

 
12. Termination: Both the District and the Manager will have the right to terminate with or 

without cause any portion of or the entire Agreement upon 60 days written notice. Any 
notice required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be in writing and sent 
by first class mail or sent by expedited courier service to the addresses set forth below. Any 
notice shall be deemed given upon receipt.  



Page 3 of 3 
Parkland Preserve CDD 
Management Agreement 

To District: To DPFG:  
Parkland Preserve CDD c/o DPFG DPFG Management & Consulting LLC  
Attn: District Manager Attn: President 
250 International Parkway, Suite 280 250 International Parkway, Suite 280 
Lake Mary, FL 32746 Lake Mary, FL 32746 
  

 
 
DPFG Management & Consulting LLC 
 
By: _________________________ 
Maik Aagaard  
President 

Approved and Accepted by  
Parkland Preserve Community Development District: 
 
By: _________________________ 
 
Title: ________________________ 
 
Date: ________________________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
s:\shared folders\florida\proposals\parkland preserve mgmt el final out 4-9-18.docx 



EXHIBIT 4.



Page 1 of 2

RESOLUTION 2018-04

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE PARKLAND 
PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT APPOINTING 
LEGAL COUNSEL FOR THE DISTRICT, AUTHORIZING COMPENSATION 
AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

WHEREAS, the Parkland Preserve Community Development District (“District”) is a local 
unit of special-purpose government created pursuant to an ordinance adopted by the Board of County 
Commissioners of St. Johns County, Florida, and is located entirely within St. Johns County, Florida; and

WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (“Board”) may contract for the services of 
consultants to perform planning, engineering, legal or other appropriate services of a professional nature; 
and 

WHEREAS, the Board desires to appoint a District Counsel, and to provide compensation for 
their services.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
OF THE PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT:

1. APPROVAL OF AGREEMENT. Hopping Green & Sams is appointed as District 
Counsel and shall be compensated for their services in such capacity in the manner prescribed in Exhibit 
A.

2. EFFECTIVE DATE. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its 
adoption.

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 16th day of April, 2018.

Attest: PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

________________________________ _______________________________________
Secretary/Assistant Secretary Chairperson, Board of Supervisors

Exhibit A: Attorney Retainer Agreement



Page 2 of 2

EXHIBIT A



HOPPING GREEN & SAMS PA
FEE AGREEMENT

I. PARTIES

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into by and between the following parties:

A. Parkland Preserve Community Development District (“Client”)
c/o DPFG Management and Consulting LLC
1060 Maitland Center, Ste. # 340
Maitland, FL  32751

and

B. Hopping Green & Sams PA (“HGS”)
119 South Monroe Street, Suite 300
P.O. Box 6526
Tallahassee, Florida 32314

II. SCOPE OF SERVICES

In consideration of the mutual undertakings and agreements contained herein, the parties 
agree as follows:

A. The Client agrees to employ and retain HGS as its legal representative in connection 
with the day-to-day operations of the District.

B. HGS accepts such employment and agrees to serve as attorney for and provide legal 
representation to the Client in connection with those matters referenced above.

III. CLIENT FILES

The files and work product materials (“client file”) of the Client generated or received by 
HGS will be maintained confidentially to the extent permitted by law and in accordance with the 
Florida Bar rules.  At the conclusion of the representation, the client file will be stored by HGS for 
a minimum of five (5) years.  After the five (5) year storage period, the Client hereby 
acknowledges and consents that HGS may confidentially destroy or shred the client file, unless 
HGS is provided a written request from the Client requesting return of the client file, to which 
HGS will return the client file at Client’s expense. 

IV. FEES

A. The Client agrees to compensate HGS for services rendered in connection with any 
matters covered by this Agreement according to the standard hourly billing rates for 
individual HGS lawyers plus actual expenses incurred by HGS in accordance with 
the attached standard Expense Reimbursement Policy (Attachment A, incorporated 
herein by reference). 

B. The discounted hourly rate of Jere Earlywine, the attorney who is initially expected 



to handle the bulk of Client’s work, is $275.00; associates who are most likely to 
assist in this work are billed at a standard hourly rate of $245.00 per hour. HGS’ 
standard hourly billing rates are reevaluated annually prior to the beginning of the 
calendar year and are subject to change each year at that time. Client agrees to
annual rate increases to the extent hourly rates are not increased beyond $15/hour for 
attorneys working on this matter. To the extent practicable and consistent with the 
requirements of sound legal representation, HGS will attempt to reduce Client’s bills 
by assigning each task to the person best able to perform it at the lowest rate so long 
as he or she has the requisite knowledge and experience.  

C. For matters regarding issuance of debt, we will identify a ‘not to exceed’ flat fee and, 
if the debt issuance does not close, will bill our time on an hourly basis. For the 
District’s first series of bonds, HGS agrees to a flat fee of $40,000 plus costs, which 
will be due upon issuance of the bonds (unless the bonds are not issued, in which 
case HGS will charge hourly rates for work actually performed). In addition, and for 
legal services in connection with any uncontested validation proceedings relating to 
the District’s authority to issue bonds, HGS agrees to a flat fee of $10,000 plus costs, 
which will be due upon issuance of the bonds (unless the bonds are not issued, in 
which case HGS will charge hourly rates for work actually performed).

C. HGS will include costs and expenses (including interest charges on past due 
statements) on its billing statements for Client reimbursement in accordance with the 
attached standard Expense Reimbursement Policy.

V. BILLING AND PAYMENT

The Client agrees to pay HGS monthly billings for fees and expenses incurred within thirty 
(30) days following receipt of a statement from HGS.  HGS shall not be obligated to perform 
further legal services under this Fee Agreement if any such billing statement remains unpaid longer 
than thirty (30) days after submittal to and receipt by Client.  Non-payment of billing statements 
shall be a basis for HGS to immediately withdraw from the representation without regard to 
remaining actions necessitating attention by HGS as part of the representation.

VI. DEFAULT

In the event of a dispute arising under this Agreement, whether or not a lawsuit or other 
proceeding is filed, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover its reasonable attorneys’ fees and 
costs, including attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in litigating entitlement to attorneys’ fees and 
costs, as well as in determining or quantifying the amount of recoverable attorneys’ fees and costs.
The reasonable costs to which the prevailing party is entitled shall include costs that are taxable 
under any applicable statute, rule, or guideline, as well as non-taxable costs, including, but not 
limited to, costs of investigation, telephone charges, mailing and delivery charges, information 
technology support charges, consultant and expert witness fees, travel expenses, court reporter fees, 
and mediator fees, regardless of whether such costs are otherwise taxable. Venue of any such action 
shall be exclusive in the state courts of the Second Judicial Circuit in and for Leon County, Florida.  

VII. CONFLICTS

It is important to disclose that HGS represents a number of special districts, trustees 



(including U.S. Bank National Association (“U.S. Bank”), Regions Bank, and Wells Fargo National 
Association), bondholders, developers (including, e.g., D.R. Horton though not on matters related to 
the Client), and other entities throughout Florida relating to community development districts and 
other special districts.  HGS understands that Client may enter into an agreement with U.S. Bank or 
other trustee in connection with the issuance of bonds, and that Client may request that HGS 
simultaneously represent Client in connection with the issuance of bonds, while HGS is also 
representing U.S. Bank or other trustee on unrelated matters.   By accepting this Agreement Client 
agrees that (1) Client was provided with an explanation of the implications of the common 
representation(s) and the advantages and risks involved; (2) HGS will be able to provide competent 
and diligent representation of Client, regardless of HGS’ other representations, and (3) there is not a 
substantial risk that HGS’ representation of Client would be materially limited by HGS’ 
responsibilities to another client, a former client or a third person or by a personal interest.  
Acceptance of this fee proposal will constitute your waiver of any “conflict” with HGS’ 
representation of various special districts, trustees, bondholders, developers, and other entities 
relating to community development districts and other special districts in Florida.  

VIII. TERMINATION

Either party may terminate this Fee Agreement upon providing prior written notice to the 
other party at its regular place of business.  All fees due and payable in accordance with this 
Agreement shall accrue and become payable pursuant to the terms of this Agreement through the 
date of termination.

IX. EXECUTION OF AGREEMENT

This Agreement shall be deemed fully executed upon its signing by HGS and the Client. The 
contract formed between HGS and the Client shall be the operational contract between the parties.

X. ENTIRE CONTRACT

This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties.

Accepted and Agreed to:

PARKLAND PRESERVE
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT

By:________________________

Date:______________________

HOPPING GREEN & SAMS PA

By:__________________________

Its: Vice President                 

Date:_________________________



HOPPING GREEN & SAMS PA
CDD EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENT POLICY

The following is Hopping Green & Sams’ standard expense reimbursement policy for community 
development district representation.  This policy applies unless a different arrangement has been negotiated 
based on the unique circumstances of a particular client or matter.

All expenses are billed monthly.  Billings ordinarily reflect expenses for the most recent month, 
except where there are delays in receiving bills from third party vendors.

Teleconference Calls.  All telephone charges are billed at an amount approximating actual cost.

Photocopying and Printing.  In-house photocopying and printing is charged at $0.25 per page (black 
& white) and $0.50 per page (color). Outside copying is billed as a pass-through of the outside vendor's 
charges.

Facsimile.  Outgoing facsimile transmissions are charged at $1.00 per page.  There is no charge for 
incoming faxes.

Postage.  Postage is billed at actual cost.

Overnight Delivery.  Overnight delivery is billed at actual cost.

Local Messenger Service.  Local messenger service is billed at 44.5 cents per mile pursuant to 
Section 112.061, Florida Statutes.  Should the State increase the mileage allowance specified in Section 
112.061, Florida Statutes, HGS shall, without further action, be entitled to reimbursement at the increased 
rate.

Computerized Legal Research. Charges for computerized legal research are billed at an amount 
approximating actual cost.

Travel.  Travel (including air fare, rental cars, taxicabs, hotel, meals, tips, etc.) is billed at actual cost.  
Where air travel is required, coach class is used wherever feasible.  Out-of-town mileage is billed at 44.5 
cents per mile pursuant to Section 112.061, Florida Statutes.  Should the State increase the mileage 
allowance specified in Section 112.061, Florida Statutes, HGS shall, without further action, be entitled to 
reimbursement at the increased rate.  Reasonable travel-related expenses for meals, lodging, gratuities, taxi 
fares, tolls, parking fees and business-related telephone, telegraph and facsimile charges shall also be 
reimbursed.

Consultants.  Unless prior arrangements are made, consultants are ordinarily employed directly by 
the client.  Where consultants are employed by the firm, their charges are passed-through with no mark-up.  
The client is responsible for notifying the firm of any particular billing arrangements or procedures which the 
client requires of the consultant.

Other Expenses.  Other outside expenses, such as court reporters, agency copies, etc. are billed at 
actual cost. 

Word Processing and Secretarial Overtime.  No charge is made for word processing.  No charge is 
made for secretarial overtime except in major litigation matters where unusual overtime demands are 
imposed.

ATTACHMENT A



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT 5. 



RESOLUTION 2018-05

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF PARKLAND 
PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT DESIGNATING A
REGISTERED AGENT AND REGISTERED OFFICE OF THE DISTRICT,
AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

WHEREAS, Parkland Preserve Community Development District (“District”)  is a local 
unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes,
being situated entirely within St. Johns County, Florida; and

WHEREAS, the District is statutorily required to designate a registered agent and a 
registered office location for the purposes of accepting any process, notice, or demand required or 
permitting by law to be served upon the District in accordance with Section 189.014(1), Florida 
Statutes.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT:

1. DESIGNATION OF REGISTERED AGENT. Mr. Jere Earlywine is hereby 
designated as Registered Agent for Parkland Preserve Community Development District.

2. REGISTERED OFFICE. The District's Registered Office shall be located at
Hopping Green & Sams, 119 South Monroe Street, Suite 300, Tallahassee, FL  32301.

3. FILING. In accordance with Section 189.014, Florida Statutes, the District’s 
Secretary is hereby directed to file certified copies of this resolution with St. Johns County and the 
Florida Department of Economic Opportunity.

4. EFFECTIVE DATE. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon 
adoption.

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 16th day of April, 2018.

ATTEST: PARKLAND PRESERVE
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT

__________________________ ________________________________
Secretary/Assistant Secretary Chairman



EXHIBIT 6.



RESOLUTION 2018-06

A RESOLUTION BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT DESIGNATING THE LOCATION OF THE LOCAL 
DISTRICT RECORDS OFFICE AND PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE.

WHEREAS, the Parkland Preserve Community Development District (“District”) is a 
local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida 
Statutes, being situated entirely within St. Johns County, Florida; and

WHEREAS, the District is statutorily required to designate a local district records office 
location for the purposes of affording citizens the ability to access the District’s records, 
promoting the disclosure of matters undertaken by the District, and ensuring that the public is 
informed of the activities of the District in accordance with Chapter 119 and Section 190.006(7), 
Florida Statutes; and

WHEREAS, District hereby desires to designate a local district records office, as set 
forth herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE PARKLAND PRESERVE
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT:

1. LOCATION OF LOCAL RECORDS OFFICE. The District’s local records 
office shall be located at: Chase Properties, Inc., 1478 Riverplace Boulevard, Suite 107, 
Jacksonville, FL  32207.

2. EFFECTIVE DATE. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon 
adoption.

PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 16th day of April, 2018.

ATTEST: PARKLAND PRESERVE
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT

______________________________________ ____________________________________
Secretary/Assistant Secretary Chairperson, Board of Supervisors



EXHIBIT 7.



RESOLUTION 2018-07

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT PROVIDING FOR THE 
APPOINTMENT OF A RECORDS MANAGEMENT 
LIAISON OFFICER; PROVIDING THE DUTIES OF THE 
RECORDS MANAGEMENT LIAISON OFFICER; 
ADOPTING A RECORDS RETENTION POLICY; AND 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY AND EFFECTIVE 
DATE.

WHEREAS, the Parkland Preserve Community Development District (“District”) is a 
local unit of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida 
Statutes, being situated in St. Johns County, Florida; and 

WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt rules to 
govern the administration of the District and to adopt resolutions as may be necessary for the 
conduct of district business; and

WHEREAS, Section 1.2(2) of the District’s Proposed Rules of Procedure appoints the 
Secretary of the District as the District’s records custodian; and

WHEREAS, Section 257.36(5), Florida Statutes, requires the District to establish and 
maintain an active and continuing program for the economical and efficient management of
records and to provide for the appointment of a records management liaison officer (“Records 
Management Liaison Officer”); and

WHEREAS, the District desires for the Records Management Liaison Officer to be an 
employee of the District or an employee of the District Manager; and

WHEREAS, the District desires to authorize the District’s records custodian to appoint a 
Records Management Liaison Officer, which may or may not be the District’s records custodian; 
and

WHEREAS, the District desires to prescribe duties of the Records Management Liaison 
Officer and provide for the assignment of additional duties; and

WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (“Board”) finds that it is in the best 
interests of the District to adopt by resolution a Records Retention Policy (“Policy”) for 
immediate use and application; and

WHEREAS, the District desires to provide for future amendment of the Records 
Retention Policy.



Page 2 of 3

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD 
OF SUPERVISORS OF THE PARKLAND PRESERVE
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT:

1. APPOINTMENT OF RECORDS MANAGEMENT LIAISON OFFICER.  
The District hereby authorizes the District’s records custodian to appoint a Records Management 
Liaison Officer and report such appointment to the appropriate State of Florida agencies.  A 
Records Management Liaison Officer shall be an employee of the District or the District 
Manager. The Board, and the District’s records custodian, shall each have the individual power 
to remove the Records Management Liaison Officer at any time and for any reason.  
Immediately following the removal or resignation of a Records Management Liaison Officer, the 
District’s records custodian shall appoint a replacement Records Management Liaison Officer.

2. DUTIES OF RECORDS MANAGEMENT LIAISON OFFICER.  The duties 
of the Records Management Liaison Officer shall include the following:

A. serve as the District’s contact with the Florida Department of State, State Library and 
Archives of Florida; and

B. coordinate the District’s records inventory; and
C. maintain records retention and disposition forms; and
D. coordinate District records management training; and
E. develop records management procedures consistent with the attached Records 

Retention Policy, as amended; and
F. participate in the development of the District’s development of electronic record 

keeping systems; and
G. submit annual compliance statements; and
H. work with the Florida Department of State, State Library and Archives of Florida to 

establish individual retention schedules for the District, from time to time and as may 
be necessary; and

I. such other duties as may be assigned by the Board or the District’s records custodian 
in the future.

3. RECORDS RETENTION POLICY. The District hereby adopts as its Records 
Retention Policy the applicable provisions of Section 257.36(5), Florida Statutes, the rules 
adopted by the Division of Library and Information Services of the Department of State (the 
“Division”) pursuant to Section 257.36, Florida Statutes, and the General Records Schedules 
established by the Division.  To the extent the above statute, rules, or schedules are amended or 
supplemented in the future, the District’s Records Retention Policy shall automatically 
incorporate such amendment or supplement provided that such automatic amendment does not 
permit the disposition of District records without further action of the Board.  The Records 
Retention Policy shall remain in full force and effect until such time as the Board amends the 
Policy.  

4. SEVERABILITY. If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or 
invalid, the other provisions shall remain in full force and effect.

5. EFFECTIVE DATE. This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage 



Page 3 of 3

and shall remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed.

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 16th day of April, 2018.

ATTEST: PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

_____________________________ ____________________________________
Secretary/Assistant Secretary Chairman, Board of Supervisors



EXHIBIT 8.



RESOLUTION 2018-08

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT AUTHORIZING AND/OR RATIFYING, 
CONFIRMING AND APPROVING THE RECORDING OF THE 
NOTICE OF ESTABLISHMENT OF THE PARKLAND 
PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE

WHEREAS, the Parkland Preserve Community Development District (“District”) is a local unit 
of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, being 
situated entirely within St. Johns County, Florida; and 

WHEREAS, the District was established by an ordinance of the County Commissioners of St. 
Johns County, Florida, which became effective on March 20, 2018; and 

WHEREAS, Section 190.0485, Florida Statutes, requires a “Notice of Establishment” to be filed 
within 30 days after the effective date of the rule; and 

WHEREAS, the organizational meeting of the District’s Board of Supervisors was scheduled for 
April 3, 2018; and

WHEREAS, Hopping Green & Sams, P.A., has arranged for the recording of the “Notice of 
Establishment of the Parkland Preserve Community Development District” with the St. Johns County 
Clerk of the Court to ensure compliance with Florida law.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
OF THE PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT:

1. AUTHORIZATION. The actions of Hopping Green & Sams, P.A., in the recording of 
the Notice of Establishment of the Parkland Preserve Community Development District are hereby 
authorized and/or ratified, confirmed and approved.

2. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its 
adoption.

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 16th day of April, 2018.

ATTEST: BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

_____________________________ ____________________________________
Secretary Chairperson





















































































































































































EXHIBIT 9.



RESOLUTION 2018-09

A RESOLUTION SETTING FORTH THE POLICY OF THE 
PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT BOARD OF SUPERVISORS WITH REGARD TO 
THE SUPPORT AND LEGAL DEFENSE OF THE BOARD 
OF SUPERVISORS AND DISTRICT OFFICERS AND
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (“Board”) and the officers and staff of the 
Parkland Preserve Community Development District (“District”) are constantly presented with 
the necessity for making decisions regarding various phases of District policy and management; 
and

WHEREAS, it is absolutely essential to the effective operation of the District that such 
decisions be made in an environment where the threat of personal liability for the Board and its 
officers and staff is maintained at a minimum; and

WHEREAS, the Board wishes to formalize a policy with regard to the support and legal 
protection of the Board and its officers and staff so as to reduce the threat of personal liability to 
such individuals and allow for an effective decision-making environment.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD 
OF SUPERVISORS OF THE PARKLAND PRESERVE
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT THAT:

1. As set forth in this Resolution, the District, in accordance with Florida law, agrees 
that the following Board members, officers and staff (together, “Indemnitees”) of the District 
shall be provided the benefit of the indemnification, support and legal defense provisions 
provided in this Resolution:

a. All members of the Board of Supervisors; and

b. Secretary and Assistant Secretaries, Treasurer and Assistant Treasurers, and other 
District officers, as well as District Staff (e.g., the District Manager, the District 
Engineer, and the District Counsel).

2. As set forth in this Resolution and in accordance with Sections 111.07 and 
768.28, Florida Statutes, the District hereby agrees to provide legal representation to defend any 
and all civil actions, including federal civil rights and other federal civil claims, arising from a 
complaint for damages or injuries suffered as a result of any action or omission of action of all 
Indemnitees, present or former, arising out of and in the scope of his or her employment or 
function, unless, in the case of a tort action, the Indemnitee acted in bad faith, with malicious 
purpose, or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or 
property. Defense of such civil actions includes, but is not limited to, any civil rights lawsuit 



2

seeking relief personally against any Indemnitee for an act or omission under color of state law, 
custom or usage, wherein it is alleged that such Indemnitee has deprived another person of rights 
secured under the Federal Constitution or laws, including, by way of example, actions under 42 
U.S.C. § 1983 or other federal statute. The District hereby further agrees to provide legal 
representation to defend against any other litigation arising against an Indemnitee from the 
performance of their official duties while serving a public purpose, including civil, administrative 
or criminal actions as permitted by law. By these provisions, the District does not waive any 
immunity from liability or limited waiver of such immunity as granted under Florida law. Rather, 
the District is stating that to the extent the State does not through its laws protect the Board and 
its officers from liability, the District is committed to doing so to the extent described in this 
Resolution and as permitted by law.

3. The District may insure itself in order to cover all reasonable costs and fees 
directly arising out of or in connection with any legal claim or suit that directly results from a 
decision or act made by an Indemnitee while performing the duties and functions of his or her 
position.

4. This Resolution is intended to evidence the District’s support of Indemnitees who 
perform acts and render decisions in the good faith performance of their duties and functions. 
The District will neither support nor defend those actions or omissions committed by an 
individual outside the scope of his or her office or committed in bad faith or with malicious 
purpose or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or 
property. By adoption of this Resolution, the Indemnitee(s) in question are each presumed to 
have acted within the scope of his or her office and are presumed to be acting in good faith, 
without a malicious purpose and not in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of 
human rights, safety or property. The District’s Board may overcome this presumption only by 
unanimous vote of those participating and voting, in accordance with Section 7 herein.

5. In the event that the District has expended funds to provide an attorney to defend a 
Indemnitee who is found to be personally liable by virtue of actions outside the scope of his or 
her employment or function, or is found to have acted in bad faith, with malicious purpose, or in 
a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property, the 
individual shall be required to reimburse the District for funds so expended. The District may 
recover such funds in a civil action against such individual.

6. The District agrees to pay any final judgment, including damages, fines, penalties 
or other damages, costs, and attorney’s fees and costs, arising from any complaint for damages or 
injuries suffered as a result of any action or omission of action of any Indemnitee as described in 
Section 111.07, Florida Statutes. If the action arises under Section 768.28, Florida Statutes, as a 
tort claim, the limitations and provisions of that section governing payment shall apply. If the 
action is a civil rights action arising under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, or similar federal statutes, payment 
for the full amount of judgment may be made unless the individual has been determined in the 
final judgment to have caused the harm intentionally. The District agrees to pay any compromise 
or settlement of any claim or litigation described in this paragraph, provided, however, that the 
District determines such compromise or settlement to be in the District’s best interest.



3

7. To rebut the presumption of the automatic payment of judgments or provision of 
legal representation pursuant to this Resolution, at least one of the following determinations shall 
be made by a unanimous decision of the District’s Board participating and voting:

a. The actions of the Indemnitee were outside the scope of his or her duties and 
authority; or

b. The acts or omissions of the Indemnitee constituted bad faith, malicious purpose, 
intentional infliction of harm or were done in a manner exhibiting wanton and 
willful disregard of human rights, safety or property; or

c. The Indemnitee received financial profit or advantage to which he or she was not 
legally entitled.

8. To ensure the provision of legal representation pursuant to this Resolution, the 
following must be met:

a.  A copy of the summons, complaint, notice, demand letter or other document or 
pleading in the action, or a letter setting forth the substance of any claim or 
complaint, must be delivered to the District Chairman, Vice Chairman, District 
Manager or District Counsel within thirty (30) calendar days after actual receipt of 
any such document together with a specific request in writing that the District 
defend or provide representation for the Indemnitee; and

b. The Indemnitee must cooperate continuously and fully with the District in the 
defense of the action.

9. Any indemnification, legal defense or other protection provided pursuant to this 
representation shall not extend to:

a. Consulting or other outside professional or business activities for which the 
Indemnitee received financial or other material compensation, which are outside 
the scope of his or her District duties and authority; and

b. Any independent contractor for whom defense or indemnification is not 
authorized pursuant to Section 1(b) of this Resolution, unless the Board votes to 
authorize such indemnification, legal defense, or other protection; and 

c. Any fine, penalty or other punishment imposed as a result of conviction for a
criminal offense, and any legal fees and costs incurred to defend criminal 
prosecution in which a conviction is obtained; and

d. Claims brought against the Indemnitee by the District’s Board; and



4

e. Any indemnification or defense prohibited by law.

10. In the event legal representation or defense is provided pursuant to this 
Resolution, the Indemnitee may either:

a. Retain legal counsel appointed by the District, in which case legal counsel shall be 
paid directly by the District; or

b. Retain legal counsel chosen by the Indemnitee, in which case the District shall 
have the right to: 

i. Approve, in advance, any agreement for reasonable legal fees or 
disbursements; and 

ii. Pay all or part of the legal fees, costs and other disbursements and to set a
maximum for reasonable legal fees, costs and other disbursements; and

iii. Direct the defense and settle or compromise the action or claim; and

iv. Reduce or offset any monies that may be payable by the District by any 
court costs or attorneys fees awarded to the Indemnitee.

11. The benefits of the policy adopted in this Resolution shall not enlarge the rights 
that would have been available to any third-party plaintiff or claimant in the absence of this 
policy.

12. To the extent permitted by law, this policy shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, 
personal representatives and estate of the Board member and/or officer.

13. The District reserves the right to change, modify or withdraw this Resolution in its 
sole discretion, except as to actions, demand or other claims based on acts or omissions that 
occurred before the effective change, modification or withdrawal of this Resolution.

14. This Resolution shall be effective as of its adoption on the date listed below and 
shall apply to any acts or omissions occurring after that date.

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 16th day of April, 2018.

ATTEST: PARKLAND PRESERVE
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT

Secretary/Assistant Secretary Chairman



EXHIBIT 10.



Page 1 of 2

RESOLUTION 2018-10

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT ADOPTING A POLICY FOR REIMBURSEMENT OF 
DISTRICT TRAVEL EXPENSES; AND PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

WHEREAS, the Parkland Preserve Community Development District (“District”) is a local unit 
of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, being 
situated in St. Johns County, Florida; and 

WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt resolutions as may be 
necessary for the conduct of district business; and

WHEREAS, Section 112.061, Florida Statutes, establishes standard travel reimbursement rates, 
procedures and limitations applicable to all public officers, employees and authorized persons whose 
travel is authorized and paid for by a public agency; and

WHEREAS, the District desires to adopt a Policy for Reimbursement of District Travel 
Expenses (“Travel Reimbursement Policy”) pursuant to the provisions of Section 112.061, Florida 
Statutes; and

WHEREAS, the Board finds that it is in the best interests of the District to adopt by resolution 
the Travel Reimbursement Policy for immediate use and application.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT:

1. TRAVEL REIMBURSEMENT POLICY. The District hereby adopts the Travel 
Reimbursement Policy, attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

2. SEVERABILITY. If any provision of this Resolution or the Travel Reimbursement 
Policy is held to be illegal or invalid, the other provisions shall remain in full force and effect.

3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall 
remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed.

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 16th day of April, 2018.

ATTEST: PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

_____________________________ ____________________________________
Secretary/Assistant Secretary Chairperson, Board of Supervisors



Page 2 of 2

EXHIBIT A

PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT
POLICY FOR REIMBURSEMENT OF DISTRICT TRAVEL EXPENSES

1.0 GENERAL PROVISIONS.

1.1 The usual, ordinary, and incidental travel expenditures necessarily incurred by 
District board members, employees, consultants, or advisors in the performance 
of their official duties shall be reimbursed by the Parkland Preserve Community 
Development District (“District”).  

1.2 Except as otherwise provided, prior authorization for travel is not required, but 
reimbursable expenses will be limited to those expenses incurred in the 
performance of official duties undertaken in connection with such public purposes 
as the District has been authorized by law to perform.

1.3 All claims submitted for reimbursement must be accompanied by a written 
statement that they are true and correct as to every material matter.

2.0 TRANSPORTATION.

2.1 All travel must be by a reasonably direct or usually traveled route.  In the event a 
person travels by an indirect route for his/her own convenience, any additional 
cost shall be borne by the traveler and reimbursement for expenses shall be based 
on the usually traveled route.

2.2 Commercial travel shall be by the most economical method, tourist or coach class.  
First class rates will be paid only in the event that a statement is attached to the 
claim certifying that tourist or coach seating was unavailable.

2.3 When available without penalty for cancellation, travelers should take advantage 
of discount fares.

2.4 Transportation by common carrier when traveling on official business and paid 
for by the traveler shall be substantiated by a receipt.

2.5 Rental car expenses shall be substantiated by a copy of the rental agreement.

2.6 Whenever travel is by a privately-owned vehicle, the traveler shall be entitled to a 
mileage allowance at the fixed rate per mile as established by the Legislature in 



3

Section 112.061, Florida Statutes.  Should the State increase the mileage 
allowance specified in Section 112.061, Florida Statutes, the District shall, 
without further action, be permitted to reimburse travelers at the increased rate. 
As of January 1, 2018, the mileage rate is 54.5 cents per mile. 

2.7 All mileage shall be from point of origin to point of destination.  When travel 
commences from a location other than the traveler's official headquarters, mileage 
shall be calculated on the basis of the distance from the headquarters city to the 
point of destination, unless the actual distance is shorter. Vicinity mileage 
necessary for conduct of official business is allowable, but must be identified as a 
separate item on the claim for reimbursement of expenses.

2.8 No traveler shall be allowed either mileage or transportation expense when he/she 
is gratuitously transported by another person, or when he/she is transported by 
another traveler who is entitled to mileage or transportation expense.  However, a 
traveler on a private aircraft shall be reimbursed the actual amount charged and 
paid for his/her fare for such transportation up to the cost of a commercial airline 
ticket for the same flight if one is available, even though the owner or pilot of the 
aircraft is also entitled to transportation expense for the same flight.

3.0 INCIDENTAL EXPENSES.

3.1 Reasonable travel-related expenses for meals, lodging, gratuities, taxi fares, tolls, 
parking fees, and business-related telephone, telegraph, and facsimile charges 
shall also be reimbursed if substantiated by receipts.

3.2 Reimbursement for meals shall not exceed $6 for breakfast, $11 for lunch, and 
$19 for dinner.  Should the State increase the meal allowances specified in 
Section 112.061, Florida Statutes, the District shall, without further action, be 
permitted to reimburse travelers based on the increased limits.

3.3 Registration fees and other actual and necessary expenses for conventions, 
conferences and seminars which will serve a direct public purpose related to 
District activities will be considered reimbursable if persons attending such 
meetings receive prior approval.  In the event room or meal expenses are included 
in the registration fee, reimbursement for these expenses will be reduced 
accordingly.



EXHIBIT 11.



 

1 
 

RESOLUTION 2018-11

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF PARKLAND 
PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT PROVIDING 
FOR THE PUBLIC’S OPPORTUNITY TO BE HEARD; DESIGNATING 
PUBLIC COMMENT PERIODS; DESIGNATING A PROCEDURE TO 
IDENTIFY INDIVIDUALS SEEKING TO BE HEARD; ADDRESSING 
PUBLIC DECORUM; ADDRESSING EXCEPTIONS; AND PROVIDING 
FOR SEVERABILITY AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

WHEREAS, the Parkland Preserve Community Development District (“District”) is a 
local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida 
Statutes, being situated entirely within St. Johns County, Florida; and

WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt resolutions 
as may be necessary for the conduct of District business; and

WHEREAS, Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, requires that members of the public be 
given a reasonable opportunity to be heard on a proposition before a board or commission; and

WHEREAS, Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, sets forth guidelines for rules and 
policies that govern the public’s opportunity to be heard at a public meeting; and

WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) finds that it is in the best 
interests of the District to adopt by resolution a policy (the “Public Comment Policy”) for 
immediate use and application.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT:

1. DESIGNATING PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD. The District’s Chair, his or 
her designee, or such other person conducting a District meeting (the “Presiding Officer”), shall 
ensure that there is at least one period of time (the “Public Comment Period”) in the District’s 
meeting agenda whereby the public has an opportunity to be heard on propositions before the 
Board, as follows:

a) An initial Public Comment Period shall be provided at the start of each Board 
meeting before consideration of any propositions by the Board. In the event there 
are propositions that come before the Board that are not listed on the agenda, the 
Presiding Officer shall announce a Public Comment Period on such proposition 
prior to the Board voting on the matter.

b) Speakers shall be permitted to address any agenda item or non-agenda matter(s) 
of personal or general concern, during the initial Public Comment Period.



2
 

c) Individuals wishing to make a public comment are limited to three (3) minutes per 
person. Potential speakers may not assign his/her three (3) minutes to extend 
another speaker’s time.

d) The Presiding Officer may extend or reduce the time periods set forth herein in 
order to facilitate orderly and efficient District business, provided however that a 
reasonable opportunity for public comment shall be provided consistent with the 
requirements of Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes.  The Presiding Officer may 
also elect to set and announce additional Public Comment Periods if he or she 
deems it appropriate.

2. DESIGNATING A PROCEDURE TO IDENTIFY INDIVIDUALS 
SEEKING TO BE HEARD. Unless otherwise directed and declared by the Presiding Officer, 
individuals seeking to be heard on propositions before the Board shall identify themselves by a 
show of hands at the beginning of each Public Comment Period, as announced by the Presiding 
Officer. Alternatively, in the event that public attendance is high, and/or if otherwise in the best 
interests of the District in order to facilitate efficient and orderly District business, the Presiding 
Officer may require individuals to complete speaker cards that include the individual’s name, 
address, the proposition on which they wish to be heard, the individual’s position on the 
proposition (i.e., “for,” “against,” or “undecided”), and if appropriate, to indicate the designation 
of a representative to speak for the individual or the individual’s group. In the event large groups 
of individuals desire to speak, the Presiding Officer may require each group to designate a 
representative to speak on behalf of such group.  Any attorney hired to represent an individual or 
company’s interests before the Board shall notify the Board of such representation prior to 
proving any public comment.

Sections 1 and 2 herein shall be deemed to apply only to District Board meetings, but the 
Presiding Officer of a District workshop in his or her discretion may elect to apply such Sections 
to District workshops.

3. PUBLIC DECORUM. The following policies govern public decorum at public 
meetings and workshops:

a) Each person addressing the Board shall proceed to the place assigned for 
speaking, and should state his or her name and address in an audible tone of voice 
for the public record.

b) All remarks shall be addressed to the Board as a body and not to any member 
thereof or to any staff member. No person other than a Board Supervisor or 
District staff member shall be permitted to enter into any discussion with an 
individual speaker while he or she has the floor, without the permission of the 
Presiding Officer. 

c) Nothing herein shall be construed to prohibit the Presiding Officer from 
maintaining orderly conduct and proper decorum in a public meeting. Speakers 
shall refrain from disruptive behavior, and from making vulgar or threatening 



3
 

remarks. Speakers shall refrain from launching personal attacks against any Board 
Supervisor, District staff member, or member of the public. The Presiding Officer 
shall have the discretion to remove any speaker who disregards these policies 
from the meeting.

d) In the case that any person is declared out of order by the Presiding Officer and 
ordered expelled, and does not immediately leave the meeting facilities, the 
following steps may be taken:

i. The Presiding Officer may declare a recess.
ii. The Presiding Officer may contact the local law enforcement authority.

iii. In case the person does not remove himself or herself from the meeting, 
the Presiding Officer may request that he or she be placed under arrest by 
local law enforcement authorities for violation of Section 871.01, Florida 
Statutes, or other applicable law.

4. EXCEPTIONS. The Board recognizes and may apply all applicable exceptions 
to Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, including those set forth in Section 286.0114(3), Florida 
Statutes, and other applicable law.  Additionally, the Presiding Officer may alter the procedures 
set forth in this Public Comment Policy for public hearings and other special proceedings that 
may require a different procedure under Florida law.

5. SEVERABILITY. If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or 
invalid, the other provisions shall remain in full force and effect.

6. EFFECTIVE DATE. This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage 
and shall remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed.  

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 16th day of April, 2018.

Attest: PARKLAND PRESERVE
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT

________________________________ ____________________________________
Secretary/Assistant Secretary Chair, Board of Supervisors



EXHIBIT 12.



RESOLUTION 2018-12

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
ADOPTING PROMPT PAYMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 
PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 218, FLORIDA STATUTES; PROVIDING A 
SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

WHEREAS, the Parkland Preserve Community Development District (“District”) is a 
local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida
Statutes, being situated in St. Johns County, Florida; and 

WHEREAS, Chapter 218, Florida Statutes, requires timely payment to vendors and 
contractors providing certain goods and/or services to the District; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District (“Board”) accordingly finds that it 
is in the best interests of the District to establish by resolution the Prompt Payment Policies and 
Procedures attached hereto as Exhibit A for immediate use and application.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD 
OF SUPERVISORS OF THE PARKLAND PRESERVE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT:

1. ADOPTION OF POLICIES. The Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures 
attached hereto as Exhibit A are hereby adopted pursuant to this resolution as necessary for the 
conduct of District business.  The Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures shall remain in full 
force and effect until such time as the Board may amend them; provided, however, that as the
provisions of Chapter 218, Florida Statutes, are amended from time to time, the attached Prompt 
Payment Policies and Procedures shall automatically be amended to incorporate the new 
requirements of law without any further action by the Board.

2. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or 
invalid, the other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 

3. EFFECTIVE DATE. This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage 
and shall remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed.

PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 16th day of April, 2018.

ATTEST: PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

_____________________________ ____________________________________
Secretary/Assistant Secretary Chairman, Board of Supervisors

Exhibit A: Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures



PARKLAND PRESERVE
COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures
In Accordance With the Local Government Prompt Payment Act 

Chapter 218, Part VII, Florida Statutes

__________________, 2018



 
Parkland Preserve Community Development District

Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures

Table of Contents
I. Purpose ................................................................................................................................................. 1

II. Scope  ................................................................................................................................................... 1

III. Definitions  ........................................................................................................................................... 1
A. Agent   .................................................................................................................................. 1
B. Construction Services  ......................................................................................................... 1
C. Contractor or Provider of Construction Services  ................................................................ 1
D. Date Stamped  ...................................................................................................................... 1
E. Improper Invoice  ................................................................................................................. 2
F. Improper Payment Request .................................................................................................. 2
G. Non-Construction Goods and Services ................................................................................. 2
H. Proper Invoice  ..................................................................................................................... 2
I. Proper Payment Request  ..................................................................................................... 2
J. Provider ................................................................................................................................ 2
K. Purchase  .............................................................................................................................. 2
L. Vendor  ................................................................................................................................ 2

IV. Proper Invoice/Payment Request Requirements  .................................................................................. 3
A. General  ................................................................................................................................ 3
B. Sales Tax  ............................................................................................................................. 3
C. Federal Identification and Social Security Numbers ............................................................ 3
D. Proper Invoice for Non-Construction Goods and Services  ................................................. 3
E. Proper Payment Request Requirements for Construction Services....................................... 4

V. Submission of Invoices and Payment Requests  ................................................................................... 4

VI. Calculation of Payment Due Date ......................................................................................................... 5
A. Non-Construction Goods and Services Invoices  ................................................................. 5
B. Payment Requests for Construction Services  ...................................................................... 6

VII. Resolution of Disputes  ........................................................................................................................ 7
A. Dispute Between the District and a Contractor  ................................................................... 7
B. Dispute Resolution Procedures ............................................................................................ 7

VIII. Purchases Involving Federal Funds or Bond Funds............................................................................... 8

IX. Requirements for Construction Services Contracts – Project Completion; Retainage ......................... 8

X. Late Payment Interest Charges  ............................................................................................................ 9
A. Related to Non-Construction Goods and Services  .............................................................. 9
B. Related to Construction Services   ....................................................................................... 9
C. Report of Interest  ................................................................................................................ 9



I. Purpose
In accordance with the Local Government Prompt Payment Act (Chapter 218, Part VII, 
Florida Statutes) (“PPA”), the purpose of the Parkland Preserve Community 
Development District (“District”) Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures (“Policies & 
Procedures”) is to provide a specific policy to ensure timely payment to Vendors and 
Contractors (both hereinafter defined) providing goods and/or services to the District 
and ensure the timely receipt by the District of goods and/or services contemplated at 
the time of contracting. Please note that the PPA, like any statute or law, may be 
amended from time to time by legislative action. These Policies & Procedures are based 
on the statutory requirements as of the date identified on the cover page of this 
document.  By this reference, as applicable statutory provisions subsequently change, 
these Policies & Procedures shall automatically be amended to incorporate the new 
requirements of law.  These Policies & Procedures are adopted by the District to provide 
guidance in contracting matters. Failure by the District to comply with these Policies & 
Procedures shall not expand the rights or remedies of any Provider (hereinafter defined) 
against the District under the PPA.  Nothing contained herein shall be interpreted as 
more restrictive on the District than what is provided for in the PPA.

II. Scope
These Policies & Procedures apply to all operations of the District, including 
Construction Services and Non-Construction Goods and Services, as applicable.

III. Definitions

A. Agent
The District-contracted architect, District-contracted engineer, District Manager, 
or other person, acting on behalf of the District, which is required by law or 
contract to review invoices or payment requests from Providers (hereinafter 
defined). Such individuals/entities must be identified in accordance with 
§218.735 (1), Fla. Stat., and further identified in the relevant agreement between 
the District and the Provider.

B. Construction Services
All labor, services, and materials provided in connection with the construction, 
alteration, repair, demolition, reconstruction, or other improvement to real 
property that require a license under parts I and II of Chapter 489, Fla. Stat.

C. Contractor or Provider of Construction Services
The entity or individual that provides Construction Services through direct 
contract with the District.

D. Date Stamped
Each original and revised invoice or payment request received by the District 
shall be marked electronically or manually, by use of a date stamp or other 
method, which date marking clearly indicates the date such invoice or payment 
request is first delivered to the District through its Agent.  In the event that the 



Agent receives an invoice or payment request, but fails to timely or physically 
mark on the document the date received, “Date Stamped” shall mean the date of 
actual receipt by the Agent.

E. Improper Invoice
An invoice that does not conform to the requirements of a Proper Invoice.

F. Improper Payment Request
A request for payment for Construction Services that does not conform to the 
requirements of a Proper Payment Request.

G. Non-Construction Goods and Services
All labor, services, goods and materials provided in connection with anything 
other than construction, alteration, repair, demolition, reconstruction, or other 
improvements to real property.

H. Proper Invoice
An invoice that conforms to all statutory requirements, all requirements of these 
Policies and Procedures not expressly waived by the District and any additional 
requirements included in the agreement for goods and/or services for which the 
invoice is submitted not expressly waived by the District.

I. Proper Payment Request
A request for payment for Construction Services which conforms to all statutory 
requirements, all requirements of these Policies & Procedures not expressly 
waived by the District and any additional requirements included in the 
Construction Services agreement for which the Payment Request is submitted not 
expressly waived by the District.

J. Provider
Includes any Vendor, Contractor or Provider of Construction Services, as defined 
herein.

K. Purchase
The purchase of goods, materials, services, or Construction Services; the purchase 
or lease of personal property; or the lease of real property by the District.

L. Vendor
Any person or entity that sells goods or services, sells or leases personal property, 
or leases real property directly to the District, not including Construction 
Services.



IV. Proper Invoice/Payment Request Requirements

A. General
Prior to Provider receiving payment from the District, Non-Construction Goods 
and Services and Construction Services, as applicable, shall be received and 
performed in accordance with contractual or other specifications or requirements 
to the satisfaction of the District. Provision or delivery of Non-Construction 
Goods and Services to the District does not constitute acceptance for the purpose 
of payment.  Final acceptance and authorization of payment shall be made only 
after delivery and inspection by the Agent and the Agent’s confirmation that the 
Non-Construction Goods and Services or Construction Services meet contract 
specifications and conditions.  Should the Non-Construction Goods and Services 
or Construction Services differ in any respect from the specifications, payment 
may be withheld until such time as the Provider takes necessary corrective action.  
Certain limited exceptions which require payment in advance are permitted when 
authorized by the District Board of Supervisors (“Board”) or when provided for in 
the applicable agreement.

B. Sales Tax
Providers should not include sales tax on any invoice or payment request. The 
District’s current tax-exempt number is _________________. A copy of the tax-
exempt form will be supplied to Providers upon request.

C. Federal Identification and Social Security Numbers 
Providers are paid using either a Federal Identification Number or Social Security 
Number. To receive payment, Providers should supply the District with the 
correct number as well as a proper Internal Revenue Service W-9 Form. The 
District Manager shall treat information provided in accordance with Florida law.

Providers should notify the District Manager when changes in data occur 
(telephone _______________, email ____________________, Fax 
__________________).

D. Proper Invoice for Non-Construction Goods and Services 
All Non-Construction Goods and Services invoiced must be supplied or 
performed in accordance with the applicable purchase order (including any 
bid/proposal provided, if applicable) or agreement and such Non-Construction 
Goods and Services quantity and quality must be equal to or better than what is 
required by such terms. Unless otherwise specified in the applicable agreement, 
invoices should contain all of the following minimum information in order to be 
considered a Proper Invoice:

1. Name of Vendor
2. Remittance address
3. Invoice Date
4. Invoice number



5. The “Bill To” party must be the District or the Board, or other entity approved 
in writing by the Board of the District Manager

6. Project name (if applicable)
7. In addition to the information required in Section IV.D.1-6 above, invoices 

involving the purchase of goods should also contain:
a. A complete item description
b. Quantity purchased
c. Unit price(s)
d. Total price (for each item)
e. Total amount of invoice (all items)
f. The location and date(s) of delivery of the goods to the District

8. In addition to the information required in Section IV.D.1-6 above, invoices 
involving the purchase of services should also contain:

a. Itemized description of services performed
b. The location and date of delivery of the services to the District
c. Billing method for services performed (i.e., approved hourly rates, 

percentage of completion, cost plus fixed fee, direct/actual costs, etc.)
d. Itemization of other direct, reimbursable costs (including description 

and amount)
e. Copies of invoices for other direct, reimbursable costs (other than 

incidental costs such as copying) and one (1) of the following:
i. Copy of both sides of a cancelled check evidencing payment 

for costs submitted for reimbursement
ii. Paid receipt

iii. Waiver/lien release from subcontractor (if applicable)
9. Any applicable discounts
10. Any other information or documentation, which may be required or specified 

under the terms of the purchase order or agreement

E. Proper Payment Request Requirements for Construction Services
Payment Requests must conform to all requirements of Section IV.A.-D., above, 
unless otherwise specified in the terms of the applicable agreement or purchase 
order between the District and the Contractor.

V. Submission of Invoices and Payment Requests 
The Provider shall submit all Invoices and Payment Requests for both Construction 
Services and Non-Construction Goods and Services to the District’s Agent as provided in 
the purchase order or agreement, as applicable, and to the District Manager as follows:

Submit the invoice and/or payment request, with required additional material and 
in conformance with these Policies and Procedures, by mail, by hand delivery, or 
via email (Note: email is the preferred method for receipt of Non-Construction 
Goods and Services invoices).



1. Mailing and Drop Off Address
______________________
c/o __________________
______________________
______________________

2. Email Address
______________________

VI. Calculation of Payment Due Date

A. Non-Construction Goods and Services Invoices 

1. Receipt of Proper Invoice 
Payment is due from the District forty-five (45) days from the date on 
which a Proper Invoice is Date Stamped.  

2. Receipt of Improper Invoice 
If an Improper Invoice is received, a required invoice is not received, or 
invoicing of a request for payment is not required, the time when payment 
is due from the District is forty-five (45) days from the latest date of the 
following:

a. On which delivery of personal property is fully accepted by the
District;

b. On which services are completed and accepted by the District;
c. On which the contracted rental period begins (if applicable); or
d. On which the District and the Vendor agree in a written agreement 

that provides payment due dates.

3. Rejection of an Improper Invoice
The District may reject an Improper Invoice. Within ten (10) days of 
receipt of the Improper Invoice by the District, the Vendor must be 
notified that the invoice is improper and be given an opportunity to correct 
the deficient or missing information, remedy the faulty work, replace the 
defective goods, or take other necessary, remedial action.

The District’s rejection of an Improper Invoice must:
1. Be provided in writing;
2. Specify any and all known deficiencies; and
3. State actions necessary to correct the Improper Invoice.

If the Vendor submits a corrected invoice, which corrects the deficiencies 
specified in the District’s written rejection, the District must pay the 
corrected invoice within the later of: (a) ten (10) business days after date 
the corrected invoice is Date Stamped; or (b) forty-five (45) days after the 
date the Improper Invoice was Date Stamped.



If the Vendor submits an invoice in response to the District’s written 
rejection which fails to correct the deficiencies specified or continues to be 
an Improper Invoice, the District must reject that invoice as stated herein.

4. Payment of Undisputed Portion of Invoice
If the District disputes a portion of an invoice, the undisputed portion shall 
be paid in a timely manner and in accordance with the due dates for 
payment as specified in these Policies & Procedures.

B. Payment Requests for Construction Services 

1. Receipt of Proper Payment Request
The time at which payment is due for Construction Services from the 
District is as follows:

a. If an Agent must approve the payment request before it is submitted to 
the District Manager, payment (whether full or partial) is due twenty-five 
(25) business days after the payment request is Date Stamped. The 
Contractor may send the District an overdue notice. If the payment 
request is not rejected within four (4) business days after Date Stamp of 
the overdue notice, the payment request shall be deemed accepted, except 
for any portion of the payment request that is fraudulent, misleading or is 
the subject of dispute.

The agreement between the District and the Contractor shall identify the 
Agent to which the Contractor shall submit its payment request, or shall be 
provided by the District through a separate written notice no later than ten 
(10) days after contract award or notice to proceed, whichever is later. 
Contractor’s submission of a payment request to the Agent shall be Date 
Stamped, which shall commence the time periods for payment or rejection 
of a payment request or invoice as provided in this section.

b. If, pursuant to contract, an Agent is not required to approve the payment 
request submitted to the District, payment is due twenty (20) business days 
after the payment request is Date Stamped unless such payment request 
includes fraudulent or misleading information or is the subject of dispute.

2. Receipt and Rejection of Improper Payment Request
a. If an Improper Payment Request is received, the District must reject the 
Improper Payment Request within twenty (20) business days after the date 
on which the payment request is Date Stamped.

b. The District’s rejection of the Improper Payment Request must:
1. Be provided in writing;
2. Specify any and all known deficiencies; and



3. State actions necessary to correct the Improper Invoice.

c. If a Contractor submits a payment request which corrects the deficiency 
specified in the District’s written rejection, the District must pay or reject 
the corrected submission no later than ten (10) business days after the date 
the corrected payment request is Date Stamped.

3. Payment of Undisputed Portion of Payment Request
If the District disputes a portion of a payment request, the undisputed 
portion shall be paid in a timely manner and in accordance with the due 
dates for payment as specified in this section.

VII. Resolution of Disputes

If a dispute arises between a Provider and the District concerning payment of an invoice 
or payment request, the dispute shall be resolved as set forth in § 218.735, Fla. Stat., for 
Construction Services, and § 218.76, Fla. Stat. for Non-Construction Goods and Services.

A. Dispute between the District and a Contractor
If a dispute between the District and a Contractor cannot be resolved following 
resubmission of a payment request by the Contractor, the dispute must be 
resolved in accordance with the dispute resolution procedure prescribed in the 
construction contract, if any. In the absence of a prescribed procedure in the 
contract, the dispute must be resolved by the procedures specified below.

B. Dispute Resolution Procedures

1. If an Improper Payment Request or Improper Invoice is submitted, and the 
Provider refuses or fails to submit a revised payment request or invoice as 
contemplated by the PPA and these Policies and Procedures, the Provider 
shall, not later than thirty (30) days after the date on which the last 
payment request or invoice was Date Stamped, submit a written statement 
via certified mail to the Agent, copying the District Manager, specifying 
the basis upon which the Provider contends the last submitted payment 
request or invoice was proper.

2. Within forty-five (45) days of receipt by the Agent and District Manager 
of the disputed, last-submitted payment request or invoice, the Agent 
and/or District Manager shall commence investigation of the dispute and 
render a final decision on the matter no later than sixty (60) days after the 
date on which the last-submitted payment request or invoice is Date 
Stamped.

3. Absent a written agreement to the contrary, if the Provider refuses or fails 
to provide the written statement required above, the Agent and/or District 
Manager is not required to contact the Provider in the investigation.  In 



addition, and absent a written agreement to the contrary, if such written 
statement is not provided, the District may immediately contract with third 
parties to provide the goods and services subject to the dispute and deduct 
the costs of such third party purchases from amounts owed to the Provider.

4. The Board shall approve any decision of the District Manager to contract 
with a third party which would result in: 1) an expenditure above what is 
budgeted for the Construction Services or Non-Construction Services; or 
2) an expenditure which exceeds the original contract amount for the 
Construction Services or Non-Construction Services by more than ten 
percent (10%) or Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000).

5. A written explanation of the final decision shall be sent to the Provider, 
via certified mail, within five (5) business days from the date on which 
such final decision is made.  A copy of the written explanation of the final 
decision shall be provided to the Chairperson of the Board simultaneously 
with the certified mailing to the Provider.

6. If a Provider does not accept in writing the final decision within five (5) 
days after receipt by the Provider, the District may immediately contract 
with third parties to provide the goods and services subject to the dispute 
and deduct the costs of such third party purchases from amounts owed to 
the Provider.  If the costs of the third party purchases exceed the amount 
the District owes to the Provider, the District may seek to recover such 
excess from the Provider in a court of law or as otherwise provided in an 
agreement between the District and the Provider.  Nothing contained 
herein shall limit or affect the District’s ability to enforce all of its legal 
and contractual rights and remedies against the Provider.

VIII. Purchases Involving Federal Funds or Bond Funds

When the District intends to pay for a purchase with federal funds or bond funds, the 
District shall make such purchases only upon reasonable assurances that federal funds or 
bond funds sufficient to cover the cost will be received.  When payment is contingent 
upon the receipt of bond funds, federal funds or federal approval, the public procurement 
documents and any agreement with a Provider shall clearly state such contingency. (§ 
218.77, Fla. Stat.).

IX. Requirements for Construction Services Contracts – Project Completion; 
Retainage

The District intends to follow the PPA requirements for construction project completion 
and retainage, including, but not limited to, § 218.735 (7) and (8), Fla. Stat.



X. Late Payment Interest Charges

Failure on the part of the District to make timely payments may result in District 
responsibility for late payment interest charges.  No agreement between the District and a 
Provider may prohibit the collection of late payment interest charges allowable under the 
PPA as mandatory interest. (§218.75, Fla. Stat.).

A. Related to Non-Construction Goods and Services
All payments due from the District, and not made within the time specified within 
this policy, will bear interest, from thirty (30) days after the due date, at the rate of 
one percent (1%) per month on the unpaid balance. The Vendor must submit a 
Proper Invoice to the District for any interest accrued in order to receive the 
interest payment. (§ 218.74 (4), Fla. Stat.).

An overdue period of less than one (1) month is considered as one (1) month in 
computing interest. Unpaid interest is compounded monthly. The term one (1) 
month means a period beginning on any day of a month and ending on the same 
day of the following month.

B. Related to Construction Services
All payments for Construction Services that are not made within the time periods 
specified within the applicable statute, shall bear interest from thirty (30) days 
after the due date, at the rate of one percent (1%) per month, or the rate specified 
by agreement, whichever is greater. The Contractor must submit a Proper 
Payment Request to the District for any interest accrued in order to receive the 
interest payment. An overdue period of less than one (1) month is considered as 
one (1) month in computing interest. (§ 218.735 (8)(i), Fla. Stat.).

Unpaid interest is compounded monthly. The term one (1) month means a period 
beginning on any day of a month and ending on the same day of the following 
month.

C. Report of Interest
If the total amount of interest paid during the preceding fiscal year exceeds $250, 
the District Manager is required to submit a report to the Board during December 
of each year, stating the number of interest payments made and the total amount 
of such payments. (§ 218.78, Fla. Stat.).



EXHIBIT 13.



RESOLUTION 2018-13

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
AUTHORIZING A REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS FOR DISTRICT 
ENGINEER SERVICES AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the Parkland Preserve Community Development District (“District”) is a 
local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida 
Statutes, being situated entirely within unincorporated St. Johns County, Florida; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the provisions of Sections 190.033 and 287.055, Florida 
Statutes, the District’s Board of Supervisors (“Board”) may contract for the services of 
consultants to perform planning, engineering, legal or other professional services; and 

WHEREAS, the Board desires to authorize a request for qualifications process (“RFQ”) 
to select a District Engineer;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT:

1. AUTHORIZATION FOR RFQ.  The form of “RFQ Project Manual” attached 
hereto as Exhibit A, including the notice and evaluation criteria, is hereby approved in 
substantial form.  District Staff is hereby directed to effect the RFQ and provide any responses to 
the Board for consideration.  

2. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon 
its adoption.

PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 16th day of April, 2018.

ATTEST: PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

__________________________ _____________________________________
Secretary/Assistant Secretary Chairperson, Board of Supervisors

Exhibit A: Form of RFQ Project Manual



REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS (“RFQ”) FOR ENGINEERING SERVICES FOR 
THE PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

The Parkland Preserve Community Development District (“District”), located in St. 
Johns County, Florida, announces that professional engineering services will be required on a 
continuing basis for the District.  The engineering firm selected will act in the general capacity of 
District Engineer and, if so authorized, may provide general engineering services as well as 
engineering services for the design and construction administration associated with the District’s 
capital improvement plan.  

Any firm or individual (“Applicant”) desiring to provide professional services to the 
District must: 1) hold applicable federal, state and local licenses; 2) be authorized to do business 
in Florida in accordance with Florida law; and 3) furnish a statement (“Qualification 
Statement”) of its qualifications and past experience on U.S. General Service Administration’s 
“Architect-Engineer Qualifications, Standard Form No. 330,” with pertinent supporting data.  
Among other things, Applicants must submit information relating to: a) the ability and adequacy 
of the Applicant’s professional personnel; b) whether the Applicant is a certified minority 
business enterprise; c) the Applicant’s willingness to meet time and budget requirements; d) the 
Applicant’s past experience and performance, including but not limited to past experience as a 
District Engineer for any community development districts and past experience with St. Johns 
County; e) the geographic location of the Applicant’s headquarters and offices; f) the current and 
projected workloads of the Applicant; and g) the volume of work previously awarded to the 
Applicant by the District.  Further, each Applicant must identify the specific individual affiliated 
with the Applicant who would be handling District meetings, construction services, and other 
engineering tasks.

The District will review all Applicants and will comply with Florida law, including the 
Consultant’s Competitive Negotiations Act, Chapter 287, Florida Statutes (“CCNA”).  All 
Applicants must submit eight (8) copies of Standard Form No. 330 and Qualification Statement 
by 12:00 p.m. on _________________________ and to the attention of 
__________________________________ (“District Manager’s Office”).  

The Board of Supervisors shall select and rank the Applicants using the requirements set 
forth in the CCNA and the evaluation criteria on file with the District Manager’s Office, and the 
highest ranked Applicant will be requested to enter into contract negotiations.  If an agreement 
cannot be reached between the District and the highest ranked Applicant, negotiations will cease 
and begin with the next highest ranked Applicant, and if these negotiations are unsuccessful, will 
continue to the third highest ranked Applicant.  The District reserves the right to reject any and all 
Qualification Statements.  Additionally, there is no express or implied obligation for the District 
to reimburse Applicants for any expenses associated with the preparation and submittal of the 
Qualification Statements in response to this request. 

Any protest regarding the terms of this Notice, or the evaluation criteria on file with the 
District Manager’s Office, must be filed in writing with the District Manager’s Office, within 
seventy-two (72) hours after the publication of this Notice.  The formal protest setting forth with 
particularity the facts and law upon which the protest is based shall be filed within seven (7) 
calendar days after the initial notice of protest was filed.  Failure to timely file a notice of protest 
or failure to timely file a formal written protest shall constitute a waiver of any right to object or 
protest with respect to aforesaid Notice or evaluation criteria provisions.  Any person who files a 
notice of protest shall provide to the District, simultaneous with the filing of the notice, a protest 
bond with a responsible surety to be approved by the District and in the amount of Ten Thousand 



Dollars ($10,000.00).  Additional information and requirements regarding protests are set forth in 
the District’s Rules of Procedure, which are available from the District Manager’s Office.

Any and all questions relative to this RFQ shall be directed in writing by e-mail only to 
________________ at ______________________, with e-mail copy to Jere Earlywine at 
jeree@hgslaw.com.

District Manager

Publish on _______________ (must be published at least 14 days prior to submittal deadline)



PARKLAND PRESERVE
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

DISTRICT ENGINEER REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS

COMPETITIVE SELECTION CRITERIA

1) Ability and Adequacy of Professional Personnel (Weight: 25 Points)

Consider the capabilities and experience of key personnel within the firm including certification, 
training, and education; affiliations and memberships with professional organizations; etc.

2) Consultant’s Past Performance (Weight: 25 Points)

Past performance for other Community Development Districts in other contracts; amount of experience 
on similar projects; character, integrity, reputation of respondent; etc.

3) Geographic Location (Weight: 20 Points)

Consider the geographic location of the firm’s headquarters, offices and personnel in relation to the 
project.

4) Willingness to Meet Time and Budget Requirements (Weight: 15 Points)

Consider the consultant’s ability and desire to meet time and budget requirements including rates, 
staffing levels and past performance on previous projects; etc.

5) Certified Minority Business Enterprise (Weight: 5 Points)

Consider whether the firm is a Certified Minority Business Enterprise.  Award either all eligible points 
or none.

6) Recent, Current and Projected Workloads (Weight: 5 Points)

Consider the recent, current and projected workloads of the firm.

7) Volume of Work Previously Awarded to Consultant by District (Weight: 5 Points)

Consider the desire to diversify the firms that receive work from the District; etc.



Page 1 of 13

INTERIM ENGINEERING SERVICES AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into this 16th day of April, 2018, by and 
between:

Parkland Preserve Community Development District, a local unit of special-
purpose government established pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, and 
located in St. Johns County, Florida, and with an address of 1478 Riverplace 
Boulevard, Suite 107, Jacksonville FL  32207(“District”), and
_____________________________, ___________________, and with a principal 
address of ____________________________________ (“Engineer”).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the District is a local unit of special-purpose government established 
pursuant to the Uniform Community Development District Act of 1980, as codified in Chapter 
190, Florida Statutes (“Uniform Act”), by ordinance of St. Johns County, Florida; and 

WHEREAS, the District is authorized to plan, finance, construct, install, acquire and/or 
maintain improvements, facilities and services in conjunction with the development of the lands 
within the District; and 

WHEREAS, the District intends to employ Engineer on an interim basis to perform 
engineering planning and/or study activities, as defined by separate work authorization(s); and 

WHEREAS, the Engineer shall serve as District’s professional representative in each 
service or project to which this Agreement applies and will give consultation and advice to the 
District during performance of the services.

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants herein 
contained, the acts and deeds to be performed by the parties and the payments by the District to 
the Engineer of the sums of money herein specified, it is mutually covenanted and agreed as 
follows:

1. SCOPE OF SERVICES.  The Engineer will provide general engineering 
planning and/or study services, as authorized by one or more Work Authorization(s) as defined 
herein, including:

a. Preparation of any necessary reports and attendance at meetings of the 
District’s Board of Supervisors.

b. Assistance in meeting with necessary parties involving bond issues, special 
reports, feasibility studies, or other tasks.

c. Any other items requested by the Board of Supervisors.

2. REPRESENTATIONS. The Engineer hereby represents to the District that:



Page 2 of 13

a. It has the experience and skill to perform the services required to be 
performed by this Agreement.

b. It shall design to and comply with applicable federal, state, and local laws, and 
codes, including without limitation, professional registration and licensing 
requirements (both corporate and individual for all required basic disciplines) 
in effect during the term of this Agreement, and shall, if requested by District, 
provide certification of compliance with all registration and licensing 
requirements.

c. It shall perform said services in accordance with generally accepted 
professional standards in the most expeditious and economical manner, and to 
the extent consistent with the best interests of District.

d. It is adequately financed to meet any financial obligations it may be required 
to incur under this Agreement.

3. METHOD OF AUTHORIZATION. Each service or project shall be authorized 
in writing by the District.  The written authorization shall be incorporated in a work authorization 
which shall include the scope of work, compensation, project schedule, and special provisions or 
conditions specific to the service or project bring authorized (“Work Authorization”).  
Authorization of services or projects under this Agreement shall be at the sole option of the 
District. The Work Authorization #1 attached hereto as EXHIBIT C is hereby authorized.

4. COMPENSATION. It is understood and agreed that the payment of 
compensation for services under this Agreement shall be stipulated in each Work Authorization. 
Services rendered by Engineer under this contract shall not exceed the lesser of Thirty Five 
Thousand Dollars or the amounts specifically authorized by written Work Authorization.   One 
of the following methods will be utilized:

a. Lump Sum Amount - The District and Engineer shall mutually agree to a lump 
sum amount for the services to be rendered payable monthly in direct 
proportion to the work accomplished.  

b. Hourly Personnel Rates - For services or projects where scope of services is 
not clearly defined, or for recurring services or other projects where the 
District desires to use hourly compensation rates, the District and Engineer 
shall use the hourly compensation rates outlined in EXHIBIT A attached 
hereto.  The District and Engineer may agree to a “not to exceed” amount 
when utilizing hourly personnel rates for a specific Work Authorization.        

5. REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES. Reimbursable expenses consist of actual 
expenditures made by Engineer, its employees, or its consultants in the interest of the project for 
the incidental expenses as listed as follows:

a. Expenses of transportation and living when traveling in connection with a 
project, for long distance phone calls and telegrams, and fees paid for securing 



Page 3 of 13

approval of authorities having jurisdiction over the project.  All expenditures 
shall be made in accordance with Chapter 112, Florida Statutes, and with the 
District’s travel policy.

b. Expense of reproduction, postage and handling of drawings and 
specifications.

6. TERM OF CONTRACT.  It is understood and agreed that this Agreement is for 
professional engineering services.  It is further understood and agreed that the term of this 
Agreement will be from the time of execution of this Agreement until terminated pursuant the 
terms herein.

7. SPECIAL SERVICES.  When authorized in writing by the District, additional 
special consulting services may be utilized by Engineer and paid for on a cost basis. 

8. BOOKS AND RECORDS.  Engineer shall maintain comprehensive books and 
records relating to any services performed under this Agreement, which shall be retained by 
Engineer for a period of at least four (4) years from and after completion of any services 
hereunder, or such other period as required by law.  The District, or its authorized representative, 
shall have the right to audit such books and records at all reasonable times upon prior notice to 
Engineer.

9. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS.

a. All rights in and title to all plans, drawings, specifications, ideas, concepts, 
designs, sketches, models, programs, software, creation, inventions, reports, or 
other tangible work product originally developed by Engineer pursuant to this 
Agreement (“Work Product”) shall be and remain the sole and exclusive 
property of the District when developed and shall be considered work for hire.

b. The Engineer shall deliver all Work Product to the District upon completion 
thereof unless it is necessary for Engineer in the District’s sole discretion, to 
retain possession for a longer period of time.  Upon early termination of 
Engineer’s services hereunder, Engineer shall deliver all such Work Product 
whether complete or not.  The District shall have all rights to use any and all 
Work Product.  Engineer shall retain copies of the Work Product for its 
permanent records, provided the Work Product is not used without the 
District’s prior express written consent.  Engineer agrees not to recreate any 
Work Product contemplated by this Agreement, or portions thereof, which if 
constructed or otherwise materialized, would be reasonably identifiable with 
the project.  If said work product is used by the District for any purpose other 
than that purpose which is intended by this Agreement, the District shall 
indemnify Engineer from any and all claims and liabilities which may result 
from such re-use, in the event Engineer does not consent to such use.

c. The District exclusively retains all manufacturing rights to all materials or 
designs developed under this Agreement. To the extent the services performed 
under this Agreement produce or include copyrightable or patentable 



Page 4 of 13

materials or designs, such materials or designs are work made for hire for the
District as the author, creator, or inventor thereof upon creation, and the 
District shall have all rights therein including, without limitation, the right of 
reproduction, with respect to such work.  Engineer hereby assigns to the 
District any and all rights Engineer may have including, without limitation, 
the copyright, with respect to such work.  The Engineer acknowledges that the 
District is the motivating factor for, and for the purpose of copyright or patent, 
has the right to direct and supervise the preparation of such copyrightable or 
patentable materials or designs.

10. ACCOUNTING RECORDS.  Records of Engineer pertaining to the services 
provided hereunder shall be kept on a basis of generally accepted accounting principles and shall 
be available to the District or its authorized representative for observation or audit at mutually 
agreeable times.

11. REUSE OF DOCUMENTS.  All documents including drawings and 
specifications furnished by Engineer pursuant to this Agreement are instruments of service.  
They are not intended or represented to be suitable for reuse by District or others on extensions 
of the work for which they were provided or on any other project.  Any reuse without specific 
written consent by Engineer will be at the District’s sole risk and without liability or legal 
exposure to Engineer. All documents including drawings, plans and specifications furnished by 
Engineer to District are subject to reuse in accordance with Section 287.055(10), Florida 
Statutes.

12. COST ESTIMATES. Since Engineer has no control over the cost of labor, 
materials or equipment or over a contractor’s methods of determining prices, or over competitive 
bidding or market conditions, his opinions of probable cost provided as a service hereunder are 
to be made on the basis of his experience and qualifications and represent his best judgment as a 
design professional familiar with the construction industry, but Engineer cannot and does not 
guarantee that proposals, bids, or the construction costs will not vary from opinions of probable 
cost prepared by him.  If the District wishes greater assurance as to the construction costs, it shall 
employ an independent cost estimator at its own expense.  Services to modify approved 
documents to bring the construction cost within any limitation established by the District will be 
considered additional services and justify additional fees.

13. INSURANCE. Engineer shall, at its own expense, maintain insurance during the 
performance of its services under this Agreement, with limits of liability not less than the 
amounts set forth in EXHIBIT B.   If any such policy of insurance is a “claims made” policy, 
and not an “occurrence” policy, the Engineer shall, without interruption, maintain the insurance 
for at least five (5) years after the termination of this Agreement.  

The District, its officers, supervisors, agents, staff, and representatives shall be named as 
additional insured parties on all of the insurance policies listed in EXHIBIT B except with 
respect to the Worker’s Compensation Insurance and the Professional Liability for Errors and 
Omissions Insurance.  The Engineer shall furnish the District with the Certificate of Insurance 



Page 5 of 13

and any applicable endorsements evidencing compliance with the requirements of this Section. 
No certificate shall be acceptable to the District unless it provides that any change or termination 
within the policy periods of the insurance coverage, as certified, shall not be effective without 
written notice to the District per the terms of the applicable policy. Insurance coverage shall be 
from a reputable insurance carrier, licensed to conduct business in the state of Florida.

If the Engineer fails to have secured and maintained the required insurance, the District 
has the right (without any obligation to do so, however), to secure such required insurance in 
which event, the Engineer shall pay the cost for that required insurance and shall furnish, upon 
demand, all information that may be required in connection with the District’s obtaining the 
required insurance.

14. CONTINGENT FEE. The Engineer warrants that it has not employed or 
retained any company or person, other than a bona fide employee working solely for the 
Engineer, to solicit or secure this Agreement and that it has not paid or agreed to pay any person, 
company, corporation, individual, or firm, other than a bona fide employee working solely for 
the Engineer, any fee, commission, percentage, gift, or other consideration contingent upon or 
resulting from the award or making of this Agreement.

15. AUDIT. The Engineer agrees that the District or any of its duly authorized 
representatives shall, until the expiration of three (3) years after expenditure of funds under this 
Agreement, have access to and the right to examine any books, documents, papers, and records 
of the Engineer involving transactions related to the Agreement. The Engineer agrees that 
payment made under the Agreement shall be subject to reduction for amounts charged thereto 
that are found on the basis of audit examination not to constitute allowable costs. All required 
records shall be maintained until an audit is completed and all questions arising therefrom are 
resolved, or three (3) years after completion of all work under the Agreement.

16. INDEMNIFICATION.  Engineer agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold the 
District and the District’s officers and employees harmless from liabilities, damages, losses, and 
costs, including, but not limited to, reasonable attorney’s fees, which may come against the 
District and the District’s officers and employees, to the extent caused wholly or in part by 
negligent, reckless, or intentionally wrongful acts, omissions, or defaults by Engineer or persons 
employed or utilized by Engineer the course of any work done under this Agreement. To the 
extent a limitation on liability is required by Section 725.06 of the Florida Statutes or other 
applicable law, liability under this section shall in no event exceed the greater of the insurance 
limits set forth in EXHIBIT B or Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000). Engineer agrees such 
limitation bears a reasonable commercial relationship to the contract and was part of the project 
specifications or bid documents. 

17. INDIVIDUAL LIABILITY.  UNDER THIS 
AGREEMENT, AND SUBJECT TO THE REQUIREMENTS 
OF SECTION 558.0035, FLORIDA STATUTES, WHICH 
REQUIREMENTS ARE EXPRESSLY INCORPORATED 



Page 6 of 13

HEREIN, AN INDIVIDUAL EMPLOYEE OR AGENT MAY 
NOT BE HELD INDIVIDUALLY LIABLE FOR 
NEGLIGENCE.

18. SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY.  The Engineer agrees and covenants that nothing in 
this Agreement shall constitute or be construed as a waiver of District’s limitations on liability 
pursuant to Section 768.28, Florida Statutes, or any other statute or law.

19. PUBLIC RECORDS. The Engineer agrees and understands that Chapter 119, 
Florida Statutes, may be applicable to documents prepared in connection with work provided to 
the District and agrees to cooperate with public record requests made thereunder.  In connection 
with this Agreement, Engineer agrees to comply with all provisions of Florida’s public records 
laws, including but not limited to Section 119.0701, Florida Statutes, the terms of which are 
incorporated herein.  Among other requirements, Engineer must:

a. Keep and maintain public records required by the District to perform the service.
b. Upon request from the District’s custodian of public records, provide the District with 

a copy of the requested records or allow the records to be inspected or copied within a 
reasonable time at a cost that does not exceed the cost provided in Chapter 119, 
Florida Statutes or as otherwise provided by law.

c. Ensure that public records that are exempt or confidential and exempt from public 
records disclosure requirements are not disclosed except as authorized by law for the 
duration of the contract term and following completion of the Agreement if the 
Engineer does not transfer the records to the District.

d. Upon completion of this Agreement, transfer, at no cost, to the District all public 
records in possession of the Engineer or keep and maintain public records required by 
the District to perform the service.  If the Engineer transfers all public records to the 
District upon completion of this Agreement, the Engineer shall destroy any duplicate 
public records that are exempt or confidential and exempt from public records 
disclosure requirements.  If the Engineer keeps and maintains public records upon 
completion of the Agreement, the Engineer shall meet all applicable requirements for 
retaining public records.  All records stored electronically must be provided to the 
District, upon request from the District’s custodian of public records, in a format that 
is compatible with the information technology systems of the District.

IF THE ENGINEER HAS QUESTIONS REGARDING THE 
APPLICATION OF CHAPTER 119, FLORIDA STATUTES, TO 
THE ENGINEER’S DUTY TO PROVIDE PUBLIC RECORDS 
RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, CONTACT THE
PUBLIC RECORDS CUSTODIAN AT 
_______________________, PHONE __________________, AND
E-MAIL ____________________________.



Page 7 of 13

20. EMPLOYMENT VERIFICATION. The Engineer agrees that it shall bear the 
responsibility for verifying the employment status, under the Immigration Reform and Control 
Act of 1986, of all persons it employs in the performance of this Agreement.

21. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST. The Engineer shall bear the responsibility for 
acting in the District’s best interests, shall avoid any conflicts of interest and shall abide by all 
applicable ethical canons and professional standards relating to conflicts of interest.  

22. SUBCONTRACTORS. The Engineer may subcontract portions of the services, 
subject to the terms of this Agreement and subject to the prior written consent of the District, 
which may be withheld for any or no reason. Without in any way limiting any terms and 
conditions set forth in this Agreement, all subcontractors of Engineer shall be deemed to have 
made all of the representations and warranties of Engineer set forth herein and shall be subject to 
any and all obligations of Engineer hereunder.  Prior to any subcontractor providing any services, 
Engineer shall obtain from each subcontractor its written consent to and acknowledgment of the 
terms of this Agreement.  Engineer shall be responsible for all acts or omissions of any 
subcontractors.

23. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR. The District and the Engineer agree and 
acknowledge that the Engineer shall serve as an independent contractor of the District.  Neither 
the Engineer nor employees of the Engineer, if any, are employees of the District under the 
meaning or application of any federal or state unemployment, insurance laws, or any other 
potentially applicable laws.  The Engineer agrees to assume all liabilities or obligations by any 
one or more of such laws with respect to employees of the Engineer, if any, in the performance 
of this Agreement.  The Engineer shall not have any authority to assume or create any obligation,
express or implied, on behalf of the District and the Engineer shall have no authority to represent 
as agent, employee, or in any other capacity the District unless set forth differently herein or 
authorized by vote of the Board. 

24. ASSIGNMENT. Neither the District nor the Engineer shall assign, sublet, or 
transfer any rights under or interest in this Agreement without the express written consent of the 
other.  Nothing in this paragraph shall prevent the Engineer from employing such independent 
professional associates and consultants as Engineer deems appropriate, pursuant to the terms of 
this Agreement.

25. THIRD PARTIES. Nothing in the Agreement shall inure to the benefit of any 
third party for the purpose of allowing any claim which would otherwise be barred by operation 
of law.

26. CONTROLLING LAW; VENUE. The Engineer and the District agree that this 
Agreement shall be controlled and governed by the laws of the State of Florida.  Venue for any 
action brought relating to this Agreement shall be in St. Johns County, Florida.

27. TERMINATION. The District may terminate this Agreement for cause 
immediately upon notice to Engineer. The District or the Engineer may terminate this Agreement 



Page 8 of 13

without cause upon thirty (30) days written notice. At such time as the Engineer receives 
notification of the intent of the District to terminate the contract, the Engineer shall not perform 
any further services unless directed to do so in writing by the District.  In the event of any 
termination or breach of any kind, the Engineer shall not be entitled to consequential damages of 
any kind (including but not limited to lost profits), but instead the Engineer’s sole remedy will be 
to recover payment for services rendered to the date of the notice of termination, subject to any 
offsets.

28. RECOVERY OF COSTS AND FEES. In the event either party is required to 
enforce this Agreement by court proceedings or otherwise, then the prevailing party shall be 
entitled to recover from the other party all costs incurred, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, at 
all judicial levels.

29. AMENDMENTS. Amendments to and waivers of the provisions contained in 
this Agreement may be made only by an instrument in writing which is executed by both of the 
parties hereto and formally approved by the Board.

30. AGREEMENT. This Agreement reflects the negotiated agreement of the parties, 
each represented by competent legal counsel.  Accordingly, this Agreement shall be construed as 
if both parties jointly prepared it, and no presumption against one party or the other shall govern 
the interpretation or construction of any of the provisions of this Agreement.

31. NOTICES. All notices, requests, consents and other communications hereunder 
(“Notices”) shall be in writing and shall be delivered, mailed by First Class Mail, postage 
prepaid, or tele-copied to the parties, and at the addresses first set forth above.  Except as 
otherwise provided in this Agreement, any Notice shall be deemed received only upon actual 
delivery at the address set forth above.  Notices delivered after 5:00 p.m. (at the place of 
delivery) or on a non-business day, shall be deemed received on the next business day.  If any 
time for giving Notice contained in this Agreement would otherwise expire on a non-business 
day, the Notice period shall be extended to the next succeeding business day.  Saturdays, 
Sundays, and legal holidays recognized by the United States government shall not be regarded as 
business days.  Counsel for the District and counsel for the Engineer may deliver Notice on 
behalf of the District and the Engineer.  Any party or other person to whom Notices are to be 
sent or copied may notify the other parties and addressees of any change in name or address to 
which Notices shall be sent by providing the same on five (5) day’s written notice to the parties 
and addressees set forth herein.

32. RECOVERY OF COSTS AND FEES. In the event either party is required to 
enforce this Agreement by court proceedings or otherwise, then the prevailing party shall be 
entitled to recover from the other party all costs incurred, including reasonable attorneys’ fees,
paralegal fees and expert witness fees and costs.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused these present to be executed
the day and year first above written.



Page 9 of 13

PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

________________________________ _____________________________________
Secretary Chairman, Board of Supervisors

__________________________________

________________________________ _____________________________________
Witness By: __________________________________

Its: __________________________________

EXHIBIT A: Rate Schedule

EXHIBIT B: Insurance Certificate

EXHIBIT C: Approved Work Authorization #1



Page 10 of 13

EXHIBIT A

RATE SCHEDULE



 

kimley-horn.com 12740 Gran Bay Parkway West, Suite 2350, Jacksonville, Florida 32258 904 828 3900  

 

 
 

                        

Support Staff $70.00 To $105.00 

Technical Support $75.00 To $125.00 

Senior Technical Support $120.00 To $195.00 

Professional 

 

$120.00 

 

 

To $200.00 

 

 
Senior Professional 

 

$205.00 

 

 

To $300.00 

 
Principal $265.00 To $300.00 

 

Billing Rate Schedule 

Effective July 1, 2017 to June 30, 2018 



Page 11 of 13

EXHIBIT B
INSURANCE CERTIFICATE & ENDORSEMENTS



Page 12 of 13

EXHIBIT C
APPROVED WORK AUTHORIZATION #1



Page 13 of 13

___________________, 2018

Parkland Preserves Community Development District
St. Johns County, Florida  

Subject: Work Authorization Number 1

Dear Chairman, Board of Supervisors:

_________________________ (“Engineer”) is pleased to submit this work authorization 
to provide interim engineering services for the Parkland Preserve Community Development 
District (“District”).  We will provide these services pursuant to our current agreement dated 
_____________, 2018 (“Engineering Agreement”) as follows:  

I. Scope of Work
The District will engage the services of Engineer on an interim basis to perform those 

services as necessary for the preparation of a District engineer’s report in connection with the 
issuance of District Bonds, construction administration, and attendance at meetings and bond 
validation proceedings regarding the District’s issuance of bonds.

II. Fees
The District will compensate Engineer pursuant to the hourly rate schedule contained in 

the Engineering Agreement. The District will reimburse Engineer all direct costs which include 
items such as printing, drawings, travel, deliveries, etc., pursuant to the Agreement.  

This proposal, together with the Engineering Agreement, represents the entire 
understanding between the District and Engineer with regard to the referenced work 
authorization.  If you wish to accept this work authorization, please sign both copies where 
indicated, and return one complete copy to our office.  Upon receipt, we will promptly schedule 
our services.

Thank you for your consideration.

APPROVED AND ACCEPTED

PARKLAND PRESERVE CDD

By: 
Authorized Representative 

Sincerely,

______________________________

____________________________________
By: ________________________________



 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT 14. 



1

RESOLUTION 2018-14

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT GRANTING THE 
CHAIRMAN THE AUTHORITY TO EXECUTE REAL AND 
PERSONAL PROPERTY CONVEYANCE AND 
DEDICATION DOCUMENTS, AND PLATS AND OTHER 
DOCUMENTS RELATED TO THE DEVELOPMENT OF 
THE DISTRICT’S IMPROVEMENTS; APPROVING THE 
SCOPE AND TERMS OF SUCH AUTHORIZATION; 
PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

WHEREAS, the Parkland Preserve Community Development District (“District”) is a 
local unit of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida 
Statutes, and situated within St. Johns County, Florida; and 

WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to construct, install, 
operate, and/or maintain systems and facilities for certain basic infrastructure including, but not 
limited to, stormwater management  system, roadway improvements, water and sewer utility 
systems, recreation improvements, underground electric, and other improvements; and

WHEREAS, the District has adopted, or intends to adopt, a report of its District 
Engineer, as may be amended and/or supplemented (“Engineer’s Report”), which sets forth the 
scope of the District’s capital improvement plan and the improvements which are to be 
constructed therewith (“Improvements”); and

WHEREAS, in connection with the development of the Improvements in accordance 
with the Engineer’s Report, which includes, but is not limited to, obtaining all necessary permits 
and approvals from local governments and agencies for the construction and/or operation of 
infrastructure improvements, the District is required, from time to time, to accept, convey and 
dedicate certain interests in real and personal property, including, but not limited to easements, 
plat dedications, deeds and bills of sale for infrastructure improvements (“Permits and 
Conveyances”); and

WHEREAS, to facilitate the efficient development of the Improvements, the District 
desires to authorize the Chairman to approve and execute the Permits and Conveyances 
necessary to finalize the development of the District’s capital improvement plan (“Conveyance 
Authority”); and

WHEREAS, the Conveyance Authority shall be subject to the District Engineer and 
District Counsel agreeing that each such proposed Permit or Conveyance is legal, consistent with 
the District’s improvement plan and necessary for the development of the Improvements; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors finds that granting to the Chairman the
Conveyance Authority is in the best interests of the District so that the development of the 



2

Improvements may proceed expeditiously, subject to the terms and limitations imposed by this 
Resolution.

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD 
OF SUPERVISORS OF THE PARKLAND PRESERVE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT:

1. INCORPORATION OF RECITALS.  The recitals so stated are true and correct 
and by this reference are incorporated into and form a material part of this Resolution.

2. DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY.  The Chairman of the District’s Board of 
Supervisors is hereby authorized to sign, accept or execute Permits and Conveyances as defined 
above. In the event that the Chairman is unavailable, any Board Supervisor is authorized to sign, 
accept or execute Permits and Conveyances as defined above. The Vice Chairman, Secretary, 
and Assistant Secretary of the District’s Board of Supervisors are hereby authorized to 
countersign any such Permits and Conveyances.  Such authority shall be subject to the District 
Engineer and District Counsel’s review and approval.

3. SEVERABILITY. If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or 
invalid, the other provisions shall remain in full force and effect.

4. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect upon its passage and 
shall remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed.

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 16th day of April, 2018.

ATTEST: PARKLAND PRESERVE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT 

_____________________________ ____________________________________
Secretary/Assistant Secretary Chairman, Board of Supervisors



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT 15. 





EXHIBIT 16.



APPLICATION HOSTING AGREEMENT 
CommunityXS 

 
IMPORTANT - READ CAREFULLY: 

1) Service Term: 
 

 

2) Fees and Payments 
a) Setup Fee: not to exceed $320.00. 
b) Service Fee: $80.00 per month. 

 

 
3) Services Provided: 

 
 

c) 

 
4) Authorized Usage: 

 
 
 

5) Service Level: 
 

6) Limited Warranty: 
 

7) Customer Remedies: 
 

8) NO OTHER WARRANTIES: 
 

9) NO LIABILITY FOR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES: 
 

10) Prior Agreements: 
 

11) No Waiver: 
 

12) Severability: 
 

13) Law: 
 

14) General: 
 



EXHIBIT 17.



RESOLUTION 2018-15

A RESOLUTION OF THE PARKLAND PRESERVE
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
DESIGNATING DATES, TIMES AND LOCATIONS FOR 
REGULAR MEETINGS OF THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE DISTRICT AND PROVIDING FOR 
AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

WHEREAS, the Parkland Preserve Community Development District (“District”) is a 
local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida 
Statutes, being entirely situated in St. Johns County, Florida; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District (“Board”) is statutorily authorized 
to exercise the powers granted to the District; and 

WHEREAS, all meetings of the Board shall be open to the public and governed by the 
provisions of Chapter 286, Florida Statutes; and 

WHEREAS, the Board is statutorily required to file annually, with the local governing 
authority and the Florida Department of Economic Opportunity (“DEO”), a schedule of its 
regular meetings. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD 
OF SUPERVISORS OF THE PARKLAND PRESERVE
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT:

1. ADOPTING REGULAR MEETING SCHEDULE.  Regular meetings of the 
District’s Board shall be held as provided on the schedule attached hereto as Exhibit A.

2. FILING REQUIREMENT.  In accordance with Section 189.015(1), Florida
Statutes, the District’s Secretary is hereby directed to file this Resolution with DEO.

3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption.

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 16th day of April, 2018.

ATTEST: PARKLAND PRESERVE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT

__________________________ ________________________________
Secretary/Assistant Secretary Chairman



EXHIBIT A

The regular meeting schedule of the Board of Supervisors of the Parkland Preserve 
Community Development District for Fiscal Year 2018 shall be:



EXHIBIT 18.



RESOLUTION 2018-16

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
APPROVING A PROPOSED BUDGET FOR FISCAL YEAR 2018 AND 
SETTING A PUBLIC HEARING THEREON PURSUANT TO FLORIDA 
LAW; ADDRESSING TRANSMITTAL, POSTING AND PUBLICATION 
REQUIREMENTS; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the District Manager has heretofore prepared and submitted to the Board of 
Supervisors (“Board”) of the Parkland Preserve Community Development District (“District”) a 
proposed budget (“Proposed Budget”) for the fiscal year beginning upon the District’s 
establishment and ending September 30, 2018 (“Fiscal Year 2018”); and 

WHEREAS, the Board has considered the Proposed Budget and desires to set the 
required public hearing thereon. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 

1. PROPOSED BUDGET APPROVED.  The Proposed Budget prepared by the 
District Manager for Fiscal Year 2018 attached hereto as Exhibit A is hereby approved as the 
basis for conducting a public hearing to adopt said Proposed Budget. 

2. SETTING A PUBLIC HEARING. A public hearing on said approved Proposed 
Budget is hereby declared and set for the following date, hour and location: 

DATE: _________________________, 2018

HOUR: _________________________

LOCATION: _________________________
_________________________
_________________________

3. TRANSMITTAL OF PROPOSED BUDGET TO LOCAL GENERAL 
PURPOSE GOVERNMENT. The District Manager is hereby directed to submit a copy of the 
Proposed Budget to Osceola County at least 60 days prior to the hearing set above. 

4. POSTING OF PROPOSED BUDGET. In accordance with Section 189.016, 
Florida Statutes, the District’s Secretary is further directed to post the approved Proposed 
Budget on the District’s website at least two days before the budget hearing date as set forth in 
Section 2, and shall remain on the website for at least 45 days.



5. PUBLICATION OF NOTICE.  Notice of this public hearing shall be published 
in the manner prescribed in Florida law. 

6. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon 
adoption. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 16th DAY OF April, 2018.

ATTEST: PARKLAND 
PRESERVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

_____________________________ By:___________________________
Secretary Its:____________________________



 

EXHIBIT A
 



1/3

STATEMENT 1

PROPOSED PARKLAND PRESERVE CDD - PRELIMINARY GENERAL FUND BUDGET (O&M) - FY 2018

O&M ASSESSMENT COLLECTION

TOTAL REVENUE

GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE

SUPERVISORS COMPENSATION

PAYROLL TAXES

PAYROLL SERVICES

MANAGEMENT CONSULTING SERVICES

ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES

CONSTRUCTION ACCOUNTING SERVICES

BANK FEES

MISCELLANEOUS

AUDITING SERVICES

REGULATORY AND PERMIT FEES

LEGAL ADVERTISEMENTS

ENGINEERING SERVICES

LEGAL SERVICES

WEBSITE HOSTING

TOTAL GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE

INSURANCE

INSURANCE-PROPERTY, GENERAL LIABILITY, PROF.

DEBT ADMINISTRATION:

DISSEMINATION AGENT

TRUSTEE FEES

ARBITRAGE

TOTAL DEBT ADMINISTRATION

I. REVENUE

II. EXPENDITURES

Preliminary FY 2018 Comment

Budget Scope of Service

$ 197,339

197,339

6,000 5 supervisors, 6 meetings for FY 2018

459 7.65% of total payroll

349 $54 per month plus $25 EOY, 6 meetings

30,000
Financial reporting, accounting/bookkeeping: A/P, A/R, public
records, plan & organize Board activity

1,500 General expenditures for CDD backoffice operations

10,000 Construction accounting and requisition processing

100 Bank United fee

250

3,500

175

1,500

7,500

25,000

720

87,053

5,500 General Liability and Public Officials

5,000 for 2 bonds

8,700 for 2 bonds

1,250 arbitrage reporting fee

14,950



2/3

STREETPOLE LIGHTING

STATEMENT 1

PROPOSED PARKLAND PRESERVE CDD - PRELIMINARY GENERAL FUND BUDGET (O&M) - FY 2018

Preliminary FY 2018 Comment

Budget Scope of Service

PHYSICAL ENVIRONMENT EXPENDITURES:

FIELD MANAGER

AMENITY MANAGEMENT

ELECTRICITY (IRRIGATION & POND PUMPS)

WATER (County)

LANDSCAPING MAINTENANCE

LANDSCAPE REPLINISHMENT

IRRIGATION MAINTENANCE

TREE REMOVAL

NPDES

PET WASTE REMOVAL

POWER SWEEP

STORMWATER DRAINAGE

ENVIRONMENTAL MITIGATION & POND MAINTENANCE

POND MOWING

POND EROSION

SECURITY MONITORING

FIELD CONTINGENCY

TOTAL PHYSICAL ENVIRONMENT EXPENDITURES

AMENITY CENTER OPERATIONS

POOL SERVICE CONTRACT

POOL MAINTENANCE & REPAIRS

POOL PERMIT

AMENITY CENTER CLEANING & MAINTENANCE

AMENITY CENTER INTERNET

AMENITY CENTER ELECTRICITY

AMENITY CENTER WATER

AMENITY CENTER PEST CONTROL

REFUSE SERVICE

MISC. AMENITY CENTER REPAIRS & MAINT.& SUPPLIES

TOTAL AMENTIY CENTER OPERATIONS

4,800 oversee landscape and amenity vendors, inspection services
(assumes 3 months)

- administer amenity rental and access keys

- 102 streetpole lights, avg. $3,900 month (pay thru HOA budget)

5,000

7,000

20,000
all phases, assumes 500k sq.ft of landscape area (general services,
turf care, mulch and flowers), assumes partial year for FY 2018, 3
months

5,000 all phases as needed

3,500 all phases, assumes 500k sq.ft of landscape area, assumes partial year
for FY 2018, 3 months

-

6,300 Monthly inspection (weekly)-$450 plus additional rain event
inspections at $75 per month of CDD property

555 $185 per month

1,000

7,500 Storm drain clean out and replacment of rocks of CDD property

2,000 Assumes partial year of 3 months

2,181
$1,175 per pond (7 ponds) plus $500 for misc., assumes partial year
of 3 months

-

-

25,000

89,836

- $600 monthly for three days of service (three months)

- Misc. repairs as needed

- State of Florida permit fee

- Clean facilities 3x week and powerwash 1x week - $500 mo. Annual
clubhouse cleanning of $1,200

- Approx $160 per month

-

-

-

-

-

-



3/3

RESERVES

STATEMENT 1

PROPOSED PARKLAND PRESERVE CDD - PRELIMINARY GENERAL FUND BUDGET (O&M) - FY 2018

Preliminary FY 2018 Comment

Budget Scope of Service

A

B

A/B

RESERVE STUDY -

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 197,339

III. O&M ASSESSMENT ALLOCATION

Total lots in CDD 363

O&M per lot $ 543.63



PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
FISCAL YEAR 2018 FUNDING AGREEMENT 

 
This Agreement is made and entered into this 16th day of April, 2018, by and between: 

 
PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, a 
local unit of special-purpose government established pursuant to Chapter 190, 
Florida Statutes, and located in St. Johns County, Florida ("District"), and 
 
NGMB PROPERTIES, LLC, a Florida limited liability company and a 
landowner in the District with a mailing address of 1478 Riverplace Boulevard, 
Suite 1808, Jacksonville, Florida 32207 ("Developer"). 

 
RECITALS 

 
 WHEREAS, the District was established by an ordinance adopted by the County 
Commission of St. Johns County, Florida, for the purpose of planning, financing, constructing, 
operating and/or maintaining certain infrastructure; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District, pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, is authorized to levy 
such taxes, special assessments, fees and other charges as may be necessary in furtherance of the 
District's activities and services; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Developer presently is developing the majority of all real property 
(“Property”) within the District, which Property will benefit from the timely construction and 
acquisition of the District's facilities, activities and services and from the continued operations of 
the District; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District is adopting its general fund budget for Fiscal Year 2018, which 
year concludes on September 30, 2018; and  
 
 WHEREAS, this general fund budget, which both parties recognize may be amended 
from time to time in the sole discretion of the District, is attached hereto and incorporated herein 
by reference as Exhibit A; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District has the option of levying non-ad valorem assessments on all 
land, including the Property owned by the Developer, that will benefit from the activities, 
operations and services set forth in the Fiscal Year 2018 budget, or utilizing such other revenue 
sources as may be available to it; and 
 
 WHEREAS, in lieu of levying assessments on the Property, the Developer is willing to 
provide such funds as are necessary to allow the District to proceed with its operations as 
described in Exhibit A; and  
 



2 
 

 WHEREAS, the Developer agrees that the activities, operations and services provide a 
special and peculiar benefit equal to or in excess of the costs reflected on Exhibit A to the 
Property; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Developer has agreed to enter into this Agreement in lieu of having the 
District levy and collect any non-ad valorem assessments as authorized by law against the 
Property located within the District for the activities, operations and services set forth in Exhibit 
A; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, based upon good and valuable consideration and the mutual 
covenants of the parties, the receipt of which and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, 
the parties agree as follows: 
 
 1. FUNDING.  The Developer agrees to make available to the District the monies 
necessary for the operation of the District as called for in the budget attached hereto as Exhibit 
A (and as Exhibit A may be amended from time to time pursuant to Florida law, but subject to 
the Developer’s consent to such amendments to incorporate them herein), within thirty (30) days 
of written request by the District.  The funds shall be placed in the District's general checking 
account.  These payments are made by the Developer in lieu of taxes, fees, or assessments which 
might otherwise be levied or imposed by the District. 
 
 2. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.  This instrument shall constitute the final and 
complete expression of the agreement between the parties relating to the subject matter of this 
Agreement.  Amendments to and waivers of the provisions contained in this Agreement may be 
made only by an instrument in writing which is executed by both of the parties hereto. 
 
 3. AUTHORIZATION.  The execution of this Agreement has been duly authorized 
by the appropriate body or official of all parties hereto, each party has complied with all of the 
requirements of law, and each party has full power and authority to comply with the terms and 
provisions of this instrument. 
 
 4. ASSIGNMENT.  This Agreement may be assigned, in whole or in part, by either 
party only upon the written consent of the other.  Any purported assignment without such 
consent shall be void. 
 
 5. DEFAULT.  A default by either party under this Agreement shall entitle the other 
to all remedies available at law or in equity, which shall include, but not be limited to, the right 
of damages, injunctive relief and specific performance.    
 
 6. ENFORCEMENT.  In the event that either party is required to enforce this 
Agreement by court proceedings or otherwise, then the parties agree that the prevailing party 
shall be entitled to recover from the other all costs incurred, including reasonable attorneys' fees 
and costs for trial, alternative dispute resolution, or appellate proceedings. 
 
 7. THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  This Agreement is solely for the benefit of 
the formal parties herein and no right or cause of action shall accrue upon or by reason hereof, to 



3 
 

or for the benefit of any third party not a formal party hereto.  Nothing in this Agreement 
expressed or implied is intended or shall be construed to confer upon any person or corporation 
other than the parties hereto any right, remedy or claim under or by reason of this Agreement or 
any provisions or conditions hereof; and all of the provisions, representations, covenants and 
conditions herein contained shall inure to the sole benefit of and shall be binding upon the parties 
hereto and their respective representatives, successors and assigns. 
 
 8. CHOICE OF LAW.  This Agreement and the provisions contained herein shall 
be construed, interpreted and controlled according to the laws of the State of Florida. 
 
 9. ARM’S LENGTH.  This Agreement has been negotiated fully between the 
parties as an arm's length transaction.  The parties participated fully in the preparation of this 
Agreement with the assistance of their respective counsel.  In the case of a dispute concerning 
the interpretation of any provision of this Agreement, the parties are each deemed to have 
drafted, chosen and selected the language, and the doubtful language will not be interpreted or 
construed against any party. 
 
 10. EFFECTIVE DATE.  The Agreement shall be effective after execution by both 
parties hereto. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties execute this Agreement the day and year first 
written above. 
 
Attest:       PARKLAND PRESERVE 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT 

        
 
____________________________   ____________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary    By: _________________________  
       Its: _________________________  
     
            
       NGMB PROPERTIES, LLC 
  
 
___________________________   _____________________________  
Witness      By: __________________________ 
       Its: ___________________________ 
 
 
Exhibit A Fiscal Year 2018 General Fund Budget 
  



4 
 

Exhibit A 
 
 



EXHIBIT 19.



RESOLUTION 2018-17

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE
PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
TO DESIGNATE DATE, TIME AND PLACE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
AND AUTHORIZATION TO PUBLISH NOTICE OF SUCH HEARING 
FOR THE PURPOSE OF ADOPTING RULES OF PROCEDURE; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE

WHEREAS, the Parkland Preserve Community Development District (“District”) is a local 
unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes,
being situated in St. Johns County, Florida; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of Parkland Preserve Community Development 
District (“Board”) is authorized by Section 190.011(5), Florida Statutes, to adopt rules and orders 
pursuant to Chapter 120, Florida Statutes.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT:

1. PUBLIC HEARING. A Public Hearing will be held to adopt the District’s Rules of 
Procedure on the _____ day of _____________, 2018, at ____ __.m., located at 
________________________________________________________________________.

2. PUBLICATION. The District Secretary is directed to publish notice of the hearing 
in accordance with Section 120.54, Florida Statutes.

3. EFFECTIVE DATE. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its 
adoption.

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 16th day of April, 2018.

ATTEST: PARKLAND PRESERVE
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT

_______________________________ _________________________________
Secretary/Assistant Secretary Chairperson, Board of Supervisors



1

RULES OF PROCEDURE
PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

TABLE OF CONTENTS
Page

1.0 General ....................................................................................................................... 2

1.1 Board of Supervisors; Officers and Voting ................................................... 3

1.2 District Offices; Public Information and Inspection of Records; Policies; 
Service Contract Requirements...................................................................... 7

1.3 Public Meetings, Hearings, and Workshops .................................................. 10

2.0 Rulemaking Proceedings ........................................................................................... 15

3.0 Competitive Purchase ................................................................................................ 21

3.1 Procedure Under The Consultants’ Competitive Negotiation Act ................ 26

3.2 Procedure Regarding Auditor Selection ........................................................ 30

3.3 Purchase of Insurance .................................................................................... 34

3.4 Pre-qualification............................................................................................. 36

3.5 Construction Contracts, Not Design-Build .................................................... 39

3.6 Construction Contracts, Design-Build ........................................................... 43

3.7 Payment and Performance Bonds. ................................................................. 48

3.8 Goods, Supplies, and Materials ..................................................................... 49

3.9 Maintenance Services .................................................................................... 53

3.10 Contractual Services ...................................................................................... 56

3.11 Protests with Respect to Proceedings under Rules 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 3.4, 
3.5, 3.6, 3.8, and 3.9....................................................................................... 57

4.0 Effective Date ............................................................................................................ 60



2

Rule  1.0 General.

(1) The Parkland Preserve Community Development District (the “District”) was 
created pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 190 of the Florida Statutes, and was 
established to provide for the ownership, operation, maintenance, and provision of 
various capital facilities and services within its jurisdiction. The purpose of these 
rules (the “Rules”) is to describe the general operations of the District.

(2) Definitions located within any section of these Rules shall be applicable within all 
other sections, unless specifically stated to the contrary.

(3) Unless specifically permitted by a written agreement with the District, the District 
does not accept documents filed by electronic mail or facsimile transmission.  
Filings are only accepted during normal business hours.

(4) A Rule of the District shall be effective upon adoption by affirmative vote of the 
District Board.  After a Rule becomes effective, it may be repealed or amended 
only through the rulemaking procedures specified in these Rules.  
Notwithstanding, the District may immediately suspend the application of a Rule 
if the District determines that the Rule conflicts with Florida law.  In the event 
that a Rule conflicts with Florida law and its application has not been suspended 
by the District, such Rule should be interpreted in the manner that best effectuates 
the intent of the Rule while also complying with Florida law.  If the intent of the 
Rule absolutely cannot be effectuated while complying with Florida law, the Rule 
shall be automatically suspended.

Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat.
Law Implemented:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat.



3

Rule 1.1 Board of Supervisors; Officers and Voting.

(1) Board of Supervisors. The Board of Supervisors of the District (the “Board”) shall 
consist of five (5) members. Members of the Board (“Supervisors”) appointed by 
ordinance or rule or elected by landowners must be citizens of the United States 
of America and residents of the State of Florida.  Supervisors elected by resident 
electors must be citizens of the United States of America, residents of the State of 
Florida and of the District, registered to vote with the Supervisor of Elections of 
the county in which the District is located, and qualified.  The Board shall 
exercise the powers granted to the District under Florida law.

(a) Supervisors shall hold office for the term specified by Section 190.006 of 
the Florida Statutes. If, during the term of office, any Board member(s) 
vacates their office, the remaining member(s) of the Board shall fill the 
vacancies by appointment for the remainder of the term(s). If three or 
more vacancies exist at the same time, a quorum, as defined herein, shall 
not be required to appoint replacement Board members.

(b) Three (3) members of the Board shall constitute a quorum for the purposes 
of conducting business, exercising powers and all other purposes.  A 
Board member shall be counted toward the quorum if physically present at 
the meeting, regardless of whether such Board member is prohibited from, 
or abstains from, participating in discussion or voting on a particular item.  

(c) Action taken by the Board shall be upon a majority vote of the members 
present, unless otherwise provided in the Rules or required by law.  
Subject to Rule 1.3(10), a Board member participating in the Board 
meeting by teleconference or videoconference  shall be entitled to vote 
and take all other action as though physically present.

(d) Unless otherwise provided for by an act of the Board, any one Board 
member may attend a mediation session on behalf of the Board.  Any 
agreement resulting from such mediation session must be approved 
pursuant to subsection (1)(c) of this Rule.

(2) Officers. At the first Board meeting held after each election where the newly 
elected members take office, the Board shall select a Chairperson, Vice-
Chairperson, Secretary, Assistant Secretary, and Treasurer.

(a) The Chairperson must be a member of the Board.  If the Chairperson 
resigns from that office or ceases to be a member of the Board, the Board 
shall select a Chairperson.  The Chairperson serves at the pleasure of the 
Board.  The Chairperson shall be authorized to execute resolutions and 
contracts on the District’s behalf.  The Chairperson shall convene and 
conduct all meetings of the Board.  In the event the Chairperson is unable 
to attend a meeting, the Vice-Chairperson shall convene and conduct the 



4

meeting.  The Chairperson or Vice-Chairperson may delegate the 
responsibility of conducting the meeting to the District’s manager 
(“District Manager”) or District Counsel, in whole or in part.

(b) The Vice-Chairperson shall be a member of the Board and shall have such 
duties and responsibilities as specifically designated by the Board from 
time to time. The Vice-Chairperson has the authority to execute 
resolutions and contracts on the District’s behalf in the absence of the 
Chairperson.  If the Vice-Chairperson resigns from office or ceases to be a 
member of the Board, the Board shall select a Vice-Chairperson. The 
Vice-Chairperson serves at the pleasure of the Board.

(c) The Secretary of the Board serves at the pleasure of the Board and need 
not be a member of the Board.  The Secretary shall be responsible for 
maintaining the minutes of Board meetings and may have other duties 
assigned by the Board from time to time.  An employee of the District 
Manager may serve as Secretary.  The Secretary shall be bonded by a 
reputable and qualified bonding company in at least the amount of one 
million dollars ($1,000,000), or have in place a fidelity bond, employee 
theft insurance policy, or a comparable product in the amount of one 
million dollars ($1,000,000) that names the District as an additional 
insured.

(d) The Treasurer need not be a member of the Board but must be a resident 
of the State of Florida.  The Treasurer shall perform duties described in 
Section 190.007(2) and (3) of the Florida Statutes, as well as those 
assigned by the Board from time to time.  The Treasurer shall serve at the 
pleasure of the Board. The Treasurer shall either be bonded by a reputable 
and qualified bonding company in at least the amount of one million 
dollars ($1,000,000), or have in place a fidelity bond, employee theft 
insurance policy, or a comparable product in the amount of one million 
dollars ($1,000,000) that names the District as an additional insured.

(e) In the event that both the Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson are absent 
from a Board meeting and a quorum is present, the Board may designate 
one of its members or a member of District staff to convene and conduct 
the meeting.  In such circumstances, any of the Board members present are 
authorized to execute agreements, resolutions, and other documents 
approved by the Board at such meeting.  In the event that the Chairperson 
and Vice-Chairperson are both unavailable to execute a document 
previously approved by the Board, the Secretary or any Assistant 
Secretary may execute such document.

(f) The Board may assign additional duties to District officers from time to 
time, which include, but are not limited to, executing documents on behalf 
of the District.



5

(g) The Chairperson, Vice-Chairperson, and any other person authorized by 
District Resolution may sign checks and warrants for the District, 
countersigned by the Treasurer or other persons authorized by the Board.

(3) Committees. The Board may establish committees of the Board, either on a 
permanent or temporary basis, to perform specifically designated functions. 
Committees may include individuals who are not members of the Board.  Such 
functions may include, but are not limited to, review of bids, proposals, and 
qualifications, contract negotiations, personnel matters, and budget preparation.

(4) Record Book. The Board shall keep a permanent record book entitled “Record of 
Proceedings,” in which shall be recorded minutes of all meetings, resolutions, 
proceedings, certificates, and corporate acts.  The Records of Proceedings shall be 
located at a District office and shall be available for inspection by the public.  

(5) Meetings. For each fiscal year, the Board shall establish a schedule of regular 
meetings, which shall be published in a newspaper of general circulation in the 
county in which the District is located and filed with the local general-purpose 
governments within whose boundaries the District is located.  All meetings of the 
Board and Committees serving an advisory function shall be open to the public in 
accord with the provisions of Chapter 286 of the Florida Statutes.  

(6) Voting Conflict of Interest. The Board shall comply with Section 112.3143 of the 
Florida Statutes, so as to ensure the proper disclosure of conflicts of interest on 
matters coming before the Board for a vote.  For the purposes of this section, 
"voting conflict of interest" shall be governed by Chapters 112 and 190 of the 
Florida Statutes, as amended from time to time.  Generally, a voting conflict 
exists when a Board member is called upon to vote on an item which would inure 
to the Board member’s special private gain or loss or the Board member knows 
would inure to the special private gain or loss of a principal by whom the Board 
member is retained, the parent organization or subsidiary of a corporate principal, 
a business associate, or a relative including only a father, mother, son, daughter, 
husband, wife, brother, sister, father-in-law, mother-in-law, son-in-law, and 
daughter-in-law.

(a) When a Board member knows the member has a conflict of interest on a 
matter coming before the Board, the member should notify the Board’s 
Secretary prior to participating in any discussion with the Board on the 
matter.  The member shall publicly announce the conflict of interest at the 
meeting.  This announcement shall appear in the minutes.  

If the Board member was elected at a landowner’s election or appointed to 
fill a vacancy of a seat last filled at a landowner’s election, the Board 
member may vote or abstain from voting on the matter at issue.  If the 
Board member was elected by electors residing within the District, the 



6

Board member is prohibited from voting on the matter at issue.  In the 
event that the Board member intends to abstain or is prohibited from 
voting, such Board member shall not participate in the discussion on the 
item subject to the vote.

The Board’s Secretary shall prepare a Memorandum of Voting Conflict 
(Form 8B) which shall then be signed by the Board member, filed with the 
Board’s Secretary, and provided for attachment to the minutes of the 
meeting within fifteen (15) days of the meeting.   

(b) If a Board member inadvertently votes on a matter and later learns he or 
she has a conflict on the matter, the member shall immediately notify the 
Board’s Secretary. Within fifteen (15) days of the notification, the member 
shall file the appropriate Memorandum of Voting Conflict, which will be 
attached to the minutes of the Board meeting during which the vote on the 
matter occurred. The Memorandum of Voting Conflict shall immediately 
be provided to other Board members and shall be read publicly at the next 
meeting held subsequent to the filing of the Memorandum of Voting 
Conflict.  The Board member’s vote is unaffected by this filing.

(c) It is not a conflict of interest for a Board member, the District Manager, or 
an employee of the District to be a stockholder, officer or employee of a 
landowner or of an entity affiliated with a landowner.  

(d) In the event that a Board member elected at a landowner’s election or 
appointed to fill a vacancy of a seat last filled at a landowner’s election, 
has a continuing conflict of interest, such Board member is permitted to 
file a Memorandum of Voting Conflict at any time in which it shall state 
the nature of the continuing conflict.  Only one such continuing 
Memorandum of Voting Conflict shall be required to be filed for each 
term the Board member is in office.

Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat.
Law Implemented:  §§ 112.3143, 190.006, 190.007, Fla. Stat.



7

Rule 1.2 District Offices; Public Information and Inspection of Records; Policies; 
Service Contract Requirements.

(1) District Offices. Unless otherwise designated by the Board, the official District 
office shall be the District Manager’s office identified by the District Manager.  If 
the District Manager’s office is not located within the county in which the District 
is located, the Board shall designate a local records office within such county 
which shall at a minimum contain, but not be limited to, the following documents:

(a) Agenda packages for prior 24 months and next meeting;

(b) Official minutes of meetings, including adopted resolutions of the Board;

(c) Names and addresses of current Board members and District Manager, 
unless such addresses are protected from disclosure by law;

(d) Adopted engineer’s reports;

(e) Adopted assessment methodologies/reports;

(f) Adopted disclosure of public financing;

(g) Limited Offering Memorandum for each financing undertaken by the 
District;

(h) Proceedings, certificates, bonds given by all employees, and any and all 
corporate acts;

(i) District policies and rules;

(j) Fiscal year end audits; and

(k) Adopted budget for the current fiscal year.

The District Manager shall ensure that each District records office contains the 
documents required by Florida law.

(2) Public Records. District public records include all documents, papers, letters, 
maps, books, tapes, photographs, films, sound recordings, data processing 
software, or other material, regardless of the physical form, characteristics, or 
means of transmission, made or received in connection with the transaction of 
official business of the District. All District public records not otherwise restricted 
by law may be copied or inspected at the District Manager’s office during regular 
business hours.  Certain District records can also be inspected and copied at the 
District’s local records office during regular business hours.  All written public 
records requests shall be directed to the Secretary who by these rules is appointed 



8

as the District’s records custodian.  Regardless of the form of the request, any 
Board member or staff member who receives a public records request shall 
immediately forward or communicate such request to the Secretary for 
coordination of a prompt response.  The Secretary, after consulting with District 
Counsel as to the applicability of any exceptions under the public records laws, 
shall be responsible for responding to the public records request.  At no time can 
the District be required to create records or summaries of records, or prepare 
opinions regarding District policies, in response to a public records request.

(3) Service Contracts. Any contract for services, regardless of cost, shall include 
provisions required by law that require the contractor to comply with public 
records laws.  The District Manager shall be responsible for initially enforcing all 
contract provisions related to a contractor’s duty to comply with public records 
laws.

(4) Fees; Copies. Copies of public records shall be made available to the requesting 
person at a charge of $0.15 per page for one-sided copies and $0.20 per page for 
two-sided copies if not more than 8 ½ by 14 inches.  For copies of public records 
in excess of the sizes listed in this section and for outside duplication services, the 
charge shall be equal to the actual cost of reproduction. Certified copies of public 
records shall be made available at a charge of one dollar ($1.00) per page. If the 
nature or volume of records requested requires extensive use of information 
technology resources or extensive clerical or supervisory assistance, the District 
may charge, in addition to the duplication charge, a special service charge that is 
based on the cost the District incurs to produce the records requested.  This charge 
may include, but is not limited to, the cost of information technology resource, 
employee labor, and fees charged to the District by consultants employed in 
fulfilling the request.  In cases where the special service charge is based in whole 
or in part on the costs incurred by the District due to employee labor, consultant 
fees, or other forms of labor, those portions of the charge shall be calculated based 
on the lowest labor cost of an individual who is qualified to perform the labor.  
For purposes of this Rule, the word “extensive” shall mean that it will take more 
than 15 minutes to locate, review for confidential information, copy and re-file the 
requested material.  In cases where extensive personnel time is determined by the 
District to be necessary to safeguard original records being inspected, the special 
service charge provided for in the section shall apply.  If the total fees, including 
but not limited to special service charges, are anticipated to exceed twenty-five 
dollars ($25.00), then, prior to commencing work on the request, the District will 
inform the person making the public records request of the estimated cost, with 
the understanding that the final cost may vary from that estimate.  If the person 
making the public records request decides to proceed with the request, payment of 
the estimated cost is required in advance.  After the request has been fulfilled, 
additional payments or credits may be due.

(5) Records Retention. The Secretary of the District shall be responsible for retaining 
the District’s records in accordance with applicable Florida law.



9

(6) Policies. The Board may adopt policies related to the conduct of its business and 
the provision of services either by resolution or motion.  

Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat.
Law Implemented:  §§ 119.0701, 190.006, 119.07, Fla. Stat.



10

Rule 1.3 Public Meetings, Hearings, and Workshops.

(1) Notice. Except in emergencies, or as otherwise required by statute or these Rules, 
at least seven (7) days, but no more than thirty (30) days public notice shall be 
given of any public meeting, hearing or workshop of the Board. Public notice 
shall be given by publication in a newspaper of general circulation in the District 
and in the county in which the District is located.  “General circulation” means a 
publication that is printed and published at least once a week for the preceding 
year, offering at least 25% of its words in the English language, qualifies as a 
periodicals material for postal purposes in the county in which the District is 
located, is for sale to the public generally, is available to the public generally for 
the publication of official or other notices, and is customarily containing 
information of a public character or of interest or of value to the residents or 
owners of property in the county where published, or of interest or of value to the 
general public.  The annual meeting notice required to be published by Section 
189.015 of the Florida Statutes, shall be published in a newspaper not of limited 
subject matter, which is published at least five days a week, unless the only 
newspaper in the county is published less than five days a week.  Each Notice 
shall state, as applicable:

(a) The date, time and place of the meeting, hearing or workshop;

(b) A brief description of the nature, subjects, and purposes of the meeting, 
hearing, or workshop;

(c) The District office address for the submission of requests for copies of the 
agenda, as well as a contact name and telephone number for verbal 
requests for copies of the agenda; and

(d) The following language:  “Pursuant to provisions of the Americans with 
Disabilities Act, any person requiring special accommodations to 
participate in this meeting/hearing/workshop is asked to advise the District 
Office at least forty-eight (48) hours before the meeting/hearing/workshop 
by contacting the District Manager at (321) 263-0132. If you are hearing
or speech impaired, please contact the Florida Relay Service at 1 (800) 
955-8770, who can aid you in contacting the District Office.”

(e) The following language: “A person who decides to appeal any decision 
made at the meeting/hearing/workshop with respect to any matter 
considered at the meeting/hearing/workshop is advised that person will 
need a record of the proceedings and that accordingly, the person may 
need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made including 
the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based.”



11

(f) The following language:  “The meeting [or hearing or workshop] may be 
continued in progress without additional notice to a time, date, and 
location stated on the record.”

(2) Mistake. In the event that a meeting is held under the incorrect assumption that 
notice required by law and these Rules has been given, the Board at its next 
properly noticed meeting shall cure such defect by considering the agenda items 
from the prior meeting individually and anew.

(3) Agenda. The District Manager, under the guidance of District Counsel and the 
Chairperson or Vice-Chairperson, shall prepare a notice and an agenda of the 
meeting/hearing/workshop.  The notice and agenda shall be available to the public 
at least seventy-two (72) hours before the meeting/hearing/workshop except in an 
emergency.  For good cause, the agenda may be changed after it is first made 
available for distribution.  The requirement of good cause shall be liberally 
construed to allow the District to efficiently conduct business and to avoid the 
expenses associated with special meetings.

The District may, but is not required to, use the following format in preparing its 
agenda for its regular meetings:

Call to order
Roll call
Public comment
Organizational matters
Review of minutes
Specific items of old business
Specific items of new business
Staff reports

(a)  District Counsel
(b)  District Engineer
(c)  District Manager

1.  Financial Report
2.  Approval of Expenditures

Supervisor’s requests and comments
Public comment
Adjournment

(4) Minutes. The Secretary shall be responsible for preparing and keeping the minutes 
of each meeting of the Board. Minutes shall be corrected and approved by the 
Board at a subsequent meeting.  The Secretary may work with other staff 
members in preparing draft minutes for the Board’s consideration.

(5) Special Requests. Persons wishing to receive, by mail, notices or agendas of 
meetings, may so advise the District Manager or Secretary at the District Office. 



12

Such persons shall furnish a mailing address in writing and shall be required to 
pre-pay the cost of the copying and postage.

(6) Emergency Meetings. The Chairperson, or Vice-Chairperson if the Chairperson is 
unavailable, may convene an emergency meeting of the Board without first 
having complied with sections (1) and (3) of this Rule, to act on emergency 
matters that may affect the public health, safety, or welfare.  Whenever possible, 
the District Manager shall make reasonable efforts to provide public notice and 
notify all Board members of an emergency meeting twenty-four (24) hours in 
advance.  Reasonable efforts may include telephone notification.  Notice of the 
emergency meeting must be provided both before and after the meeting on the 
District’s website, if it has one.  Whenever an emergency meeting is called, the 
District Manager shall be responsible for notifying at least one newspaper of 
general circulation in the District. After an emergency meeting, the Board shall 
publish in a newspaper of general circulation in the District, the time, date and 
place of the emergency meeting, the reasons why an emergency meeting was 
necessary and a description of the action taken.  Actions taken at an emergency 
meeting may be ratified by the Board at a regularly noticed meeting subsequently 
held.

(7) Public Comment. The Board shall set aside a reasonable amount of time at each 
meeting for public comment and members of the public shall be permitted to 
provide comment on any proposition before the Board.  The portion of the 
meeting generally reserved for public comment shall be identified in the agenda.  
Policies governing public comment may be adopted by the Board in accordance 
with Florida law.

(8) Budget Hearing. Notice of hearing on the annual budget(s) shall be in accord with 
Section 190.008 of the Florida Statutes.  Once adopted in accord with Section 
190.008 of the Florida Statutes, the annual budget(s) may be amended from time 
to time by action of the Board.  Approval of invoices by the Board in excess of 
the funds allocated to a particular budgeted line item shall serve to amend the 
budgeted line item. 

(9) Public Hearings. Notice of required public hearings shall contain the information 
required by applicable Florida law and by these Rules applicable to meeting 
notices and shall be mailed and published as required by Florida law.  The District 
Manager shall ensure that all such notices, whether mailed or published, contain 
the information required by Florida law and these Rules and are mailed and 
published as required by Florida law.  Public hearings may be held during Board 
meetings when the agenda includes such public hearing.

(10) Participation by Teleconference/Videoconference. District staff may participate 
in Board meetings by teleconference or videoconference.  Board members may 
also participate in Board meetings by teleconference or videoconference if in the 
good judgment of the Board extraordinary circumstances exist; provided however, 



13

at least three Board members must be physically present at the meeting location to 
establish a quorum.  Such extraordinary circumstances shall be presumed when a 
Board member participates by teleconference or videoconference, unless a 
majority of the Board members physically present determines that extraordinary 
circumstances do not exist.

(11) Board Authorization. The District has not adopted Robert’s Rules of Order.  For 
each agenda item, there shall be discussion permitted among the Board members 
during the meeting.  Approval or disapproval of resolutions and other proposed 
Board actions shall be in the form of a motion by one Board member, a second by 
another Board member, and an affirmative vote by the majority of the Board 
members present.  Any Board member, including the Chairperson, can make or 
second a motion.

(12) Continuances. Any meeting or public hearing of the Board may be continued 
without re-notice or re-advertising provided that:

(a) The Board identifies on the record at the original meeting a reasonable 
need for a continuance;

(b) The continuance is to a specified date, time, and location publicly 
announced at the original meeting; and

(c) The public notice for the original meeting states that the meeting may be 
continued to a date and time and states that the date, time, and location of 
any continuance shall be publicly announced at the original meeting and 
posted at the District Office immediately following the original meeting.

(13) Attorney-Client Sessions. An Attorney-Client Session is permitted when the 
District’s attorneys deem it necessary to meet in private with the Board to discuss 
pending litigation to which the District is a party before a court or administrative 
agency or as may be authorized by law.  The District’s attorneys must request 
such session at a public meeting.  Prior to holding the Attorney-Client Session, 
the District must give reasonable public notice of the time and date of the session 
and the names of the persons anticipated to attend the session.  The session must 
commence at an open meeting in which the Chairperson or Vice-Chairperson 
announces the commencement of the session, the estimated length of the session, 
and the names of the persons who will be attending the session.  The discussion 
during the session is confined to settlement negotiations or strategy related to 
litigation expenses or as may be authorized by law.  Only the Board, the District’s 
attorneys (including outside counsel), the District Manager, and the court reporter 
may attend an Attorney-Client Session.  During the session, no votes may be 
taken and no final decisions concerning settlement can be made.  Upon the 
conclusion of the session, the public meeting is reopened and the Chairperson or 
Vice-Chairperson must announce that the session has concluded.  The session 
must be transcribed by a court-reporter and the transcript of the session filed with 



14

the District Secretary within a reasonable time after the session.  The transcript 
shall not be available for public inspection until after the conclusion of the 
litigation.

Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat.
Law Implemented:  §§ 190.006, 190.007, 190.008, 286.0105, 286.011, 286.0114, Fla. Stat.



15

Rule 2.0 Rulemaking Proceedings.

(1) Commencement of Proceedings. Proceedings held for adoption, amendment, or 
repeal of a District rule shall be conducted according to these Rules.  Rulemaking 
proceedings shall be deemed to have been initiated upon publication of notice by 
the District. A “rule” is a District statement of general applicability that 
implements, interprets, or prescribes law or policy, or describes the procedure or 
practice requirements of the District (“Rule”).  Nothing herein shall be construed 
as requiring the District to consider or adopt rules unless required by Chapter 190 
of the Florida Statutes.  Policies adopted by the District which do not consist of 
rates, fees, rentals or other monetary charges may be, but are not required to be, 
implemented through rulemaking proceedings.

(2) Notice of Rule Development.

(a) Except when the intended action is the repeal of a Rule, the District shall 
provide notice of the development of a proposed rule by publication of a 
Notice of Rule Development in a newspaper of general circulation in the 
District before providing notice of a proposed rule as required by section 
(3) of this Rule. Consequently, the Notice of Rule Development shall be 
published at least twenty-nine (29) days prior to the public hearing on the 
proposed Rule.  The Notice of Rule Development shall indicate the subject 
area to be addressed by rule development, provide a short, plain 
explanation of the purpose and effect of the proposed rule, cite the specific 
legal authority for the proposed rule, and include a statement of how a 
person may promptly obtain, without cost, a copy of any preliminary draft, 
if available.

(b) All rules as drafted shall be consistent with Sections 120.54(1)(g) and 
120.54(2)(b) of the Florida Statutes.

(3) Notice of Proceedings and Proposed Rules.

(a) Prior to the adoption, amendment, or repeal of any rule other than an 
emergency rule, the District shall give notice of its intended action, setting 
forth a short, plain explanation of the purpose and effect of the proposed 
action, a reference to the specific rulemaking authority pursuant to which 
the rule is adopted, and a reference to the section or subsection of the 
Florida Statutes being implemented, interpreted, or made specific.  The 
notice shall include a summary of the District’s statement of the estimated 
regulatory costs, if one has been prepared, based on the factors set forth in 
Section 120.541(2) of the Florida Statutes, and a statement that any person 
who wishes to provide the District with a lower cost regulatory alternative 
as provided by Section 120.541(1), must do so in writing within twenty-
one (21) days after publication of the notice.  The notice shall additionally 
include a statement that any affected person may request a public hearing 



16

by submitting a written request within twenty-one (21) days after the date 
of publication of the notice.  Except when intended action is the repeal of 
a rule, the notice shall include a reference to both the date on which and 
the place where the Notice of Rule Development required by section (2) of 
this Rule appeared.

(b) The notice shall be published in a newspaper of general circulation in the 
District and each county in which the District is located not less than 
twenty-eight (28) days prior to the intended action. The proposed rule 
shall be available for inspection and copying by the public at the time of 
the publication of notice.

(c) The notice shall be mailed to all persons named in the proposed rule and to 
all persons who, at least fourteen (14) days prior to such mailing, have 
made requests of the District for advance notice of its rulemaking 
proceedings.  Any person may file a written request with the District 
Manager to receive notice by mail of District proceedings to adopt, 
amend, or repeal a rule.  Such persons must furnish a mailing address and 
may be required to pay the cost of copying and mailing.  Notice will then 
be mailed to all persons whom, at least fourteen (14) days prior to such 
mailing, have made requests of the District for advance notice of its 
proceedings.

(4) Rule Development Workshops. Whenever requested in writing by any affected 
person, the District must either conduct a rule development workshop prior to 
proposing rules for adoption or the Chairperson must explain in writing why a 
workshop is unnecessary.  The District may initiate a rule development workshop 
but is not required to do so.

(5) Petitions to Initiate Rulemaking. All Petitions to Initiate Rulemaking proceedings 
must contain the name, address, and telephone number of the petitioner, the 
specific action requested, the specific reason for adoption, amendment, or repeal, 
the date submitted, the text of the proposed rule, and the facts showing that the 
petitioner is regulated by the District, or has substantial interest in the rulemaking.  
Not later than sixty (60) calendar days following the date of filing a petition, the 
Board shall initiate rulemaking proceedings or deny the petition with a written 
statement of its reasons for the denial.  If the petition is directed to an existing 
policy that the District has not formally adopted as a rule, the District may, in its 
discretion, notice and hold a public hearing on the petition to consider the 
comments of the public directed to the policy, its scope and application, and to 
consider whether the public interest is served adequately by the application of the 
policy on a case-by-case basis, as contrasted with its formal adoption as a rule.  
However, this section shall not be construed as requiring the District to adopt a 
rule to replace a policy.



17

(6) Rulemaking Materials. After the publication of the notice referenced in section 
(3) of this Rule, the Board shall make available for public inspection and shall 
provide, upon request and payment of the cost of copies, the following materials:

(a) The text of the proposed rule, or any amendment or repeal of any existing 
rules;

(b) A detailed written statement of the facts and circumstances justifying the  
proposed rule;

(c) A copy of the statement of estimated regulatory costs if required by 
Section 120.541 of the Florida Statutes; and

(d) The published notice.

(7) Hearing. The District may, or, upon the written request of any affected person 
received within twenty-one (21) days after the date of publication of the notice 
described in section (3) of this Rule, shall, provide a public hearing for the 
presentation of evidence, argument, and oral statements, within the reasonable 
conditions and limitations imposed by the District to avoid duplication, irrelevant 
comments, unnecessary delay, or disruption of the proceedings.  The District shall 
publish notice of the public hearing in a newspaper of general circulation within 
the District either in the text of the notice described in section (3) of this Rule or in 
a separate publication at least seven (7) days before the scheduled public hearing.  
The notice shall specify the date, time, and location of the public hearing, and the 
name, address, and telephone number of the District contact person who can 
provide information about the public hearing. Written statements may be submitted 
by any person prior to or at the public hearing.  All timely submitted written 
statements shall be considered by the District and made part of the rulemaking 
record.

(8) Emergency Rule Adoption. The Board may adopt an emergency rule if it finds 
that immediate danger to the public health, safety, or welfare exists which 
requires immediate action. Prior to the adoption of an emergency rule, the District 
Manager shall make reasonable efforts to notify a newspaper of general 
circulation in the District. Notice of emergency rules shall be published as soon as 
possible in a newspaper of general circulation in the District.  The District may 
use any procedure which is fair under the circumstances in the adoption of an 
emergency rule as long as it protects the public interest as determined by the 
District and otherwise complies with these provisions.

(9) Negotiated Rulemaking. The District may use negotiated rulemaking in 
developing and adopting rules pursuant to Section 120.54(2)(d) of the Florida 
Statutes, except that any notices required under Section 120.54(2)(d) of the 
Florida Statutes, may be published in a newspaper of general circulation in the 
county in which the District is located.



18

(10) Rulemaking Record. In all rulemaking proceedings, the District shall compile 
and maintain a rulemaking record.  The record shall include, if applicable:

(a) The texts of the proposed rule and the adopted rule; 

(b) All notices given for a proposed rule; 

(c) Any statement of estimated regulatory costs for the rule; 

(d) A written summary of hearings, if any, on the proposed rule; 

(e) All written comments received by the District and responses to those 
written comments; and

(f) All notices and findings pertaining to an emergency rule.

(11) Petitions to Challenge Existing Rules.

(a)  Any person substantially affected by a rule may seek an administrative 
determination of the invalidity of the rule on the ground that the rule is an 
invalid exercise of the District’s authority. 

(b) The petition seeking an administrative determination must state with 
particularity the provisions alleged to be invalid with sufficient 
explanation of the facts or grounds for the alleged invalidity and facts 
sufficient to show that the person challenging a rule is substantially 
affected by it. 

(c) The petition shall be filed with the District. Within 10 days after receiving 
the petition, the Chairperson shall, if the petition complies with the 
requirements of subsection (b) of this section, designate any member of 
the Board (including the Chairperson), District Manager, District Counsel, 
or other person as a hearing officer who shall conduct a hearing within 30 
days thereafter, unless the petition is withdrawn or a continuance is 
granted by agreement of the parties.  The failure of the District to follow 
the applicable rulemaking procedures or requirements in this Rule shall be 
presumed to be material; however, the District may rebut this presumption 
by showing that the substantial interests of the petitioner and the fairness 
of the proceedings have not been impaired. 

(d) Within 30 days after the hearing, the hearing officer shall render a 
decision and state the reasons therefor in writing.  

(e) Hearings held under this section shall be de novo in nature. The petitioner 
has a burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the 



19

existing rule is an invalid exercise of District authority as to the objections 
raised. The hearing officer may:

(i) Administer oaths and affirmations;

(ii) Rule upon offers of proof and receive relevant evidence;

(iii) Regulate the course of the hearing, including any pre-hearing 
matters;

(iv) Enter orders; and

(v) Make or receive offers of settlement, stipulation, and adjustment.

(f) The petitioner and the District shall be adverse parties. Other substantially 
affected persons may join the proceedings as intervenors on appropriate 
terms which shall not unduly delay the proceedings. 

(12) Variances and Waivers. A “variance” means a decision by the District to grant a 
modification to all or part of the literal requirements of a rule to a person who is 
subject to the rule.  A “waiver” means a decision by the District not to apply all or 
part of a rule to a person who is subject to the rule.  Variances and waivers from 
District rules may be granted subject to the following:

(a) Variances and waivers shall be granted when the person subject to the rule 
demonstrates that the purpose of the underlying statute will be or has been 
achieved by other means by the person, and when application of the rule 
would create a substantial hardship or would violate principles of fairness. 
For purposes of this section, "substantial hardship" means a demonstrated 
economic, technological, legal, or other type of hardship to the person 
requesting the variance or waiver. For purposes of this section, "principles 
of fairness" are violated when the literal application of a rule affects a 
particular person in a manner significantly different from the way it affects 
other similarly situated persons who are subject to the rule.

(b) A person who is subject to regulation by a District Rule may file a petition 
with the District, requesting a variance or waiver from the District’s Rule. 
Each petition shall specify: 

(i) The rule from which a variance or waiver is requested;

(ii) The type of action requested;

(iii) The specific facts that would justify a waiver or variance for the 
petitioner; and



20

(iv)  The reason why the variance or the waiver requested would serve 
the purposes of the underlying statute. 

(c) The District shall review the petition and may request only that 
information needed to clarify the petition or to answer new questions 
raised by or directly related to the petition. If the petitioner asserts that any 
request for additional information is not authorized by law or by Rule of 
the District, the District shall proceed, at the petitioner’s written request, to 
process the petition.

(d) The Board shall grant or deny a petition for variance or waiver, and shall 
announce such disposition at a publicly held meeting of the Board, within 
sixty (60) days after receipt of the original petition, the last item of timely 
requested additional material, or the petitioner's written request to finish 
processing the petition. The District’s statement granting or denying the 
petition shall contain a statement of the relevant facts and reasons 
supporting the District's action.

(13) Rates, Fees, Rentals and Other Charges. All rates, fees, rentals, or other charges 
shall be subject to rulemaking proceedings.  Policies adopted by the District 
which do not consist of rates, fees, rentals or other charges may be, but are not 
required to be, implemented through rulemaking proceedings.  

Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), 190.035, Fla. Stat.
Law Implemented:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.035(2), Fla. Stat.



21

Rule 3.0 Competitive Purchase.

(1) Purpose and Scope. In order to comply with Sections 190.033(1) through (3), 
287.055 and 287.017 of the Florida Statutes, the following provisions shall apply 
to the purchase of Professional Services, insurance, construction contracts, 
design-build services, goods, supplies, and materials, Contractual Services, and 
maintenance services.

(2) Board Authorization. Except in cases of an Emergency Purchase, a competitive 
purchase governed by these Rules shall only be undertaken after authorization by 
the Board.

(3) Definitions.

(a) “Competitive Solicitation” means a formal, advertised procurement 
process, other than an Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, or 
Invitation to Negotiate, approved by the Board to purchase commodities 
and/or services which affords vendors fair treatment in the competition for 
award of a District purchase contract.

(b) “Continuing Contract” means a contract for Professional Services entered 
into in accordance with Section 287.055 of the Florida Statutes, between 
the District and a firm, whereby the firm provides Professional Services to 
the District for projects in which the costs do not exceed one million 
dollars ($1,000,000), for a study activity when the fee for such 
Professional Services to the District does not exceed fifty thousand dollars 
($50,000), or for work of a specified nature as outlined in the contract with 
the District, with no time limitation except that the contract must provide a 
termination clause (for example, a contract for general District engineering 
services).  Firms providing Professional Services under Continuing 
Contracts shall not be required to bid against one another. 

(c) “Contractual Service” means the rendering by a contractor of its time and 
effort rather than the furnishing of specific commodities.  The term applies 
only to those services rendered by individuals and firms who are 
independent contractors.  Contractual Services do not include auditing 
services, Maintenance Services, or Professional Services as defined in 
Section 287.055(2)(a) of the Florida Statutes, and these Rules.  
Contractual Services also do not include any contract for the furnishing of 
labor or materials for the construction, renovation, repair, modification, or 
demolition of any facility, building, portion of building, utility, park, 
parking lot, or structure or other improvement to real property entered into 
pursuant to Chapter 255 of the Florida Statutes, and Rules 3.5 or 3.6.

(d) “Design-Build Contract” means a single contract with a Design-Build 
Firm for the design and construction of a public construction project.



22

(e) “Design-Build Firm” means a partnership, corporation or other legal entity 
that:

(i) Is certified under Section 489.119 of the Florida Statutes, to 
engage in contracting through a certified or registered general 
contractor or a certified or registered building contractor as the 
qualifying agent; or

(ii) Is certified under Section 471.023 of the Florida Statutes, to 
practice or to offer to practice engineering; certified under Section 
481.219 of the Florida Statutes, to practice or to offer to practice 
architecture; or certified under Section 481.319 of the Florida 
Statutes, to practice or to offer to practice landscape architecture.

(f) “Design Criteria Package” means concise, performance-oriented drawings 
or specifications for a public construction project.  The purpose of the 
Design Criteria Package is to furnish sufficient information to permit 
Design-Build Firms to prepare a bid or a response to the District’s Request 
for Proposals, or to permit the District to enter into a negotiated Design-
Build Contract.  The Design Criteria Package must specify performance-
based criteria for the public construction project, including the legal 
description of the site, survey information concerning the site, interior 
space requirements, material quality standards, schematic layouts and 
conceptual design criteria of the project, cost or budget estimates, design 
and construction schedules, site development requirements, provisions for 
utilities, stormwater retention and disposal, and parking requirements 
applicable to the project. Design Criteria Packages shall require firms to 
submit information regarding the qualifications, availability, and past 
work of the firms, including the partners and members thereof.

(g) “Design Criteria Professional” means a firm who holds a current 
certificate of registration under Chapter 481 of the Florida Statutes, to 
practice architecture or landscape architecture, or a firm who holds a 
current certificate as a registered engineer under Chapter 471 of the 
Florida Statutes, to practice engineering, and who is employed by or under 
contract to the District to provide professional architect services, 
landscape architect services, or engineering services in connection with 
the preparation of the Design Criteria Package.

(h) “Emergency Purchase” means a purchase necessitated by a sudden 
unexpected turn of events (for example, acts of God, riot, fires, floods, 
hurricanes, accidents, or any circumstances or cause beyond the control of 
the Board in the normal conduct of its business), where the Board finds 
that the delay incident to competitive purchase would be detrimental to the 
interests of the District. This includes, but is not limited to, instances 



23

where the time to competitively award the project will jeopardize the 
funding for the project, will materially increase the cost of the project, or 
will create an undue hardship on the public health, safety, or welfare.

(i) “Invitation to Bid” is a written solicitation for sealed bids with the title, 
date, and hour of the public bid opening designated specifically and 
defining the commodity or service involved.  It includes printed 
instructions prescribing conditions for bidding, qualification, evaluation 
criteria, and provides for a manual signature of an authorized
representative.  It may include one or more bid alternates.

(j) “Invitation to Negotiate” means a written solicitation for competitive 
sealed replies to select one or more vendors with which to commence 
negotiations for the procurement of commodities or services.  

(k) “Negotiate” means to conduct legitimate, arm’s length discussions and 
conferences to reach an agreement on a term or price.  

(l) “Professional Services” means those services within the scope of the 
practice of architecture, professional engineering, landscape architecture, 
or registered surveying and mapping, as defined by the laws of Florida, or 
those services performed by any architect, professional engineer, 
landscape architect, or registered surveyor and mapper, in connection with 
the firm's or individual's professional employment or practice.

(m) “Proposal (or Reply or Response) Most Advantageous to the District” 
means, as determined in the sole discretion of the Board, the proposal, 
reply, or response that is:

(i) Submitted by a person or firm capable and qualified in all respects 
to perform fully the contract requirements, who has the integrity 
and reliability to assure good faith performance;

(ii) The most responsive to the Request for Proposals, Invitation to 
Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation as determined by the Board; 
and

(iii) For a cost to the District deemed by the Board to be reasonable.

(n) “Purchase” means acquisition by sale, rent, lease, lease/purchase, or 
installment sale. It does not include transfer, sale, or exchange of goods, 
supplies, or materials between the District and any federal, state, regional 
or local governmental entity or political subdivision of the State of 
Florida.



24

(o) “Request for Proposals” or “RFP” is a written solicitation for sealed 
proposals with the title, date, and hour of the public opening designated 
and requiring the manual signature of an authorized representative.  It may 
provide general information, applicable laws and rules, statement of work, 
functional or general specifications, qualifications, proposal instructions, 
work detail analysis, and evaluation criteria as necessary.  

(p) “Responsive and Responsible Bidder” means an entity or individual that 
has submitted a bid that conforms in all material respects to the Invitation 
to Bid and has the capability in all respects to fully perform the contract 
requirements and the integrity and reliability that will assure good faith 
performance.  “Responsive and Responsible Vendor” means an entity or 
individual that has submitted a proposal, reply, or response that conforms 
in all material respects to the Request for Proposals, Invitation to 
Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation and has the capability in all respects 
to fully perform the contract requirements and the integrity and reliability 
that will assure good faith performance.  In determining whether an entity 
or individual is a Responsive and Responsible Bidder (or Vendor), the 
District may consider, in addition to factors described in the Invitation to 
Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive 
Solicitation, the following:

(i) The ability and adequacy of the professional personnel employed 
by the entity/individual;

(ii) The past performance of the entity/individual for the District and in 
other professional employment;

(iii) The willingness of the entity/individual to meet time and budget 
requirements;

(iv) The geographic location of the entity’s/individual’s headquarters 
or office in relation to the project;

(v) The recent, current, and projected workloads of the 
entity/individual;

(vi) The volume of work previously awarded to the entity/individual;

(vii) Whether the cost components of the bid or proposal are 
appropriately balanced; and

(viii) Whether the entity/individual is a certified minority business 
enterprise.



25

(q) “Responsive Bid,” “Responsive Proposal,” “Responsive Reply,” and 
“Responsive Response” all mean a bid, proposal, reply, or response which 
conforms in all material respects to the specifications and conditions in the 
Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitations to Negotiate, or 
Competitive Solicitation document and these Rules, and the cost 
components of which, if any, are appropriately balanced.  A bid, proposal, 
reply or response is not responsive if the person or firm submitting it fails 
to meet any material requirement relating to the qualifications, financial 
stability, or licensing of the bidder.

Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat.
Law Implemented:  §§ 190.033, 255.20, 287.055, Fla. Stat.



26

Rule 3.1 Procedure Under The Consultants' Competitive Negotiations Act.

(1) Scope. The following procedures are adopted for the selection of firms or 
individuals to provide Professional Services exceeding the thresholds herein 
described, for the negotiation of such contracts, and to provide for protest of 
actions of the Board under this Rule.  As used in this Rule, “Project” means that 
fixed capital outlay study or planning activity when basic construction cost is 
estimated by the District to exceed the threshold amount provided in Section 
287.017 of the Florida Statutes, for CATEGORY FIVE, or for a planning study 
activity when the fee for Professional Services is estimated by the District to 
exceed the threshold amount provided in Section 287.017 for CATEGORY TWO, 
as such categories may be amended or adjusted from time to time.

(2) Qualifying Procedures. In order to be eligible to provide Professional Services to 
the District, a consultant must, at the time of receipt of the firm’s qualification 
submittal:

(a) Hold all required applicable federal licenses in good standing, if any;

(b) Hold all required applicable state professional licenses in good standing;

(c) Hold a current and active Florida corporate charter or be authorized to do 
business in the State of Florida in accordance with Chapter 607 of the 
Florida Statutes, if the consultant is a corporation; and

(d) Meet any qualification requirements set forth in the District’s Request for 
Qualifications.  

Evidence of compliance with this Rule may be submitted with the qualifications,
if requested by the District. In addition, evidence of compliance must be 
submitted any time requested by the District.

(3) Public Announcement. Except in cases of valid public emergencies as certified 
by the Board, the District shall announce each occasion when Professional 
Services are required for a Project or a Continuing Contract by publishing a notice 
providing a general description of the Project, or the nature of the Continuing 
Contract, and the method for interested consultants to apply for consideration.  
The notice shall appear in at least one (1) newspaper of general circulation in the 
District and in such other places as the District deems appropriate.  The notice 
must allow at least fourteen (14) days for submittal of qualifications from the date 
of publication. The District may maintain lists of consultants interested in 
receiving such notices. These consultants are encouraged to submit annually 
statements of qualifications and performance data.  Consultants who provide their 
name and address to the District Manager for inclusion on the list shall receive 
notices by mail.  The Board has the right to reject any and all qualifications, and 
such reservation shall be included in the published notice.  Consultants not 



27

receiving a contract award shall not be entitled to recover from the District any 
costs of qualification package preparation or submittal.

(4) Competitive Selection.

(a) The Board shall review and evaluate the data submitted in response to the 
notice described in section (3) of this Rule regarding qualifications and 
performance ability, as well as any statements of qualifications on file.  
The Board shall conduct discussions with, and may require public 
presentation by consultants regarding their qualifications, approach to the 
Project, and ability to furnish the required services.  The Board shall then 
select and list the consultants, in order of preference, deemed to be the 
most highly capable and qualified to perform the required Professional 
Services, after considering these and other appropriate criteria:

(i) The ability and adequacy of the professional personnel employed 
by each consultant;

(ii) Whether a consultant is a certified minority business enterprise;

(iii) Each consultant’s past performance;

(iv) The willingness of each consultant to meet time and budget 
requirements;

(v)   The geographic location of each consultant's headquarters, office 
and personnel in relation to the project;

(vi) The recent, current, and projected workloads of each consultant; 
and

(vii) The volume of work previously awarded to each consultant by the 
District.

(b) Nothing in these Rules shall prevent the District from evaluating and 
eventually selecting a consultant if less than three (3) qualification 
packages, including packages indicating a desire not to provide 
Professional Services on a given Project, are received.

(c) If the selection process is administered by any person or committee other 
than the full Board, the selection made will be presented to the full Board 
with a recommendation that competitive negotiations be instituted with the 
selected firms in order of preference listed.

(d) Notice of the rankings adopted by the Board, including the rejection of 
some or all qualification packages, shall be provided in writing to all 



28

consultants by United States Mail, hand delivery, facsimile, or overnight 
delivery service. The notice shall include the following statement:  
"Failure to file a protest within the time prescribed in Rule 3.11 of the 
Rules of the District shall constitute a waiver of proceedings under those 
Rules," or wording to that effect. Protests of the District’s ranking 
decisions under this Rule shall be in accordance with the procedures set 
forth in Rule 3.11.

(5) Competitive Negotiation.

(a) After the Board has authorized the beginning of competitive negotiations, 
the District may begin such negotiations with the firm listed as most 
qualified to perform the required Professional Services at a rate or amount 
of compensation which the Board determines is fair, competitive, and 
reasonable.

(b) In negotiating a lump-sum or cost-plus-a-fixed-fee professional contract 
for more than the threshold amount provided in Section 287.017 of the 
Florida Statutes, for CATEGORY FOUR, the firm receiving the award 
shall be required to execute a truth-in-negotiation certificate stating that 
"wage rates and other factual unit costs supporting the compensation are 
accurate, complete and current at the time of contracting."  In addition, 
any professional service contract under which such a certificate is 
required, shall contain a provision that "the original contract price and any 
additions thereto, shall be adjusted to exclude any significant sums by 
which the Board determines the contract price was increased due to 
inaccurate, incomplete, or noncurrent wage rates and other factual unit 
costs." 

(c) Should the District be unable to negotiate a satisfactory agreement with 
the firm determined to be the most qualified at a price deemed by the 
District to be fair, competitive, and reasonable, then negotiations with that 
firm shall be terminated and the District shall immediately begin 
negotiations with the second most qualified firm.  If a satisfactory 
agreement with the second firm cannot be reached, those negotiations 
shall be terminated and negotiations with the third most qualified firm 
shall be undertaken.

(d) Should the District be unable to negotiate a satisfactory agreement with 
one of the top three (3) ranked consultants, additional firms shall be 
selected by the District, in order of their competence and qualifications.  
Negotiations shall continue, beginning with the first-named firm on the 
list, until an agreement is reached or the list of firms is exhausted.



29

(6) Contracts; Public Records. In accordance with Florida law, each contract entered 
into pursuant to this Rule shall include provisions required by law that require the 
contractor to comply with public records laws. 

(7) Continuing Contract. Nothing in this Rule shall prohibit a Continuing Contract 
between a consultant and the District.

(8) Emergency Purchase. The District may make an Emergency Purchase without 
complying with these Rules.  The fact that an Emergency Purchase has occurred 
or is necessary shall be noted in the minutes of the next Board meeting.

Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat.
Law Implemented:  §§ 119.0701, 190.011(3), 190.033, 287.055, Fla. Stat.



30

Rule 3.2 Procedure Regarding Auditor Selection.

In order to comply with the requirements of Section 218.391 of the Florida Statutes, the 
following procedures are outlined for selection of firms or individuals to provide 
Auditing Services and for the negotiation of such contracts.  

(1) Definitions.

(a) "Auditing Services" means those services within the scope of the practice 
of a certified public accounting firm licensed under Chapter 473 of the 
Florida Statutes, and qualified to conduct audits in accordance with 
government auditing standards as adopted by the Florida Board of 
Accountancy.  

(b) "Committee" means the audit selection committee appointed by the Board 
as described in section (2) of this Rule.

(2) Establishment of Audit Committee. Prior to a public announcement under section 
(4) of this Rule that Auditing Services are required, the Board shall establish an 
audit selection committee (“Committee”), the primary purpose of which is to 
assist the Board in selecting an auditor to conduct the annual financial audit 
required by Section 218.39 of the Florida Statutes. The Committee should include 
at least three individuals, some or all of whom may also serve as members of the 
Board.  The establishment and selection of the Committee must be conducted at a 
publicly noticed and held meeting of the Board.

(3) Establishment of Minimum Qualifications and Evaluation Criteria. Prior to a 
public announcement under section (4) of this Rule that Auditing Services are 
required, the Committee shall meet at a publicly noticed meeting to establish 
minimum qualifications and factors to use for the evaluation of Auditing Services 
to be provided by a certified public accounting firm licensed under Chapter 473 of 
the Florida Statutes, and qualified to conduct audits in accordance with 
government auditing standards as adopted by the Florida Board of Accountancy.

(a) Minimum Qualifications. In order to be eligible to submit a proposal, a 
firm must, at all relevant times including the time of receipt of the 
proposal by the District:

(i) Hold all required applicable federal licenses in good standing, if 
any;

(ii) Hold all required applicable state professional licenses in good 
standing;

(iii) Hold a current and active Florida corporate charter or be 
authorized to do business in the State of Florida in accordance with 



31

Chapter 607 of the Florida Statutes, if the proposer is a 
corporation; and

(iv) Meet any pre-qualification requirements established by the 
Committee and set forth in the RFP or other specifications.  

If requested in the RFP or other specifications, evidence of compliance 
with the minimum qualifications as established by the Committee must be 
submitted with the proposal.

(b) Evaluation Criteria.  The factors established for the evaluation of Auditing 
Services by the Committee shall include, but are not limited to:

(i) Ability of personnel;

(ii) Experience;

(iii) Understanding of scope of work;

(iv) Ability to furnish the required services; and 

(v) Such other factors as may be determined by the Committee to be 
applicable to its particular requirements.

The Committee may also choose to consider compensation as a factor.  If the 
Committee establishes compensation as one of the factors, compensation shall not 
be the sole or predominant factor used to evaluate proposals.

(4) Public Announcement. After identifying the factors to be used in evaluating the 
proposals for Auditing Services as set forth in section (3) of this Rule, the 
Committee shall publicly announce the opportunity to provide Auditing Services.  
Such public announcement shall include a brief description of the audit and how 
interested firms can apply for consideration and obtain the RFP.  The notice shall 
appear in at least one (1) newspaper of general circulation in the District and the 
county in which the District is located.  The public announcement shall allow for 
at least seven (7) days for the submission of proposals. 

(5) Request for Proposals. The Committee shall provide interested firms with a 
Request for Proposals (“RFP”).  The RFP shall provide information on how 
proposals are to be evaluated and such other information the Committee 
determines is necessary for the firm to prepare a proposal.  The RFP shall state the 
time and place for submitting proposals.  

(6) Committee’s Evaluation of Proposals and Recommendation. The Committee 
shall meet at a publicly held meeting that is publicly noticed for a reasonable time 
in advance of the meeting to evaluate all qualified proposals and may, as part of 



32

the evaluation, require that each interested firm provide a public presentation 
where the Committee may conduct discussions with the firm, and where the firm 
may present information, regarding the firm’s qualifications.  At the public 
meeting, the Committee shall rank and recommend in order of preference no 
fewer than three firms deemed to be the most highly qualified to perform the 
required services after considering the factors established pursuant to subsection 
(3)(b) of this Rule.  If fewer than three firms respond to the RFP or if no firms 
respond to the RFP, the Committee shall recommend such firm as it deems to be 
the most highly qualified.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee may 
recommend that any and all proposals be rejected.

(7) Board Selection of Auditor.

(a) Where compensation was not selected as a factor used in evaluating the 
proposals, the Board shall negotiate with the firm ranked first and inquire 
of that firm as to the basis of compensation.  If the Board is unable to 
negotiate a satisfactory agreement with the first ranked firm at a price 
deemed by the Board to be fair, competitive, and reasonable, then 
negotiations with that firm shall be terminated and the Board shall 
immediately begin negotiations with the second ranked firm.  If a 
satisfactory agreement with the second ranked firm cannot be reached, 
those negotiations shall be terminated and negotiations with the third 
ranked firm shall be undertaken.  The Board may reopen formal 
negotiations with any one of the three top-ranked firms, but it may not 
negotiate with more than one firm at a time.  If the Board is unable to 
negotiate a satisfactory agreement with any of the selected firms, the 
Committee shall recommend additional firms in order of the firms’ 
respective competence and qualifications.  Negotiations shall continue, 
beginning with the first-named firm on the list, until an agreement is 
reached or the list of firms is exhausted.

(b) Where compensation was selected as a factor used in evaluating the 
proposals, the Board shall select the highest-ranked qualified firm.  

(c) In negotiations with firms under this Rule, the Board may allow the 
District Manager, District Counsel, or other designee to conduct 
negotiations on its behalf.

(d) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Board may reject any or all proposals.  
The Board shall not consider any proposal, or enter into any contract for 
Auditing Services, unless the proposed agreed-upon compensation is 
reasonable to satisfy the requirements of Section 218.39 of the Florida 
Statutes, and the needs of the District.

(8) Contract. Any agreement reached under this Rule shall be evidenced by a written 
contract, which may take the form of an engagement letter signed and executed by 



33

both parties.  The written contract shall include all provisions and conditions of 
the procurement of such services and shall include, at a minimum, the following:

(a) A provision specifying the services to be provided and fees or other 
compensation for such services;

(b) A provision requiring that invoices for fees or other compensation be 
submitted in sufficient detail to demonstrate compliance with the terms of 
the contract;

(c) A provision setting forth deadlines for the auditor to submit a preliminary 
draft audit report to the District for review and to submit a final audit 
report no later than July 1 of the fiscal year that follows the fiscal year for 
which the audit is being conducted;

(d) A provision specifying the contract period, including renewals and 
conditions under which the contract may be terminated or renewed.  No 
contract shall continue, or allow the contract to be renewed, for a period of 
more than three years from the date of its execution.  A renewal may be 
done without the use of the auditor selection procedures provided in this 
Rule, but must be in writing.  

(e) Provisions required by law that require the auditor to comply with public
records laws.

(9) Notice of Award. Once a negotiated agreement with a firm or individual is 
reached, or the Board authorizes the execution of an agreement with a firm where 
compensation was a factor in the evaluation of proposals, notice of the intent to 
award, including the rejection of some or all proposals, shall be provided in 
writing to all proposers by United States Mail, hand delivery, facsimile, or 
overnight delivery service. The notice shall include the following statement:  
"Failure to file a protest within the time prescribed in Rule 3.11 of the Rules of 
the District shall constitute a waiver of proceedings under those Rules," or 
wording to that effect.  Protests regarding the award of contracts under this Rule 
shall be as provided for in Rule 3.11.  No proposer shall be entitled to recover any 
costs of proposal preparation or submittal from the District.

Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat.
Law Implemented:  §§ 119.0701, 218.391, Fla. Stat.



34

Rule 3.3 Purchase of Insurance.

(1) Scope. The purchases of life, health, accident, hospitalization, legal expense, or 
annuity insurance, or all of any kinds of such insurance for the officers and 
employees of the District, and for health, accident, hospitalization, and legal 
expenses upon a group insurance plan by the District, shall be governed by this 
Rule. This Rule does not apply to the purchase of any other type of insurance by 
the District, including but not limited to liability insurance, property insurance, 
and directors and officers insurance. Nothing in this Rule shall require the District 
to purchase insurance.  

(2) Procedure. For a purchase of insurance within the scope of these Rules, the 
following procedure shall be followed:

(a) The Board shall cause to be prepared a Notice of Invitation to Bid.

(b) Notice of the Invitation to Bid shall be advertised at least once in a 
newspaper of general circulation within the District. The notice shall allow 
at least fourteen (14) days for submittal of bids.

(c) The District may maintain a list of persons interested in receiving notices 
of Invitations to Bid.  Persons who provide their name and address to the 
District Manager for inclusion on the list shall receive notices by mail.

(d) Bids shall be opened at the time and place noted in the Invitation to Bid.

(e) If only one (1) response to an Invitation is received, the District may 
proceed with the purchase.  If no response to an Invitation to Bid is 
received, the District may take whatever steps are reasonably necessary in 
order to proceed with the purchase.

(f) The Board has the right to reject any and all bids and such reservations 
shall be included in all solicitations and advertisements.

(g) Simultaneously with the review of the submitted bids, the District may 
undertake negotiations with those companies that have submitted 
reasonable and timely bids and, in the opinion of the District, are fully 
qualified and capable of meeting all services and requirements.  Bid 
responses shall be evaluated in accordance with the specifications and 
criteria contained in the Invitation to Bid; in addition, the total cost to the 
District, the cost, if any, to the District officers, employees, or their 
dependents, the geographic location of the company’s headquarters and 
offices in relation to the District, and the ability of the company to 
guarantee premium stability may be considered.  A contract to purchase 
insurance shall be awarded to that company whose response to the 



35

Invitation to Bid best meets the overall needs of the District, its officers, 
employees, and/or dependents.

(h) Notice of the intent to award, including rejection of some or all bids, shall 
be provided in writing to all bidders by United States Mail, by hand 
delivery, or by overnight delivery service. The notice shall include the 
following statement:  "Failure to file a protest within the time prescribed 
in Rule 3.11 of the Rules of the District shall constitute a waiver of 
proceedings under those Rules," or wording to that effect.  Protests of the 
District’s procurement of insurance under this Rule shall be in accordance 
with the procedures set forth in Rule 3.11.

Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat.
Law Implemented:  § 112.08, Fla. Stat.



36

Rule 3.4 Pre-qualification

(1) Scope. In its discretion, the District may undertake a pre-qualification process in 
accordance with this Rule for vendors to provide construction services, goods, 
supplies, and materials, Contractual Services, and maintenance services.   

(2) Procedure. When the District seeks to pre-qualify vendors, the following 
procedures shall apply:

(a) The Board shall cause to be prepared a Request for Qualifications.

(b) For construction services exceeding the thresholds described in Section 
255.20 of the Florida Statutes, the Board must advertise the proposed pre-
qualification criteria and procedures and allow at least seven (7) days 
notice of the public hearing for comments on such pre-qualification 
criteria and procedures.  At such public hearing, potential vendors may 
object to such pre-qualification criteria and procedures.  Following such 
public hearing, the Board shall formally adopt pre-qualification criteria 
and procedures prior to the advertisement of the Request for Qualifications 
for construction services.

(c) The Request for Qualifications shall be advertised at least once in a 
newspaper of general circulation within the District and within the county 
in which the District is located.  The notice shall allow at least seven (7) 
days for submittal of qualifications for goods, supplies and materials, 
Contractual Services, maintenance services, and construction services 
under two hundred fifty thousand dollars ($250,000).  The notice shall 
allow at least twenty-one (21) days for submittal of qualifications for 
construction services estimated to cost over two hundred fifty thousand 
dollars ($250,000) and thirty (30) days for construction services estimated 
to cost over five hundred thousand dollars ($500,000).  

(d) The District may maintain lists of persons interested in receiving notices 
of Requests for Qualifications.  The District shall make a good faith effort 
to provide written notice, by electronic mail, United States Mail, hand 
delivery, or facsimile, to persons who provide their name and address to 
the District Manager for inclusion on the list.  However, failure of a 
person to receive the notice shall not invalidate any pre-qualification 
determination or contract awarded in accordance with these Rules and 
shall not be a basis for a protest of any pre-qualification determination or 
contract award.

(e) If the District has pre-qualified vendors for a particular category of 
purchase, at the option of the District, only those persons who have been 
pre-qualified will be eligible to submit bids, proposals, replies or 



37

responses in response to the applicable Invitation to Bid, Request for 
Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation.

(f) In order to be eligible to submit qualifications, a firm or individual must, 
at the time of receipt of the qualifications:

(i) Hold the required applicable state professional licenses in good 
standing;

(ii) Hold all required applicable federal licenses in good standing, if 
any;

(iii) Hold a current and active Florida corporate charter or be 
authorized to do business in the State of Florida in accordance with 
Chapter 607 of the Florida Statutes, if the vendor is a corporation; 
and

(iv) Meet any special pre-qualification requirements set forth in the 
Request for Qualifications.

Evidence of compliance with these Rules must be submitted with the 
qualifications if required by the District.  Failure to submit evidence of 
compliance when required may be grounds for rejection of the 
qualifications.

(g) Qualifications shall be presented to the Board, or a committee appointed 
by the Board, for evaluation in accordance with the Request for 
Qualifications and this Rule.  Minor variations in the qualifications may be 
waived by the Board. A variation is minor if waiver of the variation does 
not create a competitive advantage or disadvantage of a material nature.  

(h) All vendors determined by the District to meet the pre-qualification 
requirements shall be pre-qualified.  To assure full understanding of the 
responsiveness to the requirements contained in a Request for 
Qualifications, discussions may be conducted with qualified vendors.  
Vendors shall be accorded fair treatment prior to the submittal date with 
respect to any opportunity for discussion and revision of qualifications.  
For construction services, any contractor pre-qualified and considered 
eligible by the Department of Transportation to bid to perform the type of 
work the project entails shall be presumed to be qualified to perform the 
project.

(i) The Board shall have the right to reject all qualifications if there are not 
enough to be competitive or if rejection is determined to be in the best 
interest of the District.  No vendor shall be entitled to recover any costs of 
qualification preparation or submittal from the District.



38

(j) Notice of intent to pre-qualify, including rejection of some or all 
qualifications, shall be provided in writing to all vendors by United States 
Mail, hand delivery, facsimile, or overnight delivery service.  The notice 
shall include the following statement:  "Failure to file a protest within the 
time prescribed in Rule 3.11 of the Rules of the District shall constitute a 
waiver of proceedings under those Rules," or wording to that effect.  
Protests of the District’s pre-qualification decisions under this Rule shall 
be in accordance with the procedures set forth in Rule 3.11; provided 
however, protests related to the pre-qualification criteria and procedures 
for construction services shall be resolved in accordance with section 
(2)(b) of this Rule and Section 255.20(1)(b) of the Florida Statutes.

Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat.
Law Implemented:  §§ 190.033, 255.0525, 255.20, Fla. Stat. 



39

Rule 3.5 Construction Contracts, Not Design-Build.

(1) Scope. All contracts for the construction or improvement of any building, 
structure, or other public construction works authorized by Chapter 190 of the 
Florida Statutes, the costs of which are estimated by the District in accordance 
with generally accepted cost accounting principles to be in excess of the threshold 
amount for applicability of Section 255.20 of the Florida Statutes, as that amount 
may be indexed or amended from time to time, shall be let under the terms of 
these Rules and the procedures of Section 255.20 of the Florida Statutes, as the 
same may be amended from time to time.  A project shall not be divided solely to 
avoid the threshold bidding requirements.

(2) Procedure. When a purchase of construction services is within the scope of this 
Rule, the following procedures shall apply:

(a) The Board shall cause to be prepared an Invitation to Bid, Request for 
Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation.

(b) Notice of the Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to 
Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation shall be advertised at least once in a 
newspaper of general circulation in the District and in the county in which 
the District is located.  The notice shall also include the amount of the bid 
bond, if one is required.  The notice shall allow at least twenty-one (21) 
days for submittal of sealed bids, proposals, replies, or responses, unless
the Board, for good cause, determines a shorter period of time is 
appropriate. Any project projected to cost more than five hundred 
thousand dollars ($500,000) must be noticed at least thirty (30) days prior 
to the date for submittal of bids, proposals, replies, or responses.  If the 
Board has previously pre-qualified contractors pursuant to Rule 3.4 and 
determined that only the contractors that have been pre-qualified will be 
permitted to submit bids, proposals, replies, and responses, the Notice of 
Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or 
Competitive Solicitation need not be published.  Instead, the Notice of 
Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or 
Competitive Solicitation shall be sent to the pre-qualified contractors by 
United States Mail, hand delivery, facsimile, or overnight delivery service.

(c) The District may maintain lists of persons interested in receiving notices 
of Invitations to Bid, Requests for Proposals, Invitations to Negotiate, and 
Competitive Solicitations.  The District shall make a good faith effort to 
provide written notice, by electronic mail, United States Mail, hand 
delivery, or facsimile, to persons who provide their name and address to 
the District Manager for inclusion on the list.  However, failure of a 
person to receive the notice shall not invalidate any contract awarded in 
accordance with this Rule and shall not be a basis for a protest of any 
contract award.  



40

(d) If the District has pre-qualified providers of construction services, then, at 
the option of the District, only those persons who have been pre-qualified 
will be eligible to submit bids, proposals, replies, or responses to 
Invitations to Bid, Requests for Proposals, Invitations to Negotiate, and 
Competitive Solicitations.

(e) In order to be eligible to submit a bid, proposal, reply, or response, a firm 
or individual must, at the time of receipt of the bids, proposals, replies, or 
responses:

(i) Hold the required applicable state professional licenses in good 
standing;

(ii) Hold all required applicable federal licenses in good standing, if 
any;

(iii) Hold a current and active Florida corporate charter or be 
authorized to do business in the State of Florida in accordance with 
Chapter 607 of the Florida Statutes, if the bidder is a corporation; 
and

(iv) Meet any special pre-qualification requirements set forth in the 
Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or 
Competitive Solicitation.

Any contractor that has been found guilty by a court of any violation of 
federal labor or employment tax laws regarding subjects such as safety, 
tax withholding, worker’s compensation, unemployment tax, social 
security and Medicare tax, wage or hour, or prevailing rate laws within the 
past 5 years may be considered ineligible by the District to submit a bid, 
response, or proposal for a District project.

Evidence of compliance with these Rules must be submitted with the bid, 
proposal, reply, or response, if required by the District.  Failure to submit 
evidence of compliance when required may be grounds for rejection of the 
bid, proposal, reply, or response.

(f) Bids, proposals, replies, and responses, or the portions of which that 
include the price, shall be publicly opened at a meeting noticed in 
accordance with Rule 1.3, and at which at least one district representative 
is present.  The name of each bidder and the price submitted in the bid 
shall be announced at such meeting, and shall be made available upon 
request. Minutes should be taken at the meeting and maintained by the 
District. Bids, proposals, replies, and responses shall be evaluated in 
accordance with the respective Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, 



41

Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation and these Rules.  
Minor variations in the bids, proposals, replies, or responses may be 
waived by the Board.  A variation is minor if waiver of the variation does 
not create a competitive advantage or disadvantage of a material nature.  
Mistakes in arithmetic extension of pricing may be corrected by the Board.  
Bids and proposals may not be modified or supplemented after opening; 
provided however, additional information may be requested and/or 
provided to evidence compliance, make non-material modifications, 
clarifications, or supplementations, and as otherwise permitted by Florida 
law.

(g) The lowest Responsive Bid submitted by a Responsive and Responsible 
Bidder in response to an Invitation to Bid shall be accepted.  In relation to 
a Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive 
Solicitation, the Board shall select the Responsive Proposal, Reply, or 
Response submitted by a Responsive and Responsible Vendor which is 
most advantageous to the District. To assure full understanding of the 
responsiveness to the solicitation requirements contained in a Request for 
Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation, discussions 
may be conducted with qualified vendors.  Vendors shall be accorded fair 
treatment prior to the submittal date with respect to any opportunity for 
discussion, preparation, and revision of bids, proposals, replies, and 
responses.  

(h) The Board shall have the right to reject all bids, proposals, replies, or 
responses because they exceed the amount of funds budgeted for the 
purchase, if there are not enough to be competitive, or if rejection is 
determined to be in the best interest of the District.  No contractor shall be 
entitled to recover any costs of bid, proposal, response, or reply 
preparation or submittal from the District.

(i) The Board may require potential contractors to furnish bid bonds, 
performance bonds, and/or other bonds with a responsible surety to be 
approved by the Board.

(j) Notice of intent to award, including rejection of some or all bids, 
proposals, replies, or responses, shall be provided in writing to all 
contractors by United States Mail, hand delivery, facsimile, or overnight 
delivery service. The notice shall include the following statement:  
"Failure to file a protest within the time prescribed in Rule 3.11 of the 
Rules of the District shall constitute a waiver of proceedings under those 
Rules," or wording to that effect.  Protests of the District’s purchase of 
construction services under this Rule shall be in accordance with the 
procedures set forth in Rule 3.11.



42

(k) If less than three (3) Responsive Bids, Proposals, Replies, or Responses 
are received, the District may purchase construction services or may reject 
the bids, proposals, replies, or responses for a lack of competitiveness. If 
no Responsive Bid, Proposal, Reply, or Response is received, the District 
may take whatever steps reasonably necessary in order to proceed with the 
procurement of construction services, which steps may include a direct 
purchase of the construction services without further competitive selection 
processes. 

(3) Sole Source; Government. Construction services that are only available from a 
single source are exempt from this Rule.  Construction services provided by 
governmental agencies are exempt from this Rule.  This Rule shall not apply to 
the purchase of construction services, which may include goods, supplies, or 
materials, that are purchased under a federal, state, or local government contract 
that has been competitively procured by such federal, state, or local government 
in a manner consistent with the material procurement requirements of these Rules.  
A contract for construction services is exempt from this Rule if state or federal 
law prescribes with whom the District must contract or if the rate of payment is 
established during the appropriation process.   

(4) Contracts; Public Records. In accordance with Florida law, each contract entered 
into pursuant to this Rule shall include provisions required by law that require the 
contractor to comply with public records laws.

(5) Emergency Purchases. The District may make an Emergency Purchase without 
complying with these rules.  The fact that an Emergency Purchase has occurred or 
is necessary shall be noted in the minutes of the next Board Meeting.  

(6) Exceptions. This Rule is inapplicable when:

(a) The project is undertaken as repair or maintenance of an existing public 
facility;

(b) The funding source of the project will be diminished or lost because the 
time required to competitively award the project after the funds become 
available exceeds the time within which the funding source must be spent;

(c) The District has competitively awarded a project and the contractor has 
abandoned the project or the District has terminated the contractor; or

(d) The District, after public notice, conducts a public meeting under Section 
286.011 of the Florida Statutes, and finds by a majority vote of the Board 
that it is in the public’s best interest to perform the project using its own 
services, employees, and equipment.

Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat.
Law Implemented:  §§ 119.0701, 189.053, 190.033, 255.0518, 255.0525, 255.20, 287.055, Fla. Stat.



43

Rule 3.6 Construction Contracts, Design-Build.

(1) Scope. The District may utilize Design-Build Contracts for any public 
construction project for which the Board determines that use of such contract is in 
the best interest of the District. When letting a Design-Build Contract, the District 
shall use the following procedure:

(2) Procedure.

(a)   The District shall utilize a Design Criteria Professional meeting the 
requirements of Section 287.055(2)(k) of the Florida Statutes, when 
developing a Design Criteria Package, evaluating the proposals and 
qualifications submitted by Design-Build Firms, and determining 
compliance of the project construction with the Design Criteria Package.  
The Design Criteria Professional may be an employee of the District, may 
be the District Engineer selected by the District pursuant to Section 
287.055 of the Florida Statutes, or may be retained pursuant to Rule 3.1.  
The Design Criteria Professional is not eligible to render services under a 
Design-Build Contract executed pursuant to the Design Criteria Package.

(b) A Design Criteria Package for the construction project shall be prepared 
and sealed by the Design Criteria Professional.  If the project utilizes 
existing plans, the Design Criteria Professional shall create a Design 
Criteria Package by supplementing the plans with project specific 
requirements, if any.    

(c) The Board may either choose to award the Design-Build Contract pursuant 
to the competitive proposal selection process set forth in Section 
287.055(9) of the Florida Statutes, or pursuant to the qualifications based 
selection process pursuant to Rule 3.1. 

(i) Qualifications-Based Selection. If the process set forth in Rule 3.1 
is utilized, subsequent to competitive negotiations, a guaranteed 
maximum price and guaranteed completion date shall be 
established. 

(ii)  Competitive Proposal-Based Selection. If the competitive proposal 
selection process is utilized, the Board, in consultation with the 
Design Criteria Professional, shall establish the criteria, standards 
and procedures for the evaluation of Design-Build Proposals based 
on price, technical, and design aspects of the project, weighted for 
the project.  After a Design Criteria Package and the standards and 
procedures for evaluation of proposals have been developed, 
competitive proposals from qualified firms shall be solicited 
pursuant to the design criteria by the following procedure:



44

1. A Request for Proposals shall be advertised at least once in 
a newspaper of general circulation in the county in which 
the District is located.  The notice shall allow at least 
twenty-one (21) days for submittal of sealed proposals, 
unless the Board, for good cause, determines a shorter 
period of time is appropriate.  Any project projected to cost 
more than five hundred thousand dollars ($500,000) must 
be noticed at least thirty (30) days prior to the date for 
submittal of proposals.  

2. The District may maintain lists of persons interested in 
receiving notices of Requests for Proposals.  The District 
shall make a good faith effort to provide written notice, by 
electronic mail, United States Mail, hand delivery, or 
facsimile, to persons who provide their name and address to 
the District Manager for inclusion on the list.  However, 
failure of a person to receive the notice shall not invalidate 
any contract awarded in accordance with this Rule and
shall not be a basis for a protest of any contract award.

3. In order to be eligible to submit a proposal, a firm must, at 
the time of receipt of the proposals:

a. Hold the required applicable state professional 
licenses in good standing, as defined by Section 
287.055(2)(h) of the Florida Statutes;

b. Hold all required applicable federal licenses in good 
standing, if any;

c. Hold a current and active Florida corporate charter 
or be authorized to do business in the State of 
Florida in accordance with Chapter 607 of the 
Florida Statutes, if the proposer is a corporation;

d. Meet any special pre-qualification requirements set 
forth in the Request for Proposals and Design 
Criteria Package.

Any contractor that has been found guilty by a court of any 
violation of federal labor or employment tax laws regarding 
subjects such as safety, tax withholding, worker’s 
compensation, unemployment tax, social security and 
Medicare tax, wage or hour, or prevailing rate laws within 
the past 5 years may be considered ineligible by the District 
to submit a bid, response, or proposal for a District project.



45

Evidence of compliance with these Rules must be 
submitted with the proposal if required by the District.  
Failure to submit evidence of compliance when required 
may be grounds for rejection of the proposal.

4. The proposals, or the portions of which that include the 
price, shall be publicly opened at a meeting noticed in 
accordance with Rule 1.3, and at which at least one district 
representative is present.  The name of each bidder and the 
price submitted in the bid shall be announced at such 
meeting, and shall be made available upon request.  
Minutes should be taken at the meeting and maintained by 
the District.  In consultation with the Design Criteria 
Professional, the Board shall evaluate the proposals 
received based on evaluation criteria and procedures 
established prior to the solicitation of proposals, including 
but not limited to qualifications, availability, and past work 
of the firms and the partners and members thereof.  The 
Board shall then select no fewer than three (3) Design-
Build Firms as the most qualified.

5. The Board shall have the right to reject all proposals if 
rejection is determined to be in the best interest of the 
District. No vendor shall be entitled to recover any costs of 
proposal preparation or submittal from the District.

6. If less than three (3) proposals are received, the District 
may purchase design-build services or may reject the 
proposals for lack of competitiveness. If no proposals are 
received, the District may take whatever steps reasonably 
necessary in order to proceed with the procurement of 
design-build services, which steps may include a direct 
purchase of the design-build services without further 
competitive selection processes.

7. Notice of the rankings adopted by the Board, including the 
rejection of some or all proposals, shall be provided in 
writing to all consultants by United States Mail, hand 
delivery, facsimile, or overnight delivery service.  The 
notice shall include the following statement:  "Failure to 
file a protest within the time prescribed in Rule 3.11 of the 
Rules of the District shall constitute a waiver of 
proceedings under those Rules," or wording to that effect.  
Protests of the District’s rankings under this Rule shall be 
in accordance with the procedures set forth in Rule 3.11.



46

8. The Board shall negotiate a contract with the firm ranking 
the highest based on the evaluation standards and shall 
establish a price which the Board determines is fair, 
competitive and reasonable.  Should the Board be unable to 
negotiate a satisfactory contract with the firm considered to 
be the most qualified at a price considered by the Board to 
be fair, competitive, and reasonable, negotiations with that 
firm must be terminated. The Board shall then undertake 
negotiations with the second most qualified firm, based on 
the ranking by the evaluation standards.  Failing accord 
with the second most qualified firm, the Board must 
terminate negotiations.  The Board shall then undertake 
negotiations with the third most qualified firm.  Should the 
Board be unable to negotiate a satisfactory contract with 
any of the selected firms, the Board shall select additional 
firms in order of their rankings based on the evaluation 
standards and continue negotiations until an agreement is 
reached or the list of firms is exhausted.

9. After the Board contracts with a firm, the firm shall bring 
to the Board for approval, detailed working drawings of the 
project.  

10. The Design Criteria Professional shall evaluate the 
compliance of the detailed working drawings and project 
construction with the Design Criteria Package, and shall 
provide the Board with a report of the same.  

(3) Contracts; Public Records. In accordance with Florida law, each contract entered 
into pursuant to this Rule shall include provisions required by law that require the 
contractor to comply with public records laws.

(4) Emergency Purchase. The Board may, in case of public emergency, declare an 
emergency and immediately proceed with negotiations with the best qualified 
Design-Build Firm available at the time.  The fact that an Emergency Purchase 
has occurred shall be noted in the minutes of the next Board meeting.

(5) Exceptions. This Rule is inapplicable when:

(a) The project is undertaken as repair or maintenance of an existing public 
facility;

(b) The funding source of the project will be diminished or lost because the 
time required to competitively award the project after the funds become 
available exceeds the time within which the funding source must be spent;



47

(c) The District has competitively awarded a project and the contractor has 
abandoned the project or the District has terminated the contractor; or

(d) The District, after public notice, conducts a public meeting under Section 
286.011 of the Florida Statutes, and finds by a majority vote of the Board 
that it is in the public’s best interest to perform the project using its own 
services, employees, and equipment.

Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat.
Law Implemented:  §§ 119.0701, 189.053, 190.033, 255.0518, 255.0525, 255.20, 287.055, Fla. Stat.



48

Rule 3.7 Payment and Performance Bonds.

(1) Scope. This Rule shall apply to contracts for the construction of a public 
building, for the prosecution and completion of a public work, or for repairs upon 
a public building or public work, and shall be construed in addition to terms 
prescribed by any other Rule that may also apply to such contracts.

(2) Required Bond. Upon entering into a contract for any of the services described in 
section (1) of this Rule in excess of $200,000, the Board should require that the 
contractor, before commencing the work, execute and record a payment and 
performance bond in an amount equal to the contract price.  Notwithstanding the 
terms of the contract or any other law, the District may not make payment to the 
contractor until the contractor has provided to the District a certified copy of the 
recorded bond.

(3) Discretionary Bond. At the discretion of the Board, upon entering into a contract 
for any of the services described in section (1) of this Rule for an amount not 
exceeding $200,000, the contractor may be exempted from executing a payment 
and performance bond.

Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat.
Law Implemented:  § 255.05, Fla. Stat.



49

Rule 3.8 Goods, Supplies, and Materials.

(1) Purpose and Scope. All purchases of goods, supplies, or materials exceeding the 
amount provided in Section 287.017 of the Florida Statutes, for CATEGORY 
FOUR, shall be purchased under the terms of this Rule.  Contracts for purchases 
of “goods, supplies, and materials” do not include printing, insurance, advertising, 
or legal notices.  A contract involving goods, supplies, or materials plus 
maintenance services may, in the discretion of the Board, be treated as a contract 
for maintenance services.  However, a purchase shall not be divided solely in 
order to avoid the threshold bidding requirements.

(2) Procedure. When a purchase of goods, supplies, or materials is within the scope 
of this Rule, the following procedures shall apply:

(a) The Board shall cause to be prepared an Invitation to Bid, Request for 
Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation.

(b) Notice of the Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to 
Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation shall be advertised at least once in a 
newspaper of general circulation within the District and within the county 
in which the District is located.  The notice shall also include the amount 
of the bid bond, if one is required.  The notice shall allow at least seven (7) 
days for submittal of bids, proposals, replies, or responses.

(c) The District may maintain lists of persons interested in receiving notices 
of Invitations to Bid, Requests for Proposals, Invitations to Negotiate, or 
Competitive Solicitations.  The District shall make a good faith effort to 
provide written notice, by electronic mail, United States Mail, hand 
delivery, or facsimile, to persons who provide their name and address to 
the District Manager for inclusion on the list.  However, failure of a 
person to receive the notice shall not invalidate any contract awarded in 
accordance with this Rule and shall not be a basis for a protest of any 
contract award.

(d) If the District has pre-qualified suppliers of goods, supplies, and materials, 
then, at the option of the District, only those persons who have been pre-
qualified will be eligible to submit bids, proposals, replies, or responses.

(e) In order to be eligible to submit a bid, proposal, reply, or response, a firm 
or individual must, at the time of receipt of the bids, proposals, replies, or 
responses:

(i) Hold the required applicable state professional licenses in good
standing;

(ii) Hold all required applicable federal licenses in good standing, if any;



50

(iii) Hold a current and active Florida corporate charter or be authorized 
to do business in the State of Florida in accordance with Chapter 607 
of the Florida Statutes, if the vendor is a corporation; and

(iv) Meet any special pre-qualification requirements set forth in the 
Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or 
Competitive Solicitation.

Evidence of compliance with these Rules must be submitted with the bid, 
proposal, reply or response if required by the District.  Failure to submit 
evidence of compliance when required may be grounds for rejection of the 
bid, proposal, reply, or response.

Any firm or individual whose principal place of business is outside the 
State of Florida must also submit a written opinion of an attorney at law 
licensed to practice law in that foreign state, as to the preferences, if any or 
none, granted by the law of that foreign state to business entities whose 
principal places of business are in that foreign state, in the letting of any or 
all public contracts.  Failure to submit such a written opinion or 
submission of a false or misleading written opinion may be grounds for 
rejection of the bid, proposal, reply, or response.

(f) Bids, proposals, replies, and responses shall be publicly opened at the time 
and place noted on the Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation 
to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation. Bids, proposals, replies, and 
responses shall be evaluated in accordance with the respective Invitation 
to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive 
Solicitation, and this Rule.  Minor variations in the bids, proposals, replies, 
or responses may be waived by the Board. A variation is minor if waiver 
of the variation does not create a competitive advantage or disadvantage of 
a material nature. Mistakes in arithmetic extension of pricing may be 
corrected by the Board.  Bids and proposals may not be modified or 
supplemented after opening; provided however, additional information 
may be requested and/or provided to evidence compliance, make non-
material modifications, clarifications, or supplementations, and as 
otherwise permitted by Florida law.

(g) The lowest Responsive Bid, after taking into account the preferences 
provided for in this subsection, submitted by a Responsive and 
Responsible Bidder in response to an Invitation to Bid, Request for 
Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation shall be 
accepted.  If the lowest Responsive Bid is submitted by a Responsive and 
Responsible Bidder whose principal place of business is located in a 
foreign state which does not grant a preference in competitive purchase to 
businesses whose principal place of business are in that foreign state, the 



51

lowest Responsible and Responsive Bidder whose principal place of 
business is in the State of Florida shall be awarded a preference of five (5) 
percent.  If the lowest Responsive Bid is submitted by a Responsive and 
Responsible Bidder whose principal place of business is located in a 
foreign state which grants a preference in competitive purchase to 
businesses whose principal place of business are in that foreign state, the 
lowest Responsible and Responsive Bidder whose principal place of 
business is in the State of Florida shall be awarded a preference equal to 
the preference granted by such foreign state.

To assure full understanding of the responsiveness to the solicitation 
requirements contained in an Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, 
Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation, discussions may be 
conducted with qualified vendors.  Vendors shall be accorded fair 
treatment prior to the submittal date with respect to any opportunity for 
discussion, preparation, and revision of bids, proposals, replies, and 
responses.  

(h) The Board shall have the right to reject all bids, proposals, replies, or 
responses because they exceed the amount of funds budgeted for the 
purchase, if there are not enough to be competitive, or if rejection is 
determined to be in the best interest of the District.  No vendor shall be 
entitled to recover any costs of bid, proposal, reply, or response 
preparation or submittal from the District.

(i) The Board may require bidders and proposers to furnish bid bonds, 
performance bonds, and/or other bonds with a responsible surety to be 
approved by the Board.

(j) Notice of intent to award, including rejection of some or all bids, 
proposals, replies, or responses shall be provided in writing to all vendors 
by United States Mail, hand delivery, facsimile, or overnight delivery 
service.  The notice shall include the following statement:  "Failure to file 
a protest within the time prescribed in Rule 3.11 of the Rules of the 
District shall constitute a waiver of proceedings under those Rules," or 
wording to that effect.  Protests of the District’s purchase of goods, 
supplies, and materials under this Rule shall be in accordance with the 
procedures set forth in Rule 3.11.

(k) If less than three (3) bids, proposals, replies, or responses are received, the 
District may purchase goods, supplies, or materials, or may reject the bids, 
proposals, replies, or responses for a lack of competitiveness. If no 
Responsive Bid, Proposal, Reply, or Response is received, the District 
may take whatever steps reasonably necessary in order to proceed with the 
procurement of goods, supplies, and materials, which steps may include a 



52

direct purchase of the goods, supplies, and materials without further 
competitive selection processes. 

(3) Goods, Supplies, and Materials included in a Construction Contract Awarded 
Pursuant to Rule 3.5 or 3.6. There may be occasions where the District has 
undergone the competitive purchase of construction services which contract may 
include the provision of goods, supplies, or materials.  In that instance, the 
District may approve a change order to the contract and directly purchase the 
goods, supplies, and materials.  Such purchase of goods, supplies, and materials 
deducted from a competitively purchased construction contract shall be exempt 
from this Rule.

(4) Exemption. Goods, supplies, and materials that are only available from a single 
source are exempt from this Rule.  Goods, supplies, and materials provided by 
governmental agencies are exempt from this Rule.  A contract for goods, supplies, 
or materials is exempt from this Rule if state or federal law prescribes with whom 
the District must contract or if the rate of payment is established during the 
appropriation process.  This Rule shall not apply to the purchase of goods, 
supplies or materials that are purchased under a federal, state, or local government 
contract that has been competitively procured by such federal, state, or local 
government in a manner consistent with the material procurement requirements of 
these Rules.

(5) Renewal. Contracts for the purchase of goods, supplies, and/or materials subject 
to this Rule may be renewed for a period that may not exceed three (3) years or 
the term of the original contract, whichever period is longer.  

(6) Emergency Purchases. The District may make an Emergency Purchase without 
complying with these rules.  The fact that an Emergency Purchase has occurred or 
is necessary shall be noted in the minutes of the next Board meeting.

Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat.
Law Implemented:  §§ 189.053, 190.033, 287.017, 287.084, Fla. Stat.



53

Rule 3.9 Maintenance Services.

(1)      Scope. All contracts for maintenance of any District facility or project shall be set
under the terms of this Rule if the cost exceeds the amount provided in Section 
287.017 of the Florida Statutes, for CATEGORY FOUR.  A contract involving 
goods, supplies, and materials plus maintenance services may, in the discretion of 
the Board, be treated as a contract for maintenance services.  However, a purchase 
shall not be divided solely in order to avoid the threshold bidding requirements.

(2) Procedure. When a purchase of maintenance services is within the scope of this 
Rule, the following procedures shall apply:

(a) The Board shall cause to be prepared an Invitation to Bid, Request for 
Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation.

(b) Notice of the Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to 
Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation shall be advertised at least once in a 
newspaper of general circulation within the District and within the county 
in which the District is located.  The notice shall also include the amount 
of the bid bond, if one is required.  The notice shall allow at least seven (7) 
days for submittal of bids, proposals, replies, or responses.

(c) The District may maintain lists of persons interested in receiving notices 
of Invitations to Bid, Requests for Proposals, Invitations to Negotiate, and 
Competitive Solicitations.  The District shall make a good faith effort to 
provide written notice, by electronic mail, United States Mail, hand 
delivery, or facsimile, to persons who provide their name and address to 
the District Manager for inclusion on the list.  However, failure of a 
person to receive the notice shall not invalidate any contract awarded in 
accordance with this Rule and shall not be a basis for a protest of any 
contract award.

(d) If the District has pre-qualified suppliers of maintenance services, then, at 
the option of the District, only those persons who have been pre-qualified 
will be eligible to submit bids, proposals, replies, and responses.

(e) In order to be eligible to submit a bid, proposal, reply, or response, a firm 
or individual must, at the time of receipt of the bids, proposals, replies, or 
responses:

(i) Hold the required applicable state professional licenses in good 
standing;

(ii) Hold all required applicable federal licenses in good standing, if any;



54

(iii) Hold a current and active Florida corporate charter or be authorized 
to do business in the State of Florida in accordance with Chapter 607 
of the Florida Statutes, if the vendor is a corporation; and

(iv) Meet any special pre-qualification requirements set forth in the 
Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or 
Competitive Solicitation.

Evidence of compliance with these Rules must be submitted with the bid, 
proposal, reply, or response if required by the District.  Failure to submit 
evidence of compliance when required may be grounds for rejection of the 
bid, proposal, reply, or response.

(f) Bids, proposals, replies, and responses shall be publicly opened at the time 
and place noted on the Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation 
to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation.  Bids, proposals, replies, and 
responses shall be evaluated in accordance with the respective Invitation 
to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive 
Solicitation, and these Rules. Minor variations in the bids, proposals, 
replies, and responses may be waived by the Board.  A variation is minor 
if waiver of the variation does not create a competitive advantage or 
disadvantage of a material nature.  Mistakes in arithmetic extension of 
pricing may be corrected by the Board.  Bids and proposals may not be 
modified or supplemented after opening; provided however, additional 
information may be requested and/or provided to evidence compliance, 
make non-material modifications, clarifications, or supplementations, and 
as otherwise permitted by Florida law.

(g) The lowest Responsive Bid submitted in response to an Invitation to Bid 
by a Responsive and Responsible Bidder shall be accepted.  In relation to 
a Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate or Competitive 
Solicitation the Board shall select the Responsive Proposal, Reply, or 
Response submitted by a Responsive and Responsible Vendor which is 
most advantageous to the District.  To assure full understanding of the 
responsiveness to the solicitation requirements contained in a Request for 
Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation, discussions 
may be conducted with qualified vendors.  Vendors shall be accorded fair 
treatment prior to the submittal date with respect to any opportunity for 
discussion, preparation, and revision of bids, proposals, replies, or 
responses.  

(h) The Board shall have the right to reject all bids, proposals, replies, or 
responses because they exceed the amount of funds budgeted for the 
purchase, if there are not enough to be competitive, or if rejection is 
determined to be in the best interest of the District.  No Vendor shall be 



55

entitled to recover any costs of bid, proposal, reply, or response 
preparation or submittal from the District.

(i) The Board may require bidders and proposers to furnish bid bonds, 
performance bonds, and/or other bonds with a responsible surety to be 
approved by the Board.

(j) Notice of intent to award, including rejection of some or all bids, 
proposals, replies, or responses shall be provided in writing to all vendors 
by United States Mail, hand delivery, facsimile, or overnight delivery 
service. The notice shall include the following statement:  "Failure to file a 
protest within the time prescribed in Rule 3.11 of the Rules of the District 
shall constitute a waiver of proceedings under those Rules," or wording to 
that effect.  Protests of the District’s procurement of maintenance services 
under this Rule shall be in accordance with the procedures set forth in 
Rule 3.11.

(k) If less than three (3) Responsive Bids, Proposals, Replies, or Responses 
are received, the District may purchase the maintenance services or may 
reject the bids, proposals, replies, or responses for a lack of 
competitiveness. If no Responsive Bid, Proposal, Reply, or Response is 
received, the District may take whatever steps reasonably necessary in 
order to proceed with the procurement of maintenance services, which 
steps may include a direct purchase of the maintenance services without 
further competitive selection processes. 

(3) Exemptions. Maintenance services that are only available from a single source 
are exempt from this Rule.  Maintenance services provided by governmental 
agencies are exempt from this Rule.  A contract for maintenance services is 
exempt from this Rule if state or federal law prescribes with whom the District 
must contract or if the rate of payment is established during the appropriation 
process.   

(4) Renewal. Contracts for the purchase of maintenance services subject to this Rule 
may be renewed for a period that may not exceed three (3) years or the term of the 
original contract, whichever period is longer.  

(5) Contracts; Public Records. In accordance with Florida law, each contract entered 
into pursuant to this Rule shall include provisions required by law that require the 
contractor to comply with public records laws.

(6) Emergency Purchases. The District may make an Emergency Purchase without 
complying with these rules.  The fact that an Emergency Purchase has occurred or 
is necessary shall be noted in the minutes of the next Board meeting.

Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), 190.033, Fla. Stat.
Law Implemented:  §§ 119.0701, 190.033, 287.017, Fla. Stat.



56

Rule 3.10 Contractual Services.

(1) Exemption from Competitive Purchase. Pursuant to Section 190.033(3) of the 
Florida Statutes, Contractual Services shall not be subject to competitive 
purchasing requirements.  If an agreement is predominantly for Contractual 
Services, but also includes maintenance services or the purchase of goods and 
services, the contract shall not be subject to competitive purchasing requirements.  
Regardless of whether an advertisement or solicitation for Contractual Services is 
identified as an Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, 
or Competitive Solicitation, no rights or remedies under these Rules, including 
but not limited to protest rights, are conferred on persons, firms, or vendors 
proposing to provide Contractual Services to the District.  

(2) Contracts; Public Records. In accordance with Florida law, each contract for 
Contractual Services shall include provisions required by law that require the 
contractor to comply with public records laws.

Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat.
Law Implemented:  §§ 119.0701, 190.011(3), 190.033, Fla. Stat.



57

Rule 3.11 Protests With Respect To Proceedings under Rules 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 
3.4, 3.5, 3.6, 3.8, and 3.9.

The resolution of any protests with respect to proceedings under Rules 3.1, 3.2, 
3.3, 3.4, 3.5, 3.6, 3.8, and 3.9 shall be in accordance with this Rule.

(1) Filing.

(a) With respect to a protest regarding qualifications, specifications, 
documentation, or other requirements contained in a Request for 
Qualifications, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Bid, or Competitive 
Solicitation issued by the District, the notice of protest shall be filed in 
writing within seventy-two (72) calendar hours (excluding Saturdays, 
Sundays, and state holidays) after the first advertisement of the Request 
for Qualifications, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Bid, or Competitive 
Solicitation.  A formal protest setting forth with particularity the facts and 
law upon which the protest is based shall be filed within seven (7) 
calendar days (including Saturdays, Sundays, and state holidays) after the 
initial notice of protest was filed. For purposes of this Rule, wherever 
applicable, filing will be perfected and deemed to have occurred upon 
receipt by the District. Failure to file a notice of protest shall constitute a 
waiver of all rights to protest the District’s intended decision.  Failure to 
file a formal written protest shall constitute an abandonment of the protest 
proceedings and shall automatically terminate the protest proceedings.

(b) Except for those situations covered by subsection (1)(a) of this Rule, any 
firm or person who is affected adversely by a District’s ranking or 
intended award under Rules 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 3.4, 3.5, 3.6, 3.8, or 3.9 and 
desires to contest the District’s ranking or intended award, shall file with 
the District a written notice of protest within seventy-two (72) calendar 
hours (excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and state holidays) after receipt of 
the notice of the District’s ranking or intended award.  A formal protest 
setting forth with particularity the facts and law upon which the protest is 
based shall be filed within seven (7) calendar days (including Saturdays, 
Sundays, and state holidays) after the initial notice of protest was filed. 
For purposes of this Rule, wherever applicable, filing will be perfected 
and deemed to have occurred upon receipt by the District. Failure to file a 
notice of protest shall constitute a waiver of all rights to protest the 
District’s ranking or intended award.  Failure to file a formal written 
protest shall constitute an abandonment of the protest proceedings and 
shall automatically terminate the protest proceedings.  

(c) If disclosed in the District’s competitive solicitation documents for a 
particular purchase under Rules 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 3.4, 3.5, 3.6, 3.8, or 3.9, the 
Board may require any person who files a notice of protest to post a 
protest bond in the amount equal to 1% of the anticipated contract amount 



58

that is the subject of the protest.  In the event the protest is successful, the 
protest bond shall be refunded to the protestor.  In the event the protest is 
unsuccessful, the protest bond shall be applied towards the District’s costs, 
expenses, and attorney’s fees associated with hearing and defending the 
protest. In the event the protest is settled by mutual agreement of the 
parties, the protest bond shall be distributed as agreed to by the District 
and protestor.

(d) The District does not accept documents filed by electronic mail or 
facsimile transmission.  Filings are only accepted during normal business 
hours.

(2) Contract Execution. Upon receipt of a notice of protest which has been timely 
filed, the District shall not execute the contract under protest until the subject of 
the protest is resolved.  However, if the District sets forth in writing particular 
facts and circumstances showing that delay incident to protest proceedings will 
jeopardize the funding for the project, will materially increase the cost of the 
project, or will create an immediate and serious danger to the public health, 
safety, or welfare, the contract may be executed.  

(3) Informal Proceeding. If the Board determines a protest does not involve a 
disputed issue of material fact, the Board may, but is not obligated to, schedule an 
informal proceeding to consider the protest.  Such informal proceeding shall be at 
a time and place determined by the Board.  Notice of such proceeding shall be 
sent via facsimile, United States Mail, or hand delivery to the protestor and any 
substantially affected persons or parties not less than three (3) calendar days prior 
to such informal proceeding.  Within thirty (30) calendar days following the 
informal proceeding, the Board shall issue a written decision setting forth the 
factual, legal, and policy grounds for its decision.

(4) Formal Proceeding. If the Board determines a protest involves disputed issues of 
material fact or if the Board elects not to use the informal proceeding process 
provided for in section (3) of this Rule, the District shall schedule a formal 
hearing to resolve the protest.  The Chairperson shall designate any member of the 
Board (including the Chairperson), District Manager, District Counsel, or other 
person as a hearing officer to conduct the hearing.  The hearing officer may:

(a) Administer oaths and affirmations;

(b) Rule upon offers of proof and receive relevant evidence;

(c) Regulate the course of the hearing, including any pre-hearing matters;

(d) Enter orders; and

(e) Make or receive offers of settlement, stipulation, and adjustment.



59

The hearing officer shall, within thirty (30) days after the hearing or receipt of the 
hearing transcript, whichever is later, file a recommended order which shall 
include a caption, time and place of hearing, appearances entered at the hearing, 
statement of the issues, findings of fact and conclusions of law, separately stated, 
and a recommendation for final District action.  The District shall allow each 
party fifteen (15) days in which to submit written exceptions to the recommended
order.  The District shall issue a final order within sixty (60) days after the filing 
of the recommended order.

(5) Intervenors. Other substantially affected persons may join the proceedings as 
intervenors on appropriate terms which shall not unduly delay the proceedings. 

(6) Rejection of all Qualifications, Bids, Proposals, Replies and Responses after 
Receipt of Notice of Protest. If the Board determines there was a violation of law, 
defect or an irregularity in the competitive solicitation process, or if the Board 
determines it is otherwise in the District’s best interest, the Board may reject all 
qualifications, bids, proposals, replies, and responses and start the competitive 
solicitation process anew.  If the Board decides to reject all qualifications, bids, 
proposals, replies, and responses and start the competitive solicitation process 
anew, any pending protests shall automatically terminate.

(7) Settlement. Nothing herein shall preclude the settlement of any protest under this 
Rule at any time.

Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat.
Law Implemented:  § 190.033, Fla. Stat.



60

Rule 4.0 Effective Date.

These Rules shall be effective _____________, 2018, except that no election of officers 
required by these Rules shall be required until after the next regular election for the Board.

Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat.
Law Implemented:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat.



EXHIBIT 20.



RESOLUTION 2018-18

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF PARKLAND 
PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT DESIGNATING A 
DATE, TIME AND LOCATION OF A PUBLIC HEARING REGARDING 
THE DISTRICT'S INTENT TO USE THE UNIFORM METHOD FOR THE 
LEVY, COLLECTION, AND ENFORCEMENT OF NON-AD VALOREM 
SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS AS AUTHORIZED BY SECTION 197.3632, 
FLORIDA STATUTES; AUTHORIZING THE PUBLICATION OF THE 
NOTICE OF SUCH HEARING; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

WHEREAS, Parkland Preserve Community Development District ("District") is a local unit 
of special-purpose government creating and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, being 
situated entirely within St. Johns County, Florida; and

WHEREAS, the District pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, is 
authorized to levy, collect and enforce certain special assessments, which include benefit and 
maintenance assessments and further authorizes the Board of Supervisors of the District ("Board") 
to levy, collect and enforce special assessments pursuant to Chapters 170 and 190, Florida Statutes.

WHEREAS, the District desires to use the Uniform Method for the levy, collection and 
enforcement of non-ad valorem special assessments authorized by Section 197.3632, Florida 
Statutes, ("Uniform Method").

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT:

1. PUBLIC HEARING. A Public Hearing will be held to adopt the Uniform Method 
on ______________, 2018, at      _.m., at 
________________________________________________.

2. PUBLICATION. The District Secretary is directed to publish notice of the hearing 
in accordance with Section 197.3632, Florida Statutes.

3. EFFECTIVE DATE. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its 
adoption.

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 16th day of April, 2018.

ATTEST: PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

___________________________ ______________________________
Secretary/Assistant Secretary Chairman



EXHIBIT 21



RESOLUTION 2018-19

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT RE-DESIGNATING A PUBLIC DEPOSITORY 
FOR FUNDS OF PARKLAND PRESERVE DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT, AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE

WHEREAS, Parkland Preserve Community Development District (“District”) is a local unit 
of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, being 
situated entirely within St. Johns County, Florida; and

WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (“Board”) is statutorily authorized to select 
a depository as defined in Section 280.02, Florida Statutes, which meets all the requirements of 
Chapter 280 and has been designated by the State Treasurer as a qualified public depository; and

WHEREAS, the District has heretofore delegated to a Treasurer the responsibility for 
handling public deposits; and

WHEREAS, the District, prior to making any public deposit, is required to furnish to the 
State Treasurer its official name, address, federal employer identification number, and the name of 
the person or persons responsible for establishing accounts; and

WHEREAS, the Board, having appointed a new Treasurer and other officers, is now in a 
position to re-select a public depository and to comply with the requirements for public depositors; 
and

WHEREAS, the Board wishes to designate a public depository for District funds.

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT:

1. DESIGNATION OF PUBLIC DEPOSITORY. Bank United is hereby designated 
as the public depository for funds of the District.

2. COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 280.17, FLORIDA STATUTES. In 
accordance with Section 280.17(2), Florida Statutes, the District’s Secretary is directed to take steps 
to:

(a) Ensure that the name of the District is on the account or certificate or other form 
provided to the District by the qualified public depository in a manner sufficient to 
identify that the account is a Florida public deposit.



(b) Execute the form prescribed by the Chief Financial Officer for identification of each 
public deposit account and obtain acknowledgment of receipt on the form from the 
qualified public depository at the time of opening the account. 

(c) Maintain the current public deposit identification and acknowledgment form as a 
valuable record.

3. FILING REQUIREMENTS. The District’s Treasurer, upon assuming 
responsibility for handling the funds of the District, is directed to furnish to the Chief Financial 
Officer annually, not later than November 30th, the information required in accordance with Section 
280.17(6), Florida Statutes, and otherwise take the necessary steps to ensure that all other 
requirements of Section 280.17, Florida Statutes, have been met.

4. EFFECTIVE DATE. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its 
adoption.

PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 16th DAY OF April, 2018.

PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

CHAIRMAN

ATTEST:

ASSISTANT SECRETARY



EXHIBIT 22



RESOLUTION 2018-20 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT DESIGNATING THE AUTHORIZED 
SIGNATORIES FOR THE DISTRICT’S OPERATING BANK 
ACCOUNT(S), AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
WHEREAS, Parkland Preserve Community Development District (“District”) is  a local 

unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, 
being situated entirely within St. Johns County, Florida; and 
 

WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (“Board”) has selected a depository as 
defined in Section 280.02, Florida Statutes, which meets all the requirements of Chapter 280 and has 
been designated by the State Treasurer as a qualified public depository; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Board desires now to authorize signatories for the operating bank 
account(s). 
 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 

 
1. AUTHORIZED SIGNATORIES.  The Treasurer and Assistant Treasurer are hereby 

designated as authorized signatories for the operating bank accounts of the District. 
 
2. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its 

adoption. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 16th  DAY OF April, 2018. 
 
       PARKLAND PRESERVE 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT 

 
 

        
CHAIRMAN 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
                                                              
ASSISTANT SECRETARY 



EXHIBIT 23



RESOLUTION 2018-21

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF PARKLAND 
PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT AUTHORIZING 
THE DISBURSEMENT OF FUNDS FOR PAYMENT OF CERTAIN 
CONTINUING EXPENSES WITHOUT PRIOR APPROVAL OF THE 
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS; AUTHORIZING THE DISBURSEMENT OF 
FUNDS FOR PAYMENT OF CERTAIN NON-CONTINUING EXPENSES 
WITHOUT PRIOR APPROVAL OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS; 
PROVIDING FOR A MONETARY THRESHOLD; AND PROVIDING 
FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE

WHEREAS, the Parkland Preserve Community Development District (“District”) is a 
local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida 
Statutes, being situated in St. Johns County, Florida; and

WHEREAS, Section 190.011(5), Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt 
resolutions which may be necessary for the conduct of District business; and

WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (“Board”) meets as necessary to 
conduct the business of the District, including authorizing the payment of District operating and
maintenance expenses; and

WHEREAS, the Board may establish monthly, quarterly or other meeting dates not on a 
monthly basis, or may cancel scheduled meetings from time to time; and

WHEREAS, to conduct the business of the District in an efficient manner, recurring, 
non-recurring and other disbursements for goods and services must be processed and paid in a 
timely manner; and

WHEREAS, the Board determines this Resolution is in the best interest of the District 
and is necessary for the efficient conduct of District business; the health, safety, and welfare of 
the residents within the District; and the preservation of District assets or facilities.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT:

1. CONTINUING EXPENSES. The Board hereby authorizes the payment of 
invoices of continuing expenses, which meet the following requirements:

1. The invoices must be due on or before the next scheduled meeting of the Board.
2. The invoice must be pursuant to a contract or agreement authorized by the Board.
3. The total amount paid under such contract or agreement, including the current 

invoice, must be equal to or less than the amount specified in the contract or 
agreement.

4. The invoice amount will not cause payments to exceed the adopted budget of the 
District.



2. NON-CONTINUING EXPENSES.  The Board hereby authorizes the 
disbursement of funds for payment of invoices of non-continuing expenses which are 1) required 
to provide for the health, safety, and welfare of the residents within the District; or 2) required to 
repair, control, or maintain a District facility or asset beyond the normal, usual, or customary 
maintenance required for such facility or assets, pursuant to the following schedule:

Non-Continuing Expenses Not Exceeding $5,000 - with approval of the 
District Manager;
Non-Continuing Expenses Exceeding $5,000 - with approval of the 
District Manager and Chairman of the Board.

3. BOARD RATIFICATION. Any payment made pursuant to the Resolution shall 
be submitted to the Board at the next scheduled meeting for approval and ratification.

4. EFFECTIVE DATE. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon 
its adoption.

PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 16th DAY OF April, 2018.

ATTEST: PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

Secretary Chairman



EXHIBIT 24



PARKLAND PRESERVE 
Funding Request #1 

Appraisal Report $ 4,500.00 
DPFG - 3 months of Management $ 2,500.00 
Legal - Estimated $ 8,500.00 
Advertisements $ 2,000.00 
Web Site - 3 months $ 240.00 
Department of Economic Opportunity $ 175.00 
Misc. $ 2,085.00 

Total $ 20,000.00 



EXHIBIT 25



BOND FINANCING TEAM FUNDING AGREEMENT

THIS BOND FINANCING TEAM FUNDING AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is 
made and entered into this 16th day of April, 2018, by and between:

PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, a
local unit of special-purpose government established pursuant to Chapter 190, 
Florida Statutes, and located in St. Johns County, Florida ("District"), and

NGMB PROPERTIES, LLC, a Florida limited liability company and a 
landowner in the District with a mailing address of 1478 Riverplace Boulevard, 
Suite 1808, Jacksonville, Florida 32207 ("Developer").

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the District was established by an ordinance adopted by the County 
Commission of St. Johns County, Florida, for the purpose of planning, financing, constructing, 
operating and/or maintaining certain infrastructure; and

WHEREAS, the District presently expects to access the public bond market to provide 
for the financing of certain capital improvements, facilities, and services to benefit the lands 
within the District; and

WHEREAS, the District and the Developer desire to enter into this Agreement to 
provide funds to enable the District to commence its financing program.

NOW, THEREFORE, based upon good and valuable consideration and the mutual 
covenants of the parties, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the 
parties agree as follows:

1. PROVISION OF FUNDS. Developer agrees to make available to the District 
such monies as are necessary to proceed with the issuance of bonds or other indebtedness to fund 
the District’s improvements, facilities and services.

A. Developer agrees to provide to the District any such monies upon receipt 
of an invoice from the District requesting such funds.  Such funds, and all future funds provided 
pursuant to this Agreement, may be supplied by check, cash, wire transfer or other form of 
payment deemed satisfactory in the sole discretion of the District as determined by the District 
Manager.  The District agrees to authorize District staff, including the District Engineer, District 
Manager, and District Counsel to proceed with the work contemplated by this Agreement, and to 
retain a Bond Counsel and Financial Advisor and other professional assistance as may be 
necessary to proceed with the work contemplated by this Agreement.

B. Developer and the District agree that all fees, costs or other expenses 
incurred by the District for the services of the District’s Engineer, Counsel, Financial Advisor or 



2

other professionals, for the work contemplated by this Agreement shall be paid solely from the 
funds provided by Developer pursuant to this Agreement.  Such payments shall be made in 
accordance with the District's normal invoice and payment procedures.  The District agrees that 
any funds provided by Developer pursuant to this Agreement shall be used solely for fees, costs, 
and expenses arising from or related to the work contemplated by this Agreement.

C. The District agrees to provide to Developer, on a monthly basis, copies of 
all invoices, requisitions, or other bills for which payment is to be made from the funds provided 
by Developer.  The District agrees to provide to Developer, monthly, a statement from the 
District Manager showing funds on deposit prior to payment, payments made, and funds 
remaining on deposit with the District.

D. Developer agrees to provide funds within fifteen (15) days of receipt of 
written notification from the District Manager of the need for such funds. 

E. In the event that Developer fails to provide any such funds pursuant to this 
Agreement, Developer and the District agree the work may be halted until such time as sufficient 
funds are provided by Developer to ensure payment of the costs, fees or expenses which may be 
incurred in the performance of such work. 

2. TERMINATION. Developer and District agree that Developer may terminate 
this Agreement without cause by providing ten (10) days written notice of termination to the 
District.  Any such termination by Developer is contingent upon Developer's provision of
sufficient funds to cover any and all fees, costs or expenses incurred by the District in connection 
with the work to be performed under this Agreement as of the date by when notice of termination 
is received.  Developer and the District agree that the District may terminate this Agreement due 
to a failure of Developer to provide funds in accordance with Section 1 of this Agreement,  by 
providing ten (10) days written notice of termination to Developer; provided, however, that the 
Developer shall be provided a reasonable opportunity to cure any such failure.

3. CAPITALIZATION. The parties agree that all funds provided by Developer 
pursuant to this Agreement may be reimbursable from proceeds of District financing for capital 
improvements, and that within forty-five (45) days of receipt of the proceeds by the District of 
bonds or notes for the District's capital projects, the District shall reimburse Developer in full, 
exclusive of interest, for these advances; provided, however, that in the event Bond Counsel 
determines that any such monies are not properly reimbursable, such funds shall be deemed paid 
in lieu of taxes or assessments.  In the event that District bonds are not issued within five (5) 
years of the date of this Agreement, all funds provided by Developer pursuant to this Agreement 
shall be deemed paid in lieu of taxes or assessments. 

4. DEFAULT. A default by either party under this Agreement shall entitle the other 
to all remedies available at law or in equity, which may include, but not be limited to, the right of 
damages, injunctive relief and/or specific performance.  



3

5. ENFORCEMENT OF AGREEMENT. In the event that either party is required 
to enforce this Agreement by court proceedings or otherwise, then the prevailing party shall be 
entitled to recover all fees and costs incurred, including reasonable attorney’s fees and costs for 
trial, alternative dispute resolution, or appellate proceedings.

6. AGREEMENT. This instrument shall constitute the final and complete 
expression of this Agreement between the parties relating to the subject matter of this 
Agreement.

7. AMENDMENTS. Amendments to and waivers of the provisions contained in 
this Agreement may be made only by an instrument in writing which is executed by both of the 
parties hereto.

8. AUTHORIZATION. The execution of this Agreement has been duly authorized 
by the appropriate body or official of all parties hereto, each party has complied with all the 
requirements of law, and each party has full power and authority to comply with the terms and 
provisions of this instrument.

9. NOTICES. All notices, requests, consents and other communications hereunder 
("Notices") shall be in writing and shall be delivered, mailed by First Class Mail, postage 
prepaid, or overnight delivery service, to the parties, as follows:

A.  If to District: Parkland Preserve Community Development 
District
DPFG Management & Consulting, LLC
250 International Parkway Ste. 280
Lake Mary FL  32746
Attn: District Manager

With a copy to: Hopping Green & Sams, P.A.
119 S. Monroe Street, Suite 300
Tallahassee, Florida 32301
Attn: Jere L. Earlywine

B.         If to Developer: NGMB Properties, LLC
1478 Riverplace Boulevard, Suite 1808
Jacksonville, Florida 32207
Attn: ____________________

Except as otherwise provided herein, any Notice shall be deemed received only upon actual 
delivery at the address set forth herein.  Notices delivered after 5:00 p.m. (at the place of 
delivery) or on a non-business day, shall be deemed received on the next business day.  If any 
time for giving Notice contained in this Agreement would otherwise expire on a non-business 
day, the Notice period shall be extended to the next succeeding business day.  Saturdays, 
Sundays and legal holidays recognized by the United States government shall not be regarded as 



4

business days.  Counsel for the parties may deliver Notice on behalf of the parties.  Any party or 
other person to whom Notices are to be sent or copied may notify the other parties and 
addressees of any change in name or address to which Notices shall be sent by providing the 
same on five (5) days written notice to the parties and addressees set forth herein.

10. THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES. This Agreement is solely for the benefit of 
the parties herein and no right or cause of action shall accrue upon or by reason hereof, to or for 
the benefit of any third party not a party hereto.  Nothing in this Agreement expressed or implied 
is intended or shall be construed to confer upon any person or corporation other than the parties 
hereto any right, remedy or claim under or by reason of this Agreement or any provisions or 
conditions hereof; and all of the provisions, representations, covenants and conditions herein 
contained shall inure to the sole benefit of and shall be binding upon the parties hereto and their 
respective representatives, successors and assigns.

11. ASSIGNMENT. Neither party may assign this Agreement or any monies to 
become due hereunder without the prior written approval of the other party.

12. CONTROLLING LAW. This Agreement and the provisions contained herein 
shall be construed, interpreted and controlled according to the laws of the State of Florida.

13. EFFECTIVE DATE. The Agreement shall be effective after execution by both 
parties hereto and shall remain in effect unless terminated by either of the parties hereto.

14. PUBLIC RECORDS. Developer understands and agrees that all documents of 
any kind provided to the District or to District Staff in connection with the work contemplated 
under this Agreement are public records and are treated as such in accordance with Florida law.

[REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]



5

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties execute this Agreement to be effective the day 
and year first written above.

PARKLAND PRESERVE
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT

____________________________________
Chairman, Board of Supervisors

NGMB PROPERTIES, LLC

___________________________________
By: ________________________________
Its: ________________________________



EXHIBIT 26



RESOLUTION 2018-22 
 

RESOLUTION APPOINTING BOND COUNSEL IN 
CONTEMPLATION OF THE ISSUANCE OF THE 
PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT SPECIAL ASSESSMENT REVENUE BONDS 

 
WHEREAS, Parkland Preserve Community Development District (hereinafter the 

“District”) is a local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to 
Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, being situated entirely within St. Johns County, Florida; and 

 
WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (hereinafter the “Board”) desires to 

appoint Bond Counsel to advise it regarding the proposed validation and issuance of special 
assessment revenue bonds and other financing methods for District improvements; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board determined that the employment of Bond Counsel is 

necessary and is in the District’s best interests. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT: 

 
Section 1.  All of the representations, findings and determinations contained above are 

recognized as true and accurate, and are expressly incorporated into this Resolution. 
 

Section 2.  The Board hereby appoints Akerman LLP as Bond Counsel for the District 
and agrees to provide compensation for same in the amount and manner prescribed in the 
agreement incorporated herein as Exhibit “A”. 

 
Section 3.  If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the 

other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 

Section 4.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain 
in effect unless rescinded or repealed. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 16th DAY OF APRIL, 2018. 

 
PARKLAND PRESERVE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT 

 
 
ATTEST:             
       CHAIRMAN 
 
       
ASSISTANT SECRETARY 



 

EXHIBIT A
 











EXHIBIT 27



RESOLUTION 2018-23 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
APPOINTING UNDERWRITER SERVICES & G17 DISCLOSURE IN 
CONTEMPLATION OF THE ISSUANCE OF THE PARKLAND 
PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT SPECIAL 
ASSESSMENT REVENUE BONDS 

 
WHEREAS, Parkland Preserve Community Development District (hereinafter the 

“District”) is a local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 
190, Florida Statutes, being situated entirely within St. Johns County, Florida; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District (hereinafter the “Board”) desires 

to appoint an Investment Banker to advise it regarding the proposed issuance of Special 
Assessment Revenue Bonds and other financing methods for District improvements. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

OF PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 
 

Section 1. The Board hereby appoints FMS Bonds as Underwriter Services & G17 
Disclosure of the District, and shall be compensated for their services in such capacity in the 
manner prescribed in the agreement incorporated herein as Exhibit “A”. 
 

Section 2.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 16th DAY OF APRIL, 2018. 

 
PARKLAND PRESERVE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT 

 
 
 
ATTEST:             

CHAIRMAN 
 
 
       
ASSISTANT SECRETARY 















EXHIBIT 28



RESOLUTION 2018-24

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF PARKLAND 
PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT APPOINTING A 
TRUSTEE IN CONTEMPLATION OF THE ISSUANCE OF PARKLAND 
PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT SPECIAL 
ASSESSMENT REVENUE BONDS

WHEREAS, Parkland Preserve Community Development District (“District”) is a local unit 
of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, being 
situated entirely within St. Johns County, Florida; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District (“Board”) desires to appoint The Bank 
of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee, Registrar, Paying Agent, and Authenticating 
Agent of the District; and

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT:

Section 1. All  of the above representations,  findings  and determinations  contained above  
are  recognized  as  true  and  accurate,  and  are  expressly  incorporated  into  this resolution.

Section 2. The Board hereby appoints The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., 
as Trustee of the District, and shall be compensated for their services in such capacity in the manner 
prescribed in the agreement incorporated herein as Exhibit “A”.

Section 3. If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the other 
provisions shall remain in full force and effect.

Section 4. This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain in effect
unless rescinded or repealed.

PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 16th DAY OF APRIL 2018.

ATTEST:

ASSISTANT SECRETARY

PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

CHAIRMAN



 

EXHIBIT A
 



 

 

 
 
 
  
 
 
       

Parkland Preserve 
Community Development District, Series 2018 

       
Date: April 13, 2018 

INTERNAL USE ONLY 

 

Presented By: 

BNY Mellon Corporate Trust 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Fee Schedule for the following:  
 
• Trustee 

• Paying Agent 

• Registrar 
 

 

 

 
 
 



BNY Mellon Corporate Trust     
Fee Schedule for Parkland Preserve Community Development District, Series 2018 
 

 PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL 
The information contained within this Fee Schedule is the proprietary information of The Bank of New York Mellon and is confidential. Except as otherwise 
provided by law, this document, either in whole or in part, must not be reproduced or disclosed to others or used for purposes other than that for which it has 
been supplied without the prior written permission of The Bank of New York Mellon. 

2 
 

Fee Schedule 
Subject to the Terms and Disclosures below, upon appointment of The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. (“BNYM” or 
“us” or “affiliates” or “subsidiaries”) in the roles as outlined within this Fee Schedule (this “Fee Schedule”), Parkland Preserve CDD 
(“Customer”) shall be responsible for the payment of the fees, expenses and charges as set forth herein. Fees are payable or accrue 
at the time of the execution of the governing documents (the “Transaction Documents”) in connection with the closing of the 
transaction (the “Transaction”) which is the subject of this Fee Schedule. 

General Fees 

Acceptance Fee $2,000  

The Transaction Acceptance Fee is payable at the time of the execution of the governing documents in connection with the closing 
of the transaction which is the subject of this Agreement (the “Transaction”), and compensates BNYM for the following: review of 
all supporting documents, initial establishment of the required accounts and Know Your Customer checks.  
 

Annual Trustee Fee $4,000  

An annual fee covering the duties and responsibilities related to account administration, which may include maintenance of 
accounts on various systems and the monitoring of issuer compliance.  This fee is payable in advance for the year and shall not be 
prorated. 
 

Annual Construction Fund Administration Fee $2,000  

A charge covering the duties and responsibilities associated with the administration of a construction fund.  This fee is payable 
annually, in advance, during the construction period only. 
 

Activity Fees  If Applicable  

OTHER SERVICES/ACTIVITY CHARGES WILL BE CHARGED, IF APPLICABLE 
 

Audit Confirmation $50 per audit 
 

Online NEXEN System Waived  

Charges for use and training of BNYM online system NEXEN. 
 

Arbitrage Rebate  Please Call For Quote 

Delivered by a highly experienced team of professionals, our arbitrage rebate compliance services are designed to help maximize 
allowable investment returns on your bond funds and minimize or eliminate your arbitrage liability. When BNYM is the trustee 
and/or paying agent for your tax-exempt bonds, we simplify the process and provide seamless arbitrage reporting and information. 
 

Investment Compensation   
With respect to investments in money market mutual funds for which BNYM provides shareholder services, BNYM (or its affiliates) 
may receive fees from the mutual funds (or their affiliates) for shareholder services as set forth in the Authorization and Direction 
to Invest Cash Balances in Money Market Mutual Funds or other similar fees described in the fund prospectus.   
 



BNY Mellon Corporate Trust     
Fee Schedule for Parkland Preserve Community Development District, Series 2018 
 

 PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL 
The information contained within this Fee Schedule is the proprietary information of The Bank of New York Mellon and is confidential. Except as otherwise 
provided by law, this document, either in whole or in part, must not be reproduced or disclosed to others or used for purposes other than that for which it has 
been supplied without the prior written permission of The Bank of New York Mellon. 

3 
 

Investment Agreement/Repurchase/Forward 
Purchase Agreement (if applicable)   

BNYM will assess a setup fee of $500 and an annual fee of $1,000 covering the review and negotiation of each investment agreement 
or repurchase agreement and ongoing administration of each agreement.  
In addition, the fees and expenses of BNYM’s Counsel incurred in connection with the review and negotiation will be billed at the 
actual amount of fees and expenses charged by Counsel.   
 

Counsel Fees - Internal  $1,500 per Legal Opinion, if applicable  
 *If a legal opinion is to be provided by BNYM internal counsel, Customer will be charged the amount of $1,500, and such amount 
will be payable upon the closing of the Transaction.  In the event that the Transaction is terminated prior to closing, Customer will 
remain responsible for charges for BNYM counsel time incurred up to and including the termination date. 
 

Extraordinary Services/Miscellaneous Fees  At Cost  

The charges for performing extraordinary or other services not contemplated at the time of the execution of the Transaction 
Documents or not specifically covered elsewhere in this schedule will be commensurate with the service to be provided and may 
be charged in BNY Mellon’s sole discretion.  If it is contemplated that BNY Mellon hold/and or value collateral, additional acceptance, 
administration and counsel review fees will be applicable to the agreement governing such services.  If the bonds are converted to 
certificated form, additional annual fees will be charged for any applicable tender agent and/or registrar/paying agent 
services.  Additional information will be provided at such time.  If all outstanding bonds of a series are defeased or redeemed, or 
BNY Mellon is removed as paying agent prior to the maturity of the bonds, a termination fee may be assessed at that time. 
 
Miscellaneous fees and expenses may include, but are not necessarily limited to supplemental agreements, tender processing, the 
preparation and distribution of sinking fund redemption notices, optional redemptions, failed remarketing processing, preparation 
of special or interim reports, UCC filing fees, auditor confirmation fees, wire transfer fees, Letter of Credit drawdown fees, 
transaction fees to settle third-party trades, and reconcilement fees to balance trust account balances to third-party investment 
provider statements.  Counsel, accountants, special agents and others will be charged at the actual amount of fees and expenses 
billed. FDIC or other governmental charges will be passed along as incurred. Reimbursement will be required for any out-of-pocket 
expenses and will be invoiced to the Customer at cost. 
 
Customer agrees to reimburse BNYM for extraordinary expenses incurred by it in connection with the Transaction to the extent 
permitted by law. 
 
Unless specifically listed in this Fee Schedule, the fees, expenses and disbursements of BNYM legal counsel are not included in the 
charges listed above. 
 
Default Administration  
If an event of default occurs under the Transaction Documents, the services of each employee of BNYM administering such default 
will be charged at the prevailing hourly rate for default administration services as set out from time to time. In addition, all of BNYM’s 
costs and expenses including but not limited to any legal costs, travel costs and applicable taxes shall be charged to Customer.  
 
Negative Interest Rates – Charges 
With respect to any funds invested by BNYM in connection with the Transaction, if:  (i) any recognized overnight benchmark rate or 
any official overnight interest rate set by a central bank or other monetary authority is negative or zero; or (ii) any market 
counterparty or other institution applies a negative interest rate or any related charge to any account or balance of BNYM or any 
account or balance opened for You by BNYM, BNYM may apply a charge to any of Your accounts or balances.  BNYM will give you 
prompt written notice of the application of any such charges.   You acknowledge and agree that the application of such a charge by 
BNYM may cause the effective interest rate applicable to your account or balance to be negative, notwithstanding that one or more 
of the rates set by third parties specified in clauses (i) and (ii) above may be positive. 



BNY Mellon Corporate Trust     
Fee Schedule for Parkland Preserve Community Development District, Series 2018 
 

 PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL 
The information contained within this Fee Schedule is the proprietary information of The Bank of New York Mellon and is confidential. Except as otherwise 
provided by law, this document, either in whole or in part, must not be reproduced or disclosed to others or used for purposes other than that for which it has 
been supplied without the prior written permission of The Bank of New York Mellon. 

4 
 

Terms and Disclosures 
 

General 
BNYM’s final acceptance of its appointment pursuant to the Transaction Documents is subject to the full review and approval of all 
related documentation and standard Know Your Customer procedures. In the event that this Transaction does not proceed with 
BNYM in the roles contemplated by this Fee Schedule and the Transaction Documents, Customer will be responsible for payment of 
any external counsel fees and expenses and out-of-pocket expenses which BNYM may have incurred up to and including the 
termination date.  

 
Customer shall be responsible for filing any applicable information returns with the U.S. Department of Treasury, Internal Revenue 
Service in connection with payments made by BNYM to vendors who have not performed services for BNYM's benefit under the 
various bond or note issuances or other undertakings contemplated by this Fee Schedule. 
 
The Bank of New York Mellon Corporation is a global financial organization that operates in and provides services and products to 
clients through its affiliates and subsidiaries located in multiple jurisdictions (the “BNY Mellon Group”).  The BNY Mellon Group may 
(i) centralize in one or more affiliates and subsidiaries certain activities (the “Centralized Functions”), including audit, accounting, 
administration, risk management, legal, compliance, sales, product communication, relationship management, and the compilation 
and analysis of information and data regarding Customer (which, for purposes of this provision, includes the name and business 
contact information for Customer employees and representatives) and the accounts established pursuant to the Transaction 
Documents (“Customer Information”) and (ii) use third party service providers to store, maintain and process Customer Information 
(“Outsourced Functions”).  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained elsewhere in this Fee Schedule or the Transaction 
Documents and solely in connection with the Centralized Functions and/or Outsourced Functions, Customer consents to the 
disclosure of, and authorizes BNY Mellon to disclose, Customer Information to (i) other members of the BNY Mellon Group (and 
their respective officers, directors and employees) and to (ii) third-party service providers (but solely in connection with Outsourced 
Functions) who are required to maintain the confidentiality of Customer Information.  In addition, the BNY Mellon Group may 
aggregate Customer Information with other data collected and/or calculated by the BNY Mellon Group, and the BNY Mellon Group 
will own all such aggregated data, provided that the BNY Mellon Group shall not distribute the aggregated data in a format that 
identifies Customer Information with Customer specifically.  Customer represents that it is authorized to consent to the foregoing 
and that the disclosure of Customer Information in connection with the Centralized Functions and/or Outsourced Functions does 
not violate any relevant data protection legislation.  Customer also consents to the disclosure of Customer Information to 
governmental and regulatory authorities in jurisdictions where the BNY Mellon Group operates and otherwise as required by law. 

 
Please note the fees quoted in this Fee Schedule are based upon the information available at the present time. Further quotes may 
be provided once the structure of the deal has been finalized. Annual Fees cover a period of one year and any portion thereof and 
are not subject to pro-ration. Fees may be subject to adjustment during the life of the engagement. 

 
Advance Fees 
BNYM requires that Customer agree to the fees quoted in this Fee Schedule prior to the commencement of any work or the provision 
of any services by BNYM in relation to the Transaction. In the event that BNYM provides any services to Customer prior to your 
agreement to the fees quoted herein, the commencement of such work or the provision of such services shall not be deemed to 
constitute a waiver of the fees listed in this Fee Schedule. BNYM reserves the right to cease providing services until such time as 
Customer agrees to the fees quoted herein. BNYM reserves the right to request that any and all fees due and payable pursuant to 
this Fee Schedule and related in any way to the Transaction are paid in advance (either in whole or in part) prior to the provision of 
any services.  

 
 
 
 
 
 



BNY Mellon Corporate Trust     
Fee Schedule for Parkland Preserve Community Development District, Series 2018 
 

 PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL 
The information contained within this Fee Schedule is the proprietary information of The Bank of New York Mellon and is confidential. Except as otherwise 
provided by law, this document, either in whole or in part, must not be reproduced or disclosed to others or used for purposes other than that for which it has 
been supplied without the prior written permission of The Bank of New York Mellon. 

5 
 

Acceptance/Revocation of Offer 
You may agree to the fees quoted herein by (i) executing this Fee Schedule and returning it to us, (ii) closing the Transaction, or (iii) 
instructing us or continuing to instruct us after receipt of this Fee Schedule.  Upon the earlier to occur of (i), (ii) and (iii), the fees 
quoted herein shall be deemed accepted by you.  If you agree to the fees quoted herein, the terms of this Fee Schedule shall 
supersede any prior fees quoted with respect to the Transaction.  BNYM may revoke the terms of this Fee Schedule if the Transaction 
does not close within three months from the date of this Fee Schedule. Should the Transaction fail to close for any reason, a 
termination fee equal to BNYM’s Acceptance Fee, any external counsel fees, expenses and disbursements and all out-of-pocket 
expenses will apply.  
 
Confidential Information  
Except as otherwise provided by law, all information provided to Customer by BNYM must remain confidential and may not be 
intentionally disclosed, reproduced, copied, published, or displayed in any form to any third party without BNYM’s prior written 
approval.  

 
Customer Notice Required By the USA Patriot Act  
To help the U.S. government fight the funding of terrorism and money laundering activities, US Federal law requires all financial 
institutions to obtain, verify and record information that identifies each person (whether an individual or organization) for which a 
relationship is established. When Customer establishes a relationship with BNYM, we will ask Customer to provide certain 
information (and documents) that will help us to identify Customer.  We will ask for your organization’s name, physical address, tax 
identification or other government registration number and other information that will help us identify Customer. We may also ask 
for a Certificate of Incorporation or similar document or other pertinent identifying documentation for your type of organization. 
 
Parkland Preserve CDD hereby accepts and agrees to the fees and the terms and conditions set forth in 
this Fee Schedule. 

  

By: ____________________________________ 

Name:  ____________________________________ (Print name in full) 

Title: ____________________________________ 

Date: ____________________________________ 

 



EXHIBIT 29



 

 
April 2018 

 
PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
St. Johns County 

 

District Engineer’s Report 
Master Capital Improvement Plan 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Prepared by: 

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. 
Jacksonville, Florida 
 
 
 





       Parkland Preserve Community Development District 
  District Engineer’s Report 

 Page 1 April 16, 2018 

Table of Contents 
 
1. Introduction ............................................................................................................................ 2 

A. Description of the Parkland Preserve Community Development District ............................ 2 

B. Purpose and Scope of Report ............................................................................................. 2 

 
2. District Boundary and Property ........................................................................................... 3 

A. District Boundary ................................................................................................................. 3 

B. Description of Property ........................................................................................................ 3 

C. Existing Infrastructure .......................................................................................................... 3 

 
3. Proposed District Infrastructure .......................................................................................... 4 

A. Roadways ............................................................................................................................ 4 

B. Utilities ................................................................................................................................. 5 

C. Earthwork ............................................................................................................................. 5 

D. Storm Water Management .................................................................................................. 5 

E. Landscaping and Irrigation Improvements .......................................................................... 5 

F. Signage, Lighting, and Underground Electric ...................................................................... 6 

G. Conservation and Mitigation ................................................................................................ 6 

H. Amenity, Recreation, and Hardscape Improvements .......................................................... 6 

 
4. Opinion of Preliminary Probable Construction Costs ....................................................... 7 
 
5. List of Approvals to Date ...................................................................................................... 8 
 

Attachments 

Exhibit A – Vicinity Map 

Exhibit B – District Boundary 

Exhibit C – Site Plan 

Exhibit D – Legal Description 

 

  



       Parkland Preserve Community Development District 
  District Engineer’s Report 

 Page 2 April 16, 2018 

1. Introduction 
 

A. Description of the Parkland Preserve Community Development District 
The Parkland Preserve Community Development District (the “District”) is located within 
portions of Sections 2, 3, 10 & 11, Township 6 South, Range 28 East in St. Johns County, 
Florida.  The District is bounded on the North by undeveloped lands, on the West by the 
Interstate 95 and undeveloped lands, on the East by the Banan Lakes Subdivision, and on 
the South by International Golf Parkway and Parkland Trail.  A location map is included as 
Exhibit “A” along with the District boundary as Exhibit B.  The District will consist of 
residential, recreation, and drainage facilities as indicated in Exhibit C.  The District 
infrastructure will be constructed in one or more phases as determined by the District. The 
District legal description is included as Exhibit D.  The breakdown of land uses is noted 
below in Table 1.  

 
Table 1 

Summary of Land Uses 
Proposed Parkland Preserve Community Development District 

 
Land Use Gross Acres Percentage 
Single Family Lots 63.50 23.8% 
Amenity Tract 4.40 1.6% 
Right of Way 21.30 8.0% 
Ponds/Drainage Facilities 21.79 8.2% 
Buffers/Common Areas 8.40 3.1% 
Preservation/Conservation Areas 148.00 55.3% 
TOTAL 267.39 100.0% 

 
B. Purpose and Scope of Report 

The purpose and scope of this report is to provide a description of the District and capital 
improvements to be constructed and financed by the District.  The District’s financial 

advisor will develop the financing and assessment methodology.   
 
The total capital improvement program (“CIP”) for the District is estimated to cost 
$13,875,000 plus land acquisition costs in the approximate amount of $2,500,000.  The 
breakdown of this amount is shown in Table 2 on page 7.  Infrastructure construction will 
be undertaken in one or more phases as determined by the District.  The CIP, estimated 
at $13,875,000, will be funded with proceeds from the issuance of tax exempt bonds and/or 
developer funding.  As of the date of this report, no portions of the assets have been funded 
or completed, though designs and other work product are being prepared.  

 
 



       Parkland Preserve Community Development District 
  District Engineer’s Report 

 Page 3 April 16, 2018 

2. District Boundary and Property 
 

A. District Boundary 
Exhibit “B” delineates the proposed District, which consists of approximately 267.39 acres.  
The District is bounded on the North by undeveloped lands, on the West by Interstate 95 
and undeveloped lands, on the East by the Banan Lakes Subdivision, and on the South by 
International Golf Parkway and Parkland Trail.   

 
B. Description of Property 

The property within the District is located within St. Johns County within portions of 
Sections 2, 3, 10 & 11, Township 6 South, Range 28 East.  The District falls within the 
Saint Johns Development of Regional Impact (DRI) and the Interchange Parcels Planned 
Unit Development (PUD) approved by the County.  The DRI and PUD approvals are for 
development of the proposed age-restricted community and associated amenities within 
the District boundary, and the property within the District is zoned PUD which allows for 
the residential uses proposed.  
 
The existing land slopes towards various existing wetlands within and bounding the District.  
The site is heavily wooded with pine trees.  There are wet retention ponds located to the 
west and to the south of the property.  Existing water table levels range from being above 
ground to depths 4 feet below grade.   

 
C. Existing Infrastructure 

The District is located within the St. Johns County Utility Department (SJCUD) service area.  
Adjacent to Parkland Trail, SJCUD has an existing 16-inch potable water main and 10-inch 
wastewater force main.  Connections for these services will be designed and permitted in 
accordance SJCUD standard procedures.  
 
The water and sewer service will be provided by the Northwest Water Treatment Plant 
facilities, operated by SJCUD. 
 
Parkland Trail is an existing four lane paved roadway.  The District’s access point will be 

the extension of Parkland Trail consistent with St. Johns County and PUD criteria.  
 
The District is located within the service area of Florida Power and Light, Comcast Cable, 
and Verizon.  Service is available from these providers and they are expected to serve the 
property owners throughout development. 
 
Conservation of wetland areas and associated upland buffers have been approved for 
specified areas throughout the District as part of the existing St. Johns River Water 
Management District (SJRWMD) and US Army Corps of Engineers (USACOE) permitting.  
Wetland impacts are offset by the conservation areas and include upland buffers as part 
of the SJRWMD and USACOE permitting. 

  



       Parkland Preserve Community Development District 
  District Engineer’s Report 

 Page 4 April 16, 2018 

3. Proposed District Infrastructure 
 

Lot Summary (Approximate) 
 

363 single-family age-restricted lots 
 
 

 
Summary of Proposed District Infrastructure 

 
The District CIP will be completed in one or more phases and will generally consist of the following 
categories: 
 
• Roadways 
• Utilities 
• Earthwork 
• Storm Water Management 
• Landscaping and Irrigation Improvements 
• Signage, Lighting, and Underground Electric 
• Conservation and Mitigation 
• Amenity, Recreation, and Hardscape Improvements 
 
Infrastructure construction is anticipated to begin in September 2018 and is expected to be 
completed within four years, through 2022.  The infrastructure described below will function as a 
system of improvements benefitting all lands within the District. 
 

A. Roadways  
The roadways within the District will consist of two-lane sections constructed to provide 
access to all of the proposed land uses within the District’s boundaries.  Construction will 

include the extension of Parkland Trail.  The roads will be constructed, owned and 
maintained by the District.  All roads within the District will be open and available to the 
general public, provided however that the District may maintain and operate “soft” security 

gates at the front of the project.  Sidewalks within common areas are included in this 
category. 

 
The roadways will be constructed in accordance with St. Johns County standards.  
Typically, the roads will consist of asphalt, lime rock and stabilized subbase with curb.  The 
right of way design will include sidewalks, lighting, landscaping and utilities such as water, 
sewer and drainage.  It is anticipated that the roadways will provide ingress and egress for 
the entire District and the residents within the District will generate the vast majority of the 
trips anticipated for the roadways.   
 
Site grading including preparation of roadway areas for installation of paving construction 
has not yet commenced.  Construction of lime rock roadway sub-base and asphalt paving 
will be initiated once all grading work has been completed.  There are no impact fee credits 
associated with the roadways being constructed within the District. 

 



       Parkland Preserve Community Development District 
  District Engineer’s Report 

 Page 5 April 16, 2018 

B. Utilities 
The utilities within the District will consist of potable water, wastewater collection and 
transmission, reclaimed water, and conduit.  Costs for conduit to be used by private utilities 
such as electric, cable, gas and communication lines have not been included as CDD 
costs. The utility systems will be designed in accordance with the applicable standards of 
each type of system.  Potable water and wastewater collection systems will be designed 
to SJCUD and Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP) specifications.  The 
SJCUD has affirmed that it has the capacity to provide water and wastewater treatment 
services to the District.   
 
The potable water lines will typically run within the right of way of all the roadways and at 
build out will provide a complete interconnected network of water lines.  At build out the 
water lines will connect along Parkland Trail.  Fire hydrants will be installed according to 
SJCUD Fire Codes at one thousand-foot intervals or five hundred feet to each structure.  
 
The wastewater lines will consist of manholes and gravity PVC lines within the roadway 
rights-of-way.  These will convey sewage flow to two pump stations.  The pump stations 
will then pump the wastewater via PVC force main to the existing SJCUD force 
main/sewage collection system on International Golf Parkway.  When constructed the 
wastewater lines will provide service to lots and parcels within the District.  
 
The reclaimed water lines, if needed, will typically run within the right of way of the 
roadways and at build out will provide a complete interconnected network of water lines.  
At build out the water lines will connect along Parkland Trail.  The Developer will have the 
option to transfer the reuse utility to the District, if constructed. 

 
C. Earthwork 

The District consists of near-flat terrain at low elevation which will require earthwork moving 
operations in order to construct roadways and storm water management.  The material 
excavated will be moved and shaped to allow for controlled slopes within the District right-
of-way and lot boundaries.  The cost estimates stated herein do not include cost of grading 
earthwork associated with private lots. 
 

D. Storm Water Management 
The District storm water management system will consist of detention ponds, inlets, pipes, 
swales, berms, and control structures.  The storm water management system will be 
designed in accordance with standards set by St. Johns County (SJC) and the St. Johns 
River Water Management District (SJRWMD).  A system of inlets, pipes, swales and berms 
will convey the runoff into detention ponds throughout the District’s boundaries.  The 
detention ponds will treat and attenuate the runoff to required standards prior to discharging 
to offsite properties and conveyance systems.  Surface water permitting is required for the 
District through SJC Development Services and SJRWMD.  The SJRWMD has issued an 
Environmental Resource Permit covering the project area as part of the Saint Johns DRI. 
 

E. Landscaping and Irrigation Improvements 
Landscaping is proposed throughout the District boundaries in right of ways, open space 
areas, and boundary buffers.  The landscaping will consist of shrub and tree plantings as 
well as a variety of plants and material. Incorporated with the landscape improvements will 
also be pedestrian improvements such as sidewalks.  Construction of sidewalks and other 



       Parkland Preserve Community Development District 
  District Engineer’s Report 

 Page 6 April 16, 2018 

pedestrian improvements will be performed after the roadways are complete, and 
installation of landscape improvements will occur near the time of project construction 
completion.  

 
F. Signage, Lighting, and Underground Electric 

Per Florida Statute 190.012(1)(d), the District shall have the ability to fund basic 
infrastructure improvements and community facilities including street lights, alleys, 

landscaping, hardscaping, and the undergrounding of electric utility lines.  Signage and 
lighting improvements will be provided within the District’s boundaries marking the entrance 

way, roadways and points of interest.  Lighting will be constructed in pedestrian and parking 
areas and will be maintained by the District or by agreement with Florida Power and Light. 
No construction has begun on the signage and lighting systems.   
 

G. Conservation and Mitigation 
Conservation of wetland areas and associated upland buffers have been approved for 
specified areas throughout the District as part of the existing SJRWMD and USACOE 
permitting.  Wetland impacts are offset by the conservation areas and include upland 
buffers as part of the SJRWMD and USACOE permitting. 
 

H. Amenity, Recreation, and Hardscape Improvements 
Recreational amenities including a pool, event lawn, clubhouse, paths, and associated 
hardscape improvements are proposed within the District Boundaries. It is expected that 
these facilities will be owned and operated by the District.  
 
 

  



       Parkland Preserve Community Development District 
  District Engineer’s Report 

 Page 7 April 16, 2018 

4. Opinion of Preliminary Probable Construction Costs 
 
A summary of the opinion of the probable construction costs (OPCC) for the District infrastructure 
is provided in Table 2.  The District will be financing the proposed infrastructure costs for the Capital 
Improvements noted in Table 2 with the proceeds of the 2018 Bonds and/or by the developer.  The 
OPCC has assumed 2018 fees for design and construction of the anticipated improvements.  
Fluctuations do occur with material costs, permitting and design constraints that could impact the 
estimates.  The costs do not include legal, administrative or financial services necessary to operate 
and maintain the District.  Earthwork costs included in this report are those costs associated with 
the amenity tract, roadways, and CDD land for storm water management purposes, but not grading 
private lots.  
 
It is the professional opinion of Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. that the preliminary probable costs 
are reasonable based on the information available and the anticipated quality and quantity of work 
described, and that it is feasible to construct the CIP.  

 
Table 2 

Summary of Preliminary Probably Capital Costs for Capital Improvements of the 
Proposed Parkland Preserve Community Development District** 

 
Category Cost 

A. Roadways $2,792,000 
B. Stormwater Management/Earthwork $2,698,000 
C. Water, Sewer, and Reclaim Utilities $3,938,000 
D. Landscape and Irrigation $468,000 
E. Signage, Lighting and Undergrounding of Electric $448,000 
F. Conservation and Mitigation $0 
G. Amenity, Recreation and Hardscape Improvements $2,500,000 
H. Soft Costs $1,031,000 

TOTAL $13,875,000 
Land Acquisition $2,500,000 

 
**Please note that the cost estimates and description of the CIP are based on current plans and 
market conditions, which are subject to change.  That said, the CIP as defined herein, refers to the 
roadways, stormwater management systems, utilities, landscape/irrigation/hardscaping features, 
construction and mitigation areas, lighting and amenities necessary to support the development 
and sale of the planned residential lots, which (subject to determinations) and type may be changed 
with the development of the CIP. 
 
Table 3 summarizes the ownership and maintenance responsibilities anticipated for the design 
components listed in this report.  The financing entity is responsible for funding and construction of 
each infrastructure component.  Upon completion of construction and final certification, the 
infrastructure component will then be turned over to the operation and maintenance entity.  A 
summary of the ownership and maintenance of the proposed infrastructure is provided in Table 3 
below. 
 
 

  



       Parkland Preserve Community Development District 
  District Engineer’s Report 

 Page 8 April 16, 2018 

Table 3 
Infrastructure Ownership & Maintenance 

 

Infrastructure Ownership Maintenance* 

Roadways Parkland Preserve CDD Parkland Preserve CDD 

Stormwater 
Management/Earthwork Parkland Preserve CDD Parkland Preserve CDD 

Water and Sewer Utilities SJCUD SJCUD 

Signage, Lighting, and 
Electric 

Parkland Preserve CDD (to 
the extent paid for by CDD) 

Parkland Preserve CDD (to 
the extent paid for by CDD) 

Landscape and Irrigation Parkland Preserve CDD (to 
the extent paid for by CDD) Parkland Preserve CDD 

Conservation and Mitigation Parkland Preserve CDD (to 
the extent paid for by CDD) Parkland Preserve CDD 

Amenity, Recreation and 
Hardscape Parkland Preserve CDD Parkland Preserve CDD 

FPL 

*The CDD may elect to enter into agreement with the HOA to maintain certain improvements. 

5. List of Approvals to Date 
 
The following is a summary of approvals, to date. 

• The St. Johns County Board of County Commissioners approved the Saint Johns DRI via 
Resolution 91-130 and has subsequently approved numerous DRI amendments with the 
most recent amendment receiving approval via Resolution 2017-117. 

• The St. Johns County Board of County Commissioners approved the Interchange Parcels 
PUD via Ordinance 1991-36 and has subsequently approved numerous PUD 
modifications with the most recent modification receiving approval via Ordinance 2017-
16. 

• The U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACOE) permit, which pertains to the proposed 
impacts to USACOE jurisdictional wetlands within the Saint Johns DRI, has been issued 
and assigned number SAJ-1991-00108. 

• The St. Johns River Water Management District (SJRWMD) permit, which pertains to the 
proposed impacts to SJRWMD jurisdictional wetlands within the Saint Johns DRI and to 
the proposed storm water management system for the entire project in principle, has 
been issued and assigned number 4-109-21489-37. 



       Parkland Preserve Community Development District 
  District Engineer’s Report 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT A 
 



PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

LOCATION MAP
EXHIBIT A

NORTH



       Parkland Preserve Community Development District 
  District Engineer’s Report 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT B 
 



NORTH

PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

BOUNDARY
EXHIBIT B



       Parkland Preserve Community Development District 
  District Engineer’s Report 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT C 
 



NORTH

PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

LOT LAYOUT
EXHIBIT C



       Parkland Preserve Community Development District 
  District Engineer’s Report 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT D 
 



"OVERALL PARCEL"

A PART OF SECTIONS 2, 3, 10 AND 11, TOWNSHIP 6 SOUTH, RANGE 28 EAST, ST. JOHNS COUNTY, FLORIDA. BEING MORE
PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

FOR A POINT OF REFERENCE, COMMENCE AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 11; THENCE NORTH 89°35'15" EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 1325.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 00°26'12" EAST ALONG THE WEST LINE OF THE SOUTHEAST 1

4 OF THE SOUTHWEST 1
4

OF SAID SECTION 11, A DISTANCE OF 1304.95 FEET TO THE NORTH LINE OF THE SOUTHEAST 1
4 OF THE SOUTHWEST 1

4 OF SAID
SECTION 11; THENCE NORTH 89°14'18" EAST ALONG SAID NORTH LINE, A DISTANCE OF 552.14 FEET; THENCE NORTH 00°45'41"
WEST, DEPARTING SAID NORTH LINE, A DISTANCE OF 199.08 FEET TO A POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE BEING CONCAVE
SOUTHEASTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 173.00 FEET; THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE, A DISTANCE
OF 186.79 FEET, SAID ARC BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 30°10'10" EAST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 177.85
FEET TO A POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH 61°06'02" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 40.07 FEET TO A POINT OF
CURVATURE OF A CURVE BEING CONCAVE NORTHWESTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 96.50 FEET; THENCE NORTHEASTERLY
ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE, A DISTANCE OF 50.13 FEET, SAID ARC BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH
46°13'07" EAST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 49.57 FEET TO A POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH 31°20'11" EAST,
A DISTANCE OF 23.56 FEET TO A POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE BEING CONCAVE WESTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 50.00
FEET; THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE, A DISTANCE OF  70.48 FEET, SAID ARC BEING SUBTENDED BY A
CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 09°02'52" WEST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 64.79 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING AND A POINT OF
COMPOUND CURVATURE OF A CURVE BEING CONCAVE SOUTHWESTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 50.00 FEET; THENCE FROM
SAID POINT OF BEGINNING, NORTHWESTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE, A DISTANCE OF 42.84 FEET, SAID ARC BEING
SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 73°58'33" WEST AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 41.54 FEET TO A POINT OF COMPOUND
CURVATURE OF A CURVE BEING CONCAVE SOUTHERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 200.00 FEET; THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE
ARC OF SAID CURVE, A DISTANCE OF 110.78 FEET, SAID ARC BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 65°36'51" WEST
AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 109.37 FEET TO A POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE; THENCE SOUTH 49°44'47" WEST, A DISTANCE
OF 139.13 FEET TO A POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE BEING CONCAVE NORTHERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 225.00 FEET;
THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE, A DISTANCE OF 88.38 FEET, SAID ARC BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD
BEARING OF SOUTH 60°59'55" WEST AND CHORD DISTANCE OF 87.81 FEET TO A POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE; THENCE
SOUTH 72°15'04" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 188.43 FEET TO A POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE BEING CONCAVE SOUTHERLY AND
HAVING A RADIUS OF 300.00 FEET; THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE, AN ARC DISTANCE OF 99.52 FEET, SAID
ARC BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 62°44'54" WEST AND CHORD DISTANCE OF 99.06 FEET TO A POINT OF
TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE; THENCE SOUTH 53°14'44" WEST, DISTANCE OF 124.31 FEET TO A POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE
BEING CONCAVE SOUTHEASTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 300.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTHWESTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF SAID
CURVE, AN ARC DISTANCE OF 76.06 FEET, SAID ARC BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 45°58'55" WEST AND
CHORD DISTANCE OF 75.86 FEET TO A POINT OF REVERSE CURVATURE OF A CURVE BEING CONCAVE NORTHWESTERLY AND
HAVING A RADIUS OF 285.77 FEET; THENCE SOUTHWESTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE, AN ARC DISTANCE OF 194.55 FEET,
SAID ARC BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 58°13'14" WEST AND CHORD DISTANCE OF 190.81 FEET TO A POINT
OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE; THENCE SOUTH 77°43'21" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 107.35 FEET TO A POINT OF CURVATURE OF A
CURVE BEING CONCAVE NORTHERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 300.00 FEET; THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE,
AN ARC DISTANCE OF 46.01 FEET, SAID ARC BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 82°06'55" WEST AND CHORD
DISTANCE OF 45.96 FEET TO A POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE; THENCE SOUTH 86°30'30" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 183.72 FEET;
THENCE SOUTH 89°04'08" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 26.81 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°22'14" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 69.95 FEET TO A
POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE BEING CONCAVE SOUTHEASTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 40.00 FEET; THENCE
SOUTHWESTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE, AN ARC DISTANCE OF 60.92 FEET, SAID ARC BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD
BEARING OF SOUTH 47°59'44" WEST AND CHORD DISTANCE OF 55.20 FEET TO A POINT OF COMPOUND CURVATURE OF A CURVE,
BEING CONCAVE EASTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 100.00 FEET;

THENCE SOUTHERLY ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE, AN ARC DISTANCE OF 51.79 FEET, SAID ARC BEING SUBTENDED BY A
CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 10°28'25" EAST AND CHORD DISTANCE OF 51.21 FEET TO A POINT OF CUSP OF SAID CURVE, SAID POINT
LYING ON THE EASTERLY LINE OF A 100 FOOT EASEMENT FOR INGRESS AND EGRESS KNOWN AS PARKLAND TRAIL EXTENSION;
THENCE NORTH 32°47'30" WEST, ALONG THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID PARKLAND TRAIL EXTENSION, A DISTANCE OF 157.12 FEET TO
A POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE BEING CONCAVE SOUTHEASTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 400.00 FEET; THENCE
NORTHEASTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE AND ALONG LAST SAID EASTERLY LINE, AN ARC DISTANCE OF 665.34 FEET, SAID
ARC BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 14°51'03" EAST AND CHORD DISTANCE OF 591.25 FEET TO A POINT OF
TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH 62°30'06" EAST, ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID PARKLAND TRAIL EXTENSION, A
DISTANCE OF 139.26 FEET; THENCE NORTH 27°29'54" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 100.00 FEET TO THE NORTH LINE OF SAID PARKLAND
TRAIL EXTENSION; THENCE SOUTH 62°30'06" WEST, ALONG LAST SAID NORTH LINE, A DISTANCE OF 34.39 FEET TO A POINT OF
CURVATURE OF A CURVE BEING CONCAVE NORTHEASTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 25.00 FEET; THENCE NORTHWESTERLY
ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE AND ALONG THE NORTHEASTERLY LINE OF SAID PARKLAND TRAIL EXTENSION, AN ARC DISTANCE
OF 39.28 FEET, SAID ARC BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 72°29'54" WEST AND CHORD DISTANCE OF 35.36
FEET TO A POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH 27°29'54" WEST, ALONG THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID PARKLAND
TRAIL EXTENSION, A DISTANCE OF 183.01 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°48'59" EAST, DEPARTING SAID EASTERLY LINE OF PARKLAND
TRAIL EXTENSION, A DISTANCE OF 49.95 FEET; THENCE NORTH 74°49'15" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 57.56 FEET; THENCE NORTH
37°47'16" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 24.26 FEET; THENCE NORTH 06°22'16" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 222.96 FEET; THENCE NORTH 34°29'40"
EAST, A DISTANCE OF 74.84 FEET; THENCE NORTH 12°03'53" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 45.97 FEET; THENCE NORTH 43°53'43" EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 113.72 FEET; THENCE NORTH 27°29'54" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 294.29 FEET; THENCE NORTH 62°30'06" EAST, A
DISTANCE OF 59.69 FEET; THENCE NORTH 27°29'54" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 99.92 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 62°30'06" WEST, A DISTANCE
OF 60.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 27°29'54" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 552.21 FEET; THENCE NORTH 59°25'08" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 73.98
FEET; THENCE NORTH 27°29'54" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 473.60 FEET;

PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT
LEGAL DESCRIPTION

EXHIBIT D
1 OF 2



PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT
LEGAL DESCRIPTION

 THENCE SOUTH 62°30'06" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 188.34 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 73°51'44" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 108.29 FEET;
THENCE SOUTH 66°51'10" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 63.87 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 60°41'37" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 61.59 FEET; THENCE
SOUTH 43°30'12" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 43.90 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 34°22'54" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 83.28 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
14°35'11" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 129.04 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 07°34'31" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 60.12 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
04°11'06" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 44.68 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 20°43'46" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 47.43 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 55°07'27"
EAST, A DISTANCE OF 47.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 87°05'10" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 16.81 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 08°09'12" WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 14.93 FEET; THENCE NORTH 85°20'04" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 16.37 FEET; THENCE NORTH 75°54'45" WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 136.41 FEET TO A POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE BEING CONCAVE SOUTHERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 50.00
FEET; THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE, A DISTANCE OF 25.59 FEET, SAID ARC BEING SUBTENDED BY A
CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 89°25'33" WEST AND CHORD DISTANCE OF 25.31 FEET TO A POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE;
THENCE SOUTH 74°45'50" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 88.36 FEET TO A POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE BEING CONCAVE
NORTHERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 200.00 FEET; THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE, A DISTANCE OF 105.74
FEET, SAID ARC BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 89°54'36" WEST AND CHORD DISTANCE OF 104.51 FEET TO A
POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH 74°56'39" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 7.88 FEET TO A POINT OF CURVATURE OF
A CURVE BEING CONCAVE NORTHEASTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 500.00 FEET; THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG THE ARC
OF SAID CURVE, A DISTANCE OF 94.59 FEET, SAID ARC BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 69°31'26" WEST AND
CHORD DISTANCE OF 94.45 FEET TO A POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH 64°06'15" WEST, A DISTANCE OF
49.18 FEET TO A POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE BEING CONCAVE SOUTHERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 100.00 FEET;
THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE, A DISTANCE OF 105.92 FEET, SAID ARC BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD
BEARING OF SOUTH 85°33'03" WEST AND CHORD DISTANCE OF 101.04 FEET TO A POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE; THENCE
SOUTH 55°12'20" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 132.30 FEET TO A POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE BEING CONCAVE NORTHERLY AND
HAVING A RADIUS OF 100.00 FEET; THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE, A DISTANCE OF142.61 FEET, SAID ARC
BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 83°56'19" WEST AND CHORD DISTANCE OF 130.83 FEET TO A POINT OF
COMPOUND CURVATURE OF A CURVE BEING CONCAVE EASTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 222.41 FEET; THENCE NORTHERLY
ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE, A DISTANCE OF 188.45 FEET, SAID ARC BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH
18°48'35" WEST AND CHORD DISTANCE OF 182.86 FEET TO A POINT OF COMPOUND CURVATURE OF A CURVE BEING CONCAVE
SOUTHEASTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 150.00 FEET; THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE, A DISTANCE
OF 133.25 FEET, SAID ARC BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 30°54'45" EAST AND CHORD DISTANCE OF 128.91
FEET TO A POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH 56°21'40" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 62.38 FEET TO A POINT OF
CURVATURE OF A CURVE BEING CONCAVE WESTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 90.00 FEET; THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE
ARC OF SAID CURVE, A DISTANCE OF 205.19 FEET, SAID ARC BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 08°57'14" WEST
AND CHORD DISTANCE OF 163.55 FEET TO A POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH 74°16'09" WEST, A DISTANCE
OF 220.75 FEET TO A POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE BEING CONCAVE SOUTHERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 100.00 FEET;
THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE, A DISTANCE OF 57.91 FEET, SAID ARC BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD
BEARING OF SOUTH 89°08'35" WEST AND CHORD DISTANCE OF 57.10 FEET TO A POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE; THENCE
SOUTH 72°33'20" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 35.71 FEET TO A POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE BEING CONCAVE SOUTHEASTERLY
AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 100.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTHWESTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE, A DISTANCE OF 17.71 FEET,
SAID ARC BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 67°28'49" WEST AND CHORD DISTANCE OF 17.69 FEET TO A POINT
OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE; THENCE SOUTH 62°24'20" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 78.11 FEET TO A POINT OF CURVATURE OF A
CURVE BEING CONCAVE SOUTHEASTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 100.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTHWESTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF
SAID CURVE, A DISTANCE OF 149.92 FEET, SAID ARC BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 19°27'29" WEST AND
CHORD DISTANCE OF 136.27 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 69°05'14" WEST, DEPARTING LAST SAID CURVE, A DISTANCE OF 19.55 FEET TO
THE NORTHEASTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF INTERSTATE NO. 95 (A 300 FOOT LIMITED ACCESS RIGHT OF WAY); THENCE NORTH
27°29'54" WEST, ALONG SAID NORTHEASTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE, A DISTANCE OF 1837.35 FEET; THENCE NORTH 89°22'00" EAST,
DEPARTING SAID NORTHEASTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE, A DISTANCE OF 4946.39 FEET TO THE NORTHERLY PROJECTION OF THE
WEST LINE OF THE EAST 1

2 OF SAID SECTION 11; THENCE SOUTH 00°08'32" EAST, ALONG SAID EAST LINE AND THE NORTHERLY
PROJECTION THEREOF, A DISTANCE OF 3389.97 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 87°45'39" WEST, DEPARTING SAID WEST LINE OF THE EAST
1

2 OF SAID SECTION 11, A DISTANCE OF 109.26 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 05°09'59" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 71.65 FEET; THENCE SOUTH
58°39'50" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 39.21 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 86°42'50" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 54.76 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 79°42'49"
WEST, A DISTANCE OF 61.29 FEET; THENCE NORTH 70°55'39" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 39.14 FEET; THENCE NORTH 27°07'39" WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 35.40 FEET; THENCE NORTH 12°22'53" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 56.21 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 88°20'01" WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 65.09 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 63°49'11" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 70.24 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 34°13'34" WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 71.89 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 43°12'02" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 64.70 FEET; THENCE NORTH 46°47'58" WEST, A
DISTANCE OF 106.53 FEET TO A POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE BEING CONCAVE NORTHEASTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF
585.00 FEET; THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE, A DISTANCE OF 197.07 FEET, SAID ARC BEING
SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 37°08'56" WEST AND CHORD DISTANCE OF 196.14 FEET TO A POINT OF TANGENCY
OF SAID CURVE; THENCE NORTH 27°29'54" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 347.76 FEET TO A POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE BEING
CONCAVE SOUTHEASTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 25.00 FEET; THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE, A
DISTANCE OF 39.27 FEET, SAID ARC BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF NORTH 17°30'06" EAST AND CHORD DISTANCE
OF 35.36 FEET TO A POINT OF CUSP OF SAID CURVE; THENCE SOUTH 62°30'06" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 110.00 FEET TO A POINT ON
A CURVE BEING CONCAVE SOUTHWESTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 25.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTHWESTERLY ALONG THE ARC
OF SAID CURVE, A DISTANCE OF 39.27 FEET, SAID ARC BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 72°29'54" EAST AND
CHORD DISTANCE OF 35.36 FEET TO A POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE; THENCE SOUTH 27°29'54" EAST, A DISTANCE OF
347.76 FEET TO A POINT OF CURVATURE OF A CURVE BEING CONCAVE NORTHEASTERLY AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 645.00 FEET;
THENCE SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE, A DISTANCE OF 217.28 FEET, SAID ARC BEING SUBTENDED BY A
CHORD BEARING OF SOUTH 37°08'56" EAST AND CHORD DISTANCE OF 216.25 FEET TO A POINT OF TANGENCY OF SAID CURVE;
THENCE SOUTH 46°47'58" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 90.09 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 38°41'44" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 5.13 FEET TO THE
POINT OF BEGINNING. CONTAINING 267.39 ACRES MORE OR LESS.

EXHIBIT D
2 OF 2



EXHIBIT 30



     

 

 

PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 

MASTER SPECIAL ASSESSMENT METHODOLOGY REPORT  

FOR THE ISSUANCE OF CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT REVENUE BONDS 
 

 

 

April 16, 2018 
 

Prepared by 

 

 

 

DPFG Management & Consulting LLC 
250 International Parkway., Suite 280 
Lake Mary, FL 32746 
Phone: (321) 263‐0132 
www.dpfg.com 

            



    www.dpfg.com 

i 

 

PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
MASTER SPECIAL ASSESSMENT METHODOLOGY REPORT 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

THE DISTRICT ................................................................................................................................................. 1 

General ...................................................................................................................................................... 1 

Purpose ..................................................................................................................................................... 1 

Methodology Reports ............................................................................................................................... 1 

PROJECT FINANING AND BENEFIT ALLOCATION ........................................................................................... 1 

Infrastructure Project ................................................................................................................................ 2 

Benefits ..................................................................................................................................................... 3 

Assessment Allocation .............................................................................................................................. 3 

PROJECT BOND FINANCING PROGRAM ........................................................................................................ 3 

Assessment Levy and Collection ............................................................................................................... 4 

ASSESSMENT ALLOCATION STANDARDS ...................................................................................................... 5 

Standard .................................................................................................................................................... 5 

Methodology ............................................................................................................................................. 5 

Special Benefits ......................................................................................................................................... 6 

Rates ......................................................................................................................................................... 6 

PRELIMINARY ASSESSMENT ROLL AND COLLECTION ................................................................................... 7 

DOCUMENT REVIEW ..................................................................................................................................... 7 

CONCLUSION ................................................................................................................................................. 7 

Special Benefit ........................................................................................................................................... 7 

Assessment Apportionment ..................................................................................................................... 7 

Reasonableness of Assessment Apportionment ...................................................................................... 7 

Best Interest .............................................................................................................................................. 8 



    www.dpfg.com 

ii 

 

Appendix 1 ‐ Rate and Method of Apportionment of Special Assessment .................................................. 9 

A. Definitions ............................................................................................................................................. 9 

B. Assignment of Land Use Categories and of ERU ................................................................................. 10 

C. Annual Maximum Special Assessment Requirement ......................................................................... 10 

D. Special Assessment Rate .................................................................................................................... 11 

E. Method of Apportionment of the Special Assessment ....................................................................... 11 

E. Manner of Collection .......................................................................................................................... 12 

Appendix 2 ‐ Estimated Public Improvement Costs and Benefit Allocation ............................................... 13 

Appendix 3 ‐ Preliminary Assessment Roll .................................................................................................. 14 

Appendix 4 ‐ CDD Legal Description ........................................................................................................... 15 

Appendix 5 ‐ Preliminary site plan within the District Boundary ................................................................ 17 

 

   



    www.dpfg.com 

iii 

 

 
LIST OF TABLES 
 

Table 1 ‐ Estimated Project Costs ................................................................................................................. 2 

Table 2 – Estimated Maximum Sources and Uses of Funds ......................................................................... 4 

Table 3 ‐ Maximum Annual Debt Service ...................................................................................................... 4 

Table 4 ‐ Estimated Special Assessment Requirement (MADS) .................................................................. 10 

Table 5 – Developed Property Assigned ERU, Maximum Debt and MADS Allocation for All Lots ............. 11 

Table 6 – Un‐Developed Property Assigned ERU, Maximum Debt and MADS Allocation .......................... 11 

Table 7 – Project Costs and Benefit Allocation ........................................................................................... 13 

Table 8 ‐ Preliminary Assessment Roll ........................................................................................................ 14 

 

 

 



    www.dpfg.com 

1 

 

THE DISTRICT 

General  

The  petition  to  establish  the  Parkland  Preserve  Community  Development  District  (the  “CDD”  or 

“District”) was approved by  the St  John’s County Board of County Commissioners on March 20, 2018 

and  the District was  subsequently  created by Ordinance 2018  ‐ 14. The District encompasses 267.39 

acres within the World Golf Village area in the southern part of the unincorporated County and is within 

the Saint Johns DRI/Northeast Quadrant PUD. 

Purpose 

The  District  is  a  local  unit  of  special‐purpose  government  established  pursuant  to,  and  existing  in 

accordance with, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes (the “Act”). Pursuant to the Act, the District was created 

for  the  purpose  of  delivering  certain  community  development  services  and  facilities  within  its 

jurisdiction,  including  the  design,  acquisition  and/or  construction  of  certain  public  infrastructure 

improvements  consisting  of,  but  not  limited  to,  roadways,  water,  sewer  and  wastewater,  reclaimed 

water  and  irrigation  systems,  storm  water  management,  community  amenities,  landscaping 

improvements,  signage  and  lighting,  electrical  power  and  professional  services  and  fees,  as  further 

described in the Engineer’s Report, dated April 13, 2018 (the “Project”).  

Methodology Reports 

This  report  provides  a  master  assessment  methodology  for  analyzing  the  benefits  derived  from  the 

Project and determining  the  fair and equitable allocation of  such benefits  through  the  levy of  special 

assessments  on  property  within  the  District  to  fund  all  or  portions  of  the  Project.  It  is  designed  to 

conform  to  the  requirements  of  Chapters  170  and  190,  Florida  Statutes,  with  respect  to  special 

assessments.  The  District  plans  to  issue  bonds  to  finance  portions  of  the  Project  as  development 

progresses.  The District will  deliver  a  supplemental  assessment  methodology  report  associated with 

each bond issuance describing the phase of the development and improvements to be funded. 

PROJECT FINANING AND BENEFIT ALLOCATION 

To advance development of the land in the District, the District plans to finance the construction of the 

Project thru the issuance of multiple series of bonds. The bonds will be secured by and payable from the 

levy  of  special  assessments  collected  from  property  that  benefits  from  the  public  improvements 

constructed with proceeds  from  the bond  issues. The  amount of  the  special  assessment  is based on 

mathematical formulas that consider benefit from the bond funded infrastructure.  



    www.dpfg.com 

2 

 

Infrastructure Project 

The  Project  contains  improvements  that  benefit  all  assessable  units within  the District  (the  “Master 

Improvements”)  and  improvements  that  provide  special  benefit  to  the  planned  units  in  each 

development phase or tract of  land, but not the entire community (the “Subdivision  Improvements”). 

Accordingly, the Special Assessments levied in connection with the Master Improvements will be levied 

on all planned units in the District, while the Special Assessments levied in connection with Subdivision 

Improvements  will  be  levied  on  the  particular  phase  specially  benefitting  from  the  Subdivision 

Improvements.  The  Project  is  estimated  to  cost  approximately  $16.375  million.  A  summary  of  the 

estimated costs of the Project, as shown in the Engineer’s Report, is set forth in the following table. 

Table 1 ‐ Estimated Project Costs 

Improvement Category  Total 

Roadways  2,792,000 

Storm Water Management/Earthwork  2,698,000 

Water, Sewer, and Reclaim Utilities  3,938,000 

Landscape and Irrigation  468,000 

Signage, Lighting, and Undergrounding of Electric  448,000 

Amenity, Recreation and Hardscape  2,500,000 

Soft costs  1,031,000 

Total  13,875,000 

Land Acquisition  2,500,000 

Grand Total  16,375,000 

The proposed  issuance of multiple  series of bonds  is anticipated  to  fund a portion or all of  the costs 

associated with the development of the District which is planned for a total 363 lots. The developer will 

covenant through a completion agreement to be entered  into at the time of closing on each series of 

bonds  to  complete  the  Project  to  the  extent  any  portions of  the  same  are not  funded with  the  net 

proceeds of each bond issue. 



    www.dpfg.com 

3 

 

Benefits 

The construction of the Project will advance development of the properties within the District and will 

thereby  create  special  benefits  for  those  properties,  and  enhance  the  value  of  the  property.  All 

properties within the District will generally benefit from the Project, but developed residential lots with 

structures have an added benefit from the Project, for example, in terms of vehicular access, disposal of 

plumbing waste thru a system of pipes, flood prevention thru a stormwater collection system, potable 

water  lines,  recreational  facilities,  and  other  basic  public  infrastructure  benefits  for  use  of  the 

subdivision. 

Assessment Allocation 

The preliminary  land use plan describes  the development of  the  land  in one  construction phase with 

final build‐out anticipated to  include a total of 363 residential dwelling units. The methodology herein 

allocates debt and special assessments to such residential properties based upon the benefits derived 

from the Project. This report utilizes Project costs as a proxy value for benefit and allocates the special 

assessments based on Equivalent Residential Units (“ERU”). Each constructed unit on a fifty‐three foot 

wide lot will be assigned an equal 1.0 ERU value and ranking; then proportion the amount of the special 

assessment  for each  individual platted  lot based on  lot  front  footage.  This  ranking  is  the basis upon 

which  the benefits  to other  lot  sizes are measured. The advantage  to a ERU  structured methodology 

includes the ability to assign identical benefits to similarly used properties (e.g., all fifty‐three foot wide 

lots are assigned 1.0 ERU irrespective of home size or phase) or assign different ERUs to reflect different 

land uses  (e.g.,  residential versus non‐residential).  In connection with  the Project, as of  this date,  the 

developer has  informed  the District  that  it plans  to construct a  total of 363  fifty‐three  foot wide  lots, 

which represents a total of 363.00 ERUs. 

PROJECT BOND FINANCING PROGRAM  

For purposes of  this master  report,  the bond principal amount and associated maximum annual debt 

service assessments (“MADS”) have been sized based on funding all of the Project costs described in the 

Engineer’s  Report  and  adjusted  for  allowable  bond  financing  costs  including  capitalized  interest, 

reserves and costs of  issuance. These bond principal amounts represent a maximum bonding amount. 

The  developable  properties  within  the  District  will  constitute  the  properties  on  which  the  Special 

Assessments are levied to repay the bonds. These properties include those which will be developed into 

the planned 363 residential units. The  following table sets forth an estimated sources and uses of the 

bonds for the maximum bonding amount to finance all of the Project costs. 



    www.dpfg.com 

4 

 

Table 2 – Estimated Maximum Sources and Uses of Funds  

Sources  Total  % 

Bond Proceeds ‐ Par  $22,195,000  100.0% 

Uses      

Acquisition and Construction Account  $16,375,000  73.8% 

Debt Service Reserve Fund  $1,612,206  7.3% 

Capitalized Interest  $3,329,250  15.0% 

Cost of Issuance  $430,000  1.9% 

Underwriter's Discount  $443,900  2.0% 

rounding  $4,644  0.0% 

Total Uses  $22,195,000   

 

Assessment Levy and Collection 

Each fiscal year, the CDD will certify for collection the Special Assessments in connection with the MADS, 

or Debt Service Requirement (as defined herein), for each bond series. The following table summarizes 

the estimated MADS requirement for all phases of development. 

Table 3 ‐ Maximum Annual Debt Service1 

Phases  Lots  Total ERU  Total MADS  MADS/Lot 

All  363  363  $1,612,206  $4,441 

Prior to recordation of a subdivision plat map, the special assessments and debt will be allocated to each 

property,  as  described  by  FOLIO  or  legal  description,  based  on  acreage.  Upon  recordation  of  a 

subdivision plat map the lot sizes are determinable, and the Special Assessments will then be levied on 

the individual lots based on the ERU assigned to each lot.  

                                                            

1 Excluding County collection charges and early payment discount.  



    www.dpfg.com 

5 

 

ASSESSMENT ALLOCATION STANDARDS 

Standard  

A  valid  special  assessment  that  is  made  pursuant  to  District  legislative  authority  requires  that  the 

property assessed must (1) derive a direct and special benefit from the improvement or service provided 

and (2) that the assessment must be fairly and reasonably apportioned among properties that receive 

the  special  benefits.  Section  170.02,  Florida  Statutes,  states  “Special  assessments  against  property 

deemed to be benefited by  local  improvements, as provided for  in sec. 170.01, shall be assessed upon 

the  property  specially  benefited  by  the  improvement  in  proportion  to  the  benefits  to  be  derived 

therefrom, said special benefits  to be determined and prorated according  to  the  foot  frontage of  the 

respective  properties  specially  benefited  by  said  improvement,  or  by  such  other  method  as  the 

governing body of the municipality may prescribe.”  

The  ERU  allocation  approach  is  a  generally  recognized  and  commonly  approved  method  of 

proportionally  spreading  assessments  over  benefited  properties  for  special  assessments  levied  by 

community development districts. Although the general public outside the District will benefit from the 

Project,  such  benefits  are  incidental.  The  facilities  in  the  Project  meet  the  needs  of  the  developed 

property within the District, as well as provide benefit to all residential property within the District. The 

property  owners  within  the  District  are  therefore  receiving  special  benefits  not  received  by  those 

outside the boundaries, and direct and cumulative benefits accrue mainly to residents.  

Methodology 

This benefit and allocation approach is based on the principle that dwelling units on a similar size lot will 

receive  a  relatively  equal  and  direct  benefit  from  the  Project.  The  direct  benefits  from  these 

improvements  include  increased  use,  enjoyment  and  increased  property  values  to  all  residential 

properties, and the direct benefits from each public improvement system and function provided by the 

District.  The benefits  are quantified  and  assigned  to  lots based on  construction  timing, phasing,  and 

costs. 

An assessment methodology based on ERUs provides a way  to allocate  the benefit  that different  lot 

sizes and  land use  types  receive  from public  improvements  in  terms of  their equivalence  to a  single‐

family  residential dwelling unit on  a  fifty‐foot wide  lot, which  is defined  as 1.0  ERU. Under  the  ERU 

model, the District allocates special assessments on platted property proportionately based on  lot size 

as  indicated  on  the  subject  recorded  plat  map;  special  assessments  on  undeveloped  property  (e.g., 

property without recorded subdivision plat map) are allocated proportionately based on acreage basis. 



    www.dpfg.com 

6 

 

The  special  assessments  are  fairly  and  reasonably  allocated  based  on  lot  front  footage  and  acreage 

among properties that receive the special benefits; for example, upon plat map recordation, the special 

assessments per lot front footage are the same for each benefitted lot. 

Special Benefits 

As described above in the present case, the financing program will enable the District to provide for the 

construction and/or acquisition of the Project. Such public improvements will provide direct benefit for 

the  utilization  of  this  property,  will  substantially  enhance  the  use  and  enjoyment  of  the  benefited 

residential  properties,  and  will  increase  the  value  and  marketability  of  the  benefited  residential 

properties. These benefits flow proportionately over all benefited properties. The District will apply the 

assessment  methodology  to  the  financing  program  relating  to  the  Project.  All  residential  units  will 

proportionally benefit from the construction of the Project.  

Rates 

A  rate and method of apportionment of  special assessments  is attached as Appendix. The developer 

may decide to re‐adjust product types within the District in order to meet market demand. Changes in 

product types may or may not trigger a density “true‐up” obligation depending on whether or not the 

revised  product mix,  consistent with  the  terms  of  the  assessment  allocation methodology  is  able  to 

absorb the special assessments the special assessment that were originally planned to be  levied under 

the existing development plan outlined at the time of the actual bond issuance.  

At  time  of  bond  issuance,  the  true  up  obligation  is  described  in  the  supplemental  assessment 

methodology  report.  The  supplemental  assessment  report  anticipates  a  mechanism  by  which  the 

landowner shall, if required, make certain payments to the District in order to satisfy, in whole or in part, 

the assessments allocated and the  liens  imposed pursuant to adopted resolutions, the amount of such 

payments  being  equal  to  the  par  debt  that  is  not  capable  of  being  assigned  to  the  total  number  of 

developed  units,  plus  any  applicable  interest  charges  and  collection  fees  as  described  in  the 

supplemental  assessment  report  (which  payments  shall  collectively  be  referenced  as  the  “True‐Up 

Payment”). The landowner desires to guarantee the payment of any True‐Up Payment required of it and 

all other owners of  land within the District; and the  landowner and the District desire to enter  into an 

agreement  to confirm  landowner’s  intentions and obligations  to make any and all True‐Up Payments 

related to the assessments. 



    www.dpfg.com 

7 

 

PRELIMINARY ASSESSMENT ROLL AND COLLECTION 

A Preliminary Assessment Roll is attached in the Appendix. The special assessments are expected to be 

collected directly by the District on un‐platted parcels and via the County’s property tax bill as parcels of 

land in the District are platted. 

DOCUMENT REVIEW 

The documents  associated with  the  above  referenced  financing of  the  Project,  assessment  plat,  and 

assessment roll are available for review at the District Offices at 250  International Parkway, Suite 280, 

Lake Mary Florida (tel. 321.263.0132). 

CONCLUSION 

The acquisition and construction of the Project using bond proceeds will be utilized for common District 

purposes. These assessments will be levied over all benefited properties on a fair and equitable basis as 

described herein. The benefited properties will receive benefits in excess of the allocated assessments. 

Accordingly,  this  is  an  appropriate  District  project  that  will  significantly  benefit  the  properties  and 

enhance the District. 

Special Benefit 

The Project will provide  special benefits  to parcels within  the District. The parcels will  receive  special 

benefits, because the subject Project delivers  interconnected structural  improvements that provide an 

infrastructure system, which supports and adds to  the entire development of the District. The Project 

yield benefits  to parcel owners  in  terms of meeting  basic public  infrastructure  needs  and  increasing 

property values.  

Assessment Apportionment 

The  Special  Assessments  are  fairly  and  equally  apportioned  over  all  the  benefited  properties.  The 

benefits, using Project costs as proxy for benefit, are quantified and assigned to parcels based on lot size 

since  larger  lot areas consume proportionately greater benefits than smaller  lots from the Project. The 

District assigned an ERU value and ranking to the expected  lot sizes on the basis that a fifty‐three foot 

wide lot receives the value of 1.0 ERU, accordingly a sixty foot wide lot receives the value of 1.2 ERU. 

Reasonableness of Assessment Apportionment 

It is reasonable, proper and just to assess the costs of the Project against lands in the District. As a result 

of  the  Project,  properties  in  the District  receive  special  benefit  and  increase  in  value.  Based  on  the 



    www.dpfg.com 

8 

 

premise that the benefits from the District’s Project make the properties useful for residential use, more 

accessible and valuable, in return it is reasonable for the District to levy the Special Assessments against 

benefitted lands within the District. The benefits will be equal to or in excess of the Special Assessments 

thereon when allocated. 

Best Interest 

The  District  provides  for  delivering  the  Project  in  a  timely,  orderly,  and  efficient  manner.  It  can 

economically  and  efficiently  provide  the  amount  and  quality  of  services  required  by  the  public.  The 

District provides a financing mechanism to (i) fund the Project at a relatively low cost of capital, and (ii) 

on  a  timely,  “pay  for  itself”  type  basis.  The  exercise  by  the District  of  its  powers  is  consistent with 

applicable with state law. It is in the best interest of the District. 

   



    www.dpfg.com 

9 

 

APPENDIX 1 ‐ RATE AND METHOD OF APPORTIONMENT OF SPECIAL ASSESSMENT 

The Special Assessments  shall be  levied on all parcels within  the Parkland Preserve CDD  that benefit 

from the Project and will be collected each fiscal year in an amount determined by the CDD through the 

application of this rate and method of apportionment as described below. All of the real property within 

the CDD, unless exempted by  law or  the provisions hereof, shall be assessed  for  the purposes,  to  the 

extent and in the manner herein provided. 

A. Definitions 

The terms hereinafter set forth have the following meanings: 

“Administrative  Expenses” means  any  actual or  reasonably  estimated  expenses of  the CDD  to 

carry out the administration of the CDD related to the determination of the amount of the special 

assessment,  the collection of special assessment, and costs otherwise  incurred  in order  to carry 

out the authorized purposes of the CDD.  

"Appraiser's Parcel" means a Lot or parcel shown  in St John’s County appraiser's parcel map, or 

included or includable in St John’s County’s non‐ad valorem assessment roll designated by folio or 

PIN. 

“District Debt” means bonds or other debt  issued by the CDD, which are secured by the  levy of 

Special Assessments of the CDD. 

"Developed  Property"  means  all  Taxable  Property  for  which  the  St  John’s  County  property 

appraiser  designated  a  property  use  code  for  each  Lot  that  indicates  developed  residential 

property, as reasonably determined by the CDD, or a Lot which has legal entitlements created by a 

recorded  Plat  Map  and  whose  physical  characteristics  are  a  fine  grade  level  pad  with 

infrastructure contiguous to each individual lot, asphalt paved roads, and the necessary utilities. 

“ERU” means a way to quantify different  land use types  in terms of their equivalence to a fifty‐

three foot wide lot, which is defined as 1.0 ERU. 

"Fiscal Year" means the period starting October 1 and ending on the following September 30. 

"Lot" means an individual residential lot, identified and numbered on a recorded final subdivision 

map,  on  which  a  building  permit  has  been  or  is  permitted  to  be  issued  for  construction  of  a 

residential unit without further subdivision of the  lot and for which no further subdivision of the 

lot is anticipated. 



    www.dpfg.com 

10 

 

“Property Owner Association Property" means any property within  the CDD boundaries  that  is 

owned  by,  or  irrevocably  dedicated  as  indicated  in  an  instrument  recorded  with  the  County 

Recorder to, a property owner association, including any master or sub‐association. 

"Public Property" means any property within the CDD boundaries that is, at the time of the CDD 

formation,  expected  to  be  used  for  any  public  purpose  and  is  owned  by  or  dedicated  to  the 

federal government, the State, the County, the District or any other public agency. 

"Special  Assessments"  means  the  Special  Assessments  levied  pursuant  to  the  provisions  of 

Sections C and D below in each Fiscal Year on each Appraiser's Parcel of Developed Property and 

Undeveloped Property in the CDD to fund the Special Assessment Requirement. 

“Special  Assessment  Requirement”  means  that  amount  determined  by  the  CDD’s  board  of 

supervisors  that  is  required  in  any  Fiscal  Year  to  pay  regularly  scheduled  debt  service  for  the 

calendar  year,  which  commences  in  such  Fiscal  Year,  on  the  outstanding  District  Debt,  less 

available funds pursuant to the indenture. 

"Assessable Property" means all of  the Appraiser's Parcels within  the boundaries of  the CDD 

that are not exempt from the Special Assessment pursuant to law or as defined below. 

"Undeveloped  Property"  means,  for  each  Fiscal  Year,  all  Assessable  Property  not  classified  as 

Developed Property, such as vacant acreage or similar property use codes as determined by the 

CDD. 

B. Assignment of Land Use Categories and of ERU 

Each Fiscal Year using the definitions above, all Assessable Property within each phase of the CDD shall 

be  classified  as  Developed  Property  or  Undeveloped  Property,  and  shall  be  subject  to  Special 

Assessment pursuant to Sections C and D below.  

C. Annual Maximum Special Assessment Requirement 

Refer  to  the  Appendix  for  details  on  the  bond  sizing.  The  estimated  maximum  annual  debt  service 

(MADS), or Special Assessment Requirement, to fund all of the Project costs is presented in the following 

table. 

Table 4 ‐ Estimated Special Assessment Requirement (MADS) 

Special Assessment Requirement   Maximum $ Amount (excl. County charges and 

All Bond Series  $1,612,206 



    www.dpfg.com 

11 

 

D. Special Assessment Rate 

1. Developed Property in All Phases 

After  recordation  of  a  Plat  Map,  the  special  assessments  are  allocated  as  illustrated  in  the 

following table. 

Table 5 – Developed Property Assigned ERU, Maximum Debt and MADS Allocation for All Lots 

Lot 

Size  Lots  ERU 

Total 

ERU % ERU Par Amt. Par/Lot MADS  MADS/Lot

53  363  1.00   363.00  100.0% $22,195,000 $61,143  $1,612,206  $4,441 

 

2. Undeveloped Property 
a) District Debt Allocation  

Prior  to  recordation of a Plat Map,  the District Debt  is allocated per acre as  illustrated  in  the 

following table. 

Table 6 – Un‐Developed Property Assigned ERU, Maximum Debt and MADS Allocation  

Property 
Total 

Units 
ERU 

Total 

Acreage 

(Ac) 

Par Amt.  Par / Ac  MADS 
MADS / 

Ac 

All Phases  363  363.0  267.39 $22,195,000  $83,006  $1,612,206   $6,029 

 

E. Method of Apportionment of the Special Assessment 

Each Fiscal Year, the CDD shall levy the Special Assessments as follows:  

First  (Developed  Property):  The  Special  Assessment  shall  be  levied  proportionately  on  each 
Appraiser’s  Parcel  of  Developed  Property  in  an  amount  up  to  100%  of  the  applicable  Special 
Assessment rate as determined pursuant to Section D.1 and Section D.2 for each particular phase, 
or subdivision. 

Second  (Undeveloped  Property):  If  additional  monies  are  needed  to  satisfy  the  Debt  Service 
Requirement  after  the  first  step  has  been  completed,  the  Special  Assessment  shall  be  levied 
proportionally on each Appraiser’s Parcel of Undeveloped Property at up to 100% of the Assigned 
Special Assessment rate for Undeveloped Property as determined pursuant to Section D.3 for each 
particular phase. 



    www.dpfg.com 

12 

 

Third – True Up: If additional monies are needed to satisfy the Debt Service Requirement after the 
first  two  steps  have  been  completed  as  a  result  of  a  re‐plat  of  property,  the  owner  of  such 
property will be obligated  to  immediately  remit  to  the  trustee,  for deposit  into  the  redemption 
account,  the  total  bond  principal  amount  for  the  difference  between  the  Debt  Service 
Requirement and the special assessment revenue generated after the  first  two steps have been 
completed  (the  “True  Up  Obligation”).  The  true  up  obligation  will  be  described  in  a  separate 
agreement as part of the bond documents. 

 

Refer  to  the  Appendix  for  a  preliminary  assessment  roll  illustrating  the  initial  levy  of  the  Special 

Assessments in accordance with the method of apportionment described above. 

E. Manner of Collection 

The Special Assessments  shall be collected  in  the  same manner and at  the  same  time as ordinary ad 

valorem property taxes once parcels are platted. The CDD intends to directly collect Special Assessments 

on un‐platted parcels. 

   



    www.dpfg.com 

13 

 

APPENDIX 2 ‐ ESTIMATED PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT COSTS AND BENEFIT ALLOCATION 

As  described  above  the  total  benefits  will  be,  of  course,  the  completed  public  infrastructure  with 

estimated costs in the amount of $15.836 million. The following tables allocate the Project costs, which 

are used as a proxy for benefit. Refer to Engineer’s Report for cost details. 

Table 7 – Project Costs and Benefit Allocation 

Lot Width  Total Units  ERU  Total ERU  % ERU 

Total Cost 

(as proxy for 

benefit) 

Benefit Per 

Unit 

53s  363  1.00  363.00  100%  16,375,000  45,110 

 
 
 

   



    www.dpfg.com 

14 

 

APPENDIX 3 ‐ PRELIMINARY ASSESSMENT ROLL 

The following table shows the preliminary assessment roll. Refer to the legal description of the District 

for a complete depiction of the District’s boundaries. 

Table 8 ‐ Preliminary Assessment Roll 

Parcel  Area 

Identification 

/(b), (e) 

Owner /(b)  Acreage (a) % Ac
Total District 

Debt /(c) 

Total MADS 

/(d)

Refer  to  legal 

description  of 

the  District  in 

the  Engineer's 

Report 

NGMB 

Properties, LLC 
267.39 100.00% $22,195,000   $1,612,206 

 

Footnote: 

(a) Estimate based on legal description at time of establishment of the District. Acreage includes lowlands. 

(b) Owner information per County records. There are multiple Parcel IDs associated with the District. 

(c) The Special Assessments will remain levied against Undeveloped Property on an equal acreage basis until 

the Assessable Property is platted. 

(d) Excluding County collection charges and early payment discounts. 

 

   



    www.dpfg.com 

15 

 

APPENDIX 4 ‐ CDD LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

 



    www.dpfg.com 

16 

 



    www.dpfg.com 

17 

 

APPENDIX 5 ‐ PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN WITHIN THE DISTRICT BOUNDARY 

 



EXHIBIT 31



RESOLUTION 2018-25

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT DECLARING SPECIAL 
ASSESSMENTS; DESIGNATING THE NATURE AND 
LOCATION OF THE PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS; 
DECLARING THE TOTAL ESTIMATED COST OF THE 
IMPROVEMENTS, THE PORTION TO BE PAID BY 
ASSESSMENTS, AND THE MANNER AND TIMING IN 
WHICH THE ASSESSMENTS ARE TO BE PAID; 
DESIGNATING THE LANDS UPON WHICH THE 
ASSESSMENTS SHALL BE LEVIED; PROVIDING FOR AN 
ASSESSMENT PLAT AND A PRELIMINARY 
ASSESSMENT ROLL; ADDRESSING THE SETTING OF 
PUBLIC HEARINGS; PROVIDING FOR PUBLICATION 
OF THIS RESOLUTION; AND ADDRESSING CONFLICTS, 
SEVERABILITY AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

WHEREAS, the Parkland Preserve Community Development District (“District”) is a 
local unit of special-purpose government organized and existing under and pursuant to Chapter 
190, Florida Statutes, as amended; and

WHEREAS, the District is authorized by Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, to finance, fund, 
plan, establish, acquire, install, equip, operate, extend, construct, or reconstruct roadways, 
stormwater management/earthwork improvements, landscape, irrigation and entry features, 
conservation and mitigation, street lighting and other infrastructure projects, and services 
necessitated by the development of, and serving lands within, the District; and

WHEREAS, the District hereby determines to undertake, install, plan, establish, 
construct or reconstruct, enlarge or extend, equip, acquire, operate, and/or maintain the 
infrastructure improvements (“Project”) described in the District’s Preliminary Engineer’s 
Report, dated __________, 2018, attached hereto as Exhibit A and incorporated herein by 
reference; and

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the District to pay all or a portion of the cost of 
the Project by special assessments pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes (“Assessments”); 
and

WHEREAS, the District is empowered by Chapter 190, the Uniform Community 
Development District Act, Chapter 170, Supplemental and Alternative Method of Making Local 
Municipal Improvements, and Chapter 197, the Uniform Method for the Levy, Collection and 
Enforcement of Non-Ad Valorem Assessments, Florida Statutes, to finance, fund, plan, 
establish, acquire, construct or reconstruct, enlarge or extend, equip, operate, and maintain the 
Project and to impose, levy and collect the Assessments; and



2

WHEREAS, as set forth in the Preliminary Special Assessment Allocation Report, dated 
___________, 2018, attached hereto as Exhibit B and incorporated herein by reference and on 
file at ______________________________ (“District Records Office”), the District hereby 
finds and determines that: 

(i) benefits from the Project will accrue to the property improved, 
(ii) the amount of those benefits will exceed the amount of the Assessments, and 
(iii)the Assessments are fairly and reasonably allocated;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD 
OF SUPERVISORS OF THE PARKLAND PRESERVE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT:

1. AUTHORITY FOR THIS RESOLUTION; INCORPORATION OF 
RECITALS. This Resolution is adopted pursuant to the provisions of Florida law, including 
without limitation Chapters 170, 190 and 197, Florida Statutes.  The recitals stated above are 
incorporated herein and are adopted by the Board as true and correct statements.

2. DECLARATION OF ASSESSMENTS.  The Board hereby declares that it has 
determined to make all or a portion of the Project and to defray all or a portion of the cost thereof 
by the Assessments. 

3. DESIGNATING THE NATURE AND LOCATION OF IMPROVEMENTS.
The nature and general location of, and plans and specifications for, the Project are described in 
Exhibit A, which is on file at the District Records Office.  Exhibit B is also on file and available 
for public inspection at the same location.

4. DECLARING THE TOTAL ESTIMATED COST OF THE PROJECT, THE 
PORTION TO BE PAID BY ASSESSMENTS, AND THE MANNER AND TIMING IN 
WHICH THE ASSESSMENTS ARE TO BE PAID.

A. The total estimated construction cost of the Project is $_________________ 
(“Estimated Cost”).  

B. The Assessments will defray approximately $_________________, which is the 
anticipated maximum par value of any bonds and which includes all or a portion 
of the Estimated Cost, as well as other financing-related costs, as set forth in 
Exhibit B.

C. The manner in which the Assessments shall be apportioned and paid is set forth in 
Exhibit B, as may be modified by supplemental assessment resolutions.  
Commencing with the years in which the Assessments are certified for collection, 
the Assessments shall each be paid in not more than thirty (30) annual 
installments.  The Assessments may be payable at the same time and in the same 
manner as are ad valorem taxes and collected pursuant to Chapter 197, Florida 
Statutes; provided, however, that in the event the uniform non-ad valorem 



3

assessment method of collecting the Assessments is not available to the District in 
any year, or if determined by the District to be in its best interest, the Assessments 
may be collected as is otherwise permitted by law, including but not limited to by 
direct bill.  The decision to collect special assessments by any particular method –
e.g., on the tax roll or by direct bill – does not mean that such method will be used 
to collect special assessments in future years, and the District reserves the right in 
its sole discretion to select collection methods in any given year, regardless of 
past practices.  

5. DESIGNATING THE LANDS UPON WHICH THE ASSESSMENTS 
SHALL BE LEVIED.  The Assessments shall be levied, within the District, on all lots and 
lands adjoining and contiguous or bounding and abutting upon such improvements or specially 
benefitted thereby and further designated by the assessment plat hereinafter provided for.

6. ASSESSMENT PLAT. Pursuant to Section 170.04, Florida Statutes, there is on 
file, at the District Records Office, an assessment plat showing the area to be assessed, with 
certain plans and specifications describing the Project and the estimated cost of the Project, all of 
which are open to inspection by the public.

7. PRELIMINARY ASSESSMENT ROLL. Pursuant to Section 170.06, Florida 
Statutes, the District Manager has caused to be made a preliminary assessment roll, in 
accordance with the method of assessment described in Exhibit B hereto, which shows the lots 
and lands assessed, the amount of benefit to and the assessment against each lot or parcel of land 
and the number of annual installments into which the assessment may be divided, which 
assessment roll is hereby adopted and approved as the District’s preliminary assessment roll.

8. PUBLIC HEARINGS DECLARED; DIRECTION TO PROVIDE NOTICE 
OF THE HEARINGS. Pursuant to Sections 170.07 and 197.3632(4)(b), Florida Statutes,
among other provisions of Florida law, there are hereby declared two public hearings to be held 
as follows:

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARINGS
DATE: _________, _________ ___, 2018
TIME: _______
LOCATION: __________________________

__________________________ 

The purpose of the public hearings is to hear comment and objections to the proposed 
special assessment program for District improvements as identified in the preliminary 
assessment roll, a copy of which is on file and as set forth in Exhibit B.  Interested parties may 
appear at that hearing or submit their comments in writing prior to the hearings at the District
Records Office.

Notice of said hearings shall be advertised in accordance with Chapters 170, 190 and 197, 
Florida Statutes, and the District Manager is hereby authorized and directed to place said notice 
in a newspaper of general circulation within St. Johns County (by two publications one week 



4

apart with the first publication at least twenty (20) days prior to the date of the hearing 
established herein).  The District Manager shall file a publisher’s affidavit with the District 
Secretary verifying such publication of notice.  The District Manager is further authorized and 
directed to give thirty (30) days written notice by mail of the time and place of this hearing to the 
owners of all property to be assessed and include in such notice the amount of the assessment for 
each such property owner, a description of the areas to be improved and notice that information 
concerning all assessments may be ascertained at the District Records Office.  The District 
Manager shall file proof of such mailing by affidavit with the District Secretary.

9. PUBLICATION OF RESOLUTION.  Pursuant to Section 170.05, Florida 
Statutes, the District Manager is hereby directed to cause this Resolution to be published twice 
(once a week for two (2) weeks) in a newspaper of general circulation within St. Johns County 
and to provide such other notice as may be required by law or desired in the best interests of the 
District.

10. CONFLICTS. All resolutions or parts thereof in conflict herewith are, to the 
extent of such conflict, superseded and repealed.  

11. SEVERABILITY. If any section or part of a section of this resolution be 
declared invalid or unconstitutional, the validity, force, and effect of any other section or part of 
a section of this resolution shall not thereby be affected or impaired unless it clearly appears that 
such other section or part of a section of this resolution is wholly or necessarily dependent upon 
the section or part of a section so held to be invalid or unconstitutional.

12. EFFECTIVE DATE. This Resolution shall become effective upon its adoption.

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 16th of April, 2018.

ATTEST: PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

_________________________ ___________________________________
Secretary/Asst. Secretary Chairman

Exhibit A: Preliminary Engineer’s Report, dated ____________, 2018
Exhibit B: Preliminary Special Assessment Allocation Report, dated ___________, 2018



EXHIBIT 32



44310748;2

RESOLUTION 2018-26

A RESOLUTION OF PARKLAND PRESERVE
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF NOT EXCEEDING 
[$25,000,000] PRINCIPAL AMOUNT PARKLAND 
PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
SPECIAL ASSESSMENT REVENUE BONDS IN ONE OR 
MORE SERIES, FOR THE PURPOSE OF FINANCING THE 
CONSTRUCTION AND/OR ACQUISITION BY THE 
DISTRICT OF THE ASSESSABLE IMPROVEMENTS 
PERMITTED BY THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 
190.012(1), FLORIDA STATUTES; APPROVING THE 
FORM OF A MASTER TRUST INDENTURE; APPROVING 
AND APPOINTING A TRUSTEE; AUTHORIZING THE 
COMMENCEMENT OF VALIDATION PROCEEDINGS 
RELATING TO THE FOREGOING BONDS; 
AUTHORIZING AND APPROVING OTHER MATTERS 
RELATING TO THE FOREGOING BONDS; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

WHEREAS, pursuant to St. Johns County Ordinance No. 2018-14 (the “Ordinance”) 
Parkland Preserve Community Development District (the “District”) was established in the 
manner provided by law; and

WHEREAS, the District is authorized by the provisions of Chapter 190, Florida Statutes 
(the “Act”), and the Ordinance to issue its bonds and other evidence of indebtedness for the 
purpose, among other things, of constructing and/or acquiring assessable improvements as set 
forth in Section 190.012(1), Florida Statutes, (the “Project”); and

WHEREAS, the Project will provide significant benefits to certain of the lands within its 
boundaries, is necessary for the public health, safety and welfare and is in the best interest of the 
District, its landowners and future residents; and

WHEREAS, the District is authorized by the Act to make payments of principal, interest, 
and premium, if any, with respect to such bonds or other evidence of indebtedness by levying 
and collecting Special Assessments and any other Pledged Revenues (as defined in the Master 
Indenture, as supplemented, as defined below); and

WHEREAS, the District now desires to authorize the issuance of its special assessment 
revenue bonds in one or more series (the “Bonds”), in a principal amount not to exceed 
[$25,000,000] for the principal purpose of financing the construction and acquisition of the 
Project, to approve a Master Trust Indenture under which the Bonds will be issued, to appoint a 



2
44310748;2

trustee to serve under the Master Trust Indenture, to authorize the validation of the Bonds and to 
provide for various other matters relating thereto.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
OF PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT as follows:

SECTION 1. Authorization. There is hereby authorized to be issued not 
exceeding [$25,000,000] principal amount of Parkland Preserve Community Development 
District special assessment revenue bonds in one or more series (the “Bonds”).  The Bonds shall 
be issued under and secured by a Master Trust Indenture (the “Master Indenture”), a form of 
which is attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and, by this reference, is incorporated in this Resolution 
as if set forth in full herein.  The Bonds shall be dated, shall contain such further description, 
shall mature in amounts and at times, shall bear interest at the rates, and shall be redeemable at 
the redemption prices and upon the terms, all as shall be set forth in resolutions adopted by the 
Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) of the District at or before the execution and delivery of the 
Bonds by the Chair or Vice Chair of the Board, which Bonds shall be attested by the Secretary or 
any Assistant Secretary of the Board, and shall be authenticated by the Trustee under the 
Indenture.  

SECTION 2. Approval of Master Indenture. The Master Indenture is hereby 
approved in substantially the form set forth in Exhibit “A” hereto and the Chair or the Vice Chair 
of the Board are hereby authorized and directed to execute and deliver such Master Indenture on 
behalf of and in the name of the District and the Secretary or any Assistant Secretary of the 
Board is hereby authorized to attest such execution, with such additions and deletions therein as 
may be made and approved by the Chair or the Vice Chair executing the same, such execution to 
be conclusive evidence of such approval.

SECTION 3. Trustee. The District hereby authorizes and approves The Bank of 
New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. to serve as Trustee under the Master Indenture and to 
take the actions required of the Trustee in connection with the execution and delivery of the 
Bonds.

SECTION 4. Validation. District Counsel, Hopping Green & Sams PA, and 
Bond Counsel, Akerman LLP, are hereby authorized and directed to prepare, file and prosecute 
proceedings to validate the Bonds, and the legality of all proceedings in connection therewith, in 
the manner prescribed by the laws of the State of Florida.  The District Manager, engineering 
consultant, financial consultant, Chair, Vice-Chair and/or any other members of the Board and 
staff are hereby directed and authorized to provide such documents and testimony as may be 
necessary or useful in the prosecution of the validation proceedings as directed by counsel.

SECTION 5. Open Meetings. It is hereby found and determined that all acts of 
the Board concerning and relating to adoption of this Resolution were taken in open meetings of 
the Board and all deliberations of the Board that resulted in such official acts were in meetings 
open to the public in compliance with all legal requirements, including, but not limited to, the 
requirements of Florida Statutes, Section 286.011.



3
44310748;2

SECTION 6. Inconsistent Resolutions and Motions. All prior resolutions of the 
Board inconsistent with the provisions of this Resolution are hereby modified, supplemented and 
amended to conform with the provisions herein contained and, except as so modified, 
supplemented and amended hereby, shall remain in full force and effect.

SECTION 7. Approval of Prior Actions. All actions taken to date by the 
members of the Board and the staff of the District in furtherance of the issuance of the Bonds are 
hereby approved, confirmed and ratified.

SECTION 8. Severability of Invalid Provisions. If any one or more of the 
covenants, agreements or provisions of this Resolution should be held contrary to any express 
provision of law or contrary to the policy of express law, though not expressly prohibited, or 
against public policy, or shall for any reason whatsoever be held invalid, then such covenants, 
agreements or provisions shall be null and void and shall be deemed separate from the remaining 
covenants, agreements and provisions of this Resolution and shall in no way affect the validity of 
any of the other covenants, agreements or provisions hereof or of the Bonds.

SECTION 9. Repeal of Inconsistent Resolutions. All resolutions or parts thereof 
in conflict herewith are hereby superseded and repealed to the extent of such conflict.

SECTION 10. Effective Date. This Resolution shall become effective 
immediately upon its adoption.

ADOPTED this 16th day of April, 2018.

PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

By:
Its:  Chair, Board of Supervisors

[SEAL]

Attest:

Its:  Secretary





44310756;2

MASTER TRUST INDENTURE

______________________

between

PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

and

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST COMPANY, N.A.

As Trustee

______________________________

Dated as of ___________, 2018

______________________________

relating to

PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

SPECIAL ASSESSMENT REVENUE BONDS



-i-
44310756;2

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS ............................................................................................................2 

ARTICLE II THE BONDS............................................................................................................18 
Section 2.01 Amounts and Terms of Bonds; Details of Bonds ......................................18 
Section 2.02 Execution ...................................................................................................19 
Section 2.03 Authentication............................................................................................19 
Section 2.04 Registration and Registrar..........................................................................19 
Section 2.05 Mutilated, Destroyed, Lost or Stolen Bonds..............................................19 
Section 2.06 Temporary Bonds.......................................................................................20 
Section 2.07 Cancellation and Destruction of Surrendered Bonds.................................20 
Section 2.08 Registration, Transfer and Exchange.........................................................20 
Section 2.09 Persons Deemed Owners ...........................................................................21 
Section 2.10 Limitation on Incurrence of Certain Indebtedness.....................................21 
Section 2.11 Qualification for The Depository Trust Company.....................................21 

ARTICLE III ISSUE OF BONDS.................................................................................................24 
Section 3.01 Issue of Bonds............................................................................................24 

ARTICLE IV CONSTRUCTION OR ACQUISITION OF PROJECT ........................................28 
Section 4.01 Project to Conform to Plans and Specifications; Changes.........................28 
Section 4.02 Compliance Requirements .........................................................................28 
Section 4.03 Completion of Project ................................................................................28 

ARTICLE V ACQUISITION AND CONSTRUCTION FUND...................................................29 
Section 5.01 Acquisition and Construction Fund ...........................................................29 

ARTICLE VI SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS; APPLICATION THEREOF TO FUNDS 
AND ACCOUNTS .............................................................................................31 

Section 6.01 Special Assessments; Lien of Indenture on Pledged Revenues.................31 
Section 6.02 Funds and Accounts Relating to the Bonds ...............................................31 
Section 6.03 Revenue Fund ............................................................................................32 
Section 6.04 Debt Service Fund......................................................................................33 
Section 6.05 Debt Service Reserve Fund........................................................................35 
Section 6.06 Bond Redemption Fund .............................................................................37 
Section 6.07 Drawings on Credit Facility.......................................................................38 
Section 6.08 Procedure When Funds Are Sufficient to Pay All Bonds of a Series........38 
Section 6.09 Certain Moneys to Be Held for Series Bondowners Only.........................38 
Section 6.10 Unclaimed Moneys ....................................................................................38 
Section 6.11 Rebate Fund ...............................................................................................39 

ARTICLE VII SECURITY FOR AND INVESTMENT OR DEPOSIT OF FUNDS ..................40 
Section 7.01 Deposits and Security Therefor .................................................................40 
Section 7.02 Investment or Deposit of Funds.................................................................40 
Section 7.03 Valuation of Funds.....................................................................................41 



-ii-
44310756;2

ARTICLE VIII REDEMPTION AND PURCHASE OF BONDS................................................42 
Section 8.01 Redemption Dates and Prices ....................................................................42 
Section 8.02 Notice of Redemption and of Purchase .....................................................43 
Section 8.03 Payment of Redemption Price ...................................................................44 
Section 8.04 Partial Redemption of Bonds .....................................................................44 

ARTICLE IX COVENANTS OF THE ISSUER...........................................................................46 
Section 9.01 Power to Issue Bonds and Create Lien ......................................................46 
Section 9.02 Payment of Principal and Interest on Bonds..............................................46 
Section 9.03 Special Assessments; Re-Assessments. .....................................................47 
Section 9.04 Method of Collection .................................................................................47 
Section 9.05 Delinquent Special Assessments................................................................48 
Section 9.06 Sale of Tax Certificates and Issuance of Tax Deeds; Foreclosure of 

Special Assessment Liens ..........................................................................48 
Section 9.07 Books and Records with Respect to Special Assessments ........................49 
Section 9.08 Deposit of Special Assessments.................................................................50 
Section 9.09 Construction to be on District Lands .........................................................50 
Section 9.10 Operation, Use and Maintenance of Project ..............................................50 
Section 9.11 Observance of and Compliance with Valid Requirements ........................50 
Section 9.12 Public Liability and Property Damage Insurance; Maintenance of 

Insurance; Use of Insurance and Condemnation Proceeds ........................50 
Section 9.13 Collection of Insurance Proceeds...............................................................52 
Section 9.14 Use of Revenues for Authorized Purposes Only .......................................52 
Section 9.15 Books and Records ....................................................................................53 
Section 9.16 Observance of Accounting Standards........................................................53 
Section 9.17 Employment of Certified Public Accountant.............................................53 
Section 9.18 Establishment of Fiscal Year, Annual Budget...........................................53 
Section 9.19 Employment of Consulting Engineer; Consulting Engineer’s 

Report.........................................................................................................53 
Section 9.20 Audit Reports .............................................................................................53 
Section 9.21 Project Records ..........................................................................................54 
Section 9.22 Covenant Against Sale or Encumbrance; Exceptions................................54 
Section 9.23 No Loss of Lien on Pledged Revenue........................................................54 
Section 9.24 Compliance With Other Contracts and Agreements..................................54 
Section 9.25 Issuance of Additional Obligations............................................................55 
Section 9.26 Extension of Time for Payment of Interest Prohibited ..............................55 
Section 9.27 Further Assurances.....................................................................................55 
Section 9.28 Use of Bond Proceeds to Comply with Internal Revenue Code................55 
Section 9.29 Corporate Existence and Maintenance of Properties .................................55 
Section 9.30 Continuing Disclosure ...............................................................................56 

ARTICLE X EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES ..........................................................57 
Section 10.01 Events of Default and Remedies................................................................57 
Section 10.02 Events of Default Defined .........................................................................57 
Section 10.03 No Acceleration; Redemption....................................................................58 
Section 10.04 Legal Proceedings by Trustee....................................................................58 
Section 10.05 Discontinuance of Proceedings by Trustee................................................58 



-iii-
44310756;2

Section 10.06 Bondholders May Direct Proceedings .......................................................58 
Section 10.07 Limitations on Actions by Bondholders ....................................................59 
Section 10.08 Trustee May Enforce Rights Without Possession of Bonds ......................59 
Section 10.09 Remedies Not Exclusive ............................................................................59 
Section 10.10 Delays and Omissions Not to Impair Rights..............................................59 
Section 10.11 Application of Moneys in Event of Default...............................................59 
Section 10.12 Trustee’s Right to Receiver; Compliance with Act ...................................60 
Section 10.13 Trustee and Bondholders Entitled to all Remedies under Act ...................60 
Section 10.14 Credit Facility Issuer’s Rights Upon Events of Default ............................60 

ARTICLE XI THE TRUSTEE; THE PAYING AGENT AND REGISTRAR.............................62 
Section 11.01 Acceptance of Trust ...................................................................................62 
Section 11.02 No Responsibility for Recitals ...................................................................62 
Section 11.03 Trustee May Act Through Agents; Answerable Only for Willful 

Misconduct or Negligence .........................................................................62 
Section 11.04 Additional Provisions Relating to the Trustee ...........................................62 
Section 11.05 Compensation and Indemnity ....................................................................63 
Section 11.06 No Duty to Renew Insurance.....................................................................63 
Section 11.07 Notice of Default; Right to Investigate......................................................63 
Section 11.08 Obligation to Act on Defaults ....................................................................64 
Section 11.09 Reliance by Trustee....................................................................................64 
Section 11.10 Trustee May Deal in Bonds .......................................................................64 
Section 11.11 Construction of Ambiguous Provisions .....................................................64 
Section 11.12 Resignation of Trustee ...............................................................................64 
Section 11.13 Removal of Trustee....................................................................................65 
Section 11.14 Appointment of Successor Trustee ............................................................65 
Section 11.15 Qualification of Successor .........................................................................65 
Section 11.16 Instruments of Succession..........................................................................65 
Section 11.17 Merger of Trustee ......................................................................................66 
Section 11.18 Extension of Rights and Duties of Trustee to Paying Agent and 

Registrar.....................................................................................................66 
Section 11.19 Resignation of Paying Agent or Registrar .................................................66 
Section 11.20 Removal of Paying Agent or Registrar......................................................66 
Section 11.21 Appointment of Successor Paying Agent or Registrar ..............................67 
Section 11.22 Qualifications of Successor Paying Agent or Registrar.............................67 
Section 11.23 Judicial Appointment of Successor Paying Agent or Registrar.................67 
Section 11.24 Acceptance of Duties by Successor Paying Agent or Registrar ................67 
Section 11.25 Successor by Merger or Consolidation......................................................67 

ARTICLE XII ACTS OF BONDHOLDERS; EVIDENCE OF OWNERSHIP OF 
BONDS...............................................................................................................69 

Section 12.01 Acts of Bondholders; Evidence of Ownership of Bonds ...........................69 

ARTICLE XIII AMENDMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTS...........................................................70 
Section 13.01 Amendments and Supplements Without Bondholders’ Consent...............70 
Section 13.02 Amendments With Bondholders’ Consent ................................................70 



-iv-
44310756;2

Section 13.03 Trustee Authorized to Join in Amendments and Supplements; 
Reliance on Counsel ..................................................................................71 

ARTICLE XIV DEFEASANCE....................................................................................................72 
Section 14.01 Defeasance .................................................................................................72 
Section 14.02 Deposit of Funds for Payment of Bonds....................................................72 

ARTICLE XV MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS.....................................................................74 
Section 15.01 Limitations on Recourse ............................................................................74 
Section 15.02 Payment Dates ...........................................................................................74 
Section 15.03 No Rights Conferred on Others .................................................................74 
Section 15.04 Illegal Provisions Disregarded...................................................................74 
Section 15.05 Substitute Notice........................................................................................74 
Section 15.06 Notices .......................................................................................................74 
Section 15.07 Controlling Law.........................................................................................75 
Section 15.08 Successors and Assigns..............................................................................75 
Section 15.09 Headings for Convenience Only................................................................76 
Section 15.10 Counterparts...............................................................................................76 
Section 15.11 Appendices and Exhibits............................................................................76 
Section 15.12 Patriot Act ..................................................................................................76 



1
44310756;2

THIS MASTER TRUST INDENTURE, dated as of ___________, 2018 (the “Master 
Indenture”), by and between PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT (together with its permitted successors and assigns, the “Issuer”), a local unit of 
special-purpose government organized and existing under the laws of the State of Florida, and 
THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST COMPANY, N.A., a national banking 
association authorized to accept and execute the trusts herein set forth (said banking association 
and any bank or trust company becoming successor trustee under this Master Indenture and all 
Supplemental Indentures (as hereinafter defined) being hereinafter referred to as the “Trustee”);

W I T N E S S E T H:

WHEREAS, the Issuer is a local unit of special purpose government duly organized and 
existing under the provisions of the Uniform Community Development District Act of 1980, 
Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, as amended (the “Act”), and established by Ordinance No. 2018-
14 of St. Johns County, Florida effective on March 27, 2018, for the purpose, among other 
things, of financing and managing the acquisition and construction, maintenance, and operation 
of public infrastructure and other public facilities within and without the boundaries of the 
premises to be governed by the Issuer; and

WHEREAS, the premises governed by the Issuer are located entirely within 
unincorporated St. Johns County, Florida (the “County”) (herein, the “District Lands”); and 

WHEREAS, the Issuer has determined to undertake, in one or more stages, the 
acquisition and construction of certain public infrastructure and facilities pursuant to the Act for 
the special benefit of certain District Lands (as further described within the applicable 
Supplemental Indenture, each herein defined as the “Project”); and

WHEREAS, the Issuer proposes to finance the cost of acquisition and construction of the 
Project by the issuance of one or more series of Bonds (as herein defined) pursuant to this Master 
Indenture.

NOW, THEREFORE, THIS MASTER INDENTURE WITNESSETH, that to 
provide for the issuance of Bonds (as hereinafter defined) under this Master Indenture, as 
supplemented from time to time by one or more Supplemental Indentures (as hereinafter 
defined), the security and payment of the principal, redemption or purchase price thereof (as the 
case may be) and interest thereon, any reimbursement due to a Credit Facility Issuer (hereinafter 
defined), if any, for any drawing on its Credit Facility (hereinafter defined), as required under the
terms of the corresponding Credit Facility Agreement (hereinafter defined), the rights of the 
Owners of the Bonds of a Series (as hereinafter defined) and the performance and observance of 
all of the covenants contained herein and in said Bonds and in any Credit Facility Agreement for 
and in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained and of the purchase and 
acceptance of the Bonds of a Series by the Owners thereof, from time to time, the issuance by 
any Credit Facility Issuer of its Credit Facility, from time to time, and of the acceptance by the 
Trustee of the trusts hereby created, and intending to be legally bound hereby, the Issuer hereby 
assigns, transfers, sets over and pledges to the Trustee and grants a lien on all of the right, title 
and interest of the Issuer in and to the Pledged Revenues (hereinafter defined) as security for the 
payment of the principal, redemption or purchase price of (as the case may be) and interest on 



2
44310756;2

Bonds of a Series issued hereunder and any reimbursement due to any Credit Facility Issuer for 
any drawing on its Credit Facility issued with respect to any such Bonds, as required under the 
terms of the corresponding Credit Facility Agreement, all in the manner hereinafter provided, 
and the Issuer further hereby agrees with and covenants unto the Trustee as follows:

ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS

In this Master Indenture and any indenture supplemental hereto (except as otherwise 
expressly provided or unless the context otherwise requires) terms defined in the recitals hereto 
shall have the same meaning throughout this Master Indenture and all Supplemental Indentures, 
and in addition, the following terms shall have the meanings specified below:

“Account” shall mean any account established pursuant to this Master Indenture and all 
Supplemental Indentures.

“Act” shall mean the Uniform Community Development District Act of 1980, Chapter 
190, Florida Statutes, as amended from time to time, and any successor statute thereto.

“Annual Budget” shall mean the Issuer’s budget of current operating and maintenance 
expenses for the Project for a Fiscal Year, as the same may be amended from time to time, 
adopted in accordance with the provisions hereof.

“Arbitrage Certificate” shall mean the certificate of the Issuer delivered at the time of 
issuance of a Series of Bonds setting forth the expectations of the Issuer with respect to the use 
of the proceeds of such Series and also containing certain covenants of the Issuer in order to 
achieve compliance with the Code relating to the tax-status of the Bonds.

“Authorized Denomination” shall mean, unless provided otherwise in a Supplemental 
Indenture with respect to a Series of Bonds, a denomination of $5,000 and integral multiples of
$5,000 in excess thereof.

“Authorized Newspaper” shall mean a newspaper of general circulation in the County.

“Beneficial Owner” shall mean the Person treated as the owner of Bonds for federal 
income tax purposes while the Bonds are registered in the name of Cede & Co., as the nominee 
of DTC.  The Trustee is authorized to recognize the Beneficial Owners of a Series of Bonds for 
purposes of approvals, consents or other actions taken hereunder or under a Supplemental 
Indenture if beneficial ownership is proven to the satisfaction of the Trustee.

“Board” shall mean the Board of Supervisors of the Issuer.

“Bonds” shall mean the Parkland Preserve Community Development District Special 
Assessment Revenue Bonds, issued in one or more Series pursuant to the provisions of this 
Master Indenture and Bonds subsequently issued to refund all or a portion of such 
aforementioned Bonds.  If the Issuer determines to issue bond anticipation notes to be secured in 
whole or in part by a lien on the net proceeds of Bonds to be issued under this Master Indenture, 



3
44310756;2

the term “Bonds” shall apply to such short-term notes but only to the extent the Supplemental 
Indenture relating to such bond anticipation notes so provides.  

“Bond Counsel” shall mean Akerman LLP and any other Counsel of nationally 
recognized standing in matters pertaining to the exclusion from gross income for federal income 
tax purposes of interest on obligations issued by states and their political subdivisions.

“Bondholder,” “Holder of Bonds,” “Holder,” “Bondowner” or “Owner” or any similar 
term shall mean any Person or Persons who shall be the registered owner of any Outstanding 
Bond or Bonds, as evidenced on the Bond Register of the Issuer kept by the Registrar.

“Bond Redemption Fund” shall mean the Fund so designated which is established 
pursuant to Section 6.06 hereof.

“Bond Register” shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.04 of this Master 
Indenture.

“Business Day” shall mean any day other than a Saturday or Sunday or legal holiday or a 
day on which the office of the Issuer, or corporate office of the Trustee, the Registrar or any 
Paying Agent is closed, or a day on which the New York Stock Exchange is closed.

“Certified Public Accountant” shall mean a Person, who shall be Independent, appointed 
by the Board, actively engaged in the business of public accounting and duly certified as a 
certified public accountant under the laws of the State.

“Certified Resolution” or “Certified Resolution of the Issuer” shall mean a copy of one or 
more resolutions certified by the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the Issuer, under its seal, 
to have been duly adopted by the Board and to be in full force and effect as of the date of such 
certification.

“Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

“Completion Date” shall have the meaning given to such term in Section 5.01 of this 
Master Indenture.

“Consultant” shall mean a Person, who shall be Independent, appointed by the Board, 
qualified to pass upon questions relating to municipal entities and having a favorable reputation 
for skill and experience in the financial affairs of municipal entities.

“Consultant’s Certificate” shall mean a certificate or a report prepared in accordance with 
then applicable professional standards duly executed by a Consultant.

“Consulting Engineer” shall mean the Independent engineer or engineering firm or 
corporation at the time employed by the Issuer under the provisions of Section 9.19 of this 
Master Indenture to perform and carry out duties imposed on the Consulting Engineer by this 
Master Indenture and any Supplemental Indentures.  The Independent engineer or engineering 
firm or corporation at the time serving as the engineer to the Issuer may serve as Consulting 
Engineer under this Master Indenture and any Supplemental Indentures.



4
44310756;2

“Continuing Disclosure Agreement” shall mean a Continuing Disclosure Agreement, of 
the Issuer, and any other obligated party under the Rule, in connection with the issuance of one 
or more Series of Bonds hereunder, pursuant to the requirements of the Rule.  

“Cost” or “Costs,” in connection with a Project or any portion thereof, shall mean all 
expenses which are properly chargeable thereto under Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
or which are incidental to the planning, financing, acquisition, construction, reconstruction, 
equipping and installation thereof, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing:

(a) expenses of determining the feasibility or practicability of acquisition, 
construction, or reconstruction of a Project;

(b) cost of surveys, estimates, plans, and specifications;

(c) cost of improvements;

(d) engineering, architectural, fiscal, legal, accounting and other professional 
and advisory expenses and charges;

(e) cost of all labor, materials, machinery, and equipment (including, without 
limitation, (i) amounts payable to contractors, builders and materialmen and costs incident to the 
award of contracts and (ii) the cost of labor, facilities and services furnished by the Issuer and its 
employees, materials and supplies purchased by the Issuer and permits and licenses obtained by 
the Issuer);

(f) cost of all lands, properties, rights, easements, and franchises acquired;

(g) financing charges;

(h) creation of initial reserve and debt service funds;

(i) working capital;

(j) interest charges incurred or estimated to be incurred on money borrowed 
prior to and during construction and acquisition and for such reasonable period of time after 
completion of construction or acquisition as the Board may determine and as approved by Bond 
Counsel;

(k) the cost of issuance of Bonds, including, without limitation, 
advertisements and printing;

(l) the cost of any election held pursuant to the Act and all other expenses of 
issuance of bonds;

(m) the discount, if any, on the sale or exchange of Bonds;

(n) amounts required to repay temporary or bond anticipation loans made to 
finance any costs permitted under the Act;



5
44310756;2

(o) costs of prior improvements performed by the Issuer in anticipation of the 
Project;

(p) costs incurred to enforce remedies against contractors, subcontractors, any 
provider of labor, material, services, or any other Person, for a default or breach under the 
corresponding contract, or in connection with any other dispute;

(q) premiums for contract bonds and insurance during construction and costs 
on account of personal injuries and property damage in the course of construction and insurance 
against the same;

(r) payments, contributions, dedications, and any other exactions required as a 
condition to receive any government approval or permit necessary to accomplish any Issuer
purpose;

(s) administrative expenses;

(t) taxes, assessments and similar governmental charges during construction 
or reconstruction of the Project;

(u) expenses of Project management and supervision;

(v) costs of effecting compliance with any and all governmental permits 
relating to the Project;

(w) such other expenses as may be necessary or incidental to the acquisition, 
construction, or reconstruction of the Project or to the financing thereof, or to the development of 
any lands within the District; and

(x) any other “cost” or expense as provided by the Act.

In connection with the refunding or redeeming of any Bonds, “Cost” includes, without limiting 
the generality of the foregoing, the items listed in (d), (k), (l) and (m) above, and other expenses 
related to the redemption of the Bonds to be redeemed and the Redemption Price of such Bonds 
(and the accrued interest payable on redemption to the extent not otherwise provided for).  
Whenever Costs are required to be itemized, such itemization shall, to the extent practicable, 
correspond with the items listed above.  Whenever Costs are to be paid hereunder, such payment 
may be made by way of reimbursement to the Issuer or any other Person who has paid the same 
in addition to direct payment of Costs.

“Counsel” shall mean an attorney-at-law or law firm (who may be counsel for the Issuer).

“County” shall mean St. Johns County, Florida.

“Credit Facility” shall mean any credit enhancement mechanism such as an irrevocable 
letter of credit, a surety bond, a policy of municipal bond insurance, a corporate or other 
guaranty, a purchase agreement, a credit agreement or deficiency agreement or other similar 
facility applicable to the Bonds, as established pursuant to a Supplemental Indenture, pursuant to 



6
44310756;2

which the entity providing such facility agrees to provide funds to make payment of the principal 
of and interest on the Bonds.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Master 
Indenture, the Bonds may be issued without a Credit Facility; the decision to provide a Credit 
Facility in respect of any Bonds shall be within the absolute discretion of the Board.

“Credit Facility Agreement” shall mean any agreement pursuant to which a Credit 
Facility Issuer issues a Credit Facility.

“Credit Facility Issuer” shall mean the issuer or guarantor of any Credit Facility.

“Debt Service Fund” shall mean the Fund so designated which is established pursuant to 
Section 6.04 hereof.

“Debt Service Requirements,” with reference to a specified period, shall mean:

(a) interest payable on the Bonds during such period, subject to reduction for 
amounts held as capitalized interest in the Funds and Accounts established under this Master 
Indenture and any Supplemental Indentures; and

(b) amounts required to be paid into any mandatory sinking fund account with 
respect to the Bonds during such period; and

(c) amounts required to pay the principal of the Bonds maturing during such 
period and not to be redeemed prior to or at maturity through any sinking fund account.

For any Bonds that bear interest at a variable rate, the interest payable for a specified 
period shall be determined as if such Bonds bear interest at the maximum rate provided for in the 
applicable Supplemental Indenture and if no maximum rate is provided for in the Supplemental 
Indenture, the maximum rate shall be 10.00% per annum.

“Debt Service Reserve Fund” shall mean the Fund so designated which is established 
pursuant to Section 6.05 hereof.

“Debt Service Reserve Insurance Policy” shall mean the insurance policy, surety bond or 
other evidence of insurance, if any, deposited to the credit of the Debt Service Reserve Fund or 
any Account or subaccount therein in lieu of or in partial substitution for cash or securities on 
deposit therein, which policy, bond or the evidence of insurance constitutes an unconditional 
senior obligation of the issuer thereof.  The issuer thereof shall be a municipal bond insurer 
whose obligations ranking pari passu with its obligations under such policy, bond or other 
evidence of insurance are rated at the time of deposit of such policy, bond or other evidence of 
insurance to the credit of the Debt Service Reserve Fund or any Account or subaccount therein in 
one of the three (3) highest rating categories of either Moody’s or S&P, unless otherwise 
approved by the Credit Facility Issuer, if any, who has issued a Credit Facility with respect to the 
Bonds.

“Debt Service Reserve Letter of Credit” shall mean the irrevocable, transferable letter or 
line of credit, if any, deposited for the credit of the Debt Service Reserve Fund or any Account or 
subaccount therein in lieu of or in partial substitution for cash or securities on deposit therein, 



7
44310756;2

which letter or line of credit constitutes an unconditional senior obligation of the issuer thereof.  
The issuer of such letter or line of credit shall be a banking association, bank or trust company or 
branch thereof whose senior debt obligations ranking pari passu with its obligations under such 
letter or line of credit are rated at the time of deposit of the letter or line of credit to the credit of 
the Debt Service Reserve Fund or any Account or subaccount therein in one of the two highest 
rating categories of both Moody’s and S&P, unless otherwise approved by the Credit Facility 
Issuer, if any, who has issued a Credit Facility with respect to the Bonds.

“Debt Service Reserve Requirement” shall mean, for each Series of Bonds, unless a 
different requirement (which requirement may be $0) shall be specified in a Supplemental 
Indenture, an amount equal to the lesser of (i) the maximum annual Debt Service Requirements 
for the Outstanding Bonds of such Series, (ii) 125% of the average annual Debt Service 
Requirements for the Outstanding Bonds of such Series, and (iii) 10% of the original proceeds 
(within the meaning of the Code) of the Bonds of such Series.

“Defeasance Securities” shall mean, to the extent permitted by law, (a) cash or (b) non-
callable Government Obligations.

“Developer Funding Agreement” shall mean, if applicable, one or more developer capital 
funding agreements between the Issuer and the applicable developer entity, pursuant to which the 
developer entity agrees to advance, from time to time, sufficient moneys (taking into account 
proceeds from the applicable Series of Bonds) for cost of issuance or to complete the Project.  
Any obligation on the part of the Issuer to repay such advances shall be subordinate to the 
payment of the Bonds.

“District Lands” or “District” shall mean the premises governed by the Issuer.

“District Manager” shall mean the then District Manager or acting District Manager of 
the Issuer.

“Event of Default” shall mean any of the events described in Section 10.02 hereof.

“Fiscal Year” shall mean the period of twelve (12) months beginning October 1 of each 
calendar year and ending on September 30 of the following calendar year, and also shall mean 
the period from actual execution hereof to and including the next succeeding September 30; or 
such other consecutive twelve-month period as may hereafter be established pursuant to a 
Certified Resolution as the fiscal year of the Issuer for budgeting and accounting purposes as 
authorized by law.

“Fitch” shall mean Fitch Ratings, Inc., a corporation organized and existing under the 
laws of the State of New York, its successors and assigns, and if such corporation shall be 
dissolved or liquidated or shall no longer perform the functions of a securities rating agency, 
“Fitch” shall be deemed to refer to any other nationally recognized securities rating agency 
designated by the Issuer and acceptable to the Trustee.

“Fund” shall mean any fund established pursuant to this Master Indenture.



8
44310756;2

“Generally Accepted Accounting Principles” shall mean those accounting principles 
applicable in the preparation of financial statements of municipalities.

“Government Obligations” shall mean direct obligations of, or obligations the timely 
payment of principal of and interest on which are unconditionally guaranteed by, the United 
States of America.

“Indenture” shall mean, with respect to any Series of Bonds, this Master Indenture as 
amended or supplemented by the Supplemental Indenture pursuant to which such Series of 
Bonds is issued.

“Independent” shall mean a Person who is not a member of the Issuer’s Board, an officer 
or employee of the Issuer or any developer, or which is not a partnership, corporation or 
association having a partner, director, officer, member or substantial stockholder who is a 
member of the Issuer’s Board, or an officer or employee of the Issuer; provided, however, that 
the fact that such Person is retained regularly by or regularly transacts business with the Issuer or 
any developer shall not make such Person an employee within the meaning of this definition.

“Interest Account” shall mean the Account so designated, established as a separate 
account within the Debt Service Fund pursuant to Section 6.04 hereof.

“Interest Payment Date” shall mean, unless otherwise provided in a Supplemental 
Indenture with respect to a Series of Bonds, each May 1 and November 1 commencing on the 
date specified in the Certified Resolution of the Issuer or in the Supplemental Indenture pursuant 
to which a Series of Bonds is issued.

“Interest Period” shall mean the period from and including any Interest Payment Date to 
and excluding the next succeeding Interest Payment Date; provided, however, that upon final 
payment of any Bond at maturity or upon redemption or mandatory purchase, the Interest Period 
shall extend to, but not include, the date of such final payment.

“Investment Securities” shall mean and include any of the following securities, if and to 
the extent that such securities are legal investments for funds of the Issuer:

(i) Government Obligations;

(ii) obligations of any of the following agencies: Government National 
Mortgage Association (including participation certificates issued by such association); 
Fannie Mae (including participation certificates issued by such entity); Federal Home 
Loan Banks; Federal Farm Credit Banks; Tennessee Valley Authority; Farmers Home 
Administration; Student Loan Marketing Association; Federal Home Loan Mortgage 
Corporation.

(iii) deposits, Federal funds or bankers’ acceptances (with term to 
maturity of 270 days or less) of any bank which, at the time of deposit, has an unsecured, 
uninsured and unguaranteed obligation rated in one of the top two rating categories by 
both Moody’s and S&P;



9
44310756;2

(iv) commercial paper rated in the top two rating category by both 
Moody’s and S&P at the time of purchase;

(v) municipal securities issued by any state or commonwealth of the 
United States or political subdivision thereof or constituted authority thereof including, 
but not limited to, municipal corporations, school districts and other special districts, the 
interest on which is exempt from federal income taxation under Section 103 of the Code 
and rated A- or higher by Moody’s, Fitch or S&P at the time of purchase;

(vi) both (A) shares of a diversified open-end management investment 
company (as defined in the Investment Company Act of 1940) or a regulated investment 
company (as defined in Section 851(a) of the Code) that is a money market fund that is 
rated in the highest rating category by both Moody’s and S&P, and (B) shares of money 
market mutual funds that invest only in Government Obligations and obligations of any 
of the following agencies: Government National Mortgage Association (including 
participation certificates issued by such association); Fannie Mae (including participation 
certificates issued by such entity); Federal Home Loan Banks; Federal Farm Credit 
Banks; Tennessee Valley Authority; Farmers Home Administration; Student Loan 
Marketing Association; Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation and repurchase 
agreements secured by such obligations, which funds are rated in the highest categories 
for such funds by both Moody’s and S&P at the time of purchase;

(vii) repurchase agreements, which will be collateralized at the onset of 
the repurchase agreement of at least 103% marked to market weekly by the provider with 
collateral with a domestic or foreign bank or corporation (other than life or property 
casualty insurance company) the long-term debt of which, or, in the case of a financial 
guaranty insurance company, claims paying ability, of the guarantor is rated at least 
“AA” by S&P and “Aa” by Moody’s provided that the repurchase agreement shall 
provide that if during its term the provider’s rating by either S&P or Moody’s falls below 
“AA-” or “Aa3,” respectively, the provider shall immediately notify the Trustee and the 
provider shall at its option, within ten days of receipt of publication of such downgrade, 
either (A) maintain collateral at levels, sufficient to maintain an “AA” rated investment 
from S&P and an “Aa” rated investment from Moody’s, or (B) repurchase all collateral 
and terminate the repurchase agreement.  Further, if the provider’s rating by either S&P 
or Moody’s falls below “A-” or “A3,” respectively, the provider must promptly notify the 
Issuer and the Trustee, and the provider shall, at its option within ten (10) calendar days, 
either (1) maintain collateral at levels sufficient to maintain an “AA” rated investment 
from S&P and an “Aa” rated investment from Moody’s, or (2) repurchase all collateral 
and terminate the repurchase agreement without penalty.  In the event the repurchase 
agreement provider has not satisfied the above conditions within ten (10) days of the date 
such conditions apply, then the repurchase agreement shall provide that the Trustee shall 
be entitled to, and in such event, the Trustee shall, provided it has been provided notice of 
such downgrade, withdraw the entire amount invested plus accrued interest within two 
(2) Business Days of such ten (10) day period.  Any repurchase agreement entered into 
pursuant to this Indenture shall contain the following additional provisions:



10
44310756;2

1) Failure to maintain the requisite collateral 
percentage will require the Issuer or the Trustee to liquidate the collateral as 
provided above;

2) The Holder of the Collateral, as hereinafter defined, 
shall have possession of the collateral or the collateral shall have been transferred 
to the Holder of the Collateral, in accordance with applicable state and federal 
laws (other than by means of entries on the transferor’s books);

3) The repurchase agreement shall state and an opinion 
of Counsel in form and in substance satisfactory to the Issuer shall be rendered 
that the Holder of the Collateral has a perfected first priority security interest in 
the collateral, any substituted collateral and all proceeds thereof (in the case of 
bearer securities, this means the Holder of the Collateral is in possession);

4) The repurchase agreement shall be a “repurchase 
agreement” as defined in the United States Bankruptcy Code and, if the provider 
is a domestic bank, a “qualified financial contract” as defined in the Financial 
Institutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act of 1989 (“FIRREA”) and 
such bank is subject to FIRREA;

5) The repurchase transaction shall be in the form of a 
written agreement, and such agreement shall require the provider to give written 
notice to the Trustee of any change in its long-term debt rating;

6) The Issuer or its designee shall represent that it has 
no knowledge of any fraud involved in the repurchase transaction;

7) The Issuer and the Trustee shall receive the opinion 
of Counsel (which opinion shall be addressed to the Issuer and the Trustee and 
shall be in form and substance satisfactory to the Issuer) that such repurchase 
agreement complies with the terms of this section and is legal, valid, binding and 
enforceable upon the provider in accordance with its terms;

8) The term of the repurchase agreement shall be no 
longer than ten years;

9) The interest with respect to the repurchase 
transaction shall be payable at the times and in the amounts necessary in order to 
make funds available when required under an applicable Supplemental Indenture;

10) The repurchase agreement shall provide that the 
Trustee may withdraw funds without penalty at any time, or from time to time, for 
any purpose permitted or required under this Indenture;

11) Any repurchase agreement shall provide that a 
perfected security interest in such investments is created for the benefit of the 
Beneficial Owners under the Uniform Commercial Code of Florida, or book-entry 



11
44310756;2

procedures prescribed at 31 C.F.R. 306.1 et seq. or 31 C.F.R. 350.0 et seq. are 
created for the benefit of the Beneficial Owners; and

12) The collateral delivered or transferred to the Issuer, 
the Trustee, or a third-party acceptable to, and acting solely as agent for, the 
Trustee (the “Holder of the Collateral”) shall be delivered and transferred in 
compliance with applicable state and federal laws (other than by means of entries 
on provider’s books) free and clear of any third-party liens or claims pursuant to a 
custodial agreement subject to the prior written approval of the majority of the 
Holders and the Trustee.  The custodial agreement shall provide that the Trustee 
must have disposition or control over the collateral of the repurchase agreement, 
irrespective of an event of default by the provider of such repurchase agreement.

If such investments are held by a third-party, they shall be held as agent for the benefit of the 
Trustee as fiduciary for the Beneficial Owners and not as agent for the bank serving as Trustee in 
its commercial capacity or any other party and shall be segregated from securities owned 
generally by such third party or bank;

(viii) investment agreements with a bank, insurance company or other 
financial institution, or the subsidiary of a bank, insurance company or other financial 
institution if the parent guarantees the investment agreement, which bank, insurance 
company, financial institution or parent has an unsecured, uninsured and unguaranteed 
obligation (or claims-paying ability) rated in the highest short-term rating category by 
Moody’s or S&P (if the term of such agreement does not exceed 365 days), or has an 
unsecured, uninsured and unguaranteed obligation (or claims paying ability) rated by Aa2 
or better by Moody’s and AA or better by S&P or Fitch, respectively (if the term of such 
agreement is more than 365 days) or is the lead bank of a parent bank holding company 
with an uninsured, unsecured and unguaranteed obligation of the aforesaid ratings, 
provided:

1) interest is paid on any date interest is due on the 
Bonds (not more frequently than quarterly) at a fixed rate (subject to adjustments 
for yield restrictions required by the Code) during the entire term of the 
agreement;

2) moneys invested thereunder may be withdrawn 
without penalty, premium, or charge upon not more than two days’ notice unless 
otherwise specified in a Supplemental Indenture;

3) the same guaranteed interest rate will be paid on 
any future deposits made to restore the account to its required amount; and

4) the Trustee receives an opinion of Counsel that such 
agreement is an enforceable obligation of such insurance company, bank, 
financial institution or parent;

5) in the event of a suspension, withdrawal, or 
downgrade below Aa3, AA- or AA- by Moody’s, S&P or Fitch, respectively, the 



12
44310756;2

provider shall notify the Trustee within five (5) business days of such downgrade 
event and the provider shall at its option, within ten (10) business days after 
notice is given to the Trustee take any one of the following actions:

6) collateralize the agreement at levels, sufficient to 
maintain an “AA” rated investment from S&P or Fitch and an “Aa2” from 
Moody’s with a mark to market approach, or

7) assign the agreement to another provider, as long as 
the minimum rating criteria of “AA” rated investment from S&P or Fitch and an 
“Aa2” from Moody’s with a mark to market approach; or

8) have the agreement guaranteed by a provider which 
results in a minimum rating criteria of an “AA” rated investment from S&P or 
Fitch and an “Aa2” from Moody’s with a mark to market approach; or

9) repay all amounts due and owing under the 
agreement.

10) In the event the provider has not satisfied any one of 
the above conditions within three (3) days of the date such conditions apply, then 
the agreement shall provide that the Trustee shall be entitled to withdraw the 
entire amount invested plus accrued interest without penalty or premium.

(ix) bonds, notes and other debt obligations of any corporation 
organized under the laws of the United States, any state or organized territory of the 
United States or the District of Columbia, if such obligations are, at the time of purchase, 
rated A- or better by at least two (2) of the following rating agencies:  Moody’s, S&P or 
Fitch; or AA- or better by either S&P or Fitch or Aa- or better by Moody’s; 

(x) the Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund as described in 
Florida Statutes, Section 218.405 or the corresponding provisions of subsequent laws 
provided that such fund, at the time of purchase, is rated at least “AA” by S&P (without 
regard to gradation) or at least “Aa” by Moody’s (without regard to gradation); 

(xi) in addition to investments of the type specific in (iii) of this 
definition of Investment Securities, negotiable or non-negotiable certificates of deposit, 
savings accounts, deposit accounts, money market deposits or banking arrangements 
issued by or with any financial institution subject to state or federal regulation; and

(xii) other investments permitted by Florida law and directed by the 
Issuer.

Under all circumstances, the Trustee shall be entitled to conclusively rely that any investment 
directed by the Issuer is a legal investment for funds of the Issuer and is permitted under the 
Indenture.  

“Issuer” shall mean the Parkland Preserve Community Development District.



13
44310756;2

“Major Non-Recurring Expense” shall mean the cost of major replacement or 
reconstruction of the Project, or any part thereof, the cost of major repairs, renewals or 
replacements, the provision of a reserve for the payment of insurance premiums not due on an 
annual or more frequent basis, and the cost of studies, surveys, estimates and investigations in 
connection with any of the foregoing.

“Majority Owners” shall mean the Beneficial Owners of more than fifty percent (50%) of 
the aggregate principal amount of the applicable Series of Bonds then Outstanding.

“Master Indenture” shall mean, this Master Trust Indenture dated as of  _______ 1, 2018
by and between the Issuer and the Trustee, as amended and or supplemented in accordance with 
the provisions of Article XIII hereof.

“Moody’s” shall mean Moody’s Investors Service, Inc., a corporation organized and 
existing under the laws of the State of Delaware, its successors and assigns, and, if such 
corporation shall be dissolved or liquidated or shall no longer perform the functions of a 
securities rating agency, “Moody’s” shall be deemed to refer to any other nationally recognized 
securities rating agency designated by the Issuer and acceptable to the Trustee.

“Officers’ Certificate” or “Officer’s Certificate” shall mean a certificate, duly executed 
by a Responsible Officer and delivered to the Trustee.

“Outstanding,” in connection with a Series of Bonds, shall mean, as of the time in 
question, all Bonds of such Series authenticated and delivered under the Indenture, except:

(a) all Bonds theretofore cancelled or required to be cancelled under Section 
2.07 hereof;

(b) Bonds for the payment, redemption or purchase of which moneys and/or 
Defeasance Securities, the principal of and interest on which, when due, will provide sufficient 
moneys to fully pay such Bonds in accordance with Article XIV hereof, shall have been or shall 
concurrently be deposited with the Trustee; provided that, if such Bonds are being redeemed, the 
required notice of redemption shall have been given or provision shall have been made therefor, 
and that if such Bonds are being purchased, there shall be a firm commitment for the purchase 
and sale thereof; and

(c) Bonds in substitution for which other Bonds have been authenticated and 
delivered pursuant to Article II hereof.

In determining whether the Holders of a requisite aggregate principal amount of Bonds 
Outstanding of a Series have concurred in any request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, 
consent or waiver under the provisions of the Indenture, Bonds of such Series which are known 
by the Trustee to be held by or on behalf of the Issuer shall be disregarded for the purpose of any 
such determination, unless all of the Bonds of such Series are held by or on behalf of the Issuer; 
provided, however, this provision does not affect the right of the Trustee to deal in Bonds as set 
forth in Section 11.10 hereof.



14
44310756;2

“Participating Underwriter” shall mean any of the original underwriters of the Bonds 
required to comply with the Rule in connection with the offering of the Bonds.

“Paying Agent” shall mean initially, The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, 
N.A. and thereafter any successor thereto appointed in accordance with Section 11.21 of this 
Master Indenture.

“Person” shall mean any individual, corporation, partnership, association, joint-stock 
company, trust, unincorporated organization, governmental body, political subdivision, 
municipality, municipal authority or any other group or organization of individuals.

“Pledged Revenues” shall mean, unless otherwise provided by Supplemental Indenture 
with respect to a Series of Bonds, with respect to each Series of Bonds Outstanding, (a) all 
revenues received by the Issuer from Special Assessments levied and collected on all or a portion 
of the District Lands, with respect to the Project or the portion thereof financed by such Series of 
Bonds, including, without limitation, amounts received from any foreclosure proceeding for the 
enforcement of collection of such Special Assessments (provided however that the District shall 
be permitted to retain such amounts as may be necessary to pay its legal and consulting fees and 
costs in connection with the foreclosure proceedings) or from the issuance and sale of tax 
certificates with respect to such Special Assessments, and (b) all moneys on deposit in the Funds 
and Accounts established under the Indenture allocated to such Series of Bonds; provided, 
however, that Pledged Revenues shall not include any moneys transferred to the Rebate Fund or 
investment earnings thereon.

“Prepayment” shall mean monies received as the result of the payment by any owner of 
Property of the Special Assessments encumbering its property, in whole or in part, prior to its 
scheduled due date.

“Prepayment Principal” shall mean the portion of a Prepayment corresponding to the 
principal amount of the Special Assessments being prepaid.

“Principal Account” shall mean the account so designated within the Debt Service Fund.

“Project” shall mean with respect to any Series of Bonds, the design, acquisition, 
construction equipping and/or improvement of certain public infrastructure and public facilities; 
and related incidental costs, all as more specifically described in the Supplemental Indenture 
relating to such Series of Bonds.

“Property Appraiser” shall mean the property appraiser of the County.

“Property Appraiser and Tax Collector Agreement” shall mean the Property Appraiser 
and Tax Collector Agreement described in Section 9.04 hereof.

“Rebate Fund” shall mean the Fund so designated, which is established pursuant to 
Section 6.11 of this Master Indenture.

“Record Date” shall mean, as the case may be, the applicable Regular or Special Record 
Date.



15
44310756;2

“Redemption Price” shall mean the principal amount of any Bond of a Series plus the 
applicable premium, if any, payable upon redemption thereof pursuant to the Indenture.

“Registrar” shall mean initially The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A.,
which entity shall have the responsibilities set forth in Section 2.04 of this Master Indenture, and 
thereafter any successor thereto appointed in accordance with Section 11.21 of this Master 
Indenture.

“Regular Record Date” shall mean the fifteenth day (whether or not a Business Day) of 
the calendar month next preceding each Interest Payment Date.

“Regulatory Body” shall mean and include (a) the United States of America and any 
department of or corporation, agency or instrumentality heretofore or hereafter created, 
designated or established by the United States of America, (b) the State, any political subdivision 
thereof and any department of or corporation, agency or instrumentality heretofore or hereafter 
created, designated or established by the State, (c) the County and any department, agency or 
instrumentality heretofore or hereafter created, designated or established by the County, and 
(d) any other public body, whether federal, state or local or otherwise having regulatory 
jurisdiction and authority over the Issuer.

“Responsible Officer” shall mean any member of the Board or any other officer of the 
Issuer, including the Secretary or other person designated by Certified Resolution of the Issuer, a 
copy of which shall be on file with the Trustee, to act for any of the foregoing, either generally or 
with respect to the execution of any particular document or other specific matter.

“Revenue Fund” shall mean the Fund so designated which is established pursuant to 
Section 6.03 hereof.

“Rule” shall mean Rule 15c2-12(b)(5) adopted by the Securities and Exchange 
Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as the same may be amended from time 
to time.

“S&P” shall mean S&P Global Inc., a corporation organized and existing under the laws 
of the State of New York, its successors and assigns, and, if such corporation shall be dissolved 
or liquidated or shall no longer perform the functions of a securities rating agency, “S&P” shall 
be deemed to refer to any other nationally recognized securities rating agency designated by the 
Issuer and acceptable to the Trustee.

“Serial Bonds” shall mean Bonds other than Term Bonds that mature on at least an 
annual basis as more particularly defined in the applicable Supplemental Indenture.

“Series” shall mean all of the Bonds authenticated and delivered at one time on original 
issuance and pursuant to any Certified Resolution of the Issuer authorizing such Bonds as a 
separate Series of Bonds, or any Bonds thereafter authenticated and delivered in lieu of or in 
substitution for such Bonds pursuant to Article II hereof and the applicable Supplemental 
Indenture, regardless of variations in maturity, interest rate or other provisions; provided, 
however, two or more Series of Bonds may be issued simultaneously under the same 
Supplemental Indenture if designated as separate Series of Bonds by the Issuer upon original 



16
44310756;2

issuance.  Two or more Series or sub-Series of Bonds may be issued simultaneously under 
separate Supplemental Indentures, but under this Master Indenture.  As may be provided by 
subsequent proceedings of the Issuer, one or more Series of Bonds or sub-Series of Bonds, 
whether issued at the same time or not, may be separately secured by Special Assessments 
imposed pursuant to separate assessment proceedings.  Such Bonds or sub-Series of Bonds 
which are secured by separate Special Assessments will not be issued as parity bonds even if 
issued at the same time.

“Sinking Fund Account” shall mean the Account so designated, established as a separate 
account within the Debt Service Fund pursuant to Section 6.04 hereof.

“Sinking Fund Installment” shall mean the moneys required to be deposited in the 
Sinking Fund Account for the purpose of redeeming and paying when due any Term Bonds, the 
specific amounts and dates of such deposits to be set forth in a Supplemental Indenture.

“Special Assessments” shall mean (a) “special assessments,” as provided for in Sections 
190.011(14) and 190.022 of the Act against District Lands that are subject to assessment as a 
result of a particular Project or any portion thereof, and (b) “benefit special assessments,” as 
provided for in Section 190.021(2) of the Act, against the lands within the Issuer that are subject 
to assessment as a result of a particular Project or any portion thereof, and in the case of both 
“special assessments” and “benefit special assessments,” including the interest and penalties on 
such assessments, pursuant to all applicable provisions of the Act and Chapter 170, Florida 
Statutes, and Chapter 197, Florida Statutes (and any successor statutes thereto), including, 
without limitation, any amount received from any foreclosure proceeding for the enforcement of 
collection of such assessments or from the issuance and sale of tax certificates with respect to 
such assessments, less (to the extent applicable) the fees and costs of collection thereof payable 
to the Tax Collector and less certain administrative costs payable to the Property Appraiser 
pursuant to the Property Appraiser and Tax Collector Agreement.  “Special Assessments” shall 
not include “special assessments” levied and collected by the Issuer under Section 190.022 of the 
Act for maintenance purposes or “maintenance special assessments” levied and collected by the 
Issuer under Section 190.021(3) of the Act.

“Special Record Date” shall mean such date as shall be fixed for the payment of 
defaulted interest on the Bonds in accordance with Section 2.01 hereof.

“State” shall mean the State of Florida.

“Supplemental Indenture” and “indenture supplemental hereto” shall mean any indenture 
amending or supplementing this Master Indenture which may be entered into in accordance with 
the provisions of this Master Indenture.

“Tax Collector” shall mean the tax collector of the County.

“Term Bonds” shall mean Bonds that mature on one date and that are subject to 
mandatory redemption from Sinking Fund Installments.

The words “hereof,” “herein,” “hereto,” “hereby,” and “hereunder” (except in the form of 
Bond), refer to the entire Master Indenture.



17
44310756;2

Every “request,” “requisition,” “order,” “demand,” “application,” “notice,” “statement,”
“certificate,” “consent,” or similar action hereunder by the Issuer shall, unless the form or 
execution thereof is otherwise specifically provided, be in writing signed by the Responsible 
Officer of the Issuer.

All words and terms importing the singular number shall, where the context requires, 
import the plural number and vice versa.

[END OF ARTICLE I]



18
44310756;2

ARTICLE II
THE BONDS

Section 2.01 Amounts and Terms of Bonds; Details of Bonds.  The Issuer is hereby 
authorized to issue in one or more Series pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Master 
Indenture, its obligations to be known as “Parkland Preserve Community Development District 
Special Assessment Revenue Bonds, Series [to be designated]”.  The Bonds shall be issued in 
Authorized Denominations unless otherwise provided in a Supplemental Indenture and within 
each Series shall be numbered consecutively from R-1 and upwards.  All Bonds shall be issued 
only upon satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Article III hereof; and the Trustee shall, at the 
Issuer’s request, authenticate such Bonds and deliver them as specified in such request.

Each Bond shall be dated, shall have such Interest Payment Dates, shall bear interest 
from such date or dates and at such rate or rates until the maturity thereof, payable on such 
Interest Payment Dates, and shall be stated to mature (subject to the right of prior redemption), 
all as provided in, or pursuant to, a Supplemental Indenture.

Both the principal of and the interest on the Bonds shall be payable in any coin or 
currency of the United States of America which is legal tender on the respective dates of 
payment thereof for the payment of public and private debts.  Unless otherwise provided in 
Section 2.11 hereof or in a Supplemental Indenture, the principal of all Bonds shall be payable at 
the designated corporate trust office of the Paying Agent upon the presentation and surrender of 
such Bonds as the same shall become due and payable.

Except to the extent otherwise provided in Section 2.11 hereof or in a Supplemental 
Indenture, interest on any Bond is payable on any Interest Payment Date by check or draft 
mailed on the Interest Payment Date to the person in whose name that Bond is registered at the 
close of business on the Regular Record Date for such Interest Payment Date, at his address as it 
appears on the Bond Register.  The Bonds shall bear interest from the Interest Payment Date next 
preceding the date on which they are authenticated unless authenticated on an Interest Payment 
Date in which event they shall bear interest from such Interest Payment Date, or unless 
authenticated before the first Interest Payment Date in which event they shall bear interest from 
their date; provided, however, that if a Bond is authenticated between a Record Date and the next 
succeeding Interest Payment Date, such Bond shall bear interest from such succeeding Interest 
Payment Date; provided further, however, that if at the time of authentication of any Bond 
interest thereon is in default, such Bond shall bear interest from the date to which interest has 
been paid or if interest has not been paid then from the Dated Date of the Bonds.  Any interest on 
any Bond which is payable, but is not punctually paid or provided for on any Interest Payment 
Date (hereinafter called “Defaulted Interest”) shall be paid to the Owner in whose name the 
Bond is registered at the close of business on a Special Record Date to be fixed by the Trustee, 
such date to be not more than fifteen (15) nor less than ten (10) days prior to the date of proposed 
payment.  The Trustee shall cause notice of the proposed payment of such Defaulted Interest and 
the Special Record Date therefor to be mailed, first-class, postage-prepaid, to each Owner of 
record as of the fifth (5th) day prior to such mailing, at his address as it appears in the Bond 
Register.  The foregoing notwithstanding, but subject to the procedures set forth in Section 2.11 
hereof, any Owner of Bonds of a Series in an aggregate principal amount of at least $1,000,000
shall be entitled to have interest paid by wire transfer to such Owner to the bank account number 



19
44310756;2

on file with the Trustee and Paying Agent, upon requesting the same in a writing received by the 
Trustee and Paying Agent at least fifteen (15) days prior to the relevant Record Date, which 
writing shall specify the bank, which shall be a bank within the continental United States, and 
bank account number to which interest payments are to be wired.  Any such request for interest 
payments by wire transfer shall remain in effect until rescinded or changed, in a writing 
delivered by the Owner to the Trustee and Paying Agent, and any such rescission or change of 
wire transfer instructions must be received by the Trustee and Paying Agent at least fifteen (15) 
days prior to the relevant Record Date.  Unless provided otherwise in a Supplemental Indenture 
with respect to a Series of Bonds, interest on the Bonds will be computed on the basis of a 360-
day year of twelve 30-day months.  Unless provided otherwise in a Supplemental Indenture with 
respect to a Series of Bonds, interest on overdue principal and, to the extent lawful, on overdue 
interest will be payable at the numerical rate of interest borne by such Bonds on the day before 
the default occurred.

The Trustee is hereby constituted and appointed as Paying Agent for the Bonds.

Section 2.02 Execution.  The Bonds shall be executed by the manual or facsimile 
signature of the Chair or Vice Chair of the Issuer, and the corporate seal of the Issuer shall 
appear thereon (which may be in facsimile) and shall be attested by the manual or facsimile 
signature of its Secretary or Assistant Secretary.  Bonds executed as above provided may be 
issued and shall, upon request of the Issuer, be authenticated by the Trustee, notwithstanding that 
one or both of the officers of the Issuer whose signatures appear on such Bonds shall have ceased 
to hold office at the time of issuance or authentication or shall not have held office at the date of 
the Bonds.

Section 2.03 Authentication.  No Bond shall be valid until the certificate of 
authentication shall have been duly executed by the Trustee, and such authentication shall be 
proof that the Bondholder is entitled to the benefit of the trust hereby created.  

Section 2.04 Registration and Registrar.  The Trustee is hereby constituted and 
appointed as the Registrar for the Bonds.  The Registrar shall act as registrar and transfer agent 
for the Bonds.  The Issuer shall cause to be kept at an office of the Registrar a register (herein 
sometimes referred to as the “Bond Register” or “Register”) in which, subject to the provisions 
set forth in Section 2.08 below and such other regulations as the Issuer and Registrar may 
prescribe, the Issuer shall provide for the registration of the Bonds and for the registration of 
transfers and exchanges of such Bonds.  The Trustee shall notify the Issuer in writing of the 
specific office location (which may be changed from time to time, upon similar notification) at 
which the Bond Register is kept.

Section 2.05 Mutilated, Destroyed, Lost or Stolen Bonds.  If any Bond shall become 
mutilated, the Issuer shall execute and the Trustee shall thereupon authenticate and deliver a new 
Bond of like Series, tenor and denomination in exchange and substitution for the Bond so 
mutilated, but only upon surrender to the Trustee of such mutilated Bond for cancellation, and 
the Issuer and the Trustee may require reasonable indemnity therefor.  If any Bond shall be 
reported lost, stolen or destroyed, evidence as to the ownership and the loss, theft or destruction 
thereof shall be submitted to the Issuer and the Trustee; and if such evidence shall be satisfactory 
to both and indemnity satisfactory to both shall be given, the Issuer shall execute, and thereupon 



20
44310756;2

the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver a new Bond of like Series, tenor and denomination.  
The cost of providing any substitute Bond under the provisions of this Section shall be borne by 
the Bondholder for whose benefit such substitute Bond is provided.  If any such mutilated, lost, 
stolen or destroyed Bond shall have matured or be about to mature, the Issuer may, with the 
consent of the Trustee, pay to the Owner the principal amount of and accrued interest on such 
Bond upon the maturity thereof and compliance with the aforesaid conditions by such Owner, 
without the issuance of a substitute Bond therefor.

Every substituted Bond issued pursuant to this Section 2.05 shall constitute an additional 
contractual obligation of the Issuer, whether or not the Bond alleged to have been destroyed, lost 
or stolen shall be at any time enforceable by anyone, and shall be entitled to all the benefits of 
this Master Indenture and applicable Supplemental Indenture equally and proportionately with 
any and all other Bonds of such same Series duly issued hereunder and under such Supplemental 
Indenture.

All Bonds shall be held and owned upon the express condition that the foregoing 
provisions are exclusive with respect to the replacement or payment of mutilated, destroyed, lost 
or stolen Bonds, and shall preclude any and all other rights or remedies with respect to the 
replacement or payment of negotiable instruments, investments or other securities without their 
surrender.

Section 2.06 Temporary Bonds.  Pending preparation of definitive Bonds, or by 
agreement with the original purchasers of all Bonds, the Issuer may issue and, upon its request, 
the Trustee shall authenticate in lieu of definitive Bonds one or more temporary printed or 
typewritten Bonds of substantially the tenor recited above.  Upon request of the Issuer, the 
Trustee shall authenticate definitive Bonds in exchange for and upon surrender of an equal 
principal amount of temporary Bonds.  Until so exchanged, temporary Bonds shall have the same 
rights, remedies and security hereunder as definitive Bonds.  So long as Cede & Co., or any other 
nominee of DTC is the registered Owner of the Bonds, the definitive Bonds shall be in 
typewritten form.  

Section 2.07 Cancellation and Destruction of Surrendered Bonds.  All Bonds 
surrendered for payment or redemption and all Bonds surrendered for exchange shall, at the time 
of such payment, redemption or exchange, be promptly transferred by the Registrar or the Paying 
Agent to, and cancelled and destroyed by, the Trustee in accordance with its retention policy 
then in effect.

Section 2.08 Registration, Transfer and Exchange.  As provided in Section 2.04 
hereof, the Issuer shall cause a Bond Register in respect of the Bonds to be kept at the designated 
office of the Registrar.

Upon surrender for registration of transfer of any Bond at the designated office of the 
Registrar, and upon compliance with the conditions for the transfer of Bonds set forth in this 
Section 2.08, the Issuer shall execute and the Trustee (or Registrar as described in Section 2.03 
and Section 2.04 hereof) shall authenticate and deliver, in the name of the designated transferees, 
one or more new Bonds of a like aggregate principal amount and of the same Series and 
maturity.



21
44310756;2

At the option of the Bondholder, Bonds may be exchanged for other Bonds of a like 
aggregate principal amount and of the same Series and maturity, upon surrender of the Bonds to 
be exchanged at any such office of the Registrar.  Whenever any Bonds are so surrendered for 
exchange, the Issuer shall execute and the Trustee (or Registrar as described in Section 2.03 and 
Section 2.04 hereof) shall authenticate and deliver the Bonds which the Bondholder making the 
exchange is entitled to receive.

All Bonds issued upon any transfer or exchange of Bonds shall be valid obligations of the 
Issuer, evidencing the same debt and entitled to the same benefits under this Master Indenture 
and applicable Supplemental Indenture as the Bonds of such Series surrendered upon such 
transfer or exchange.

Every Bond presented or surrendered for transfer or exchange shall be duly endorsed or 
accompanied by a written instrument of transfer in form satisfactory to the Trustee, Paying 
Agent or the Registrar, duly executed by the Bondholder or his attorney duly authorized in 
writing.

Transfers and exchanges shall be made without charge to the Bondholder, except that the 
Issuer or the Trustee may require payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other 
governmental charge that may be imposed in connection with any transfer or exchange of Bonds.

Neither the Issuer nor the Registrar on behalf of the Issuer shall be required (i) to issue, 
transfer or exchange any Bond during a period beginning at the opening of business fifteen (15) 
days before the day of mailing of a notice of redemption of Bonds selected for redemption and 
ending at the close of business on the day of such mailing, or (ii) to transfer or exchange any 
Bond so selected for redemption in whole or in part.

Section 2.09 Persons Deemed Owners.  The Issuer, the Trustee, any Paying Agent, or 
the Registrar shall deem and treat the person in whose name any Bond is registered as the 
absolute Owner thereof (whether or not such Bond shall be overdue and notwithstanding any 
notation of ownership or other writing thereon made by anyone other than the Issuer, the Trustee, 
any Paying Agent or the Registrar) for the purpose of receiving payment of or on account of the 
principal or Redemption Price of and interest on such Bond, and for all other purposes, and the 
Issuer, the Trustee, any Paying Agent, and the Registrar shall not be affected by any notice to the 
contrary. All such payments so made to any such Owner, or upon his order, shall be valid and, 
to the extent of the sum or sums so paid, effectual to satisfy and discharge the liability for 
moneys payable upon any such Bond.

Section 2.10 Limitation on Incurrence of Certain Indebtedness.  The Issuer will not 
issue Bonds of any Series secured by a parity lien on the same Pledged Revenues pledged to any 
Series of Outstanding Bonds, provided that the Issuer may enter into agreements with issuers of 
Credit Facilities which involve liens on Pledged Revenues on a parity with that of the Bonds or 
portion thereof which is supported by such Credit Facilities.

Section 2.11 Qualification for The Depository Trust Company.  To the extent 
provided in a Supplemental Indenture or authorized and directed by a Resolution of the Issuer 
authorizing the issuance of a Series of Bonds, the Trustee shall be authorized to enter into 



22
44310756;2

agreements with The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”) and other 
depository trust companies, including, but not limited to, agreements necessary for wire transfers 
of interest and principal payments with respect to the Bonds, utilization of electronic book entry 
data received from DTC, and other depository trust companies in place of actual delivery of 
Bonds and provision of notices with respect to Bonds registered by DTC and other depository 
trust companies (or any of their designees identified to the Trustee) by overnight delivery, 
courier service, telegram, telecopy or other similar means of communication.

So long as there shall be maintained a book-entry-only system with respect to a Series of 
Bonds, the following provisions shall apply:

Unless provided otherwise in a Supplemental Indenture with respect to a Series of Bonds, 
each Series of Bonds shall initially be registered in the name of Cede & Co. as nominee for DTC, 
which will act initially as securities depository for the Bonds and so long as the Bonds are held in 
book-entry-only form, Cede & Co. shall be considered the registered owner for all purposes 
hereof. On original issue, such Bonds shall be deposited with DTC, which shall be responsible 
for maintaining a book-entry-only system for recording the ownership interest of its participants 
(“DTC Participants”) and other institutions that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship 
with a DTC Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect Participants”). The DTC 
Participants and Indirect Participants will be responsible for maintaining records with respect to 
the beneficial ownership interests of individual purchasers of the Bonds (“Beneficial Owners”).

Principal and interest on the Bonds registered in the name of Cede & Co. prior to and at 
maturity shall be payable directly to Cede & Co. in care of DTC. Disbursal of such amounts to 
DTC Participants shall be the responsibility of DTC. Payments by DTC Participants to Indirect 
Participants, and by DTC Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners shall be the 
responsibility of DTC Participants and Indirect Participants and not of DTC, the Trustee or the 
Issuer.

The Bonds registered in the name of Cede & Co. shall initially be issued in the form of 
one fully registered Bond for each maturity of each Series registered in the name of Cede & Co. 
and shall be held in such form until maturity.  Individuals may purchase beneficial interests in 
Authorized Denominations in book-entry-only form, without certificated Bonds, through DTC 
Participants and Indirect Participants.

DURING THE PERIOD FOR WHICH CEDE & CO. IS REGISTERED OWNER OF 
THE BONDS, ANY NOTICES TO BE PROVIDED TO ANY REGISTERED OWNER WILL 
BE PROVIDED TO CEDE & CO. DTC SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR NOTICES TO DTC 
PARTICIPANTS AND DTC PARTICIPANTS SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR NOTICES 
TO INDIRECT PARTICIPANTS, AND DTC PARTICIPANTS AND INDIRECT 
PARTICIPANTS SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR NOTICES TO BENEFICIAL OWNERS.

The Issuer and the Trustee, if appropriate, shall enter into a blanket letter of 
representations with DTC providing for such book-entry-only system.  Such agreement may be 
terminated at any time by either DTC or the Issuer.  In the event of such termination, the Issuer 
shall select another securities depository and in that event all references herein to DTC or CEDE 
& CO shall be deemed to be for reference to its respective successors.  If the Issuer does not 



23
44310756;2

replace DTC, the Trustee will register and deliver to the Beneficial Owners replacement Bonds 
in the form of fully registered Bonds in accordance with the instructions from Cede & Co.

In the event DTC, any successor of DTC or the Issuer elects to discontinue the book-
entry only system in conformity with the requirements of DTC, the Trustee shall deliver bond 
certificates in accordance with the instructions from DTC or its successor and after such time 
Bonds may be exchanged for an equal aggregate principal amount of Bonds in other Authorized 
Denominations and of the same maturity and Series upon surrender thereof at the designated 
corporate trust office of the Trustee.

[END OF ARTICLE II]



24
44310756;2

ARTICLE III
ISSUE OF BONDS

Section 3.01 Issue of Bonds.  Subject to the provisions of Section 2.01 hereof, the 
Issuer may issue one or more Series of Bonds hereunder and under Supplemental Indentures 
from time to time for the purpose of financing the Cost of acquisition or construction of a Project 
or to refund all or a portion of a Series of Bonds (and to pay the costs of the issuance of such 
Bonds and to pay the amounts required to be deposited with respect to such Bonds in the Funds 
and Accounts established under the Indenture).  In connection with the issuance of a Series of 
Bonds the Trustee shall, at the request of the Issuer, authenticate the Bonds and deliver or cause 
them to be authenticated and delivered, as specified in the request, but only upon receipt of:

1) a Certified Resolution of the Issuer (a) approving a 
Supplemental Indenture under which the Series of Bonds are to be issued; 
(b) providing the terms of the Bonds and directing the payments to be made into 
the Funds and Accounts in respect thereof as provided in Articles V and VI 
hereof; (c) authorizing the execution and delivery of the Series of Bonds to be 
issued; and (d) if the purpose is to effectuate a refunding, authorizing the 
redemption, if any, of the Bonds to be refunded and the defeasance thereof, and 
the execution and delivery of an escrow agreement, if applicable, and other 
matters contained in Article XIV hereof;

2) a written opinion or opinions of Counsel to the 
Issuer, and addressed to the Trustee (but only with respect to items (a), (c), (d) 
and (g) below), substantially to the effect that (a) the Bonds have been validly 
authorized and executed by the Issuer and when authenticated and delivered 
pursuant to the request of the Issuer will be valid obligations of the Issuer entitled 
to the benefit of the trust created hereby and will be enforceable in accordance 
with their terms except as enforcement thereof may be affected by bankruptcy, 
reorganization, insolvency, moratorium and other similar laws relating to 
creditors’ rights generally and subject to equitable principles, whether in a 
proceeding at law or in equity; (b) based on certificate of the Consulting Engineer, 
the Issuer has good right and lawful authority under the Act to undertake the 
Project, subject to obtaining such licenses, orders or other authorizations as are, at 
the date of such opinion, required to be obtained from any agency or regulatory 
body; (c) this Master Indenture and the applicable Supplemental Indenture have
been duly and validly authorized, approved, and executed by the Issuer; (d) the 
issuance of the Series of Bonds has been duly authorized and approved by the 
Board; (e) that the Special Assessment proceedings have been taken in 
accordance with Florida law and that the Issuer has taken all action necessary to 
levy and impose the Special Assessments; (f) that the Special Assessments are 
legal, valid, and binding liens upon the property against which the Special 
Assessments are made, coequal with the lien of all state, county, district and 
municipal ad valorem taxes and superior in priority to all other liens, titles and 
claims against said property then existing or thereafter created, until paid; and (g) 
this Master Indenture and the applicable Supplemental Indenture (assuming due 
authorization, execution and delivery by the Trustee) constitute a binding 



25
44310756;2

obligation of the Issuer, enforceable against the Issuer in accordance with its 
terms except as enforcement thereof may be affected by bankruptcy, 
reorganization, insolvency, moratorium and other similar laws relating to 
creditors’ rights generally and subject to equitable principles, whether in a 
proceeding at law or in equity (clause (b) shall not apply in the case of the 
issuance of a refunding Series of Bonds);

3) for any Series of Bonds issued to finance the Cost 
of acquisition or construction of a Project, a Consulting Engineer’s certificate 
addressed to the Issuer and the Trustee in connection with the issuance of Bonds 
any proceeds of which will be used to finance Costs of a Project setting forth the 
estimated cost of the Project, and in the case of an acquisition by the Issuer of all 
or a portion of the Project that has been completed, stating, substantially to the 
effect that in the signer’s opinion, (a) that the portion of the Project improvements 
to be acquired from the proceeds of such Bonds have been completed in 
accordance with the plans and specifications therefor; (b) the Project 
improvements are constructed in a sound workmanlike manner and in accordance 
with industry standards; (c) the purchase price to be paid by the Issuer for the 
Project improvements is no more than the lesser of (i) the fair market value of 
such improvements and (ii) the actual Cost of construction of such improvements; 
and (d) the plans and specifications for the Project improvements have been 
approved by all Regulatory Bodies required to approve them (specifying such 
Regulatory Bodies) or such approval can reasonably be expected to be obtained; 

4) an executed copy of this Master Indenture and the 
Supplemental Indenture for such Bonds, certified by the Secretary or Assistant 
Secretary of the Issuer as being a true and correct copy thereof;

5) the proceeds of the sale of such Bonds together with 
any required equity deposit by any developer entity or any other legally available 
moneys;

6) any Credit Facility authorized by the Issuer in 
respect to such Bonds;

7) one or more Certified Resolutions of the Issuer 
relating to the levy of Special Assessments in respect of the Project, and 
evidencing that the Issuer has undertaken and, to the extent then required under 
applicable law, completed all necessary proceedings, including, without 
limitation, the approval of assessment rolls, the holding of public hearings, the 
adoption of resolutions and the establishment of all necessary collection 
procedures, in order to levy and collect Special Assessments upon the District 
Lands in an amount sufficient to pay the Debt Service Requirement on the Bonds 
to be issued, and further that the benefit from the Project equals or exceeds the 
amount of Special Assessments and that the Special Assessments are fairly and 
reasonably allocated across the lands subject to the Special Assessments;



26
44310756;2

8) an executed opinion of Bond Counsel substantially 
to the effect that: (i) the Indenture has been duly authorized and executed by the 
District and constitutes a valid and binding obligation of the District, enforceable 
in accordance with its terms; (ii) the Bonds have been duly authorized, executed 
and delivered by the District and are valid and binding special obligations of the 
District, payable solely from the sources provided therefor in the Indenture; (iii) 
the interest on the Bonds is excludable from gross income for federal income tax 
purposes; and, if applicable, (iv) the Bonds and the interest paid thereon are 
exempt from all taxes imposed by the State of Florida except as to estate taxes 
and taxes imposed by Chapter 220, Florida Statutes on corporations and other 
entities, as defined therein;

9) a written direction of the Issuer to the Trustee to 
authenticate and deliver such Bonds; 

10) a copy of a Final Judgment of validation and a 
Certificate of No Appeal with respect to the Bonds that are subject to validation or 
an opinion of Counsel that the Bonds are not subject to validation;

11) in the case of the issuance of a refunding Series of 
Bonds, an Officer’s  Certificate of the Issuer or a report of an accounting or 
similar firm stating (a) the Bonds to be refunded; (b) any other amounts available 
for such purpose; (c) that the proceeds of the issue plus the other amounts, if any, 
stated to be available for the purpose will be sufficient to refund the Bonds to be 
refunded in accordance with the refunding plan and in compliance with Article 
XIV of this Master Indenture, including, without limitation, to pay the Costs of 
issuance of such Bonds, and (d) that notice of redemption, if applicable, of the 
Bonds to be refunded has been duly given or that provision has been made 
therefor, as applicable;

12) in the case of the issuance of a refunding Series of 
Bonds, a written opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that the issuance of such 
Bonds will not adversely affect the exclusion from gross income for federal 
income tax purposes of interest on any Bonds issued pursuant to the Indenture (to 
the extent that upon original issuance thereof such Bonds were issued as Bonds 
the interest on which is excludable from gross income for federal income tax 
purposes); 

13) if required by the applicable Supplemental 
Indenture, a collateral assignment of permits, drawings, plans and specifications, 
contracts and other instruments and rights relating to the Project from the 
developer or landowner(s) to the Issuer; and

14) such other documents, certifications and opinions as 
shall be required by the Supplemental Indenture, by the Participating Underwriter 
or the initial purchaser of a Series of Bonds or by the Issuer or the Trustee upon 
advice of counsel.



27
44310756;2

At the option of the Issuer, any or all of the matters required to be stated in the Certified 
Resolution described in (1) above may instead be stated in a Supplemental Indenture, duly 
approved by a Certified Resolution of the Issuer.  Execution of a Series of the Bonds by the 
Issuer and payment of the purchase price upon initial issuance of a Series of the Bonds shall be 
conclusive evidence of satisfaction of the conditions precedent, set forth in this Article, as to the 
Issuer and the Participating Underwriter or the initial purchaser.

[END OF ARTICLE III]



28
44310756;2

ARTICLE IV
CONSTRUCTION OR ACQUISITION OF PROJECT

Section 4.01 Project to Conform to Plans and Specifications; Changes.  The Issuer 
will proceed to complete any Project or portion thereof for which any Series of Bonds is being 
issued in accordance with the plans and specifications therefor, as such plans and specifications 
may be amended from time to time, and subject to the specific requirements of the Supplemental 
Indenture for such Series of Bonds.

Section 4.02 Compliance Requirements.  The Issuer will comply with all present and 
future laws, acts, rules, regulations, orders and requirements lawfully made and applicable in fact 
to any acquisition or construction hereby undertaken and shall obtain all necessary approvals 
under federal, state and local laws, acts, rules and regulations necessary for the construction or 
acquisition, completion and operation of any Project or portion thereof for which any Series of 
Bonds is being issued and shall complete any Project or portion thereof in conformity with such 
approvals, laws, rules and regulations.

Section 4.03 Completion of Project. If the developer or landowner which has granted 
to the Issuer a collateral assignment shall fail, prior to the completion of the Project, to pay, when 
due, any Special Assessments pledged to the payment of the Series of Bonds related to such 
collateral assignment and levied against lands owned by such developer or landowner or any 
affiliated entity, the Issuer may, and upon the declaration of an Event of Default, shall, 
immediately take all actions available under such collateral assignment necessary to take control 
of the assigned rights as shall be necessary to complete the Project. 

[END OF ARTICLE IV]



29
44310756;2

ARTICLE V
ACQUISITION AND CONSTRUCTION FUND

Section 5.01 Acquisition and Construction Fund.  The Trustee shall establish an 
Acquisition and Construction Fund into which shall be deposited the proceeds from each Series 
of Bonds issued under the Indenture (unless otherwise specified herein or in the applicable 
Supplemental Indenture for a Series of Bonds) and from which Costs may be paid as set forth
herein and in the applicable Supplemental Indenture.  Unless otherwise specified in the 
applicable Supplemental Indenture, a separate Series Account shall be established in the 
Acquisition and Construction Fund with respect to each Series of Bonds issued hereunder and 
the proceeds of each Series of Bonds (other than Bonds issued to refund all or a portion of the 
Bonds) shall be deposited into the corresponding Series Account in the Acquisition and 
Construction Fund.  The amounts in any Series Account of the Acquisition and Construction 
Fund, until applied as hereinafter provided, shall be held for the security of the Series of Bonds 
hereunder in respect of which such Series Account was established.  Separate subaccounts within 
any Series Account of the Acquisition and Construction Fund shall be maintained by the Trustee 
in respect of each Series of Bonds upon request of the Issuer whenever, in the opinion of the 
Issuer, it is appropriate to have a separate accounting in respect of the Costs of any designated
portion of the Project including, but not limited to, a Costs of issuance subaccount.  Payments 
shall be made from the appropriate Series Account of the Acquisition and Construction Fund to 
pay any unpaid Costs of issuance of the Series of Bonds in question, including without 
limitation, legal, engineering, and consultants’ fees and to pay amounts to be reimbursed to the 
Issuer for Costs advanced, and thereafter to pay Costs of planning, financing, acquisition, 
construction, reconstruction, equipping and installation of the Project or portion thereof.

(a) Deposits.  In addition to the deposit of amounts received by the Trustee on 
the date of issuance of each Series of Bonds, the Issuer shall pay or cause to be paid to the 
Trustee, for deposit into the Series Account of the Acquisition and Construction Fund, as 
promptly as practicable, the following amounts:

(i) Subject to the provisions of Section 9.22 hereof, payments made to 
the Issuer from the sale, lease or other disposition of the Project or any portion thereof;

(ii) Subject to the provisions of Section 9.12 hereof, the balance of 
insurance proceeds with respect to the loss or destruction of the Project or any portion 
thereof. and 

(iii) Deposits made by any landowner or developer entity pursuant to 
the terms and provisions of a Developer Funding Agreement.

Amounts in the applicable Series Account of the Acquisition and Construction Fund shall be 
applied to pay the Cost of the Project or a portion thereof, as applicable, pertaining to the Series 
of Bonds in question.

(b) Disbursements.  Unless provided otherwise in a Supplemental Indenture, 
all payments from the Acquisition and Construction Fund shall be paid in accordance with the 
provisions of this subsection.  Moneys in the appropriate Series Account of the Acquisition and 



30
44310756;2

Construction Fund shall be disbursed by check, voucher, order, draft, certificate or warrant 
signed by any one or more officers or employees of the Trustee legally authorized to sign such 
items or by wire transfer to an account specified by the payee upon satisfaction of the conditions 
for disbursement set forth in this subsection (b).  Before any such payment shall be made, the 
Issuer shall file with the Trustee a fully executed requisition, in the form set forth in the 
applicable Supplemental Indenture, signed by a Responsible Officer and, except for payments of 
Costs of issuance, a certificate of the Consulting Engineer signed by a Consulting Engineer, 
which certificate shall be a part of the requisition.  Upon receipt of each such requisition and 
accompanying certificate, the Trustee shall promptly withdraw from the appropriate Series 
Account of the Acquisition and Construction Fund and pay to the person, firm or corporation 
named in such requisition the amount designated in such requisition.  The Trustee shall have no 
duties to investigate the accuracy or validity of the items delivered pursuant to this Section or to 
review a requisition or determine if a requested disbursement is permitted hereunder. All 
requisitions and certificates received by the Trustee pursuant to this Section 5.01 shall be 
retained in the possession of the Trustee, subject at all reasonable times to the inspection of the 
Issuer, the Consulting Engineer, the Owner of any Bonds, and the agents and representatives 
thereof.  

(c) Completion of Project.  On (i) the date of completion of the Project funded 
by a Series of Bonds, or if sufficient moneys are retained in the appropriate Series Account of the 
Acquisition and Construction Fund, to complete the Cost of the Project, or (ii) the date on which 
the Issuer determines, upon the recommendation of or in consultation with the Consulting 
Engineer, that it cannot complete such Project in a sound and economical manner within a 
reasonable period of time, in either case as evidenced by the delivery to the Trustee of a 
Certificate of the Consulting Engineer and adoption of a resolution by the Board accepting the 
Project as provided by Section 170.09, Florida Statutes, as amended (the “Completion Date”), 
the balance in the appropriate Series Account of the Acquisition and Construction Fund not 
reserved by the Issuer for the payment of any remaining part of the Cost of the Project shall be 
transferred by the Trustee to, and deposited in, the applicable Series Account of the Bond 
Redemption Fund and applied as provided in Section 6.06 hereof and in the applicable 
Supplemental Indenture.

[END OF ARTICLE V]



31
44310756;2

ARTICLE VI
SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS;

APPLICATION THEREOF TO FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS

Section 6.01 Special Assessments; Lien of Indenture on Pledged Revenues.  The 
Issuer hereby covenants that it shall levy the Special Assessments to the extent and in the amount 
necessary to pay the Debt Service Requirement on Bonds issued and Outstanding hereunder and 
will collect such Special Assessments as provided in Article IX hereof.

The Issuer shall within five (5) Business Days of the receipt thereof, pay to the Trustee 
for deposit in the Series Account of the Revenue Fund established under Section 6.03 hereof any 
and all amounts received by the Issuer from the levy of the Special Assessments on the District 
Lands subject to Special Assessments for the payment of the related Series of Bonds; provided, 
however, that amounts received as Prepayment Principal shall be deposited directly into the 
applicable Series Account within the Bond Redemption Fund established hereunder or in any 
account thereof established pursuant to the applicable Supplemental Indenture.  The Issuer shall 
notify the Trustee at the time of deposit of any amounts received as Prepayments of Special 
Assessments and shall identify the related Series of Bonds.  If necessary, the Issuer shall direct 
the landowner making such Prepayment to specify the Series of Bonds to which such 
Prepayments relate.

There are hereby pledged for the payment of the principal or Redemption Price of and 
interest on all Bonds of each Series issued and Outstanding under the Indenture and all 
reimbursements due to any Credit Facility Issuer for any drawing with respect to such Series of 
Bonds on its Credit Facility, including, without limitation, interest thereon, as required under the 
terms of the applicable Credit Facility Agreement, the Pledged Revenues; provided, however, 
that unless otherwise specifically provided herein or in a Supplemental Indenture relating to a 
Series of Bonds with respect to the Pledged Revenues securing such Series of Bonds, the 
Pledged Revenues securing a Series of Bonds shall secure only such Series of Bonds and any 
Bonds issued on a parity therewith and shall not secure any other Bonds or Series of Bonds.  The 
Pledged Revenues shall immediately be subject to the lien and pledge of the Indenture without 
any physical delivery hereof or further act; provided, however, that the lien and pledge of the 
Indenture shall not apply to any moneys transferred by the Trustee to the Rebate Fund.  The 
foregoing notwithstanding, to the extent provided in the  Supplemental Indenture authorizing the 
issuance of a Series of Bonds, such Series of Bonds may be made payable from and secured by 
less than all of the Pledged Revenues, and any one or more of the provisions of this Master 
Indenture may be made inapplicable to such Series of Bonds, all as more specifically provided in 
the corresponding Supplemental Indenture; provided, however, that any such provisions shall 
apply only to the particular Series of Bonds authorized by such Supplemental Indenture and shall 
not affect in any manner whatsoever any Outstanding Series of Bonds.

Section 6.02 Funds and Accounts Relating to the Bonds.  The Funds and Accounts 
specified in this Article VI shall be established under this Master Indenture and each 
Supplemental Indenture pursuant to which a Series of Bonds is issued, except as otherwise 
provided in a Supplemental Indenture, for the benefit of the specific Series of Bonds and any 
Series issued on a parity therewith and, unless expressly otherwise provided in said 
Supplemental Indenture, shall not apply to Bonds Outstanding hereunder issued under any other 



32
44310756;2

indenture supplemental hereto or if separately secured by separate Special Assessments.  Unless 
provided otherwise by Supplemental Indenture, all moneys, including, without limitation, 
proceeds of a Series of Bonds, on deposit to the credit of the Funds and Accounts established 
hereunder and under a Supplemental Indenture (except for moneys transferred to the Rebate 
Fund) shall be pledged to the payment of the principal, redemption or purchase price of (as the 
case may be) and interest on the Series of Bonds issued hereunder and under such Supplemental 
Indenture, and any Series issued on a parity therewith.

Section 6.03 Revenue Fund.  The Trustee is hereby authorized and directed to 
establish a Revenue Fund and pursuant to a Supplemental Indenture a Series Account for each 
Series of Bonds issued hereunder, into which the Trustee shall immediately deposit any and all 
amounts received from the levy of the Special Assessments on the District Lands or any portion 
thereof (other than Prepayment Principal which shall be deposited in the Bond Redemption 
Account established for such Series of Bonds) and any amounts received as the result of any 
foreclosure, sale of tax certificates or other remedial action for nonpayment of Special 
Assessments for the payment of the related Series of Bonds and other payments required 
hereunder or under the applicable Supplemental Indenture (unless such Special Assessments 
and/or other payments are specifically designated by the Issuer pursuant to a Supplemental 
Indenture for deposit into the Rebate Fund or any other Fund or Account established hereunder 
or under a Supplemental Indenture) and each Series Account therein shall be held by the Trustee 
separate and apart from all other Funds and Accounts held under the Indenture and from all other 
moneys of the Trustee.  The Trustee shall transfer from amounts on deposit in the Series Account 
in the Revenue Fund to the Funds and Accounts designated below, the following amounts, at the 
following times and in the following order of priority unless other times and/or other priorities 
are established in a Supplemental Indenture with respect to a Series of Bonds:

FIRST, no later than the Business Day preceding the first May 1 for which there 
is an insufficient amount from Bond proceeds (or investment earnings thereon) on deposit 
in the applicable Series Interest Account of the Debt Service Fund to be applied to the 
payment of interest on the Bonds of a Series due on the next succeeding May 1, and no 
later than the Business Day next preceding each May 1 thereafter while Bonds of a Series 
issued under the Indenture remain Outstanding, to the applicable Series Interest Account 
of the Debt Service Fund, an amount equal to the interest on the related Series of Bonds 
becoming due on the next succeeding May 1, less any amount on deposit in such Interest 
Account not previously credited; 

SECOND, beginning on the date set forth in the related Supplemental Indenture, 
and no later than the Business Day next preceding each May 1, as designated in the 
applicable Supplemental Indenture thereafter while Bonds of a Series issued under the 
Indenture remain Outstanding, to the applicable Series Principal Account of the Debt 
Service Fund, an amount equal to the principal amount of Bonds of such Series maturing 
on the next succeeding principal payment date, less any amount on deposit in the 
applicable Series Principal Account not previously credited;

THIRD, on parity with the payments provided in Second above, beginning on the 
date set forth in the related Supplemental Indenture, and no later than the Business Day 
next preceding each May 1, as so designated in the applicable Supplemental Indenture 



33
44310756;2

thereafter while Bonds of a Series issued under the Indenture remain Outstanding, to the 
applicable Series Sinking Fund Account of the Debt Service Fund, an amount equal to 
the principal amount of Bonds of such Series subject to mandatory sinking fund 
redemption on the next succeeding mandatory sinking fund redemption date, less any 
amount on deposit in the applicable Series Sinking Fund Account not previously credited;

FOURTH, no later than the Business Day preceding the first November 1 for 
which there remains an insufficient amount from Bond proceeds (or investment earnings 
thereon) on deposit in the applicable Series Interest Account to be applied to the payment 
of interest on the Bonds of a Series due on the next succeeding November 1, and no later 
than the Business Day next preceding each November 1 thereafter while Bonds of such 
Series issued under the Indenture remain Outstanding, to the applicable Series Interest 
Account of the Debt Service Fund, an amount equal to the interest on the Bonds of such
Series becoming due on the next succeeding November 1, less any amount on deposit in 
the applicable Series Interest Account not previously credited;

FIFTH, no later than the Business Day next preceding each Interest Payment Date 
while Bonds of a Series issued under the Indenture remain Outstanding, to the applicable 
Series Account of the Debt Service Reserve Fund, if any, an amount equal to the amount, 
if any, which is necessary to make the amount on deposit therein equal to the Debt 
Service Reserve Requirement;

SIXTH, subject to the following paragraph, the balance of any moneys remaining 
in a Series Account of the Revenue Fund after making the foregoing deposits shall, 
subject to application as provided by one or more Supplemental Indentures, remain 
therein, unless pursuant to any Arbitrage Certificate it is necessary to make a deposit in 
the Rebate Fund, in which case, the Issuer shall direct the Trustee to make such deposit 
thereto.

Unless otherwise provided in the applicable Supplemental Indenture, the Trustee shall 
within ten (10) Business Days after the last Interest Payment Date in any calendar year, at the 
written direction of the Issuer, withdraw any moneys held for the credit of the Revenue Fund 
which are not otherwise required to be deposited pursuant to this Section and deposit such 
moneys as directed to the credit of the applicable Series Account of the Bond Redemption Fund 
in accordance with the provisions hereof.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if pursuant to any 
Arbitrage Certificate it is necessary to make a deposit in the Rebate Fund, the Issuer shall direct 
the Trustee to make such deposit thereto.

Section 6.04 Debt Service Fund.  The Trustee is hereby authorized and directed to 
establish a Debt Service Fund which shall consist of amounts deposited therein by the Trustee 
and any other amounts the Issuer may pay to the Trustee for deposit therein with respect to the 
related Series of Bonds.  The Debt Service Fund shall be held by the Trustee separate and apart 
from all other Funds and Accounts held under the Indenture and from all other moneys of the 
Trustee. The Trustee shall establish within the Debt Service Fund pursuant to a Supplemental 
Indenture, a Series Principal Account, a Series Interest Account and, if applicable, a Series 
Sinking Fund Account for each Series of Bonds and a Series Capitalized Interest Account, which 



34
44310756;2

accounts shall be separate and apart from all other Funds and Accounts established under the 
Indenture and from all other moneys of the Trustee.

The Trustee at all times shall make available to any Paying Agent the funds in the Series 
Principal Account and the Series Interest Account of the Debt Service Fund to pay the principal 
of the applicable Series of Bonds as they mature upon surrender thereof and the interest on the 
applicable Series of Bonds as it becomes payable, respectively.  When a Series of Bonds is 
redeemed, the amount, if any, in the Debt Service Fund representing interest thereon shall be 
applied to the payment of accrued interest in connection with such redemption.

The Trustee shall apply moneys in the Series Sinking Fund Account in the Debt Service 
Fund for purchase or redemption of the applicable Series of Bonds in amounts and maturities set 
forth in the Supplemental Indenture.  Whenever Bonds of a Series are to be purchased out of 
such Series Sinking Fund Account, if the Issuer shall notify the Trustee that the Issuer wishes to 
arrange for such purchase, the Trustee shall comply with the Issuer’s arrangements provided they 
conform to the Indenture.

Except to the extent otherwise provided in a Supplemental Indenture with respect to a 
Series of Bonds, purchases and redemptions out of the Series Sinking Fund Account shall be 
made as follows:

(a) The Trustee shall apply the amounts required to be transferred to the 
Series Sinking Fund Account (less any moneys applied to the purchase of Bonds of the 
applicable Series pursuant to the next sentence hereof) on the mandatory sinking fund 
redemption date in each of the years set forth in the Supplemental Indenture to the redemption of
Bonds of the related Series in the amounts, manner and maturities and on the dates set forth in 
the Supplemental Indenture, at a Redemption Price of 100% of the principal amount thereof.  At 
the written direction of the Issuer, the Trustee shall apply moneys from time to time available in 
the Series Sinking Fund Account to the purchase of Bonds of the applicable Series which mature 
in the aforesaid years, at prices not higher than the principal amount thereof, in lieu of 
redemption as aforesaid, provided that firm purchase commitments can be made before the 
notice of redemption would otherwise be required to be given.  In the event of purchases at less 
than the principal amount thereof, the difference between the amount in the Series Sinking Fund 
Account representing the principal amount of the Bonds so purchased and the purchase price 
thereof (exclusive of accrued interest) shall be transferred to the related Series Interest Account 
of the Debt Service Fund.

(b) Accrued interest on purchased or redeemed Bonds of a Series shall be paid 
from the related Series Interest Account of the Debt Service Fund. 

(c) In lieu of paying the Debt Service Requirements necessary to allow any 
mandatory redemption of Bonds of a Series from the related Series Sinking Fund Account, the 
Issuer may present to the Trustee Bonds of such Series purchased by the Issuer pursuant to 
subparagraph (a) above and furnished for such purposes; provided, however, that no Bonds of 
such Series so purchased shall be credited towards the Debt Service Requirements in respect of 
the mandatory redemption of Bonds of such Series for which notice of redemption has been 
given pursuant to Section 8.02 of this Master Indenture.  Any Bond so purchased shall be 



35
44310756;2

presented to the Trustee for cancellation.  In such event, the Debt Service Requirements with 
respect to the Bonds of a Series for the period in which the purchased Bonds are presented to the 
Trustee shall, for all purposes hereunder, be reduced by an amount equal to the aggregate 
principal amount of any such Bonds so presented. 

Section 6.05 Debt Service Reserve Fund.  The Trustee is hereby authorized and 
directed to establish a Debt Service Reserve Fund and, if applicable, pursuant to a Supplemental 
Indenture a Series Account for each Series of Bonds issued hereunder.  The Debt Service 
Reserve Fund and each Series Account therein shall be held by the Trustee solely for the benefit 
of each related Series of Bonds or sub-Series, as determined by the applicable Supplemental 
Indenture; provided, however, that notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this 
Master Indenture, the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of a Series of Bonds may 
provide that the Debt Service Reserve Fund is not applicable and no account therein shall secure 
such Series of Bonds. The Debt Service Reserve Fund and each Series Account therein shall 
constitute an irrevocable trust fund to be applied solely as set forth herein and shall be held by 
the Trustee separate and apart from all other Funds and Accounts held under the Indenture and 
from all other moneys of the Trustee.  Unless otherwise provided in the Supplemental Indenture 
authorizing the issuance of a Series of Bonds, on the date of issuance and delivery of a Series of 
Bonds an amount of Bond proceeds or equity equal to the Debt Service Reserve Requirement in 
respect of such Series of Bonds, calculated as of the date of issuance and delivery of such Series 
of Bonds, shall be deposited in the related Series Account of the Debt Service Reserve Fund.  
Unless otherwise provided in the Supplemental Indenture with respect to a Series of Bonds, and 
as long as there exists no default under the Indenture and the amount in the Series Account of the 
Debt Service Reserve Fund is not reduced below the then applicable Debt Service Reserve 
Requirement with respect to such Series of Bonds, earnings on investments in the Series Account 
of the Debt Service Reserve Fund shall, prior to the Completion Date of a Project, be transferred 
to the applicable Acquisition and Construction Account of the Acquisition and Construction 
Fund, and after the Completion Date, at the written direction of the Issuer, shall be transferred to 
the related Series Account of the Revenue Fund.  Otherwise, earnings on investments in each 
Series Account of the Debt Service Reserve Fund shall be retained therein until applied as set 
forth herein.  If made applicable in a Supplemental Indenture, in the event that the amount in a 
Series Account of the Debt Service Reserve Fund exceeds the Debt Service Reserve 
Requirement with respect to such Series of Bonds due to a decrease in the then applicable Debt 
Service Reserve Requirement as a result of an optional prepayment by the owner of a lot or 
parcel of land of Special Assessments against such lot or parcel or a mandatory true-up payment, 
which Special Assessments are pledged for the payment and security of such Series of Bonds, 
the excess amount shall, as directed by the terms of the applicable Supplemental Indenture, be 
transferred from the Series Account or Subaccount of the Debt Service Reserve Fund to the 
applicable Series Account of the Bond Redemption Fund established for such Series of Bonds 
and shall constitute a credit against such optional prepayment or true-up payment.  If made 
applicable in the Supplemental Indenture with respect to a Series of Bonds, in the event that the 
amount in a Series Account of the Debt Service Reserve Fund exceeds the Debt Service Reserve 
Requirement with respect to such Series of Bonds due to a decrease in the then applicable Debt 
Service Reserve Requirement for any other reason, the excess amount shall be transferred from 
the Series Account of the Debt Service Reserve Fund to the Series Account or Subaccount of the 
Bond Redemption Fund directed by the terms of the applicable Supplemental Indenture.



36
44310756;2

Whenever for any reason on an Interest Payment Date, principal payment date or 
mandatory redemption date with respect to a related Series of Bonds secured by a Series Account 
of the Debt Service Reserve Fund the amount in the related Series Interest Account, the related 
Series Principal Account or the related Series Sinking Fund Account, as the case may be, is 
insufficient to pay all amounts payable on such Series of Bonds therefrom on such payment 
dates, the Trustee shall, without further instructions, transfer the amount of any such deficiency 
from the related Series Account of the Debt Service Reserve Fund into the related Series Interest 
Account, the related Series Principal Account and the related Series Sinking Fund Account, as 
the case may be, with priority to the related Series Interest Account and then, proportionately 
according to the respective deficiencies therein, to the related Series Principal Account and the 
related Series Sinking Fund Account, to be applied to pay the Series of Bonds secured by the 
Series Account of the Debt Service Reserve Fund.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in lieu of the required deposits into the related Series 
Account of the Debt Service Reserve Fund, the Issuer may cause to be deposited into the Series 
Account of the Debt Service Reserve Fund a Debt Service Reserve Insurance Policy or Debt 
Service Reserve Letter of Credit, either in lieu of any cash amount required to be deposited 
therein in connection with the issuance of any Series of Bonds or in substitution for the full 
amounts then on deposit therein or in an amount equal to the difference between the amount 
required to be deposited and the sum, if any, then on deposit in the Series Account of the Debt 
Service Reserve Fund, which Debt Service Reserve Insurance Policy or Debt Service Reserve 
Letter of Credit shall be payable (upon the giving of notice as required thereunder) on any 
Interest Payment Date or principal payment date on which a deficiency exists which cannot be 
remedied by moneys in any other Fund or Account held pursuant to the Indenture and available 
for such purpose.  Unless otherwise provided in the Supplemental Indenture with respect to a 
Series of Bonds, if any such Debt Service Reserve Insurance Policy or Debt Service Reserve 
Letter of Credit is substituted for moneys on deposit in the Series Account of the Debt Service 
Reserve Fund, or if at any time there are excess moneys in the Series Account of the Debt 
Service Reserve Fund, the excess moneys in the Series Account of the Debt Service Reserve 
Fund shall be transferred to and deposited in the related Series Account or Subaccount of the 
Revenue Fund.  If a disbursement is made from a Debt Service Reserve Insurance Policy or Debt 
Service Reserve Letter of Credit, the Issuer shall be obligated to either reinstate the maximum 
limits of such Debt Service Reserve Insurance Policy or Debt Service Reserve Letter of Credit 
immediately following such disbursement or to deposit into the Series Account of the Debt 
Service Reserve Fund, as provided in the Indenture for restoration of withdrawals from the 
Series Account of the Debt Service Reserve Fund, funds in the amount of the disbursement made 
under such Debt Service Reserve Insurance Policy or Debt Service Reserve Letter of Credit.

In the event that upon the occurrence of any deficiency in a Series Interest Account, a 
Series Principal Account or a Series Sinking Fund Account, if the Series Account of the Debt 
Service Reserve Fund is then funded with a Debt Service Reserve Letter of Credit or Debt 
Service Reserve Insurance Policy, the Trustee shall, on an Interest Payment Date or principal 
payment date or mandatory redemption date to which such deficiency relates, draw upon the 
Debt Service Reserve Letter of Credit or cause to be paid under the Debt Service Reserve 
Insurance Policy an amount sufficient to remedy such deficiency, in accordance with the terms 
and provisions of the Debt Service Reserve Letter of Credit or Debt Service Reserve Insurance 
Policy, as applicable, and any corresponding reimbursement or other agreement governing the 



37
44310756;2

Debt Service Reserve Letter of Credit or Debt Service Reserve Insurance Policy; provided, 
however, that if at the time of such deficiency the Series Account of the Debt Service Reserve 
Fund is only partially funded with a Debt Service Reserve Letter of Credit or Debt Service 
Reserve Insurance Policy, prior to drawing on the Debt Service Reserve Letter of Credit or Debt 
Service Reserve Insurance Policy, as applicable, the Trustee shall first apply any cash and 
securities on deposit in the Series Account of the Debt Service Reserve Fund to remedy the 
deficiency in accordance with the second paragraph of this Section 6.05 and, if after such 
application a deficiency still exists, the Trustee shall make up the balance of the deficiency by 
drawing on the Debt Service Reserve Letter of Credit or Debt Service Reserve Insurance Policy, 
as provided in this sentence.  Amounts drawn on the Debt Service Reserve Letter of Credit or 
Debt Service Reserve Insurance Policy, as applicable, shall be applied as set forth in the second 
paragraph of this Section 6.05.  Any amounts drawn under a Debt Service Reserve Letter of 
Credit or Debt Service Reserve Insurance Policy shall be reimbursed to the issuer thereof in 
accordance with the terms and provisions of the reimbursement or other agreement governing 
such Debt Service Reserve Letter of Credit or Debt Service Reserve Insurance Policy.

Section 6.06 Bond Redemption Fund.  Unless provided otherwise in a Supplemental 
Indenture with respect to a Series of Bonds, the Trustee is hereby authorized and directed to 
establish a Bond Redemption Fund and pursuant to a Supplemental Indenture a Series Account 
within the Bond Redemption Fund for each Series of Bonds issued hereunder into which shall be 
deposited, moneys in the amounts and at the times provided in Sections 5.01, 6.01, 6.03, 6.05 
and 9.12(c) of this Master Indenture.  The Series Account within the Bond Redemption Fund 
shall constitute an irrevocable trust fund to be applied solely as set forth in the applicable 
Supplemental Indenture and shall be held by the Trustee separate and apart from all other Funds 
and Accounts held under such Indenture and from all other moneys of the Trustee.  All earnings 
on investments held in the Series Account within the Bond Redemption Fund shall be retained 
therein and applied as set forth below.

Unless provided otherwise in a Supplemental Indenture with respect to a Series of Bonds, 
moneys in the Series Account within the Bond Redemption Fund (including all earnings on 
investments held in the Series Account within the Bond Redemption Fund) shall be accumulated 
therein to be used in the following order of priority, to the extent that the need therefor arises:

FIRST, (except for amounts resulting from Prepayments of Special Assessments,
which shall be applied as provided in the next paragraph) make such deposits into the 
Rebate Fund created and established under this Master Indenture as the Issuer may direct 
in accordance with an arbitrage rebate agreement, such moneys thereupon to be used 
solely for the purposes specified in said arbitrage rebate agreement.  Any moneys so 
transferred from the Series Account within the Bond Redemption Fund to the Rebate 
Fund shall thereupon be free from the lien and pledge of the related Indenture;

SECOND, to be used to call for redemption pursuant to clause (b) of Section 8.01 
hereof an amount of Bonds of the applicable Series equal to the amount of money 
transferred to the Series Account within the Bond Redemption Fund pursuant to the 
aforesaid clauses or provisions, as appropriate, for the purpose of such extraordinary 
mandatory redemption on the dates and at the prices provided in such clauses or 
provisions, as appropriate; and



38
44310756;2

THIRD, the remainder to be utilized by the Trustee, at the written direction of a 
Responsible Officer, to call for redemption on each date on which Bonds of the 
applicable Series are subject to optional redemption pursuant to Section 8.01(a) hereof 
such amount of Bonds of the applicable Series taking into account any redemption 
premium, as may be practicable; provided, however, that not less than Five Thousand 
Dollars ($5,000) principal amount of Bonds of the applicable Series shall be called for 
redemption at one time.

Any such redemption shall be made in accordance with the provisions of Article VIII of 
this Master Indenture and the applicable provisions of the related Supplemental Indenture.  The 
Issuer shall pay all expenses in connection with such redemption from amounts in the Revenue 
Fund.

Section 6.07 Drawings on Credit Facility.  With respect to Bonds in respect of which 
there has been issued a Credit Facility, the Trustee shall draw on the Credit Facility, in 
accordance with the provisions for drawing under such Credit Facility, and within the requisite 
time period, all as set forth in the Credit Facility Agreement or the Supplemental Indenture.

Section 6.08 Procedure When Funds Are Sufficient to Pay All Bonds of a Series.
Unless otherwise provided in the Supplemental Indenture with respect to a Series of Bonds, if at 
any time the moneys held by the Trustee in the Funds (other than the moneys in the Rebate 
Fund) and Accounts hereunder and under a Supplemental Indenture and available therefor are 
sufficient to pay the principal or Redemption Price of, as the case may be, and interest on all 
Bonds of a Series then Outstanding under such Indenture to maturity or prior redemption, 
together with any amounts due the Issuer and the Trustee, Paying Agent, Registrar and Credit 
Facility Issuer, if any, the Trustee, at the direction of the Issuer, shall apply the amounts in the 
Series Funds and Series Accounts to the payment of the aforesaid obligations and the Issuer shall 
not be required to pay over any further Pledged Revenues with respect to such Series of Bonds 
unless and until it shall appear that there is a deficiency in the Funds and Accounts held by the 
Trustee.

Section 6.09 Certain Moneys to Be Held for Series Bondowners Only.  Each Series of 
Bonds issued pursuant to this Master Indenture and the related Supplemental Indenture shall be 
secured by Pledged Revenues, as set forth herein, and otherwise may be secured by such 
additional Funds and Accounts and other security (including, but not limited to, Credit Facilities) 
established by the pertinent Supplemental Indenture.  Moneys and investments in the various 
Funds and Accounts created under a Supplemental Indenture expressly and solely for the benefit 
of the Series of Bonds issued under such Supplemental Indenture shall be held in trust by the 
Trustee for the benefit of the Holders of, and Credit Facility Issuer with respect to, Bonds of that 
Series only.

Section 6.10 Unclaimed Moneys. In the event any Bond shall not be presented for 
payment when the principal of such Bond becomes due, either at maturity or at the date fixed for 
redemption of such Bond or otherwise, if amounts sufficient to pay such Bond have been 
deposited with the Trustee for the benefit of the owner of the Bond and have remained unclaimed 
for three (3) years after the date payment thereof becomes due shall, upon request of the Issuer, if 
the Issuer is not at the time to the knowledge of the Trustee in default with respect to any 



39
44310756;2

covenant in this Master Indenture, any Supplemental Indenture or the Bonds contained, be paid 
to the Issuer; and the Owners of the Bonds for which the deposit was made shall thereafter be 
limited to a claim against the Issuer; provided, however, that the Trustee, before making payment 
to the Issuer, shall, if so directed by the Issuer, at the expense of the Issuer, cause a notice to be 
published in an Authorized Newspaper, stating that the money remaining unclaimed will be 
returned to the Issuer after a specified date.

Section 6.11 Rebate Fund. The Trustee is hereby authorized and directed to establish 
a Rebate Fund.  Unless provided otherwise in a Supplemental Indenture, the Trustee shall 
transfer monies from the applicable Series Account in the Revenue Fund and deposit the same to 
the Rebate Fund, and shall make payments therefrom at the times and in the amounts required to 
comply with the covenants in the applicable Arbitrage Certificate, as directed in writing by the 
Issuer.  If so directed in writing by the Issuer, the Trustee shall create one or more Series 
Accounts within the Rebate Fund relating to one or more particular Series of Bonds.

[END OF ARTICLE VI]



40
44310756;2

ARTICLE VII
SECURITY FOR AND INVESTMENT OR DEPOSIT OF FUNDS

Section 7.01 Deposits and Security Therefor.  Unless as otherwise provided in the 
Supplemental Indenture with respect to a Series of Bonds, all moneys received by the Trustee 
under a Supplemental Indenture for deposit in any Fund or Account established under this 
Master Indenture or such Supplemental Indenture shall be considered trust funds, shall not be 
subject to lien or attachment, except for the lien created by this Master Indenture and the related 
Supplemental Indenture, and shall be deposited with the Trustee, until or unless invested or 
deposited as provided in Section 7.02 hereof.  All deposits of moneys received by the Trustee 
under this Master Indenture or such Supplemental Indenture (whether original deposits under this 
Section 7.01 or deposits or redeposits in time accounts under Section 7.02) shall, to the extent 
not insured, and to the extent permitted by law, be fully secured as to both principal and interest 
earned, by Investment Securities of the types set forth in the definition of Investment Securities 
and the provisions thereof, provided however no such security shall be required in the case of an 
investment of a type described in (iii) of the definition of Investment Securities.  If at any time 
the Trustee is unwilling to accept such deposits or unable to secure them to the extent as 
provided above, the Trustee may deposit such moneys with any other depository which is 
authorized to receive them and the deposits of which are insured by the Federal Deposit 
Insurance Corporation (including the FDIC Savings Association Insurance Fund).  All deposits 
in any other depository in excess of the amount covered by insurance (whether under this Section 
7.01 or Section 7.02 as aforesaid) shall, to the extent permitted by law, be fully secured as to 
both principal and interest earned, in the same manner as required herein for deposits with the 
Trustee.  Such security shall be deposited with a Federal Reserve Bank, with the trust department 
of the Trustee as authorized by law with respect to trust funds in the State, or with a bank or trust 
company having a combined net capital and surplus of not less than $50,000,000.

Section 7.02 Investment or Deposit of Funds.  Except to the extent otherwise 
provided in a Supplemental Indenture with respect to a Series of Bonds, the Trustee shall, as 
directed by the Issuer in writing, invest moneys held in the Series Accounts in the Debt Service 
Fund and any Series Account within the Bond Redemption Fund created under any 
Supplemental Indenture only in Government Obligations and securities described in 
subparagraphs (iv), (v), (vi), (ix), (x) or (xi) of the definition of Investment Securities.  Except to 
the extent otherwise provided in a Supplemental Indenture with respect to a Series of Bonds, the 
Trustee shall, as directed by the Issuer in writing, invest moneys held in any Series Account of 
the Debt Service Reserve Fund in Investment Securities.  All deposits in time accounts shall be 
subject to withdrawal without penalty and all investments shall mature or be subject to 
redemption by the holder without penalty, not later than the date when the amounts will 
foreseeably be needed for purposes set forth herein.  All securities securing investments under 
this Section shall be deposited with a Federal Reserve Bank, with the trust department of the 
Trustee, as authorized by law with respect to trust funds in the State, or with a bank or trust 
company having a combined net capital and surplus of not less than $50,000,000.  The interest 
and income received upon such investments and any interest paid by the Trustee or any other 
depository of any Fund or Account and any profit or loss resulting from the sale of securities 
shall be added or charged to the Fund or Account for which such investments are made; 
provided, however, that if the amount in any Fund or Account equals or exceeds the amount 
required to be on deposit therein, subject to Section 6.05 of this Master Indenture and unless 



41
44310756;2

otherwise provided in a Supplemental Indenture with respect to a Series of Bonds, any interest 
and other income so received shall be deposited in the related Series Account of the Revenue 
Fund.  Upon request of the Issuer, or on its own initiative whenever payment is to be made out of 
any Fund or Account, the Trustee shall sell such securities as may be requested to make the 
payment and restore the proceeds to the Fund or Account in which the securities were held.  If 
net proceeds from the sale of securities held in any Fund or Account shall be less than the 
amount invested and, as a result, the amount on deposit in such Fund or Account is less than the 
amount required to be on deposit in such Fund or Account, the amount of such deficit shall be 
transferred to such Fund or Account from the related Series Account of the Revenue Fund.

Absent specific instructions as aforesaid, or absent a standing written direction from the 
Issuer for the investment of such moneys, then the Trustee shall not be responsible or liable for 
keeping the moneys invested.  The Trustee shall not be liable or responsible for any loss or 
entitled to any gain resulting from any investment or sale upon the investment instructions of the 
Issuer or otherwise, including that set forth in the first sentence of this paragraph.  The Trustee 
may make any investments permitted by the provisions of this section through its own bond 
department or investment department.

Section 7.03 Valuation of Funds.  The Trustee shall value the assets in each of the 
Funds and Accounts established hereunder or under any Supplemental Indenture forty-five (45)
days prior to each Interest Payment Date, and as soon as practicable after each such valuation 
date (but no later than ten (10) days after each such valuation date) shall provide the Issuer a 
report of the status of each Fund and Account as of the valuation date.  In computing the assets 
of any Fund or Account, investments and accrued interest thereon shall be deemed a part thereof, 
subject to Section 7.02 hereof.  For the purpose of determining the amount on deposit to the 
credit of any Fund or Account established hereunder or under any Supplemental Indenture, 
obligations in which money in such Fund or Account shall have been invested shall be valued at 
the market value or the amortized cost thereof, whichever is lower, or at the redemption price 
thereof, to the extent that any such obligation is then redeemable at the option of the holder.

[END OF ARTICLE VII]



42
44310756;2

ARTICLE VIII
REDEMPTION AND PURCHASE OF BONDS

Section 8.01 Redemption Dates and Prices.  Unless provided otherwise in a 
Supplemental Indenture with respect to a Series of Bonds, the Bonds of a Series may be made 
subject to optional, mandatory and extraordinary redemption and purchase, either in whole or in 
part, by the Issuer, prior to maturity in the amounts, at the times and in the manner provided in 
this Article VIII and in the related Supplemental Indenture.

(a) Optional Redemption. Bonds of a Series may be subject to optional 
redemption at the direction of the Issuer, at the times and upon payment of the Redemption Price 
as provided in the related Supplemental Indenture.

(b) Extraordinary Mandatory Redemption in Whole or in Part.  Except as 
otherwise provided in a Supplemental Indenture with respect to Bonds of the related Series, 
Bonds of a Series are subject to extraordinary mandatory redemption prior to maturity by the 
Issuer in whole, on any date, or in part, on any Interest Payment Date, at an extraordinary 
mandatory Redemption Price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Bonds to be 
redeemed, plus interest accrued to the redemption date, (i) from moneys deposited into the 
related Series Account within the Bond Redemption Fund following the prepayment of Special 
Assessments on any portion of the District Lands; (ii) when sufficient moneys are on deposit in 
the related Series Funds and Accounts (other than moneys in the Rebate Fund and any other 
excluded Fund or Account as provided in a Supplemental Indenture with respect to a Series of 
Bonds) to pay and redeem all Outstanding Bonds of a Series and accrued interest thereon to the 
redemption date in addition to all amounts owed to Persons under the related Indenture; (iii) if 
made applicable in the Supplemental Indenture with respect to a Series of Bonds, from moneys 
in excess of the Debt Service Reserve Requirement for a Series of Bonds in the applicable Series 
Account of the Debt Service Reserve Fund transferred to the Series Account within the Bond 
Redemption Fund pursuant to Section 6.05 hereof; (iv) from excess moneys transferred from the 
Series Account of the Revenue Fund to the Series Account within the Bond Redemption Fund in 
accordance with Section 6.03 of this Master Indenture; (v) if the following is made applicable by 
the terms of a Supplemental Indenture, from moneys, if any, on deposit in the Series Account 
within the Bond Redemption Fund pursuant to Section 9.12(c) hereof following condemnation or 
the sale of any portion of the District Lands benefited by a Project to a governmental entity under 
threat of condemnation by such governmental entity or the damage or destruction of all or 
substantially all of the Project when such moneys are not to be used pursuant to 9.12(c) to repair, 
replace or restore the Project; provided, however, that at least thirty (30) days prior to such 
extraordinary mandatory redemption, the Issuer shall cause to be delivered to the Trustee 
(x) notice setting forth the redemption date and (y) a certificate of the Consulting Engineer 
confirming that the repair and restoration of the Project would not be economical or would be 
impracticable; or (vi) from amounts transferred to the Series Account of the Bond Redemption 
Fund from the Series Account of the Acquisition and Construction Fund in accordance with 
Section 5.01(c) hereof.

(c) Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption.  Bonds of a Series may be subject 
to mandatory sinking fund redemption at a Redemption Price of 100% of the principal amount 



43
44310756;2

thereof plus accrued interest to the redemption date, in the years and amounts set forth in a 
Supplemental Indenture.

In connection with such mandatory sinking fund redemption of Bonds, amounts shall be 
transferred from the applicable Series Account of the Revenue Fund to the Series Sinking Fund 
Account of the Debt Service Fund, all as more particularly described in Section 6.03 hereof.

The principal amounts of scheduled Sinking Fund Installments shall be reduced as 
specified by the Issuer or as provided in Section 8.04 hereof by any principal amounts of the 
Bonds redeemed pursuant to Section 8.01(a) and (b) hereof or purchased and cancelled pursuant 
to Section 6.04 hereof.

Upon any redemption of Bonds other than in accordance with scheduled Sinking Fund 
Installments, the Issuer shall cause to be recalculated and delivered to the Trustee revised 
Sinking Fund Installments recalculated so as to amortize the Outstanding principal amount of 
Bonds of such Series in substantially equal annual installments of principal and interest (subject 
to rounding to Authorized Denominations of principal) over the remaining term of the Bonds of 
such Series.  The Sinking Fund Installments as so recalculated shall not result in an increase in 
the aggregate of the Sinking Fund Installments for all Bonds of such Series in any year.  In the 
event of a redemption or purchase occurring less than forty-five (45) days prior to a date on 
which a Sinking Fund Installment is due, the foregoing recalculation shall not be made to 
Sinking Fund Installments due in the year in which such redemption or purchase occurs, but shall 
be made to Sinking Fund Installments for the immediately succeeding and subsequent years.

Section 8.02 Notice of Redemption and of Purchase.  Except where otherwise 
required by a Supplemental Indenture, when required to redeem or purchase Bonds of a Series 
under any provision of the related Indenture or directed to do so by the Issuer, the Trustee shall 
cause notice thereof, to be mailed, first class mail, postage prepaid, at least thirty (30) but not 
more than sixty (60) days prior to the redemption or purchase date to all Owners of Bonds to be 
redeemed or purchased (as such Owners appear on the Bond Register on the fifth (5th) day prior 
to such mailing), at their registered addresses, but failure to mail any such notice or defect in the 
notice or in the mailing thereof shall not affect the validity of the redemption or purchase of the 
Bonds of such Series for which notice was duly mailed in accordance with this Section 8.02.  
The Issuer shall, when it is directing the Trustee to mail such notice, provide written direction to 
the Trustee at least thirty (30) days (unless the Trustee agrees to a shorter period) prior to the 
date on which the Trustee is required to send notice hereunder.  Such notice shall be given in the 
name of the Issuer, shall be dated, shall set forth the Bonds of such Series Outstanding which 
shall be called for redemption or purchase and shall include, without limitation, the following 
additional information:

(a) the redemption or purchase date;

(b) the redemption or purchase price;

(c) CUSIP numbers, to the extent applicable, and any other distinctive 
numbers and letters;



44
44310756;2

(d) if less than all Outstanding Bonds of a Series to be redeemed or purchased, 
the identification (and, in the case of partial redemption, the respective principal amounts) of the 
Bonds to be redeemed or purchased;

(e) that on the redemption or purchase date the Redemption Price or purchase 
price will become due and payable upon surrender of each such Bond or portion thereof called 
for redemption or purchase, and that interest thereon shall cease to accrue from and after said 
date; and

(f) the place where such Bonds are to be surrendered for payment of the 
redemption or purchase price, which place of payment shall be a corporate trust office of the 
Trustee.

If at the time of mailing of notice of optional redemption or purchase, the Issuer shall not 
have deposited with the Trustee or Paying Agent moneys sufficient to redeem or purchase all the 
Bonds called for redemption or purchase, such notice shall state that the redemption is 
conditional and is subject to the deposit of the redemption or purchase moneys with the Trustee 
or Paying Agent, as the case may be, not later than the opening of business on the redemption or 
purchase date, and such notice shall be of no effect unless such moneys are so deposited.

The notices required to be given by this Section 8.02 shall state that no representation is 
made as to correctness or accuracy of the CUSIP numbers listed in such notice or printed on the 
Bonds.

Section 8.03 Payment of Redemption Price.  If any required (a) unconditional notice 
of redemption has been duly mailed or waived by the Owners of all Bonds called for redemption 
or (b) conditional notice of redemption has been so mailed or waived and the redemption moneys 
have been duly deposited with the Trustee or Paying Agent, then in either case, the Bonds called 
for redemption shall be payable on the redemption date at the applicable Redemption Price plus 
accrued interest, if any, to the redemption date.  Bonds of a Series so called for redemption, for 
which moneys have been duly deposited with the Trustee, will cease to bear interest on the 
specified redemption date, shall no longer be secured by the related Indenture and shall not be 
deemed to be Outstanding under the provisions of the related Indenture.

Payment of the Redemption Price, together with accrued interest, shall be made by the 
Trustee or Paying Agent to or upon the order of the Owners of the Bonds called for redemption 
upon surrender of such Bonds.  The Redemption Price of the Bonds to be redeemed, the 
expenses of giving notice and any other expenses of redemption, shall be paid out of the Fund 
from which redemption is to be made or by the Issuer, or as specified in a Supplemental 
Indenture.

Section 8.04 Partial Redemption of Bonds.  Except to the extent otherwise provided 
in a Supplemental Indenture, if less than all of a Series of Bonds of a maturity are to be 
redeemed, the Trustee shall select the particular Bonds or portions of the Bonds to be called for 
redemption by lot in such reasonable manner as the Trustee in its discretion may determine.  In 
the case of any partial redemption of Bonds of a Series pursuant to Section 8.01(a), such 
redemption shall be effectuated by redeeming Bonds of such Series of such maturities in such 



45
44310756;2

manner as shall be specified by the Issuer in writing, subject to the provisions of Section 8.01 
hereof.  In the case of any partial redemption of Bonds of a Series pursuant to Section 8.01(b), 
such redemption shall be effectuated by redeeming Bonds of such Series pro rata among the 
maturities, treating each date on which a Sinking Fund Installment is due as a separate maturity 
for such purpose, with the portion to be redeemed from each maturity being equal to the product 
of the aggregate principal amount of Bonds of such Series to be redeemed multiplied times a 
fraction the numerator of which is the principal amount of the Series of Bonds of such maturity 
outstanding immediately prior to the redemption date and the denominator of which is the 
aggregate principal amount of all Bonds of such Series outstanding immediately prior to the 
redemption date, rounded down to the nearest $5,000 amount (or other minimum amount 
necessary in order to retain Authorized Denominations).

[END OF ARTICLE VIII]



46
44310756;2

ARTICLE IX
COVENANTS OF THE ISSUER

Section 9.01 Power to Issue Bonds and Create Lien. The Issuer is duly authorized 
under the Act and all applicable laws of the State to issue the Bonds, to adopt and execute this 
Master Indenture and to pledge the Pledged Revenues for the benefit of the Bonds of a Series 
and any Credit Facility Issuer, except to the extent otherwise provided in a Supplemental 
Indenture. The Pledged Revenues are not and shall not be subject to any other lien senior to or on 
a parity with the lien created in favor of the Bonds of a Series and any Credit Facility Issuer with 
respect to such Series.  The Bonds and the provisions of this Master Indenture and any 
Supplemental Indenture are and will be valid and legally enforceable obligations of the Issuer in 
accordance with their respective terms.  The Issuer shall, at all times, to the extent permitted by 
law, defend, preserve and protect the pledge created by this Master Indenture and any 
Supplemental Indenture and all the rights of the Bondholders and any Credit Facility Issuer 
under this Master Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture against all claims and demands of 
all other Persons whomsoever.

Section 9.02 Payment of Principal and Interest on Bonds. The payment of the 
principal or Redemption Price of and interest on all of the Bonds of a Series issued under the 
related Indenture shall be secured forthwith equally and ratably by a first lien on and pledge of 
the Pledged Revenues, except to the extent otherwise provided in a Supplemental Indenture; and 
Pledged Revenues in an amount sufficient to pay the principal or Redemption Price of and 
interest on the Bonds of a Series authorized by the related Supplemental Indenture are hereby 
irrevocably pledged to the payment of the principal or Redemption Price of and interest on the 
Bonds of a Series authorized under the related Indenture, as the same become due and payable.  
The Issuer shall promptly pay the interest on and the principal or Redemption Price of every 
Bond issued hereunder according to the terms thereof, but shall be required to make such 
payment only out of the Pledged Revenues.  

THE BONDS AUTHORIZED UNDER THIS MASTER INDENTURE AND THE 
RELATED SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE AND THE OBLIGATIONS EVIDENCED 
THEREBY SHALL NOT CONSTITUTE A LIEN UPON ANY PROPERTY OF THE ISSUER, 
INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, THE PROJECT OR ANY PORTION THEREOF IN 
RESPECT OF WHICH ANY SUCH BONDS ARE BEING ISSUED, OR ANY PART 
THEREOF, BUT SHALL CONSTITUTE A LIEN ONLY ON THE PLEDGED REVENUES 
AS SET FORTH IN THIS MASTER INDENTURE AND ANY SUPPLEMENTAL 
INDENTURE.  NOTHING IN THE BONDS AUTHORIZED UNDER THIS MASTER 
INDENTURE AND ANY SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE SHALL BE CONSTRUED AS 
OBLIGATING THE ISSUER TO PAY THE BONDS OR THE REDEMPTION PRICE 
THEREOF OR THE INTEREST THEREON EXCEPT FROM THE PLEDGED REVENUES, 
OR AS PLEDGING THE FAITH AND CREDIT OF THE ISSUER, THE COUNTY, THE 
STATE OR ANY OTHER POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF, OR AS OBLIGATING 
THE ISSUER, THE COUNTY, THE STATE OR ANY OF ITS POLITICAL SUBDIVISIONS, 
DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY OR CONTINGENTLY, TO LEVY OR TO PLEDGE ANY 
FORM OF TAXATION WHATEVER THEREFOR.



47
44310756;2

Section 9.03 Special Assessments; Re-Assessments.

(a) The Issuer shall levy Special Assessments, and, unless the Issuer collects 
the Special Assessments directly under the conditions set forth herein, evidence and certify the 
same to the Tax Collector or shall cause the Property Appraiser to certify the same on the tax roll 
to the Tax Collector for collection by the Tax Collector and enforcement by the Tax Collector or 
the Issuer pursuant to the Act, Chapter 170 or Chapter 197, Florida Statutes, or any successor 
statutes, as applicable, and Section 9.04 hereof, to the extent and in an amount sufficient to pay 
Debt Service Requirements on all Outstanding Bonds.

(b) If any Special Assessment shall be either in whole or in part annulled, 
vacated or set aside by the judgment of any court, or if the Issuer shall be satisfied that any such 
Special Assessment is so irregular or defective that the same cannot be enforced or collected, or 
if the Issuer shall have omitted to make such Special Assessment when it might have done so, the 
Issuer shall either (i) take all necessary steps to cause a new Special Assessment to be made for 
the whole or any part of said improvement or against any property benefited by said 
improvement, or (ii) in its sole discretion, make up the amount of such Special Assessment from 
any legally available moneys, which moneys shall be deposited into the applicable Series 
Account in the Revenue Fund.  In case such second Special Assessment shall be annulled, the 
Issuer shall obtain and make other Special Assessments until a valid Special Assessment shall be 
made.

Section 9.04 Method of Collection.  Unless otherwise provided in the applicable 
Supplemental Indenture, Special Assessments shall be collected by the Issuer in accordance with 
the provisions of the Act, Chapter 170 or Chapter 197, Florida Statutes, or any successor statutes 
thereto, as applicable, in accordance with the terms of this Section.  Except as stated in the next 
succeeding sentence, the Issuer shall use its best efforts to adopt the uniform method for the levy, 
collection and enforcement of Special Assessments afforded by Sections 197.3631, 197.3632 and 
197.3635, Florida Statutes, or any successor statutes thereto (the “Uniform Method”), and to do 
all things necessary to continue to use the Uniform Method or a comparable alternative method 
afforded by Section 197.3631, Florida Statutes.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary 
contained in this Master Indenture, the Issuer shall not use the Uniform Method to collect Special 
Assessments levied against District Lands should the Issuer determine that another method of 
collection is in the best interest of the Issuer. The Issuer shall use its best efforts to enter into or 
maintain in effect one or more written agreements with the Property Appraiser and the Tax 
Collector, either individually or jointly (together, the “Property Appraiser and Tax Collector 
Agreement”) in order to effectuate the provisions of this Section.  The Issuer shall ensure that 
any such Property Appraiser and Tax Collector Agreement remains in effect for at least as long 
as the final maturity of Bonds Outstanding under this Indenture.  To the extent that the Issuer is 
legally prevented from collecting Special Assessments pursuant to the Uniform Method, is not 
required to collect Special Assessments pursuant to the Uniform Method in accordance with the 
provisions of this Section 9.04 or the Board determines that using the Uniform Method is not in 
the best interest of the Issuer, the Issuer shall then collect and enforce Special Assessments 
pursuant to any available method under the Act, Chapter 170, Florida Statutes, or Chapter 197, 
Florida Statutes, or any successor statutes thereto.  



48
44310756;2

Section 9.05 Delinquent Special Assessments.  Subject to the provisions of Section 
9.04 hereof, if the owner of any lot or parcel of land assessed for a particular Project shall be 
delinquent in the payment of any Special Assessment collected pursuant to the Uniform Method, 
then such Special Assessment shall be enforced pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 197, 
Florida Statutes, or any successor statute thereto, including but not limited to the sale of tax 
certificates and tax deeds as regards such delinquent Special Assessment.  In the event the 
provisions of Chapter 197, Florida Statutes, and any provisions of the Act with respect to such 
sale are inapplicable by operation of law, or the Board determined it is in its best interest of the 
District to use another method of collection pursuant to Section 9.04, then upon the delinquency 
of any Special Assessment the Issuer shall, to the extent permitted by law, or Board determines 
in best interest to directly collect, utilize any other method of enforcement, including, without 
limitation, declaring the entire unpaid balance of such Special Assessment to be in default and, at 
its own expense to the extent the Issuer has available funds, cause such delinquent property to be 
foreclosed, pursuant to the provisions of Section 170.10, Florida Statutes, in the same method 
now or hereafter provided by law for the foreclosure of mortgages on real estate, or pursuant to 
the provisions of Chapter 173, Florida Statutes, and Sections 190.026 and 170.10, Florida 
Statutes, or otherwise as provided by law. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the 
District shall be entitled to first recover from any foreclosure before such proceeds are applied to 
the payment of principal or interest on the Bonds, all fees and costs expended in connection with 
such foreclosure. Also notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the District shall be 
entitled to pursue its own actions and/or claims for collection of operation and maintenance 
assessments, or claims for moneys or performance under a contract, in its sole and absolute
discretion.

Section 9.06 Sale of Tax Certificates and Issuance of Tax Deeds; Foreclosure of 
Special Assessment Liens. (a) If the Special Assessments levied and collected under the 
Uniform Method described in Section 9.04 are delinquent, then the applicable procedures for 
issuance and sale of tax certificates and tax deeds for nonpayment shall be followed in 
accordance with Chapter 197, Florida Statutes and related statutes.  Alternatively, if the Uniform 
Method is not utilized, and if any property shall be offered for sale for the nonpayment of any 
Special Assessment, and no person or persons shall purchase the same for an amount at least 
equal to the full amount due on the Special Assessment (principal, interest, penalties and costs, 
plus attorneys fees, if any), the Issuer, after receiving the written consent of the Trustee, acting at 
the direction of the Majority Owners of the Series of Bonds Outstanding payable from Special 
Assessments assessed on such property, specifying whether the Issuer is to take title to the 
property in its corporate name or in the name of a special purpose entity, may purchase the 
property for an amount less than or equal to the balance due on the Special Assessments 
(principal, interest, penalties and costs, plus attorneys’ fees, if any), from any legally available 
funds of the Issuer or by credit bidding any final foreclosure judgment and the Issuer shall 
receive in its corporate name or in the name of a special-purpose entity title to the property for 
the benefit of the Owners of the applicable Series of Bonds and the Issuer (provided, however, 
Trustee shall be deemed to have consented, on behalf of the Majority Owners of the Bonds 
Outstanding, to the proposed action if the District does not receive written direction from the 
Trustee within sixty (60) days or which shorter amount of time as would be required to comply 
with the ruling of the applicable court following receipt by the Trustee of the written request for 
direction). The Issuer, either through its own actions, or actions caused to be taken by the Issuer 
through the Trustee (acting at the written direction of the Majority Owners of the applicable 



49
44310756;2

Series of Bonds Outstanding and being indemnified to its satisfaction), shall have the power to 
and shall lease or sell such property, and deposit all the net proceeds of any such lease or sale 
into the related Series Account of the Revenue Fund (less the proportionate amount the Issuer 
may be due from the foreclosure of any operation and maintenance assessments). Not less than 
ten (10) days prior to the filing of any foreclosure action or any sale of tax deed as herein 
provided, the Issuer shall cause written notice thereof to be mailed to the Trustee of the Series of 
Bonds secured by such delinquent Special Assessments.  Not less than thirty (30) days prior to 
the proposed sale of any lot or tract of land acquired by foreclosure by the Issuer, it shall give 
written notice thereof to such Trustee.  

The Issuer, either through its own actions or actions caused to be done through the 
Trustee (acting at the written direction of the Majority Owners of the Series of Bonds 
Outstanding secured by such delinquent Special Assessments and being indemnified to its 
satisfaction), agrees that it shall, after being provided assurances satisfactory to it of payment of 
its fees, costs and expenses for doing so, be required to take the measure provided by law for sale 
of property acquired by it as trustee for the Owners of the Series of Bonds Outstanding secured 
by such delinquent Special Assessments within sixty (60) days after the receipt of the request 
therefor signed by signed by the Trustee, acting at the written direction of the Majority Owners 
of the Series of Bonds Outstanding payable from Special Assessments assessed on such property.  
The Issuer may pay costs associated with any actions taken by the Issuer or the Trustee pursuant 
to this paragraph from any moneys legally available for such purpose held under the Indenture, 
provided such action does not adversely impact the tax-exempt status of the interest on the 
applicable Series of Bonds.   

(b) Unless otherwise provided in a Supplemental Indenture, (i) upon failure of any 
property owner to pay when due any installment of Special Assessments that are billed directly 
by the Issuer, the entire Special Assessments levied on the property for which such installment of 
Special Assessments is due and unpaid, with interest and penalties thereon, shall immediately 
become due and payable as provided by applicable law and, with the written consent of the 
Trustee, acting at the direction of the Majority Owners of the Series of Bonds Outstanding
payable from such Special Assessments, the Issuer shall promptly, but in any event within one 
hundred twenty (120) days of the receipt of such consent, cause to be brought the necessary legal 
proceedings for the foreclosure of liens of the delinquent Special Assessments, including interest 
and penalties and (ii) unless some alternative resolution to such proceedings is agreed to with 
consent of the Trustee and such Majority Owners, the foreclosure proceedings shall be 
prosecuted to a sale and conveyance of the property involved in said proceedings as now 
provided by law in suits to foreclose mortgages.

(c) For the avoidance of doubt and notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, 
the Trustee shall only be required to act under this Section 9.06 to the extent it receives timely 
written directions upon which it may conclusively rely from the applicable Majority Owners and 
has been indemnified to its satisfaction.

Section 9.07 Books and Records with Respect to Special Assessments.  In addition to 
the books and records required to be kept by the Issuer pursuant to the provisions of Section 9.15 
hereof, the Issuer shall keep books and records for the collection of the Special Assessments on 
the District Lands, which such books, records and accounts shall be kept separate and apart from 



50
44310756;2

all other books, records and accounts of the Issuer.  Upon request, the District Manager or the 
District Manager’s designee, at the end of each Fiscal Year, shall prepare a written report setting 
forth the collections received, the number and amount of delinquencies, the proceedings taken to 
enforce collections and cure delinquencies and an estimate of time for the conclusion of such 
legal proceedings.  A signed copy of such report shall, upon written request, be mailed by the 
Issuer to any Beneficial Owner.

Section 9.08 Deposit of Special Assessments.  The Issuer covenants to cause all 
amounts collected or otherwise received by it with to the Special Assessments to be deposited 
with the Trustee within five (5) Business Days after receipt thereof for deposit into the related 
Series Account of the Revenue Fund (except that amounts received as Prepayment Principal
shall be designated by the Issuer as such upon delivery to the Trustee and shall be deposited 
directly into the related Series Account within the Bond Redemption Fund).

Section 9.09 Construction to be on District Lands.  Except for certain off-site 
improvements which are or may be outside the District Lands and are required in order for the 
District Lands to be developed, the Issuer covenants that no part of the Project will be 
constructed on, over or under lands other than (i) lands good and marketable title to which is 
owned by the Issuer or other appropriate entity in fee simple, (ii) lands on, over or under which 
the Issuer or other appropriate entity shall have acquired perpetual easements for the purposes of 
the Project, or (iii) lands, including public streets and highways, the right to the use and 
occupancy of which for such purposes shall be vested in the Issuer or other appropriate entity by 
law or by valid franchises, licenses, easements or rights of way or other legally effective 
permissions or approval.  

Section 9.10 Operation, Use and Maintenance of Project.  The Issuer shall establish 
and enforce reasonable rules and regulations governing the use of the Project owned by the 
Issuer, and the operation thereof, such rules and regulations to be adopted in accordance with the 
Act, and the Issuer shall operate, use and maintain the Project owned by the Issuer in accordance 
with the Act and all other applicable federal and State laws, rules and regulations; the Issuer shall 
maintain and operate the Project owned by the Issuer in an efficient and economical manner, 
shall at all times maintain the same in good repair and in sound operating condition and shall 
make all necessary repairs, renewals and replacements.

Section 9.11 Observance of and Compliance with Valid Requirements.  The Issuer 
shall pay all municipal or governmental charges lawfully levied or assessed upon any Project or 
any part thereof or upon any revenues when the same shall become due, and the Issuer shall duly 
observe and comply with all valid requirements of any municipal or governmental authority 
relative to each Project.  The Issuer shall not, except as otherwise permitted in Section 9.22 of 
this Article, create or suffer to be created any lien or charge upon any Project or upon Pledged 
Revenues, except the lien and charge of the Bonds on the Pledged Revenues.

Section 9.12 Public Liability and Property Damage Insurance; Maintenance of 
Insurance; Use of Insurance and Condemnation Proceeds.

(a) Except as otherwise provided in subsection (d) of this Section, the Issuer 
will carry or cause to be carried, in respect of each Project, comprehensive general liability 



51
44310756;2

insurance (covering bodily injury and property damage) issued by one or more insurance 
companies authorized and qualified to do business under the laws of the State, in such amounts 
as is customary for similar operations, or as is more specifically set forth below.

(b) At all times, to the extent commercially available, the Issuer shall maintain 
a practical insurance program, with reasonable terms, conditions, provisions and costs which the 
District Manager determines will afford adequate protection against loss caused by damage to or 
destruction of any component of any Project owned by the Issuer.  Limits for such coverage will 
be subject to the Consulting Engineer’s recommendations.  The Issuer shall also, at all times, 
maintain a practical comprehensive general liability insurance program with respect to any 
Project for such coverage, with such reasonable terms, conditions, provisions and costs as the 
District Manager determines will afford adequate protection against bodily injury and property 
damage.

All insurance policies of the Issuer relating to any Project shall be carried with companies 
authorized to do business in the State, with a Best rating of no less than “A” as to management 
and Class “V” as to financial strength; provided, however, that if, in the opinion of the District 
Manager, adequate insurance protection under reasonable terms, conditions, provisions and cost 
cannot be purchased from an insurance company with the above-designated ratings, then the 
District Manager, on behalf of the Issuer, may secure such insurance protection as the Issuer 
determines to be in its best interests and otherwise consistent with this Master Indenture and any 
Supplemental Indenture; provided further, however, that the Issuer may act as a self-insurer in 
accordance with the requirements of subsection (d) hereof.  All policies providing the insurance 
coverages required by this Section shall designate the Issuer as the loss-payee and shall be made 
payable to the Issuer.

(c) All proceeds received from property damage or destruction insurance and 
all proceeds received from the condemnation of any Project or any part thereof are hereby 
pledged by the Issuer as security for the related Series of Bonds and shall be deposited at the 
option of the Issuer, but subject to the limitations hereinafter described, either (i) into the 
Acquisition and Construction Fund, and used to remedy the loss, damage or taking for which 
such proceeds are received, either by repairing the damaged property or replacing the destroyed 
or taken property, as soon as practicable after the receipt of such proceeds, or (ii) if so provided 
in the applicable Supplemental Indenture into the related Series Account within the Bond 
Redemption Fund for the purpose of purchasing or redeeming Bonds according to the provisions 
set forth in Article VIII hereof.  The Issuer shall not be entitled to deposit insurance proceeds or 
condemnation awards into the separate fund described above in clause (i) of this paragraph (and 
such proceeds and awards shall be deposited directly into the related Series Account within the 
Bond Redemption Fund pursuant to clause (ii) of this paragraph) unless there shall have been 
filed with the Issuer within a reasonable time after the damage, destruction or condemnation 
(A) a certificate from the Consulting Engineer that the proceeds of the insurance or 
condemnation awards deposited into such separate fund, together with other funds available for 
such purposes, will be sufficient to repair, rebuild, replace or restore such property to 
substantially the same condition as it was in prior to its damage, destruction or condemnation 
(taking into consideration any changes, alterations and modifications that the Issuer may desire), 
(B) an opinion from the Consulting Engineer that the Project can be repaired, rebuilt, replaced or 
restored within two (2) years following the damage, destruction or condemnation thereof and 



52
44310756;2

(C) an opinion of the Consulting Engineer that, in each of the three (3) Fiscal Years following 
completion of such repair, rebuilding, replacement or restoration, the Issuer will be in 
compliance with its obligations hereunder.  If the certificate described in clause (A) of this 
paragraph is not rendered because such proceeds or awards are insufficient for such purposes, the 
Issuer may deposit any other legally available funds in such separate fund in an amount required 
to enable the Consulting Engineer to render its certificate.  If the insurance proceeds or 
condemnation awards deposited in such separate fund are more than sufficient to repair the 
damaged property or to replace the destroyed or taken property, the balance thereof remaining 
shall be deposited to the credit of the related Series Account in the Revenue Fund.

(d) The Issuer shall be entitled to provide all or a portion of the insurance 
coverage required by subsections (a) and (b) of this Section through Qualified Self Insurance, 
provided that the requirements hereinafter set forth in this subsection (d) are satisfied.  
“Qualified Self Insurance” means insurance maintained through a program of self insurance or 
insurance maintained with a company or association in which the Issuer has a material interest or 
of which the Issuer has control, either singly or with others.

Each plan of Qualified Self Insurance shall be in written form, shall provide that upon the 
termination of such plan reserves will be established or insurance acquired in amounts adequate 
to cover any potential retained liability in respect of the period of self insurance, and shall be 
reviewed annually by the District Manager or registered actuary who shall deliver to the Issuer a 
report on the adequacy of the reserves established thereunder in light of claims made.  If the 
District Manager or registered actuary determines that such reserves are inadequate in light of the 
claims made, he shall make recommendations as to the amount of reserves that should be 
established and maintained, and the Issuer shall comply with such recommendations.

(e) Copies of all recommendations and approvals made by the Consulting 
Engineer under the provisions of this Section shall be filed with the District Manager.

The Trustee shall have no duty to determine compliance by the Issuer with the 
requirements of this Section.

Section 9.13 Collection of Insurance Proceeds.  Copies of all insurance policies 
referred to in Section 9.12 of this Article shall be available at the offices of the Issuer at all 
reasonable times to the inspection of the Holders of the Bonds and their agents and 
representatives duly authorized in writing.  The Issuer covenants that it will take such action as 
may be necessary to demand, collect and sue for any insurance money which may become due 
and payable under any policy of insurance required under this Master Indenture or any 
Supplemental Indenture, whether such policy is payable to the Issuer or to the Trustee.  The 
Trustee is hereby authorized in its own name to demand, collect, sue and receive any insurance 
money which may become due and payable under any policies payable to it.

Section 9.14 Use of Revenues for Authorized Purposes Only. None of the Pledged 
Revenues shall be used for any purpose other than as provided in this Master Indenture and the 
related Supplemental Indenture and no contract or contracts shall be entered into or any action 
taken by the Issuer or the Trustee which will be inconsistent with the provisions of this Master 
Indenture and the related Supplemental Indenture.



53
44310756;2

Section 9.15 Books and Records.  The Issuer shall keep proper books of records and 
accounts in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (separate from all other 
records and accounts) in which complete and correct entries shall be made of its transactions 
relating to any Project, and which, together with all other books and records of the Issuer, 
including, without limitation, insurance policies, relating to any Project, shall at all times be 
subject during regular business hours to the inspection of the Trustee.

Section 9.16 Observance of Accounting Standards.  The Issuer covenants that all the 
accounts and records of the Issuer relating to the Project will be kept according to Generally 
Accepted Accounting Principles consistently applied and consistent with the provisions of this 
Master Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture.

Section 9.17 Employment of Certified Public Accountant.  The Issuer shall employ or 
cause to be employed as required a Certified Public Accountant to perform accounting and 
auditing functions and duties required by the Act and this Master Indenture and any 
Supplemental Indenture.

Section 9.18 Establishment of Fiscal Year, Annual Budget. The Issuer has established 
a Fiscal Year beginning October 1 of each year and ending September 30 of the following year.  
The reports and budget of the Issuer shall relate to such Fiscal Year unless and until, in 
accordance with applicable law, a different Fiscal Year is established by Certified Resolution of 
the Issuer and is filed with the Trustee to hold solely as a repository with no duty to review the 
contents thereof.

On or before the first day of each Fiscal Year the Issuer shall adopt a final Annual Budget 
with respect to the Project for such Fiscal Year for the payment of anticipated operating and 
maintenance expenses and shall supply a copy of such budget promptly upon the approval 
thereof to any Bondholders who shall have so requested in writing and shall have filed their 
names and addresses with the Secretary of the Board for such purpose.  The Issuer may at any 
time adopt an amended or supplemental Annual Budget for the remainder of the current Fiscal 
Year, and when such amended or supplemental Annual Budget is approved it shall be treated as 
the official Annual Budget under this Master Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture.  Copies 
of such amended or supplemental Annual Budget shall be mailed by the Issuer to any 
Bondholders who shall have so requested in writing and shall have filed their names and 
addresses with the Secretary of the Board for such purpose.

Section 9.19 Employment of Consulting Engineer; Consulting Engineer’s Report.
The Issuer shall, for the purpose of performing and carrying out the duties imposed on the 
Consulting Engineer by this Master Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture, employ one or 
more Independent engineers or engineering firms or corporations having a favorable repute for 
skill and experience in such work.

Section 9.20 Audit Reports.  The Issuer covenants that, within the time period 
mandated by applicable state law, it will cause an audit to be made by a Certified Public 
Accountant covering all receipts and moneys then on deposit with or in the name of the Trustee 
or the Issuer and any security held therefor and any investments thereof.  Copies of such audit 
reports shall be filed with the District Manager and the Secretary of the Board, and mailed upon 



54
44310756;2

request by the District Manager to the Consulting Engineer and to all Bondholders who shall 
have filed their names and addresses with the District Manager for such purpose.  

Section 9.21 Project Records.   The Issuer shall keep accurate records and books of 
account with respect to the Project,  and shall have a complete audit of such records and accounts 
made annually by a Certified Public Accountant, as provided in Section 9.20 hereof.  

Section 9.22 Covenant Against Sale or Encumbrance; Exceptions.  The Issuer 
covenants that, (a) except for those improvements comprising any Project that are to be 
conveyed by the Issuer to the County, the State Department of Transportation or another 
governmental entity and (b) except as in this Section permitted, it will not sell, lease or otherwise 
dispose of or encumber any Project, or any part thereof.  Subject to the provisions of Section 
9.28 hereof, the Issuer may, however, from time to time, sell any machinery, fixtures, apparatus, 
tools, instruments or other movable property acquired by it from the proceeds of a Series of 
Bonds or from Pledged Revenues if the District Manager shall determine, with the approval of 
the Consulting Engineer, that such items are no longer needed or are no longer useful in 
connection with the construction, maintenance and operation of the related Project, and the 
proceeds thereof shall be applied to the replacement of the properties so sold or disposed of or, at 
the written direction of the Issuer shall be deposited to the credit of the related Series Account in 
the Revenue Fund.

Upon any sale of property relating to the Project, the aggregate of which in any thirty 
(30) day period exceeds Fifty Thousand Dollars ($50,000) under the provisions of this Section, 
the Issuer shall provide written notice to the Trustee of the property so sold and the amount and 
disposition of the proceeds thereof.

Subject to obtaining an opinion of Bond Counsel that such action is permitted thereunder 
and will not adversely affect the exclusion of interest on the Bonds for federal income tax 
purposes, the Issuer may lease or grant easements, franchises or concessions for the use of any 
part of the Project not incompatible with the maintenance and operation thereof, if the 
Consulting Engineer shall approve such lease, easement, franchise or concession in writing, and 
the net proceeds of any such lease, easement, franchise or concession (after the making of
provision for payment from said proceeds of all costs incurred in financing, constructing, 
operating, maintaining or repairing such leases, easements, franchises or concessions) shall be 
deposited as received to the credit of related Series Account in the Revenue Fund.

Section 9.23 No Loss of Lien on Pledged Revenue.  The Issuer shall not do or omit to 
do, or suffer to be done or omit to be done, any matter or thing whatsoever whereby the lien of 
the Bonds on the Pledged Revenues or any part thereof, or the priority thereof, would be lost or 
impaired; provided, however, that this Section shall not prohibit the Trustee from transferring 
moneys to the Rebate Fund held by the Trustee under any arbitrage rebate agreement.

Section 9.24 Compliance With Other Contracts and Agreements.  The Issuer shall 
comply with and abide by all of the terms and conditions of any and all contracts and agreements 
which the Issuer enters into in connection with the Project and the issuance of the Bonds.



55
44310756;2

Section 9.25 Issuance of Additional Obligations.  Except as otherwise provided 
herein and in the applicable Supplemental Indenture the Issuer shall not issue any obligations 
other than the Bonds payable from Pledged Revenues, nor voluntarily create or cause to be 
created any debt, lien, pledge, assignment, encumbrance or other charge, payable from Pledged 
Revenues.

Section 9.26 Extension of Time for Payment of Interest Prohibited.  The Issuer shall 
not directly or indirectly extend or assent to an extension of time for payment of any claim for 
interest on any of the Bonds and shall not directly or indirectly be a party to or approve any 
arrangement therefor by purchasing or funding or in any manner keeping alive any such claim 
for interest; no claim for interest which in any way, at or after maturity, shall have been 
transferred or pledged apart from the Bonds to which it relates or which shall in any manner have 
been kept alive after maturity by extension or by purchase thereof by or on behalf of the Issuer, 
shall be entitled, in case of a default hereunder, to any benefit or security under this Master 
Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture except after the prior payment in full of the principal 
of all Bonds and claims for interest appertaining thereto not so transferred, pledged, kept alive or 
extended.

Section 9.27 Further Assurances.  The Issuer shall not enter into any contract or take 
any action by which the rights of the Trustee or the Bondholders may be impaired and shall, 
from time to time, execute and deliver such further instruments and take such further action as 
may be required to carry out the purposes of this Master Indenture and any Supplemental 
Indenture.

Section 9.28 Use of Bond Proceeds to Comply with Internal Revenue Code.  The 
Issuer covenants to the Holders of the Bonds that it will not make or direct the making of any 
investment or other use of the proceeds of any Bonds issued hereunder, the interest on which is 
intended to be excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes (“Tax-Exempt 
Bonds”) which would cause such Bonds to be “arbitrage bonds” as that term is defined in 
Section 148 (or any successor provision thereto) of the Code or “private activity bonds” as that 
term is defined in Section 141 (or any successor provision thereto) of the Code, and that it will 
comply with the requirements of such Code sections and related regulations throughout the term 
of such Tax-Exempt Bonds.  The Issuer hereby further covenants and agrees to comply with the 
procedures and covenants contained in any Arbitrage Certificate executed in connection with the 
issuance of each Series of Tax-Exempt Bonds for so long as compliance is necessary in order to 
maintain the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest on each 
Series of Tax-Exempt Bonds. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this Indenture shall be 
construed as a pledge of the full faith and credit of the District or a general obligation of the 
District, all obligations of the District under this Indenture shall be payable solely from the 
Pledged Revenues, and the Issuer is not required to impose additional assessments, taxes, or 
other similar amounts to cover any amounts that may be declared due and owing in the event that 
the Bonds are deemed taxable 

Section 9.29 Corporate Existence and Maintenance of Properties.  For so long as any 
Bonds are Outstanding hereunder, unless otherwise provided by the Act, the Issuer shall 
maintain its corporate existence as a local unit of special-purpose government under the Act and 
shall provide for or otherwise require all Projects, and all parts thereof owned by the Issuer to be 



56
44310756;2

(a) continuously operated, repaired, improved and maintained as shall be necessary to provide 
adequate service to the lands benefited thereby; and (b) in compliance with all valid and 
applicable laws, acts, rules, regulations, permits, orders, requirements and directions of any 
competent public authority.

Section 9.30 Continuing Disclosure.  The Issuer hereby covenants and agrees that it 
will comply with and carry out all of the provisions of the Continuing Disclosure Agreement.  
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Master Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture, 
failure of the Issuer or the Developer (if obligated pursuant to the Continuing Disclosure 
Agreement) to comply with the Continuing Disclosure Agreement shall not be considered an 
Event of Default; however, the Trustee may (and, at the request of any Participating Underwriter 
or the Holders of at least 25% aggregate principal amount in Outstanding Bonds of a Series and 
receipt of indemnity to its satisfaction, shall) or any Holder of the Bonds or Beneficial Owner 
may – with specific performance as the sole and exclusive remedy – take such actions as may be 
necessary to cause the Issuer to comply with its obligations under this Section 9.30.  For 
purposes of this Section, “Beneficial Owner” means any person which (a) has the power, directly 
or indirectly, to vote or consent with respect to, or to dispose of ownership of, any Bonds 
(including persons holding Bonds through nominees, depositories or other intermediaries), or 
(b) is treated as the owner of any Bonds for federal income tax purposes.

[END OF ARTICLE IX]



57
44310756;2

ARTICLE X
EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES

Section 10.01 Events of Default and Remedies.  Except to the extent otherwise 
provided in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing a Series of Bonds, events of default and 
remedies with respect to each Series of Bonds shall be as set forth in this Master Indenture.  

Section 10.02 Events of Default Defined.  Each of the following shall be an “Event of 
Default” under the Indenture, with respect to a Series of Bonds: 

(a) if payment of any installment of interest on any Bond of such Series is not 
made when it becomes due and payable; or

(b) if payment of the principal or Redemption Price of any Bond of such 
Series is not made when it becomes due and payable at maturity or upon call or presentation for 
redemption; or

(c) if the Issuer, for any reason, fails in, or is rendered incapable of, fulfilling 
its obligations under the Indenture or under the Act, as reasonably determined by the Majority 
Owners of such Series of Bonds; or

(d) if the Issuer proposes or makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors 
or enters into a composition agreement with all or a material part of its creditors, or a trustee, 
receiver, executor, conservator, liquidator, sequestrator or other judicial representative, similar or 
dissimilar, is appointed for the Issuer or any of its assets or revenues, or there is commenced any 
proceeding in liquidation, bankruptcy, reorganization, arrangement of debts, debtor 
rehabilitation, creditor adjustment or insolvency, local, state or federal, by or against the Issuer 
and if such is not vacated, dismissed or stayed on appeal within ninety (90) days; or

(e) if the Issuer materially defaults in the due and punctual performance of 
any other covenant in the Indenture or in any Bond of such Series issued pursuant to the 
Indenture and such default continues for sixty (60) days after written notice requiring the same to 
be remedied shall have been given to the Issuer by the Trustee, which may give such notice in its 
discretion and shall give such notice at the written request of the Majority Owners of such Series; 
provided, however, that if such performance requires work to be done, actions to be taken, or 
conditions to be remedied, which by their nature cannot reasonably be done, taken or remedied, 
as the case may be, within such sixty (60) day period, no Event of Default shall be deemed to 
have occurred or exist if, and so long as the Issuer shall commence such performance within 
such sixty (60) day period and shall diligently and continuously prosecute the same to 
completion; or

(f) written notice shall have been received by the Trustee from a Credit 
Facility Issuer securing Bonds of such Series that an event of default has occurred under the 
Credit Facility Agreement, or there shall have been a failure by said Credit Facility Issuer to 
make said Credit Facility available or to reinstate the interest component of said Credit Facility 
in accordance with the terms of said Credit Facility, to the extent said notice or failure is 
established as an event of default under the terms of a Supplemental Indenture; or



58
44310756;2

(g) if at any time the amount in the Debt Service Reserve Fund or any 
Account therein is less than the Debt Service Reserve Requirement as a result of the Trustee 
withdrawing an amount therefrom to satisfy the Debt Service Requirement on the Bonds of any 
Series and such amount has not been restored within one hundred twenty (120) days of such 
withdrawal, or 

(h) if the Trustee is authorized under the provisions of the Indenture to 
withdraw funds from the Debt Service Reserve Account, if any, for such Series of Bonds to pay 
principal or interest on the Series of Bonds (regardless of whether the Trustee does or does not, 
per the direction of the Majority Owners of such Series of Bonds, actually withdraw such funds 
from such Series Reserve Account to pay such principal or interest on such Series of Bonds).

Section 10.03 No Acceleration; Redemption.  No Series of Bonds issued under this 
Master Indenture shall be subject to acceleration.  Upon an Event of Default, no optional 
redemption of the Bonds shall occur unless all of the Bonds of the Series affected by such Event 
of Default will be redeemed or 100% of the Holders of such Series of Bonds agree to such 
redemption.  

Section 10.04 Legal Proceedings by Trustee.  If any Event of Default with respect to a 
Series of Bonds has occurred and is continuing, the Trustee, in its discretion may, and upon the 
written request of the Holders of not less than a majority of the aggregate principal amount of the 
Outstanding Bonds of such Series and receipt of indemnity to its satisfaction shall, in its capacity 
as Trustee:

(a) by mandamus, or other suit, action or proceeding at law or in equity, 
enforce all rights of the Holders of the Bonds of such Series, including, without limitation, the 
right to require the Issuer to carry out any agreements with, or for the benefit of, the Bondholders 
of the Bonds of such Series and to perform its or their duties under the Act;

(b) bring suit upon the Series of Bonds;

(c) by action or suit in equity require the Issuer to account as if it were the 
trustee of an express trust for the Holders of the Bonds of such Series;

(d) by action or suit in equity enjoin any acts or things which may be unlawful 
or in violation of the rights of the Holders of the Bonds of such Series; and

(e) by other proceeding in law or equity, exercise all rights and remedies 
provided for by any other document or instrument securing such Series of Bonds.

Section 10.05 Discontinuance of Proceedings by Trustee.  If any proceeding taken by 
the Trustee on account of any Event of Default is discontinued or is determined adversely to the 
Trustee, then the Issuer, the Trustee, the Paying Agent and the Bondholders shall be restored to 
their former positions and rights hereunder as though no such proceeding had been taken.

Section 10.06 Bondholders May Direct Proceedings. The Holders of a majority in 
aggregate principal amount of the Outstanding Bonds of a Series then subject to remedial 
proceedings under this Article X shall have the right to direct the method and place of 



59
44310756;2

conducting all remedial proceedings by the Trustee under the Indenture, provided that such 
directions shall not be otherwise than in accordance with law or the provisions of the Indenture.

Section 10.07 Limitations on Actions by Bondholders.  No Bondholder shall have any 
right to pursue any remedy hereunder unless (a) the Trustee shall have been given written notice 
of an Event of Default, (b) the Holders of at least a majority of the aggregate principal amount of 
the Outstanding Bonds of the applicable Series shall have requested the Trustee, in writing, to 
exercise the powers hereinabove granted or to pursue such remedy in its or their name or names, 
(c) the Trustee shall have been offered indemnity satisfactory to it against costs, expenses and 
liabilities, and (d) the Trustee shall have failed to comply with such request within a reasonable 
time.

Section 10.08 Trustee May Enforce Rights Without Possession of Bonds.  All rights 
under the Indenture and a Series of Bonds may be enforced by the Trustee without the possession 
of any of the Bonds of such Series or the production thereof at the trial or other proceedings 
relative thereto, and any proceeding instituted by the Trustee shall be brought in its name for the 
ratable benefit of the Holders of the Bonds of such Series.

Section 10.09 Remedies Not Exclusive.  Except as limited under Section 15.01 of this 
Master Indenture, no remedy contained in the Indenture with respect to a Series of Bonds is 
intended to be exclusive of any other remedy or remedies, and each remedy is in addition to 
every other remedy given hereunder or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute.

Section 10.10 Delays and Omissions Not to Impair Rights. No delay or omission in 
respect of exercising any right or power accruing upon any Event of Default shall impair such 
right or power or be a waiver of such Event of Default, and every remedy given by this Article X 
may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient.

Section 10.11 Application of Moneys in Event of Default.  Any moneys held by the 
Trustee or received by the Trustee or the Paying Agent, as the case may be, in connection with 
any proceedings brought under this Article X with respect to a Series of Bonds shall be applied 
in the following order of priority:

(a) to the payment of the fees and costs of the Trustee and Paying Agent 
incurred in connection with actions taken under this Article X with respect to such Series of 
Bonds, including counsel fees, expenses and any disbursements of the Trustee and the Paying 
Agent, and to the payment of any other unpaid fees owed to the Trustee.

(b) unless the principal of all of the Bonds of such Series shall have become 
or shall have been declared due and payable then:

FIRST:  to payment of all installments of interest then due on the Bonds of such 
Series in the order of maturity of such installments of interest, and, if the amount 
available shall not be sufficient to pay in full any particular installment, then to the 
payment ratably, according to the amounts due on such installment, to the persons 
entitled thereto, without any preference or priority of one installment of interest over any 
other installment; and



60
44310756;2

SECOND:  to payment to the persons entitled thereto of the unpaid principal or 
Redemption Price of any of the Bonds of such Series which shall have become due in the 
order of their due dates, with interest on such Bonds from the respective dates upon 
which they become due and, if the amount available shall not be sufficient to pay in full 
the principal or Redemption Price coming due on such Bonds on any particular date, 
together with such interest, then to the payment ratably, according to the amount of 
principal due on such date, to the persons entitled thereto without any preference or 
priority of one such Bond of a Series over another or of any installment of interest over 
another.

If the principal of all Bonds of a Series shall have become due and payable, to the 
payment of principal or Redemption Price (as the case may be) and interest then owing on the 
Bonds of such Series and in case such moneys shall be insufficient to pay the same in full, then 
to the payment of principal or Redemption Price and interest ratably, without preference or 
priority of one Bond of such Series over another or of any installment of interest over any other 
installment of interest.

Any surplus remaining after the payments described above shall be paid to the Issuer or 
to the Person lawfully entitled to receive the same or as a court of competent jurisdiction may 
direct.

For purposes of the application of moneys described above, to the extent payments of 
principal of and interest on a Series of Bonds shall have been made under a Credit Facility 
relating thereto, the Credit Facility Issuer shall be entitled to moneys in the related Series 
Accounts in the Debt Service Fund in accordance with the agreement pursuant to which such 
Credit Facility has been issued (but subject to subsection (a) hereof and Section 11.05 hereof) 
and the Certified Resolution of the Issuer authorizing the issuance of such Bonds to which such 
Credit Facility relates.

Section 10.12 Trustee’s Right to Receiver; Compliance with Act The Trustee shall be 
entitled as of right to the appointment of a receiver and the Trustee, the Bondholders and any 
receiver so appointed shall have such rights and powers and be subject to such limitations and 
restrictions as are contained in the Act and other applicable law of the State.  When the Trustee 
incurs costs or expenses (including legal fees, costs and expenses) or renders services after the 
occurrence of an Event of Default, such costs and expenses and the compensation for such 
services are intended to constitute expenses of administration under any federal or state 
bankruptcy, insolvency, arrangement, moratorium, reorganization or other debtor relief law.

Section 10.13 Trustee and Bondholders Entitled to all Remedies under Act.  It is the 
purpose of this Article to provide, subject to the provisions hereof, such remedies to the Trustee 
and Bondholders as may be lawfully granted under the provisions of the Act and other applicable 
laws of the State; if any remedy herein granted shall be held unlawful, the Trustee and the 
Bondholders shall nevertheless be entitled to every other remedy provided by the Act and other 
applicable laws of the State.  

Section 10.14 Credit Facility Issuer’s Rights Upon Events of Default.  Anything in the 
Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding, if any Event of Default, other than Events of Default 



61
44310756;2

described in Section 10.02(a) or (b) hereof, has occurred and is continuing while a Credit Facility 
securing all or a portion of such Bonds of a Series Outstanding is in effect, the Credit Facility 
Issuer shall have the right, in lieu of the Owners of the Series of Bonds (or portion thereof) 
secured by said Credit Facility, by an instrument in writing, executed and delivered to the 
Trustee, to direct the time, method and place of conducting all remedial proceedings available to 
the Trustee under the Indenture, or exercising any trust or power conferred on the Trustee by the 
Indenture.  Said direction shall be controlling to the extent the direction of Owners of the Series 
of Bonds (or portion thereof) secured by said Credit Facility would have been controlling under 
this Article.  If the Credit Facility Issuer shall be in default in the performance of its obligations 
under the Credit Facility, said Credit Facility Issuer shall have no rights under this Section.  

[END OF ARTICLE X]



62
44310756;2

ARTICLE XI
THE TRUSTEE; THE PAYING AGENT AND REGISTRAR

Section 11.01 Acceptance of Trust.  The Trustee accepts and agrees to execute the 
trusts hereby created, but only upon the additional terms set forth in this Article XI, to all of 
which the parties hereto and the Bondholders and any Credit Facility Issuer agree.  The Trustee 
shall act as Trustee under this Master Indenture.  Except during the continuance of an Event of 
Default, the Trustee shall have only such duties as are expressly set forth herein, and no duties 
shall be implied on the part of the Trustee.  In case any Event of Default has occurred and is 
continuing, the Master Trustee shall exercise such of the rights and powers vested in it by this 
Master Indenture, and use the same degree of care and skill in their exercise, as a reasonably 
prudent man would exercise or use under the circumstances in the conduct of his own affairs.

Section 11.02 No Responsibility for Recitals.  The recitals, statements and 
representations in this Master Indenture or in the Bonds, save only the Trustee’s Certificate of 
Authentication, if any, upon the Bonds, have been made by the Issuer and not by the Trustee and 
the Trustee shall be under no responsibility for the correctness thereof.

Section 11.03 Trustee May Act Through Agents; Answerable Only for Willful 
Misconduct or Negligence.  The Trustee may execute any powers hereunder and perform any 
duties required of it through attorneys, other experts, agents, officers or employees, and shall be 
entitled to advice of counsel concerning all questions hereunder; the Trustee shall not be 
answerable for the default or misconduct, or for following the advice of any attorney, expert or 
agent selected by it with reasonable care.  The Trustee shall not be answerable for the exercise of 
any discretion or power under this Master Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture nor for 
anything whatever in connection with the trust hereunder, except only its own negligence or 
willful misconduct or breach of its obligations hereunder.

Section 11.04 Additional Provisions Relating to the Trustee. The Trustee shall not be 
accountable for the use or application of any of the Bonds or the proceeds thereof or for the use 
or application of any money paid over by the Trustee in accordance with the provisions of this 
Indenture.  The permissive rights of the Trustee hereunder shall not be deemed to create an 
obligation of the Trustee to exercise such rights. The Trustee shall have no responsibility with 
respect to any information, statement or recital in any official statement, offering memorandum 
or any other disclosure material prepared or distributed with respect to the Bonds and shall have 
no responsibility for compliance with any state or federal securities laws in connection with the 
Bonds.  None of the provisions of this Indenture shall require the Trustee to expend or risk its 
own funds or otherwise to incur any liability, financial or otherwise, in the performance of any of 
its duties hereunder, or in the exercise of any of its rights or powers if it shall have reasonable 
grounds for believing that repayment of such funds or indemnity satisfactory to it against such 
risk or liability is not assured to it.  The Trustee shall not be responsible or liable for any failure 
or delay in the performance of its obligations under this Indenture arising out of or caused, 
directly or indirectly, by circumstances beyond its reasonable control, including, without 
limitation, acts of God; earthquakes; fire; flood; hurricanes or other storms; wars; terrorism; 
similar military disturbances; sabotage; epidemic; pandemic; riots; interruptions, loss or 
malfunctions of utilities, computer (hardware or software) or communications services; 
accidents; labor disputes; acts of civil or military authority or governmental action; it being 



63
44310756;2

understood that the Trustee shall use commercially reasonable efforts which are consistent with 
accepted practices in the banking industry to resume performance as soon as reasonably 
practicable under the circumstances.  Notwithstanding anything contained herein or in any other 
document relating to the Bonds to the contrary, upon the occurrence and continuance of an Event 
of Default, before taking any foreclosure action or any action which may subject the Trustee to 
liability under any environmental law, statute, regulation or similar requirement relating to the 
environment, the Trustee may require that a satisfactory indemnity  bond,  indemnity or 
environmental impairment insurance be furnished for the payment or reimbursement of all 
expenses to which it may be put and to protect it against all liability resulting from any claims, 
judgments, damages, losses, penalties, fines, liabilities (including strict liability) and expenses 
which may result from such foreclosure or other action and the Trustee shall not be required to 
take such foreclosure action if it reasonably determines that the approval of a governmental 
regulator that cannot be obtained is necessary for such foreclosure action.

Section 11.05 Compensation and Indemnity.  The Issuer shall pay the Trustee 
reasonable compensation for its services hereunder, and also all its reasonable expenses and 
disbursements, and shall, to the extent permitted by law and only to the extent of the limitations 
on liability provided under Section 768.28, Florida Statutes or other applicable law, indemnify 
and hold the Trustee harmless against any liabilities which it may incur in the proper exercise 
and performance of its powers and duties hereunder, except with respect to its own willful 
misconduct or negligence.  If the Issuer defaults in respect of the foregoing obligations, the 
Trustee may deduct the amount owing to it from any moneys held by it or coming into its hands 
but exclusive of the Rebate Fund and moneys from a drawing on any Credit Facility, which right 
of payment shall be prior to the right of the holders of the Bonds.  The Trustee shall promptly 
provide a statement of any moneys the Trustee has deducted in amounts owing to it.  The 
provision for indemnity shall survive the termination of this Master Indenture and any 
Supplemental Indenture and, as to any Trustee, its removal or resignation as Trustee.  No 
provision of this Master Indenture shall require the Trustee to expend or risk its own funds.

Section 11.06 No Duty to Renew Insurance.  The Trustee shall be under no duty to 
effect or to renew any insurance policy nor shall it incur any liability for the failure of the Issuer 
to require or effect or renew insurance or to report or file claims of loss thereunder.

Section 11.07 Notice of Default; Right to Investigate.  The Trustee shall give written 
notice by first-class mail to registered Holders of a Series of Bonds of all defaults known to the 
Trustee, unless such defaults have been remedied (the term “defaults” for purposes of this 
Section and Section 11.08 being defined to include the events specified as “Events of Default” in 
Article X hereof, but not including any notice or periods of grace provided for therein); provided 
that, except in the case of a default in payment of principal or interest or Redemption Price, the 
Trustee may withhold such notice so long as it in good faith determines that such withholding is 
in the interest of the Bondholders.  The Trustee shall not be deemed to have notice of any default 
other than a payment default under this Master Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture or a 
notification by a Credit Facility Issuer of a default under its Credit Facility, unless notified in 
writing of such default by the Holders of at least a majority of the aggregate principal amount of 
the Outstanding Bonds of a Series.  The Trustee may, however, at any time require of the Issuer 
full information as to the performance of any covenant hereunder, and if information satisfactory 



64
44310756;2

to it is not forthcoming, the Trustee may make or cause to be made, at the expense of the Issuer, 
an investigation into the affairs of the Issuer.

Section 11.08 Obligation to Act on Defaults.  The Trustee shall be under no obligation 
to take any action in respect of any default or otherwise, unless it is requested in writing to do so 
by the Holders of at least a majority of the aggregate principal amount of the Outstanding Bonds 
which are or would be, upon the taking of such action, subject to remedial proceedings under 
Article X of this Master Indenture if in its opinion such action may tend to involve expense or 
liability, and unless it is also furnished with indemnity satisfactory to it.  The Trustee shall have 
no liability for actions taken at the direction of the Holders of at least a majority in principal 
amount of the Outstanding Bonds subject to remedial action.

Section 11.09 Reliance by Trustee.  The Trustee may act on any requisition, resolution, 
notice, verifiable electronic communication in telegram, facsimile transmission, request, legal or 
expert advice or opinion, consent, waiver, certificate, statement, affidavit, voucher, bond, or 
other paper or document which it in good faith believes to be genuine and to have been passed, 
signed or given by the persons purporting to be authorized (which in the case of the Issuer shall 
be a Responsible Officer) or to have been prepared and furnished pursuant to any of the 
provisions of this Master Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture; the Trustee shall be under 
no duty to make any investigation as to any statement contained in any such instrument, but may 
accept the same as conclusive evidence of the accuracy of such statement and shall have no 
liability for relying upon the same in acting or not acting as provided herein.

Section 11.10 Trustee May Deal in Bonds.  The Trustee may in good faith buy, sell, 
own, hold and deal in any of the Bonds and may join in any action which any Bondholders may 
be entitled to take with like effect as if the Trustee were not a party to this Master Indenture and 
any Supplemental Indenture.  The Trustee may also engage in or be interested in any financial or 
other transaction with the Issuer; provided, however, that if the Trustee determines that any such 
relation is in conflict with its duties under this Master Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture, 
it shall eliminate the conflict or resign as Trustee.

Section 11.11 Construction of Ambiguous Provisions.  The Trustee may construe any 
ambiguous or inconsistent provisions of this Master Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture, 
and except as otherwise provided in Article XIII of this Master Indenture, any construction by 
the Trustee shall be binding upon the Bondholders.  The Trustee shall give prompt notice to the 
Issuer of any intention to make such construction.

Section 11.12 Resignation of Trustee.  The Trustee may resign and be discharged of 
the trusts created by this Master Indenture and all Supplemental Indentures by written 
resignation filed with the Secretary of the Issuer not less than sixty (60) days before the date 
when such resignation is to take effect. Notice of such resignation shall be sent by first-class mail 
to each Bondholder as its name and address appears on the Bond Register and to any Paying 
Agent, Registrar and Credit Facility Issuer, if any, at least sixty (60) days before the resignation 
is to take effect.  Such resignation shall take effect on the day specified in the Trustee’s notice of 
resignation unless a successor Trustee is previously appointed, in which event the resignation 
shall take effect immediately on the appointment of such successor; provided, however, that 
notwithstanding the foregoing, such resignation shall not take effect until a successor Trustee has 



65
44310756;2

been appointed.  If a successor Trustee has not been appointed within ninety (90) days after the 
Trustee has given its notice of resignation, the Trustee may petition any court of competent 
jurisdiction for the appointment of a temporary successor Trustee to serve as Trustee until a 
successor Trustee has been duly appointed.  Notice of such resignation shall also be given to any 
rating agency that shall then have in effect a rating on any of the Bonds.

Section 11.13 Removal of Trustee.  The Trustee may be removed at any time by either 
(a) the Issuer, if no Event of Default exists under this Master Indenture or any Supplemental 
Indenture, or (b) an instrument or concurrent instruments in writing, executed by the Owners of 
at least a majority of the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding and filed 
with the Issuer.  A photographic copy of any instrument or instruments filed with the Issuer 
under the provisions of this paragraph, duly certified by a Responsible Officer, shall be delivered 
promptly by the Issuer to the Trustee and to any Paying Agent, Registrar and Credit Facility 
Issuer, if any.

The Trustee may also be removed at any time for any breach of trust or for acting or 
proceeding in violation of, or for failing to act or proceed in accordance with, any provision of 
this Master Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture with respect to the duties and obligations of 
the Trustee by any court of competent jurisdiction upon the application of the Issuer or the 
Holders of not less than a majority of the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then 
Outstanding.

Section 11.14 Appointment of Successor Trustee.  If the Trustee or any successor 
Trustee resigns or is removed or dissolved, or if its property or business is taken under the 
control of any state or federal court or administrative body, a vacancy shall forthwith exist in the 
office of the Trustee, and the Issuer shall appoint a successor and shall mail notice of such 
appointment by first-class mail to each Bondholder as its name and address appear on the Bond 
Register, and to the Paying Agent, Registrar, Credit Facility Issuer, if any, and any rating agency 
that shall then have in effect a rating on any of the Bonds.  If no appointment of a successor 
Trustee shall be made pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this Master Indenture prior to the 
date specified in the notice of resignation or removal as the date when such resignation or 
removal was to take effect, the Holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of all Bonds 
then Outstanding may appoint a successor Trustee.

Section 11.15 Qualification of Successor.  A successor Trustee shall be a bank or trust 
company with trust powers, having a combined net capital and surplus of at least $75,000,000.

Section 11.16 Instruments of Succession.  Except as provided in Section 11.17 hereof, 
any successor Trustee shall execute, acknowledge and deliver to the Issuer an instrument 
accepting such appointment hereunder and thereupon, such successor Trustee, without any 
further act, deed, or conveyance, shall become fully vested with all the estates, properties, rights, 
powers, trusts, duties and obligations of its predecessor in trust hereunder, with like effect as if 
originally named Trustee herein.  The Trustee ceasing to act hereunder, after deducting all 
amounts owed to the Trustee, shall pay over to the successor Trustee all moneys held by it 
hereunder and, upon request of the successor Trustee, the Trustee ceasing to act and the Issuer 
shall execute and deliver an instrument or instruments prepared by the Issuer transferring to the 



66
44310756;2

successor Trustee all the estates, properties, rights, powers and trusts hereunder of the 
predecessor Trustee, except for its rights under Section 11.05 hereof.

Section 11.17 Merger of Trustee.  Any corporation into which any Trustee hereunder 
may be merged or with which it may be consolidated, or any corporation resulting from any 
merger or consolidation to which any Trustee hereunder shall be a party, or any corporation 
which shall have purchased substantially all of the bond administration business of the corporate 
trust department shall be the successor Trustee under this Master Indenture and all Supplemental 
Indentures, without the execution or filing of any paper or any further act on the part of the 
parties hereto, anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding; provided, however, that any such 
successor corporation continuing to act as Trustee hereunder shall meet the requirements of 
Section 11.15 hereof, and if such corporation does not meet the aforesaid requirements, a 
successor Trustee shall be appointed pursuant to this Article XI.  The Trustee may not resign as 
the Paying Agent or the Registrar without resigning as Trustee.

Section 11.18 Extension of Rights and Duties of Trustee to Paying Agent and 
Registrar.  The provisions of Sections 11.02, 11.03, 11.04, 11.09, 11.10 and 11.11 hereof are 
hereby made applicable to the Paying Agent and the Registrar, as appropriate, and any Person 
serving as Paying Agent and/or Registrar, hereby enters into and agrees to comply with the 
covenants and agreements of this Master Indenture and all Supplemental Indentures applicable to 
the Paying Agent and Registrar, respectively.

Section 11.19 Resignation of Paying Agent or Registrar.  The Paying Agent or 
Registrar may resign and be discharged of the duties created by this Master Indenture and all 
Supplemental Indentures by executing an instrument in writing resigning such duties and 
specifying the date when such resignation shall take effect, and filing the same with the Issuer, 
the Trustee, and any rating agency that shall then have in effect a rating on any of the Bonds, not 
less than forty-five (45) days before the date specified in such instrument when such resignation 
shall take effect, and by giving written notice of such resignation not less than three (3) weeks 
prior to such resignation date to the Bondholders, mailed to their addresses as such appear in the 
Bond Register.  Such resignation shall take effect on the date specified in such instrument and 
notice, but only if a successor Paying Agent or Registrar shall have been appointed as hereinafter 
provided, in which event such resignation shall take effect immediately upon the appointment of 
such successor Paying Agent or Registrar.  If the successor Paying Agent or Registrar shall not 
have been appointed within a period of ninety (90) days following the giving of notice, then the 
Paying Agent or Registrar shall be authorized to petition any court of competent jurisdiction to 
appoint a successor Paying Agent or Registrar as provided in Section 11.23 hereof.

Section 11.20 Removal of Paying Agent or Registrar.  The Paying Agent or Registrar 
may be removed at any time prior to any Event of Default by the Issuer by filing with the Paying 
Agent or Registrar to be removed, and with the Trustee, an instrument or instruments in writing 
executed by the Issuer appointing a successor, or an instrument or instruments in writing 
designating, and accompanied by an instrument or appointment by the Issuer of, such successor.  
Such removal shall be effective thirty (30) days (or such longer period as may be set forth in 
such instrument) after delivery of the instrument; provided, however, that no such removal shall 
be effective until the successor Paying Agent or Registrar appointed hereunder shall execute, 
acknowledge and deliver to the Issuer an instrument accepting such appointment hereunder.



67
44310756;2

Section 11.21 Appointment of Successor Paying Agent or Registrar.  In case at any 
time the Paying Agent or Registrar shall be removed, or be dissolved, or if its property or affairs 
shall be taken under the control of any state or federal court or administrative body because of 
insolvency or bankruptcy, or for any other reason, then a vacancy shall forthwith and ipso facto 
exist in the office of the Paying Agent or Registrar, as the case may be, and a successor shall be 
appointed by the Issuer; and in case at any time the Paying Agent or Registrar shall resign, then a 
successor shall be appointed by the Issuer.  After any such appointment, notice of such 
appointment shall be given by the Issuer to the predecessor Paying Agent or Registrar, the
successor Paying Agent or Registrar, the Trustee, the Credit Facility Issuer, if any, any rating 
agency that shall then have in effect a rating on any of the Bonds, and all Bondholders.  Any new 
Paying Agent or Registrar so appointed shall immediately, and without further act, supersede the 
predecessor Paying Agent or Registrar.

Section 11.22 Qualifications of Successor Paying Agent or Registrar.  Every successor 
Paying Agent or Registrar (a) shall be a commercial bank or trust company (i) duly organized 
under the laws of the United States or any state or territory thereof, (i) authorized by law to 
perform all the duties imposed upon it by this Master Indenture and all Supplemental Indentures 
and (iii) capable of meeting its obligations hereunder, and (b) shall have a combined net capital 
and surplus of at least $75,000,000.

Section 11.23 Judicial Appointment of Successor Paying Agent or Registrar.  In case at 
any time the Paying Agent or Registrar shall resign and no appointment of a successor Paying 
Agent or Registrar shall be made pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this Master Indenture 
prior to the date specified in the notice of resignation as the date when such resignation is to take 
effect, the retiring Paying Agent or Registrar may forthwith apply to a court of competent 
jurisdiction for the appointment of a successor Paying Agent or Registrar.  Such court may 
thereupon, after such notice, if any, as it may deem proper and prescribe, appoint a successor 
Paying Agent or Registrar.  Notice of such appointment shall be given by the Successor Registrar 
or Paying Agent to the Issuer, the Trustee, the Credit Facility Issuer, if any, any rating agency 
that shall then have in effect a rating on any of the Bonds, and all Bondholders.  In the absence of 
such an appointment, the Trustee shall become the Registrar or Paying Agent, and shall so notify 
the Issuer, any rating agency that shall then have in effect a rating on the Bonds, and all 
Bondholders.

Section 11.24 Acceptance of Duties by Successor Paying Agent or Registrar.  Any 
successor Paying Agent or Registrar shall become duly vested with all the estates, property, 
rights, powers, duties and obligations of its predecessor hereunder, with like effect as if 
originally named Paying Agent or Registrar herein.  Upon request of such Paying Agent or
Registrar, except as provided in Section 11.25 hereof, such predecessor Paying Agent or 
Registrar and the Issuer shall execute and deliver an instrument transferring to such successor 
Paying Agent or Registrar all the estates, property, rights and powers hereunder of such 
predecessor Paying Agent or Registrar, except for its rights under Section 11.05 hereof and such 
predecessor Paying Agent or Registrar shall pay over and deliver to the successor Paying Agent 
or Registrar all moneys and other assets at the time held by it hereunder.

Section 11.25 Successor by Merger or Consolidation.  Any corporation into which any 
Paying Agent or Registrar hereunder may be merged or converted or with which it may be 



68
44310756;2

consolidated, or any corporation resulting from any merger or consolidation to which any Paying 
Agent or Registrar hereunder shall be a party, or any corporation which shall have purchased 
substantially all of the bond administration business of the corporate trust department shall be the 
successor Paying Agent or Registrar under this Master Indenture and all Supplemental 
Indentures without the execution or filing of any paper or any further act on the part of the 
parties thereto, anything in this Master Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture to the contrary 
notwithstanding.

[END OF ARTICLE XI]



69
44310756;2

ARTICLE XII
ACTS OF BONDHOLDERS; EVIDENCE OF OWNERSHIP OF BONDS

Section 12.01 Acts of Bondholders; Evidence of Ownership of Bonds. Any action to 
be taken by Bondholders may be evidenced by one or more concurrent written instruments of 
similar tenor signed or executed by such Bondholders in person or by an agent appointed in 
writing.  The fact and date of the execution by any person of any such instrument may be 
provided by acknowledgment before a notary public or other officer empowered to take 
acknowledgments or by an affidavit of a witness to such execution.  Any action by the Owner of 
any Bond shall bind all future Owners of the same Bond in respect of anything done or suffered 
by the Issuer, Trustee, Paying Agent or Registrar in pursuance thereof.

[END OF ARTICLE XII]



70
44310756;2

ARTICLE XIII
AMENDMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTS

Section 13.01 Amendments and Supplements Without Bondholders’ Consent.  This 
Master Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture may be amended or supplemented, from time 
to time, without the consent of the Bondholders, by a Supplemental Indenture authorized by a 
Certified Resolution of the Issuer filed with the Trustee, for one or more of the following 
purposes:

(a) to add additional covenants of the Issuer or to surrender any right or power 
herein conferred upon the Issuer;

(b) for any purpose not inconsistent with the terms of the related Indenture, or 
to cure any ambiguity or to cure, correct or supplement any defective provision (whether because 
of any inconsistency with any other provision hereof or otherwise) of the related Indenture, in 
such manner as shall not impair the security hereof or thereof or adversely affect the rights and 
remedies of the Bondholders; 

(c) to provide for the execution of any and all contracts and other documents 
as may be required in order to effectuate the conveyance of any Project to the State, the County, 
or any department, agency or branch thereof, or any other unit of government of the State, 
provided, however, that the Issuer shall have caused to be delivered to the Trustee an opinion of 
Bond Counsel stating that such conveyance shall not impair the security hereof or adversely 
affect the rights and remedies of the Bondholders;

(d) to make such changes as may be deemed necessary or desirable as 
determined by the Issuer in order to provide for the issuance of a Series of Bonds to refund a 
portion of a Series of Bonds or for the completion of a Project financed with such Series of 
Bonds, on a parity with the Outstanding Bonds of such Series; 

(e) to make any change in connection with the issuance of a new Series of 
Bonds if such change affects only such Series of Bonds; or

(f) to make such changes as may be necessary in order to reflect amendments 
to Chapters 170, 190 and 197, Florida Statutes, so long as, in the opinion of Counsel to the 
Issuer, such changes either:  (i) do not have a material adverse effect on the Holders of the 
Bonds; or (ii) if such changes do have an adverse effect, that they nevertheless are required to be 
made as a result of such amendments.

Section 13.02 Amendments With Bondholders’ Consent.  Subject to the provisions of 
Section 13.01 hereof, this Master Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture may be amended 
from time to time by a Supplemental Indenture approved by the Majority Owners of the Bonds 
the Outstanding and affected thereby in the case of the Master Indenture, and the Majority 
Owners of each Series of Bonds then Outstanding and secured by such Supplemental Indenture 
in the case of an amendment of a Supplemental Indenture including, but not limited to, any 
material amendment to the Special Assessments and related proceedings which secure a Series of 
Bonds; provided that with respect to (a) the interest payable upon any Bonds, (b) the dates of 
maturity or redemption provisions of any Bonds, (c) this Article XIII and (d) except as otherwise 



71
44310756;2

provided in this section, the security provisions hereunder or under any Supplemental Indenture, 
which may only be amended by approval of the Owners of all Bonds then Outstanding to be so 
amended.

Section 13.03 Trustee Authorized to Join in Amendments and Supplements; Reliance 
on Counsel.  The Trustee is authorized to join in the execution and delivery of any Supplemental 
Indenture or amendment permitted by this Article XIII and in so doing is entitled to require and 
to rely on a written opinion of Counsel, at the expense of the Issuer, that such Supplemental 
Indenture or amendment is so permitted and has been duly authorized by the Issuer, that all 
things necessary to make it a valid and binding agreement have been done and that such action 
does not adversely impact the tax-exempt status of the interest on the applicable Series of Bonds.   
.  The Trustee shall not be obligated to enter into any supplemental indenture or amendment that 
imposes additional obligations on the Trustee or adversely affect the Trustee's rights and 
immunities hereunder.

[END OF ARTICLE XIII]



72
44310756;2

ARTICLE XIV
DEFEASANCE

Section 14.01 Defeasance.  When interest on, and principal or Redemption Price (as 
the case may be) of, the Bonds of a Series or any portion thereof to be defeased have been paid, 
or there shall have been deposited with the Trustee or such other escrow agent designated in a 
Certified Resolution of the Issuer (the “Escrow Agent”) moneys sufficient, or Defeasance 
Securities, the principal of and interest on which, when due, together with any moneys, 
remaining uninvested, will provide sufficient moneys to fully pay (i) such Bonds of a Series or 
portion thereof to be defeased, and (ii) any other sums payable hereunder by the Issuer, the right, 
title and interest of the Trustee with respect to such Bonds of a Series or portion thereof to be 
defeased shall thereupon cease, the lien of the Indenture on the Pledged Revenues, and the Funds 
and Accounts established under the Indenture shall be defeased and discharged, and the Trustee, 
on demand of the Issuer, shall release the Indenture as to such Bonds of a Series or portion 
thereof to be so defeased and shall execute such documents to evidence such release as may be 
reasonably required by the Issuer and shall turn over to the Issuer or to such Person, body or 
authority as may be entitled to receive the same all balances remaining in any Series Funds and 
Accounts upon the defeasance in whole of all of the Bonds of a Series.

Section 14.02 Deposit of Funds for Payment of Bonds.  If the Issuer deposits with the 
Escrow Agent moneys sufficient, or Defeasance Securities, the principal of and interest on 
which, when due, together with any moneys remaining uninvested, will provide sufficient 
moneys to pay the principal or Redemption Price of any Bonds of a Series becoming due, either 
at maturity or by redemption or otherwise, together with all interest accruing thereon to the date 
of maturity or such prior redemption, and reimburses or causes to be reimbursed or pays or 
causes to be paid the other amounts required to be reimbursed or paid under Section 14.01 
hereof, interest on such Bonds of a Series shall cease to accrue on such date of maturity or prior 
redemption and all liability of the Issuer with respect to such Bonds of a Series shall likewise 
cease, except as hereinafter provided; provided, however, that (a) if any Bonds are to be 
redeemed prior to the maturity thereof, notice of the redemption thereof shall have been duly 
given in accordance with the provisions of Section 8.02 hereof, or irrevocable provision 
satisfactory to the Trustee shall have been duly made for the giving of such notice, and (b) in the 
event that any Bonds are not by their terms subject to redemption within the next succeeding 
sixty (60) days following a deposit of moneys with the Escrow Agent, in accordance with this 
Section, the Issuer shall have given the Escrow Agent, in form satisfactory to the Escrow Agent, 
irrevocable instructions to mail to the Owners of such Bonds at their addresses as they appear on 
the Bond Register, a notice stating that a deposit in accordance with this Section has been made 
with the Escrow Agent and that the Bonds to which such notice relates are deemed to have been 
paid in accordance with this Section and stating such maturity or redemption date upon which 
moneys are to be available for the payment of the principal or Redemption Price (as the case may 
be) of, and interest on, said Bonds of a Series.  Thereafter such Bonds shall be deemed not to be 
Outstanding hereunder and the Owners of such Bonds shall be restricted exclusively to the funds 
so deposited for any claim of whatsoever nature with respect to such Bonds, and the Escrow 
Agent shall hold such funds in trust for such Owners.  At the time of the deposit referred to 
above, there shall be delivered to the Trustee and any Escrow Agent (a) a verification from a 
firm of independent certified public accountants or other qualified independent consultant stating 
that the principal of and interest on the Defeasance Securities, together with the stated amount of 



73
44310756;2

any cash remaining on deposit with the Escrow Agent,  will be sufficient without reinvestment to 
pay the remaining principal of, redemption premium, if any, and interest on such defeased Bonds
and (b) an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that the deposit and application of such funds 
and Defeasance Securities will not adversely affect the tax-exempt status of interest on the 
Bonds.

Money so deposited with the Escrow Agent which remains unclaimed three (3) years 
after the date payment thereof becomes due shall, upon request of the Issuer, if the Issuer is not 
at the time to the knowledge of the Escrow Agent in default with respect to any covenant in the 
Indenture or the Bonds of the Series contained, be paid to the Issuer; and the Owners of the 
Bonds for which the deposit was made shall thereafter be limited to a claim against the Issuer; 
provided, however, that the Escrow Agent, before making payment to the Issuer, shall, if so 
directed by the Issuer, at the expense of the Issuer, cause a notice to be published in an 
Authorized Newspaper, stating that the money remaining unclaimed will be returned to the 
Issuer after a specified date.

[END OF ARTICLE XIV]



74
44310756;2

ARTICLE XV
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

Section 15.01 Limitations on Recourse.  No personal recourse shall be had for any 
claim based on this Master Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture or the Bonds against any 
member of the Board of the Issuer, officer, employee or agent, past, present or future, of the 
Issuer or of any successor body as such, either directly or through the Issuer or any such 
successor body, under any constitutional provision, statute or rule of law or by the enforcement 
of any assessment or penalty or otherwise.

The Bonds of each Series are payable solely from the Pledged Revenues, and any other 
moneys held by the Trustee under the Indenture for such purpose.  There shall be no other 
recourse under the Bonds, the Indenture or otherwise, against the Issuer or any other property 
now or hereafter owned by it.

Section 15.02 Payment Dates.  In any case where an Interest Payment Date or the 
maturity date of the Bonds or the date fixed for the redemption of any Bonds shall be other than 
a Business Day, then payment of interest, principal or Redemption Price need not be made on 
such date but may be made on the next succeeding Business Day, with the same force and effect 
as if made on the due date, and no interest on such payment shall accrue for the period after such 
due date if payment is made on such next succeeding Business Day.

Section 15.03 No Rights Conferred on Others.  Nothing herein contained shall confer 
any right upon any Person other than the parties hereto and the Holders of the Bonds and the 
Credit Facility Issuers, if any.

Section 15.04 Illegal Provisions Disregarded.  If any term of Master Indenture or any 
Supplemental Indenture or the Bonds or the application thereof for any reason or circumstances 
shall to any extent be held invalid or unenforceable, the remaining provisions or the application 
of such terms or provisions to Persons and situations other than those as to which it is held 
invalid or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and each remaining term and provision 
hereof and thereof shall be valid and enforced to the fullest extent permitted by law.

Section 15.05 Substitute Notice.  If for any reason it shall be impossible to make 
duplication of any notice required hereby in a newspaper or newspapers, then such publication in 
lieu thereof as shall be made with the approval of the Trustee shall constitute a sufficient 
publication of such notice.

Section 15.06 Notices.  Any notice, demand, direction, request or other instrument 
authorized or required by this Master Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture to be given to or 
filed with the Issuer or the Trustee shall be deemed to have been sufficiently given or filed for all 
purposes of this Master Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture if and when personally 
delivered and receipted for, or if mailed by first class mail, addressed as follows:



75
44310756;2

(a) As to the Issuer -

Parkland Preserve Community Development District
c/o District Manager
DPFG Management and Consulting LLC
1060 Maitland Center, Ste. # 340
Maitland, FL  32751

With copy to -

Hopping Green & Sams, P.A.
119 South Monroe St., Suite 300
Tallahassee, Florida  32301
Attention: Jere Earlywine

(b) As to the Trustee -

The Bank of NY Mellon Trust Company, N.A.
10161 Centurion Parkway
Jacksonville, FL  32256
Attention:  Corporate Trust

With copy to -

Any of the foregoing may, by notice sent to each of the others, designate a different or 
additional address to which notices under this Master Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture 
are to be sent.

All documents received by the Trustee under the provisions of this Master Indenture or 
any Supplemental Indenture and not required to be redelivered shall be retained in its possession, 
subject at all reasonable times to the inspection of the Issuer, any Consultant, any Bondholder 
and the agents and representatives thereof as evidence in writing.

Section 15.07 Controlling Law.  This Master Indenture and all Supplemental 
Indentures shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State without 
regard to conflict of law principles.

Section 15.08 Successors and Assigns.  All the covenants, promises and agreements in 
this Master Indenture and all Supplemental Indentures contained by or on behalf of the Issuer or 
by or on behalf of the Trustee shall bind and inure to the benefit of their respective successors 
and assigns, whether so expressed or not.



76
44310756;2

Section 15.09 Headings for Convenience Only.  The table of contents and descriptive 
headings in this Master Indenture are inserted for convenience only and shall not control or 
affect the meaning or construction of any of the provisions hereof.

Section 15.10 Counterparts.  This Master Indenture and any Supplemental Indentures 
may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered 
shall be an original; but such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same 
instrument.

Section 15.11 Appendices and Exhibits.  Any and all appendices or exhibits referred to 
in and attached to this Master Indenture are hereby incorporated herein and made a part hereof 
for all purposes.

Section 15.12 Patriot Act. The Issuer acknowledges that in accordance with Section 
326 of the U.S.A. Patriot Act, the Trustee, like all financial institutions and in order to help fight 
the funding of terrorism and money-laundering is required to obtain, verify and record
information that identifies each person or legal entity that establishes a relationship or opens an 
account with the Trustee.  The Issuer agrees that it will provide the Trustee with such 
information as it may request in order for the Trustee to satisfy the requirements of the U.S.A. 
Patriot Act. Any and all appendices or exhibits referred to in and attached to this Master 
Indenture are hereby incorporated herein and made a part hereof for all purposes.



77
44310756;2

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Parkland Preserve Community Development District has 
caused this Master Indenture to be executed by the Designated Member of its Board and its 
corporate seal to be hereunto affixed, attested by the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of its Board 
and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. has caused this Master Indenture to be 
executed by one of its authorized signatories, all as of the day and year first above written.

Attest:

By 
Name:
Title: Secretary, Board of Supervisors

PARKLAND PRESERVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

By: 
Name:
Title: Chairman, Board of Supervisors

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON 
TRUST COMPANY, N.A., as Trustee, Paying 
Agent and Registrar

By: 
Title: Vice President 



EXHIBIT 33



 
APPRAISAL REPORT 
Of 
 
Right-of-Ways, Lakes, Buffer, Amenity and Preservation/Conservation Areas within the CDD 
 

 
 
International Golf Parkway, 
St. Augustine, St. Johns County 
Florida, 32092 
 
As of 
March 27, 2018 
 
Prepared For 
Parkland Preserve Community Development District 
c/o DPFG 
250 International Parkway, Suite 280 
Lake Mary, Florida, FL 32746 
 
 
Prepared by 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Florida Valuation 
806 Riverside Avenue 
Jacksonville, FL 32204 
 
File Name: 18-0137 



 
Table of Contents 

Executive Summary .........................................................................................................................1 
Subject Photographs.........................................................................................................................2 
Limiting Conditions and Assumptions ............................................................................................4 
Scope of Work .................................................................................................................................7 
Ownership, Sales History, Current Agreements ............................................................................11 
Market Area Analysis ....................................................................................................................12 
Marketability of the Subject...........................................................................................................24 
Site Description ..............................................................................................................................30 
Zoning & Land Use .......................................................................................................................34 
Assessment and Taxes ...................................................................................................................35 
Analysis of Highest and Best Use ..................................................................................................35 
Sales Comparison Approach – Upland Land Valuation ................................................................37 
Sales Comparison Approach - Conservation/Wetlands Area ........................................................52 
Final Value Conclusions ................................................................................................................61 
Certification – Courtland Carter Eyrick, MAI ................................................................................63 
Certification – Thomas L. Whitelaw ...............................................................................................65 
Definitions......................................................................................................................................67 
ADDENDA ....................................................................................................................................69 
 
ADDENDA 
Subject Exhibits 
Qualifications of Appraisers 
 



 

 

April 4, 2018 
 
Parkland Preserve Community Development District 
c/o DPFG 
250 International Parkway, Suite 280 
Lake Mary, Florida, FL 32746 
 
Re: Appraisal Report 

Right-of-Ways, Lakes, Buffer, Amenity and Preservation/Conservation Areas 
within the CDD 
International Golf Parkway 
St. Augustine, St. Johns County 
Florida, 32092 
 
File Name: 18-0137 

 
Dear Mr. Balanky: 
 
As requested, the following is an appraisal report of the above referenced property and is intended 
for use by the Parkland Preserve Community Development District (“CDD”) in connection with 
the CDD’s purchase of the property for use as right-of-way, lakes, buffer, amenity and 
conservation lands.  The subject of this appraisal report is the Right-of-Ways, Lakes, Buffer, 
Amenity and Preservation/Conservation Areas within the CDD.  The subject property is located 
along Parkland Trail in the northeast quadrant of International Golf Parkway and Interstate 95 in 
St. Augustine, St. Johns County, Florida.  The valuation contained therein reflects our opinion of 
the market value as of March 27, 2018.  
 
The enclosed report describes the subject property, its general market area environment and 
influences, the method(s) of approach to the valuation problem and contains data gathered in the 
investigation for this assignment.  We developed our analyses, opinions, and conclusions and 
prepared this report in conformity with the reporting requirements under Standards Rule 2-2(a) of 
the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP 2018-2019 edition); the Code of 
Professional Ethics and Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice of the Appraisal Institute; 
and the requirements of our client as we understand them. 

The information contained in the report is specific to the needs of the client and for the intended 
use as stated.  The appraisers are not responsible for any unauthorized use of the enclosed appraisal. 
 
The highest and best use analysis of the subject and the valuation conclusion are subject to the 
legal limitations of the land use identified therein.  Furthermore, unless otherwise stated, it is 
assumed that the subject conforms to current zoning and land use requirements and complies with 
the Comprehensive Land Planning Act of St. Johns County.  Parkland Preserve Community 
Development District is the client in this assignment and is the intended user of the appraisal and 
report.  The intended use is for the purchase of the property.  The value opinions reported are 
subject to the definitions, assumptions and limiting conditions, and certification contained in the 
report. The acceptance of this appraisal assignment and the completion of the appraisal report 



 

 

submitted herewith are contingent on the following extraordinary assumptions and/or hypothetical 
conditions: 
Extraordinary Assumptions: 
 

 We have relied on information provided by Kimley-Horn (land planner/engineer) and the 
developer, in order to estimate the land sizes of the subject property (Right-of-Ways, 
Lakes, Buffer/Common Area, Amenity Area, and Preservation/Conservation Area). 
 

In the event the information relied upon proves to be materially inaccurate, we reserve the right to 
modify the value opinions expressed herein.  We have relied upon this information and assume it 
correct.  The use of these special assumptions may affect the assignment result if found to be 
untrue. 
 
Hypothetical Conditions: 
 

 None 
 
Thank you for the opportunity to have been of service to you in this matter.  
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
Florida Valuation 

   
 
Courtland Carter Eyrick, MAI 
Principal 
Florida State-Certified General 
Real Estate Appraiser License #RZ2856 
License Expires 11-30-2018 
ceyrick@floridavaluation.com 

Thomas L. Whitelaw 
Appraiser 
Florida State-Registered Trainee 
Appraiser License # RI23873 
License Expires 11-30-2018 
twhitelaw@floridavaluation.com 
 

 
 



   
 

Page | 1 
 

Executive Summary 
General  
Property Name Right-of-Ways, Lakes, Buffer, Amenity and 

Preservation/Conservation Areas within the CDD 

Property Address International Golf Parkway 
St. Augustine Florida  32092 

Property Location The subject property is located along Parkland Trail 
in the northeast quadrant of International Golf 
Parkway and Interstate 95 

Property Tax Identification Number(s) Parcel # 027030-0020  
 

Owner of Record NGMB Properties, LLC 
  
Date of the Report April 4, 2018 

Effective Date of the Appraisal March 27, 2018 

Property Rights Appraised Fee Simple 
  
Land  
Land Area 

 

Zoning/Land Use Designation The property is zoned PUD, Planned Unit 
Development with a future land use of St Johns DRI 

  
Potential Residential Lots  
Parkland Preserve at World Golf Village 363 residential lots 
  

Highest and Best Use As If Vacant Residential Development 

 

Right-of-ways 21.3 AC
Lakes 21.8 AC
Buffer/Common Area 8.4 AC
Amenity 4.4 AC
Lots (Not Valued) 63.5 AC
Preservation/Conservation Land 148.0 AC
Total 267.4 AC

Indicated Unit 
Value Total

Land Value - (Right-of-Ways, Lakes, Buffer/Common Area and Amenity) $40,000/AC $2,235,000
Land Value - Preservation/Wetland Area $1,500/AC $220,000
Total $2,455,000



   
 

Page | 2 
 

Subject Photographs 

 
View Facing North Along Parkland Trail 

 

 
View Facing South Along Parkland Trail 



   
 

Page | 3 
 

 
View Facing East Along International Golf Parkway 

 

 
View Facing West Along International Golf Parkway 

 
  



   
 

Page | 4 
 

Limiting Conditions and Assumptions 
This appraisal report is based upon, and subject to the following: 

 
1. This is an appraisal report presented in an Appraisal Report format that is intended to 

comply with the reporting requirements set forth under Standard Rule 2-2(a) of the 
Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice.  It is understood between the parties 
that the scope of the assignment is limited and we relied on information obtained from the 
public records of St. Johns County, published data sources and discussions with market 
professionals such as investors and brokers relative to County, published data sources and 
discussions with market professionals such as investors and brokers relative to the subject’s 
income performance and physical composition.  Florida Valuation is not responsible for 
unauthorized use of this report.  
 

2. No responsibility is assumed for the legal description provided or for matters pertaining to 
legal issues or title matters.  Title to the property is assumed good and marketable unless 
otherwise stated.   
 

3. The property is appraised, free and clear of any or all liens or encumbrances unless 
otherwise stated.   

 
4. The liability of the appraiser(s) is limited solely to the client and under the intended use of 

the appraisal services.  This appraisal was prepared specifically for the client, as the sole 
user of the appraisal services. 

 
5. Data considered and researched in processing this appraisal assignment are retained in the 

appraisal file and incorporated herein by reference. 
 
6. Responsible ownership and competent property management are assumed.   
 
7. The information furnished by others is believed to be reliable, but no warranty is given for 

its accuracy.   
 
8. Any engineering studies provided are assumed correct.  The plot plans and illustrative 

material in this report are included only to help the reader visualize the property. 
 
9. It is assumed that there are no hidden or unapparent conditions of the property, subsoil, or 

structures that render it more or less valuable.  No responsibility is assumed for such 
conditions including subsidence, oil, gas, or minerals or for obtaining the engineering 
studies that may be required to discover them.   

 
10. It is assumed that the property is in full compliance with all applicable federal, state, and 

local regulations and laws including but not limited to environmental unless the lack of 
compliance is stated, described, and considered in the appraisal report. 

 



   
 

Page | 5 
 

11. It is assumed that the property conforms to all applicable zoning including use regulations 
and restrictions unless non-conformity has been identified, described, and considered in 
the appraisal report. 

 
12. It is assumed that all required licenses, certificates of occupancy, consents, and other 

legislative or administrative authority from any local, state, or national government or any 
entity or organization having jurisdiction have been or can be obtained or renewed for any 
use on which the opinion of value contained in this report is based.   

 
13. It is assumed that the use of the land and improvements is confined within the boundaries 

or property lines of the land described and that there is no encroachment or trespass unless 
stated in the report. 
 

14. Unless otherwise stated in this report the existence of hazardous materials, which may or 
may not be present on the property, was not observed by the appraiser.  The appraiser has 
no knowledge of the existence of such materials on or in the property.  The appraiser, 
however, is not qualified to detect such substances.  The presence of substances such as 
asbestos, urea formaldehyde foam insulation and other potentially hazardous materials may 
affect the value of the property.  The value opinion is predicated on the assumption that 
there is no such material on or in the property that would cause a loss in value.  No 
responsibility is assumed for such conditions or for any expertise or engineering knowledge 
required to discover them.  The intended user is urged to retain an expert in this field, if 
desired.   

 
15. Any allocation of the value indications or conclusions in this report between the land and 

the improvements applies only under the stated program of utilization.  Any separate 
value(s) allocated to the land and building(s) must not be used in conjunction with any 
other appraisal and are invalid if so used. 

 
16. Possession of this report, or a copy thereof, does not carry with it the right of publication, 

excerpt, or reference to the Appraisal Institute.   
 
17. The appraiser, by reason of this appraisal, is not required to give further consultation or 

testimony either in court or pursuant to a government audit with reference to the property 
that is the subject of this report unless the appraiser is compensated at their then prevailing 
hourly rate, which is $280/hour (CCE)/ or $125/hour (TLW).  

 
18. Neither all nor any part of the contents of this report (including, but not limited to, any 

conclusions as to value, the identity of the appraiser; or the firm with which the appraiser 
is connected) shall be disseminated to the public through advertising, public relations, 
news, sales, public offerings or other media without having first obtained the prior written 
consent and approval of the appraiser provided however hat the appraiser acknowledges 
that this report is a public records and subject to disclosure pursuant to Chapter 119, Florida 
Statutes.  The appraiser shall have no responsibility for changes made to the report by any 
others.   
 



   
 

Page | 6 
 

19. The forecasts, projections, or operating estimates contained herein are based upon current 
market conditions and anticipated short-term supply and demand factors and are, therefore, 
subject to changes in future conditions. 

 
20. The value opinion(s) applies only to the date specified in the report.  Value is affected by 

related and unrelated economic conditions, both local and national.  Unforeseen precipitous 
changes in economic conditions can affect the future value of subject property. 

 
21. The appraiser is not qualified to identify areas that may be legally defined as jurisdictional 

wetlands and assumes no liability for identification of any possible jurisdictional wetland 
areas on the site.   

 
22. The presence of termites or the infestation of any other types of insect was not noticed or 

called to the attention of the appraiser.  The appraiser, however, is not qualified to test for 
such infestations, and the value reported within this report is based on the assumption that 
there are no such infestations and no hidden damages due to such infestation unless 
otherwise noted.  No responsibility is assumed for any such conditions, or for the expertise 
or knowledge required to discover them.   
 

23. The Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) became effective January 26, 1992.  The 
appraiser has not made a specific compliance survey or analysis of the property to 
determine whether it is in conformity with the various detailed requirements of ADA.  It is 
possible that a compliance survey of the property and a detailed analysis of the 
requirements of the ADA would reveal that the property does not comply with one or more 
of the requirements of the act.  If so, this fact could have a negative impact upon the value 
of the property.  Since the appraiser has not direct evidence relating to this issue, possible 
noncompliance with the requirements of ADA was not considered in developing a value 
opinion for the subject property.   

 
  



   
 

Page | 7 
 

Scope of Work 
Solving an appraisal problem involves three steps: 
 

1. Identifying the problem to be solved 
2. Determine and perform the scope of work necessary to develop credible assignment results; 

and 
3. Applying the solution under the intended purpose and use of the services 

 
None of the three steps can be omitted, and each must be performed sequentially as stated above.  
To analyze the problem, the appraiser identifies seven key assignment elements: (1) client, (2) 
intended users in addition to the client, (3) intended use, (4) problem to be solved, or type of value 
and its definition, (5) effective date, (6) property characteristics that are relevant to the assignment 
such as the interest to be valued and physical and legal characteristics, and (7) assignment 
conditions such as hypothetical conditions, extraordinary assumptions, and other requirements.  
These elements provide the framework for the assignment and allow the appraiser to produce 
credible results.   
 
The second step is to determine the scope of work to solve the problem under the intended purpose 
and use of the services.  Scope of work encompasses all aspects of the valuation process, including 
which approaches to value will be applied; how much data is to be researched, from what sources, 
from which geographic area, and over what period; the extent of the data verification process; and 
the extent of the subject property inspection, as applicable.  The scope of work decision is 
appropriate when it allows the appraiser to arrive at credible assignment results and is consistent 
with the expectations of similar clients and the work that would be performed by the appraiser’s 
peers in a similar situation. 
Source: USPAP 2018-2019 Scope of Work Rule  
 
Purpose of the Appraisal 

The purpose of this appraisal is to provide an opinion of the "as is" market value of the fee simple 
interest in the various portions of the subject property (Right-of-Ways (21.3± AC), Lakes (21.8± 
AC), Buffer/Common Area (8.4± AC), Amenity Area (4.4± AC), and Preservation/Conservation 
Land (148.0± AC)) to be conveyed to the CDD in fee simple, as of the effective date of the 
appraisal.  
 
Intended Use/Client and Intended User(s) 

The intended use of this report is for internal valuation purposes and in connection with the CDD’s 
purchase of the property.  Our client is Parkland Preserve Community Development District and 
the intended user of the report is Parkland Preserve Community Development District.   
 
Type and Definition of Value 

We developed an opinion of the market value for the subject property under the purpose and 
intended use of the services.   
 
“Market Value,” as used in this appraisal, is defined as “the most probable price that a property 
should bring in a competitive and open market under all conditions requisite to a fair sale, the 



   
 

Page | 8 
 

buyer and seller each acting prudently and knowledgeably, and assuming the price is not affected 
by undue stimulus.”  Implicit in this definition are the consummation of a sale as of a specified 
date and the passing of title from seller to buyer under conditions whereby: 

 
 Buyer and seller are typically motivated; 
 Both parties are well informed or well advised, each acting in what they consider 

their own best interests; 
 A reasonable time is allowed for exposure in the open market; 
 Payment is made in terms of cash in U.S. dollars or in terms of financial 

arrangements comparable thereto; and 
 The price represents the normal consideration for the property sold unaffected by 

special or creative financing or sale concessions granted by anyone associated with 
the sale.” 

 
(Source: Appraisal Institute, The Dictionary of Real Estate Appraisal, 6th ed., s.v.“market value.” 
(Chicago: Appraisal Institute, 2015), PDF e-book and from 55FR34696, Aug. 24, 1990 - 
F.I.R.R.E.A Title XI Subpart C 34.42 (g))
 
Effective Date of Value 

March 27, 2018 

 
Date of Report 

April 4, 2018 
 
Real Property Interest Appraised 

 Fee Simple Interest is a freehold estate of absolute ownership unencumbered by any other 
interest or estate, subject only to the limitations imposed by the governmental powers of 
taxation, eminent domain, police power, and escheat.  

 
 Leased Fee Interest is a leasehold estate where the possessory interest has been granted to 

another party by creation of a contractual landlord-tenant relationship (i.e., a lease). 
 

 Leasehold Interest is the tenant’s possessory, not ownership interest created by a lease and 
in favor of the tenant (lessee). 

 
The subject property consists of undeveloped land with no ground lease in place.  Therefore, we 
have appraised the fee simple interest in the subject property.  



   
 

Page | 9 
 

Extraordinary Assumptions: 
 

 We have relied on information provided by Kimley-Horn (land planner/engineer) and the 
developer, in order to estimate the land sizes of the subject property (Right-of-Ways, 
Lakes, Buffer/Common Area, Amenity Area, and Preservation/Conservation Area). 
 

In the event the information relied upon proves to be materially inaccurate, we reserve the right to 
modify the value opinions expressed herein.  We have relied upon this information and assume it 
correct.  The use of these special assumptions may affect the assignment result if found to be 
untrue. 
 
Hypothetical Conditions 

 None  
 
Scope of Work 

The scope of work includes all steps taken in the development of the appraisal.  This includes: (1) 
the extent to which the subject property is identified, (2) the extent to which the subject property 
is inspected, (3) the type and extent of data researched, (4) the type and extent of analysis applied, 
and (5) the type of appraisal report prepared.  These items are discussed as follows:  
 
Extent to Which the Property Is Identified 

Legal Characteristics 
The subject was legally identified via St. Johns County Official Records. 
 
Economic Characteristics 
Economic characteristics of the subject property were identified via market research, as well as a 
comparison to properties with similar locational and physical characteristics.  A marketability 
analysis was prepared for the subject property as well as an analysis of their general regional 
market areas and neighborhood area, as applicable. 
 
Physical Characteristics 
The subject was physically identified via personal inspection and from data obtained from public 
records or furnished by others. 
 
Extent to Which the Property Is Inspected 

We inspected the subject on March 27, 2018.  Representing Florida Valuation at the time of 
inspection was Thomas L. Whitelaw. 
 
Florida Valuation’s professionals are not engineers and are not competent to judge matters of an 
engineering nature, nor has Florida Valuation retained independent structural, mechanical, electrical, 
or civil engineers in connection with the report.  As such, Florida Valuation makes no representations 
relative to the condition of the improvements, as related to the above, if any exist.  Unless otherwise 
noted in the report, no problems related to the foregoing matters including, but not limited to, 
environmental issues were brought to the attention of Florida Valuation’s professionals by ownership 
or management.   



   
 

Page | 10 
 

 
Data Researched 

We researched and analyzed: 1) market area data, 2) property-specific, market-analysis data, 3) 
zoning and land-use data, and 4) current data related to comparable property listings and sales in 
the competitive market area, as applicable.  Additional data were retained in the appraisal file and 
incorporated herein by reference. 
 
We collected factual information about the subject property and the surrounding market area(s).  
We generally researched three years prior to the date of our valuation including reviewing any 
relevant current listings.  We confirmed that information with various sources such as buyers, 
sellers, and brokers. 
 
Type and Extent of Analysis Applied 

We observed surrounding land use trends, the present use of the subject property, demand for the 
subject property, and relative legal limitations in concluding the highest and best use.  
 
Appraisal Report Prepared 

A written appraisal intended to comply with USPAP SR 2-2 (a). 
 
There are three basic approaches available to develop indications of real property value: the cost, 
sales comparison, and income capitalization approaches.  
 
Cost Approach 
The cost approach is based upon the principle of substitution, which states that a prudent purchaser 
would not pay more for a property than the amount required to purchase a similar site and construct 
similar improvements without undue delay, producing a property of equal desirability and utility.  
This approach is particularly applicable when the improvements being appraised are relatively new 
or proposed, or when the improvements are so specialized that there is little or no sales data for 
comparable properties. 
 
Sales Comparison Approach 
The sales comparison approach involves the direct comparison of sales and listings of similar 
properties, adjusting for differences that exist between the subject property and the comparable 
properties.  This method can be useful for valuing general-purpose properties or vacant land.  For 
improved properties, it is particularly applicable when there is an active sales market for the 
property type being appraised. 
 
Income Capitalization Approach 
The income capitalization approach is based on the principle of anticipation and the assumption 
that value is created by the expectation of economic benefits to be derived in the future.  Its premise 
is that a prudent investor will pay no more for the property than they would for another investment 
of similar risk and income characteristics.  The income capitalization approach is widely used and 
relied upon in appraising investment grade income-producing properties, particularly those for 
which there is an active investment sales market. 
 



   
 

Page | 11 
 

Analyses Applied 
We observed surrounding land use trends, demand for the subject property, and relative legal 
limitations in concluding a highest and best use.  We then valued the subject based on the highest 
and best use conclusion, relying on the Sales Comparison Approach.  The parent tract consists of 
a total 267.40± AC.  The subject property is “associated” and valued based on the parent tract.  
The “across the fence” valuation method is utilized to develop the various portions of the subject 
property (Right-of-Ways (21.30± AC), Lakes (21.80± AC), Buffer/Common Area (8.40± AC), 
Amenity Area (4.40± AC), and Preservation/Conservation Land (148.00± AC)) to be conveyed to 
the CDD in fee simple, as of the effective date of the appraisal.  These various portions are integral 
to the larger parent tract development of the Parkland Preserve at World Golf Village development.  
We have utilized residential subdivision land sales to value the upland areas and 
preservation/conservation land sales to value the wetland/conservation areas. 
 
Approaches not used: Cost and Income Capitalization Approaches - Because the subject property 
is vacant and unimproved tract of land with no ground lease agreements. 
 
Ownership, Sales History, Current Agreements 
According to the public records, title to the subject property is vested in NGMB Properties, LLC.   
 
The subject property recently transferred between Northeast Quadrant Properties, LLC (Grantor) 
and NGMB Properties, LLC (Grantee) on October 20, 2017 for $9,943,900 or $27,393.66 per 
proposed lot or $37,187 per gross acre.  We believe that the recent sale price is at market value.   
  



   
 

Page | 12 
 

Market Area Analysis 
Jacksonville MSA 

The subject is located in part of the Jacksonville Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA).  The 
Jacksonville MSA is the metropolitan area centered on the principal city of Jacksonville, Florida 
and consists of five counties: Duval, Clay, St. Johns, Nassau and Baker Counties.  The Jacksonville 
MSA ranks as the fourth largest in the State of Florida, preceded in order of population by Miami, 
Tampa/St. Petersburg, and Orlando.  Nationally, it is considered the 40th largest MSA.  

REGIONAL MAP 

 
 

 

Population and Income 

The most significant economic statistic relating to a regional area is population.  Population totals 
relate to urban densities and the critical mass of an economic area.  Furthermore, population growth 
starts a chain reaction that results in housing starts and job growth.  New jobs that are most frequently 
triggered by population growth include construction, real estate, business and personal services, and 
retail wholesale trade.   

The table below shows relevant demographic data for Jacksonville MSA. 



   
 

Page | 13 
 

 
 

The 2017 estimates reported that Jacksonville MSA has an average household income of $76,601, as 
compared to $80,675 for all U.S households. Jacksonville MSA’s average household income level 
is higher than those of the state of Florida. 

Location and Access 

Jacksonville, the anchor city within the Jacksonville MSA, is a city geographically located on the 
banks of the St. Johns River in the northeast section of Florida, situated 23 miles south of the 
Georgia state line.  Jacksonville is 39 miles north of St. Augustine, 89 miles north of Daytona 
Beach, 134 miles northeast of Orlando, 163 miles east of Tallahassee, 190 miles northeast of 
Tampa, 315 miles southeast of Atlanta and 345 miles north of Miami.  

Jacksonville is the main intersection of two major southeastern transportation routes: I-95 and I-
10.  Interstate 95 provides access south to Miami and northeast to Maine. Interstate 10 extends 
west to southern California.  Along with these two major transportation routes, I-75 is easily 
accessed via I-10 approximately one hour west of Jacksonville.  

Physical Features 

At 874.3 square miles, Jacksonville is the largest city in land area in the contiguous United States.  
Of this, 757.7 square miles consists of land, and 116.7 square miles consists of water.  Elevation 
varies from sea level to approximately 50 feet above sea level with the highest elevation occurring 
along a portion of the south bank of the St. Johns River in the Arlington Area (St. Johns Bluff).  
Significant physical features in the area include the St. Johns, Ortega, Nassau, Trout and Cedar 
Rivers, the Intracoastal Waterway, the Atlantic Ocean and numerous ecologically important 
wetland areas including the 30,000-acre Timucuan Ecological and Historical Preserve. 

Employment and the Economy 

Employment opportunities in the Jacksonville MSA are abundant. Jacksonville is home to three 
Fortune 500 companies, 24 Inc. 5000 companies, and was recently ranked by Forbes as number 
two in the nation for technology services jobs growth.  The area is known for its industrial 
production including manufacturing and other activities associated with Port of Jacksonville.  The 
largest percentage of employees consist of “white collar” workers and many residents commute to 
nearby downtown Jacksonville.  The employment base, like that of the state of Florida, is more service 
intensive than the national average, as is the percentage of retired individuals.  The following table 
illustrates the top 20 primary employers in the Jacksonville MSA.  

  



   
 

Page | 14 
 

Rank  Company  Type of business Employees 

1 Naval Air Station Jacksonville  U.S. Navy 21,900 

2 Duval County Public Schools  Public Education  14,480 

3 Naval Station Mayport U.S. Navy 12,670 

4 City of Jacksonville Government 8,820 

5 Baptist Health  Hospital  8,270 

6 Bank of America Merrill Lynch Banking and investments  6,400 

7 
Blue Cross and Blue Shield of 
Florida  Health insurance  6,000 

8 Citi  Consumer Finance  5,000 

9 Mayo Clinic Health care center 4,970 

10 United Parcel Service Global parcel delivery  4,100 

11 St. Vincent's Medical Center Health care center  4,000 

12 U.S. Postal Service  
Mail processing and 
delivery 3,790 

13 
Shands Jacksonville Medical 
Center  Health care center  3,500 

14 CSX Railroad  3,300 

15 Jacksonville Sheriff's Office  Law Enforcement 3,300 

16 Fleet Readiness Center Maintenance 3,200 

17 Wells Fargo Banking  2,800 

18 AT&T Telecommunications 2,600 

19 Winn-Dixie Stores  Grocery  2,500 

20 Lender Processing Services 
Mortgage Information 
Tech 2,400 

    *Source: Daily Record 

Jacksonville MSA’s unemployment rate was 3.4% according to the Federal Reserve Economic data 
as of 2017.  Jacksonville MSA’s unemployment rate is lower than the state of Florida’s, at 3.6%.  
Over the past year more jobs have been created in Jacksonville, driving down the unemployment rate 
below the national average.  Job growth has mainly been driven by hospitality, professional and 
business services and local government.  

Education 

There are a variety of quality educational institutions in the Jacksonville MSA.  These include the 
University of North Florida (UNF), which offers a wide range of undergraduate and graduate level 
programs to over 16,300 students.  Jacksonville University (JU) is a four-year private university 



   
 

Page | 15 
 

that offers degrees in various disciplines at the bachelor and master’s levels.  Flagler College is a 
private, four-year liberal arts college located in downtown St. Augustine.  In addition, Florida State 
College at Jacksonville serves over 51,000 students on five campuses.  

Entertainment 

The Jacksonville area offers many recreational and cultural activities along with numerous 
professional and collegiate sporting events.  Northeast Florida is home to the World Golf Hall of 
Fame in St. Augustine, The Players Championship (TPC) held at TPC Sawgrass in Ponte Vedra 
Beach, The Bausch & Lomb Tennis Championship in Amelia Island and the Association of Tennis 
Professionals (ATP) headquarters in Ponte Vedra Beach.   

EverBank Field is located on the St. Johns River in downtown Jacksonville and is home of the 
NFL franchise Jacksonville Jaguars.  The stadium also hosts many annual events such as the 
Florida/Georgia Football Classic and the Tax Slayer.com Bowl.  In 2013, Jacksonville City 
Council approved a $63 million improvement plan to EverBank Field.  In 2014, the world’s largest 
scoreboards were installed as part of the plan, and several new luxury membership and seating 
options are in the works.  

Baseball Grounds of Jacksonville is a Double A ballpark that was dedicated in the spring of 2003.  
The baseball park replaced the older outdated structure and includes seating for 11,000, 12 luxury 
skyboxes, four sky decks, HD video boards in left field and along the outfield walls, a playground, 
and the "knuckle," a unique nine-foot high mound for seating at the left field corner.  The Baseball 
Grounds hosts regional baseball events, collegiate games and tournaments, and is home to the 
Jacksonville Jumbo Shrimp Minor League Baseball Team, formerly the Jacksonville Suns.   

The Jacksonville Equestrian Center, built as part of the Greater Jacksonville plan in 2004, is 
located off Normandy Boulevard in the Westside area of Jacksonville.  The eighty-acre Equestrian 
Center can host multi-faceted events including all disciplines of equine shows and celebrations, 
sporting events such as soccer and bmx biking, recreational events such as car shows, and 
community events such as art and music festivals.  

In 2005, the St. Johns Town Center, an upscale open-air mall, was opened in southeast 
Jacksonville.  The mall is situated on over 200 acres of land and is home to over 175 stores and 
dining establishments. Key tenants include Apple, Louis Vuitton, The Cheesecake Factory, 
Dillard’s, The Capital Grille, Anthropologie, Tiffany and Co. and most recently in Phase III of the 
development a Nordstrom.  Plans for the next stage of development are already in place with the 
construction of many new stores and businesses underway, most notably the Top Golf 
entertainment complex. 

The city of St. Augustine, Florida, is the oldest continuously occupied European-established 
settlement and port in the United States.  Along the Atlantic Historic coast, St. Augustine includes 
centuries-old churches, forts where soldiers still walk the grounds, and horse-drawn carriage rides.  
Shopping is abundant along the historical St. George Street, with its cobblestone streets, quaint 
cafes, unique shops and bed-and-breakfast inns.  Castillo de San Marcos National Monument and 
the recently renovated historic Bridge of Lions are also located in the downtown historical district.  
Today, the city is a popular tourist destination known for Spanish colonial-era buildings and 19th 
century architecture.  St. George Street is the historic center of St. Augustine and the area’s most 
popular shopping district.  The street is car-free and spans several blocks through the center of the 
city. 



   
 

Page | 16 
 

Healthcare 

Northeast Florida offers a wide range of advanced medical services provided by some of the top 
hospitals in the nation.  The area’s leading hospitals include Mayo Clinic, St. Vincent’s Healthcare, 
Baptist Health, Shands Jacksonville, UF Health North, and Flagler Hospital.  St. Vincent’s 
Healthcare serves more than 100,000 patients a year and is the largest heart center between Orlando 
and Atlanta.  Baptist Health is the area’s most comprehensive healthcare provider composed of 
five separate regional hospitals throughout Jacksonville. Shands Jacksonville is an academic 
medical center affiliated with the University of Florida and offers treatment to patients throughout 
Northeast Florida and South Georgia.  Similarly, UF Health North opened its doors in early 2015, 
becoming North Jacksonville’s first major medical complex.  UF Health North is equipped with a 
24/7 full-service emergency room, outpatient surgery, occupational medicine, a birth center, 
advanced imaging and other diagnostic services; all a first for the North Jacksonville area. 

Flagler Hospital is a 335 bed, acute care hospital that has been ranked among the top five percent 
of all hospitals in the nation for both clinical excellence and patient safety for the past eight 
consecutive years.  The hospital has operated as a not-for-profit healthcare institution in St. 
Augustine, Florida since its founding in 1889.  Mayo Clinic is the first and largest integrated group 
practice in the world.  According to the Jacksonville Chamber of Commerce, “Its Cancer Center 
is the only multicenter clinic in the nation to receive the National Cancer Institute’s highest 
designation as a comprehensive cancer center.”  

Transportation 

Rail: Jacksonville offers a broad range of transportation resources essential to moving both 
products and people.  More than one hundred different trucking companies and three separate rail 
companies service the area: CSX Corporation, Norfolk Southern and Florida East Coast Rail 
Company.  CSX Transportation is one of the nation’s leading transportation providers with about 
21,000 miles of track providing service in 23 states, the District of Columbia, and two Canadian 
provinces.  The company’s rail and intermodal businesses provide rail-based transportation 
services including traditional rail service and the transport of intermodal containers and trailers.  
Norfolk Southern operates approximately 20,000 route miles in 22 states and the District of 
Columbia, serves every major container port in the eastern United States, and provides efficient 
connections to other rail carriers.  In addition, Florida East Coast Railway operates 351 miles of 
mainline track, and is the only railroad along Florida’s east coast.  Jacksonville is a major 
intersection for any rail shipments coming or going out of the state. See the FDOT map below.  

 



   
 

Page | 17 
 

 
Port: The Jacksonville Port Authority (JAXPORT) owns, maintains, and markets three cargo 
terminals and one passenger cruise terminal along the St. Johns River: Blount Island Marine 
Terminal, Dames Point Marine Terminal, Talleyrand Marine Terminal and the JAXPORT Cruise 
Terminal.  The port offers worldwide cargo service from dozens of ocean carriers, including direct 
service with Europe, Africa, South America, the Caribbean and other key markets.  Jacksonville 
currently boasts the largest shipping channel in the Southeast U.S.  A study done by Martin 
Associates estimated that the Port of Jacksonville generates $27 billion in annual economic output 
for both the region and the state.  There are plans in place, through a $700 million project, to 
deepen the port even further to gain increased business from mega container ships from Asia. 

Air: Jacksonville's Airport System encompasses four airports, each of which serves a distinct 
aviation need.    Jacksonville International Airport is the major regional passenger air service 
provider, featuring non-stop flights to dozens of major U.S. cities.  Eight major airlines and a 
network of regional carriers provide some 200 daily arrivals and departures at JAX. Jacksonville’s 
passenger air service market has grown dramatically throughout the past decade.  In 2016, 5.6 
million passengers passed through JAX terminals. Jacksonville Executive at Craig Airport (CRG), 
centrally located near Jacksonville's suburban business centers, is a general aviation field perfect 
for busy corporate travelers and operators of small aircraft. Herlong Recreational Airport (HEG), 
on the city's west side, is ideally suited as a general aviation field and prime recreational site for 
small private planes, hot air balloons, gliders and similar craft. Cecil Airport (VQQ) is located 
approximately 15 miles west of downtown Jacksonville.  The newest addition to the Jacksonville 
airport system, Cecil Airport (VQQ) is an ideal site for aviation maintenance, manufacturing and 



   
 

Page | 18 
 

repair and overhaul operations.  The airport has four, 200-foot wide runways, three of which 
measure 8,000 feet. The fourth runway is 12,500 feet in length, one of the longest in Florida. 

In Summary: Jacksonville MSA is a growing market.  Its broad, dynamic array of businesses and 
professional services with its diverse economy, should provide resiliency against any future 
unforeseen setbacks that would negatively impact the long-term growth potential of the region.  

 
  



   
 

Page | 19 
 

 
St. Johns County  
St. Johns County is located in Florida approximately 31.5 miles south of Jacksonville, Florida. It 
is 608 square miles in size and has a population density of 354 persons per square mile. St. Johns 
County is part of the Jacksonville, FL MSA. 
 

 
 
  



   
 

Page | 20 
 

Population  
St. Johns County has an estimated 2017 population of 226,679 with approximately 88,750 
households and a median age of approximately 43. 

 
 
Looking forward, St. Johns County’s population is projected to increase at a 3.10 % annual rate 
from 2016-2021. St. Johns county’s population growth rate is expected to lead that of Florida 
(projected to be 1.29%) and ahead of the national rate of 0.84% 
 

 
 
Employment 
Recent data shows that the St. Johns County unemployment rate is 4.2% in comparison to the 7.6% 
rate for Florida, a sign that is consistent with the fact that St. Johns County is ahead of the state of 
Florida in the rate of job growth.  
 

 
 
Employment Sectors  
The composition of the St. Johns County job market is depicted in the following chart. Total 
employment is broken down by major employment sectors based on the percentage of St. Johns 
County jobs in each category. 



   
 

Page | 21 
 

 
 
The following chart shows the breakdown of occupations within the St. Johns County job market. 
 

 
 
Housing Unit Summary  
St. Johns County’s housing unit summary is presented in the chart below. The summary is 
segmented by owner-occupied, renter-occupied and vacant housing units with a range of 
corresponding median home values.    
 



   
 

Page | 22 
 

 

 
 
Education and Age  
Residents of St. Johns County have a lower level of educational attainment than those of Florida. 
An estimated 42.4% of St. Johns County residents are college graduates with four-year degrees or 
higher, versus 28% of Florida residents. People in St. Johns County are younger than their Florida 
counterparts. The median age for St. Johns County is 43 years, while the median age for Florida 
is 42 years. 
 



   
 

Page | 23 
 

 
 
Conclusion  
St. Johns County experienced growth in the number of jobs over the past decade, and it is 
reasonable to assume that employment growth will occur in the future.  I anticipate that the St. 
Johns County economy will improve and employment will grow, strengthening the demand for 
real estate. 

  



   
 

Page | 24 
 

Marketability of the Subject 
We have reviewed the Real Trend Report – St Johns County – Real Estate Sales Activity as of 
February 2018.  The report indicates that there were 399 residential lot sales as of February 2018, 
compared to the previous year of 401 residential lot sales, which indicates similar activity.  The 
total number of single-family improved sales indicated 993 sales as of February 2017, compared 
to 1,001single-family improved sales the previous year, which indicates similar activity.  The total 
number of new single-family improved sales remained stable compared to last year.  The chart on 
the following page shows the trend report for St. Johns County. 

 
 

 
Based on the above analysis, total single-family residential improved sales, new single-family 
improved sales and residential lots sales are all similar to this time last year, indicating a market 
for new home inventory.  Therefore, we believe the subject’s marketability is strong for sale to a 
builder once the horizontal improvements to the site have been completed.  
 
The subject property is an age-restricted 55+ community.  We have searched for similar 55+ 
communities in the greater Jacksonville MSA area.  The subject property will include 363 
residential lots.  The subject property is adjacent to the World Golf Village and World Golf Hall 
of Fame.  The subject property will be an active adult community with an age-restriction of 55 
years and over.  The community will feature an amenity center with state of the art fitness 
equipment, tennis and pickle ball courts, walking/biking trails, and swimming pool.   
 
Active adult communities are one of the biggest trends in real estate. These neighborhoods, 
designed specifically to appeal and cater to retirees, are popping up all over the country and in 
some cases house thousands of residents.  Active adult communities provide for independent living 
(i.e. no “assistance”) with a variety of community-accessible amenities.  Based on our review of 
several previously developed and upcoming 55+ communities within the Jacksonville MSA, we 
have found that these types of properties are trending upwards.  The local market is mirroring the 
larger national trend. 



   
 

Page | 25 
 

Market Participant Interviews 

We spoke in depth with Mr. Mike Balanky (developer of the project) in his approach for choosing 
an age-restricted community verse a traditional single-family community with multiple builders.  
Mr. Balanky stated he had studied the upward trend of the of the active adult communities and that 
the location of the subject property was good because of its close proximity to the World Golf 
Village and Interstate 95.  Further, Mr. Balanky stated that the reduced impact fees were an 
incentive.  According to Mr. Balanky, based on development of an age-restricted community, they 
are exempt from school impact fees ($6,581 per lot = $2,388,903 total savings) and received a 
60% reduction in road impact fees (Savings of $2,932 per lot which equates to $1,064,389 total 
savings).   

We also spoke with several real estate agents in regards to demand for similar age-restricted 
community’s and typical clients spend above the base home pricing.  According to real estate 
agent, Justin Timmons with Watson Realty, he stated that based on the Freedom Home pricing a 
typical consumer of a newly constructed home will spend approximately $50,000 on upgrades. He 
stated especially in age-restricted communities because potential buyers are planning on staying 
in this community for a long period if not the remainder of their lives.  Therefore, typically will 
spend more than a first or second home buyer.  Mr. Timmons stated he has begun to see more age-
restricted communities popping up around Jacksonville and St. Johns County and said he has older 
potential clients inquiring about these communities.  

Summary 
Based on the preceding data and recent single-family residential market activity reported by market 
participants, there is demand for single-family residential subdivision land (entitled, approved, or 
improved) in the current marketplace.  The subject property is considered to be marketable as a 
single-family residential development site under current and anticipated market conditions. 



   
 

Page | 26 
 

Location Map 

 
  



   
 

Page | 27 
 

Development Plan 

 
  



   
 

Page | 28 
 

Aerial Map  

 
  



   
 

Page | 29 
 

Flood Map 

 
 
  



   
 

Page | 30 
 

Site Description  
Location: The subject property is located along Parkland Trail in the northeast 

quadrant of International Golf Parkway and Interstate 95. 
 

Surrounding Land Uses 
North Residential Uses 
West Residential Uses 
South Commercial Uses 
East Residential Uses 

 

 
Current Use of the 
Property: 

 
Vacant Residential Entitled Land 
 

 
Site Size: 

 

 
 
Shape: 

 
Irregular 
 

Frontage/Access: 
 

Frontage: Interstate 95, International Golf Parkway and Parkland 
Trail 
Access: Parkland Trial   
 

Visibility: Average 
 

Topography/Drainage: The site has approximately 148± acres of conservation 
easement/wetland area. We were not provided with a topography 
map specific to the subject property.  The subject site appears to be 
relatively level and at street grade.  Drainage appeared to be 
adequate at the time of our inspection, with stormwater retention in 
place.   
 

Soil Conditions: A soil engineering report was not provided to the appraiser.  As 
explained in the Assumptions and Limiting Conditions, no 
responsibility is assumed for hidden or unapparent conditions that 
would make the property more or less valuable.  Generally, the soils 
appear to have adequate bearing capacities as indicated by the 
structural integrity of buildings located around the subject property. 
 

Utilities & Services: 
 

All public utilities are available to the site. 
 

Right-of-ways 21.30 AC
Lakes 21.80 AC
Buffer/Common Area 8.40 AC
Amenity 4.40 AC
Lots (Not Valued) 63.50 AC
Preservation/Conservation Land 148.00 AC
Total 267.40 AC



   
 

Page | 31 
 

Flood Zone: The subject is located in an area mapped by the Federal Emergency 
Management Agency (FEMA).  The subject is located in FEMA 
Flood Zones X and A.  Flood Zone X is areas of minimal flood 
hazard, usually depicted on FIRMs as above the 500-year floor 
level.  Flood Zone A is an area inundated 1% annual chance 
flooding, for which no BFEs have been determined. 
 
FEMA Map Number: 12109C0277H  
FEMA Map Date:  September 2, 2004 
 

Wetlands Description: We were provided with a development plan which indicated 
conservation easements/wetlands are scattered throughout the site.  
The site has approximately 148± of conservation 
easements/wetlands.  Based on the provided development plan, the 
conservation easements/wetlands do not appear to impact the site’s 
development potential. 
  

Environmental Issues: 
 

During the course of this assignment, we did not become aware of 
any toxic substances (or similar environmental problems) that 
would affect the value of the subject.  The appraisers are not 
qualified to test for environmental hazards.  During our inspection, 
we observed no unusual conditions such as hazardous waste 
containers or other potential sources of ground pollution at the 
subject site. 
 

Functional Utility: 
 

Average 

Encumbrance / 
Easements: 
 

The subject property is restricted to residents of age 55+.  Also, the 
property will be subject to a 30-year $10,000,000 CDD assessment 
lien. The home buyer will be required to pay approximately $2,400 
per year for the CDD assessments.  
 
A review of the available data did not reveal any other known 
easements, restrictions, or covenants that would negatively affect 
the normal development of the subject site. 

  



   
 

Page | 32 
 

Zoning Map 

  

SUBJECT 



   
 

Page | 33 
 

Land Use Map 

 

  

SUBJECT 



   
 

Page | 34 
 

Zoning & Land Use 
Zoning Code 
 

PUD, Planned Unit Development 

Zoning Entity 
 

St. Johns County 

Zoning Description 
 

The proposed subdivision is approved for 363 single-
family residences.  
 

Land Use Code 
 

St Johns DRI 
 

Current Use Legally Conforming 
 

Yes 

Zoning Comments 
 

The subject property was originally zoned for an office 
usage within the St. Johns DRI. The potential buyer 
had LOIs (Letter of Intents) from several other home 
builders for traditional subdivision before deciding to 
go with an age-restricted residential usage.  The 
potential buyers of the property rezoned the site to 
allow for an age-restricted single-family residential 
use.  Based on conversations with the potential buyer 
and the zoning department, it is reasonably probable 
that the subject property could be rezoned to traditional 
subdivision development. Based on our review of the 
local zoning ordinance, we believe the subject property 
conforms to local zoning restrictions. 

 
  



   
 

Page | 35 
 

Assessment and Taxes 
The current method of taxation of real property in Florida is mandated by Florida Statute Chapter 
193.  The property appraiser must make their assessment no later than July 1 every year.  Properties 
are reassessed annually beginning January 1.  Properties that have not changed ownership may be 
reassessed up to 10 percent of the assessed value for the property for the prior year for commercial 
properties and 3 percent for residential properties.  As of the effective date of value, the subject 
property does not have delinquent taxes. 

Analysis of Highest and Best Use  
The Highest and Best Use of a property is the use that is physically possible, legally permissible, 
and financially feasible which results in a property value that exceeds the land as if vacant.  An 
opinion of the highest and best use results from consideration of the criteria noted above under the 
market conditions or likely conditions as of the effective date of value.  Implied in the definition 
is that the determination of highest and best use results from the judgment and analytical skills of 
the appraiser; that is, that the use determined from analysis represents an opinion, not necessarily 
a fact to be found.  In appraisal practice, the concept of highest and best use represents the premise 
upon which land value is based in a maximally productive use context.   
 
Analysis of Highest and Best Use as Vacant 

Physically Possible 

The physical attributes allow for a number of potential uses.  Elements such as site size, availability 
of utilities, known hazards (flood, environmental, etc.), and other potential influences are described 
in the Site Description and have been considered.  The subject is an irregular shaped site containing 
267.40± gross acres.  The subject consists of 148± acres of conservation easement/wetland areas 
and 119.40± acres of upland/usable areas.  The location of the conservation easements/wetlands 
and upland areas allows for a developable site.   The site is located in the northeast quadrant of 
Interstate 95 and International Golf Parkway. The size and shape of the property create a functional 
site.  There are no known physical site characteristics that would significantly restrict the 
development of any land uses that comfortably fit on the site.  Therefore, from a physically possible 
perspective, the subject site could physically support some type of residential development, which 
would fit within the confines of the site. 
 
Legally Permissible 

The subject is zoned PUD, Planned Unit Development.  The subject property was originally zoned 
for office use within the St. Johns DRI and was recently rezoned for residential subdivision use 
(age-restricted to 55 and older). The proposed subdivision is approved for 363 single-family 
residences.  According to the buyer, they could have had the subject rezoned to a traditional single-
family subdivision or age-restricted single-family subdivision.  The buyer stated they decided to 
rezone to the age-restricted use based on the allowed deduction of impact and concurrency fees.  
Therefore, from a legally permissible use, we believe that it is reasonably probable that the subject 
property could be utilized as an age-restricted subdivision or traditional subdivision. This zoning 
district is appropriate for the location and physical elements of the subject, providing for a 
consistency of use with the general neighborhood.  The location of the subject is appropriate for 
the uses allowed and a change in zoning is unlikely away from single family development 
(traditional or age-restricted development).   



   
 

Page | 36 
 

 
Financially Feasible 

Once physically possible and legally permissible uses are determined, an appraiser considers the 
potential of economic or financial feasibility for the most probable uses via a cost/benefit analysis 
or through direct market observation.  
 
We have surveyed the neighborhood to determine what types of land uses and improvements are 
present in the area.  The subject property is located within a rural community, surrounded by 
single-family development.   

To examine the current state of the single-family residential market we have reviewed the Real 
Trend Report – St Johns County – Real Estate Sales Activity as of February 2018.  The report 
indicates that there were 399 residential lot sales as of February 2018, compared to the previous 
year of 401 residential lot sales, which indicates similar activity.  The total number of single-family 
improved sales indicated 993 sales as of February 2017, compared to 1,001single-family improved 
sales the previous year, which indicates similar activity.  The total number of new single-family 
improved sales remained stable compared to last year.   
 
Based on the historical and current lot sales activity in the North Florida market area, we believe 
there is demand for raw entitled residential subdivision land.   
 
Maximally Productive 

Among the financially feasible uses, the use that results in the highest value (the maximally 
productive use) is the highest and best use.  Considering these factors, the maximally productive 
use as though vacant is for residential development. 
 
Conclusion of Highest and Best Use as though Vacant 

The conclusion of the highest and best use as though vacant is for residential development.  
 
  



   
 

Page | 37 
 

Sales Comparison Approach – Upland Land Valuation  
Land is most often valued using the Sales Comparison Approach.  This approach is based on the 
premise that a buyer would pay no more for a specific property than the cost of obtaining a property 
with the same utility.  In the sales comparison approach, the opinion of market value is based on 
closed sales, listings and pending sales of properties similar to the subject property, using the most 
relevant units of comparison.  The comparative analysis focuses on the difference between the 
comparable sales and the subject property using all appropriate elements of comparison. 
 
A systematic procedure for applying the sales comparison approach includes the following steps: 
(1) researching and verifying transactional data, (2) selecting relevant units of comparison, (3) 
analyzing and adjusting the comparable sales for differences in various elements of comparison, 
and (4) reconciling the adjusted sales into a value indication for the subject site. 
 
As previously discussed, we utilized an “across the fence” valuation. Whereby, the subject 
property is “associated” and valued based on the parent tract.  The “across the fence” valuation 
method is utilized to develop the various portions of the subject property (Right-of-Ways (21.3± 
AC), Lakes (21.8± AC), Buffer/Common Area (8.4± AC), Amenity Area (4.4± AC), and 
Preservation/Conservation Land (148.0± AC) to be conveyed to the CDD in fee simple, as of the 
effective date of the appraisal.  These various portions are integral to the larger parent tract 
development of the Parkland Preserve at World Golf Village development.  We have utilized 
residential subdivision land sales to value the upland areas (Right-of Ways, Lakes, 
Buffer/Common Area, and Amenity Area). 
 
All upland land are interchangeable in terms of their highest and best use, and accordingly are 
valued the same, even if the end use is as a roadway, buffer area, lake, etc.   Conservation areas, 
by contrast, are not interchangeable with uplands and accordingly are valued separately herein.  
This valuation method, as applied herein, is an industry standard method that is often used in 
valuing properties like the appraised lands.  
 
Unit of Comparison 

The unit of comparison depends on land use economics and how buyers and sellers use the 
property.  The unit of comparison in this analysis is price per gross acre. 
 
Elements of Comparison 

Elements of comparison are the characteristics or attributes of properties and transactions that 
cause the prices of real estate to vary.  The main elements of comparison that are considered in 
sales comparison analysis are as follows: (1) real property rights conveyed, (2) financing terms, 
(3) conditions of sale, (4) expenditures made immediately after purchase, (5) market conditions, 
(6) location and (7) physical characteristics. 
 
Comparable Sales Data 

A search of data sources and public records, a field survey, interviews with knowledgeable real 
estate professionals in the area, and/or a review of our internal database were conducted to obtain 
and verify comparable sales and listings of vacant land properties.   
 



   
 

Page | 38 
 

We have included four comparables in our analysis for the upland area, as these sales are judged 
the most comparable in developing an indication of the market value of the subject property. We 
have utilized four traditional single-residential subdivisions and an age-restricted residential 
subdivision for our analysis.  Information collected about each comparable sale will be found on 
the following pages along with a map that illustrates their locations in relation to the subject. 
  



   
 

Page | 39 
 

Land Sale Summary 
 

No. Location Sale Date Price Size in 
AC 

Price/ 
AC 

1.  State Road 16, St. Augustine, FL 06/13/2017 $850,000 22.16 $38,357 
2.  Deerfield Forest Drive, St. 

Augustine, FL 
02/15/2017 $1,295,000 42.94 $30,158 

3.  Greenbrier Road, St. Johns, FL 08/06/2015 $2,200,000 40.01 $54,986 
4.  Valley Ridge Blvd, Jacksonville, 

FL 
11/17/2014 $3,999,999 96.48 $41,459 

 
Land Sale Map 

 

 



   
 

Page | 40 
 

Land Sale No. 1 
 
 

 
 

Property Identification  
Record ID 6532 
Property Type Residential, Single-family Subdivision 
Property Name Vacant Residential Land 
Address State Road 16, St. Augustine, St. Johns County, Florida 32092 
Location Located on the east side of State Road 16 north of its intersection 

with Whisper Ridge Drive 
Tax ID 027440-0000 
  
Sale Data  
Grantor Tomoka Pines, LLC 
Grantee KB Home Jacksonville, LLC 
Sale Date June 13, 2017  
Deed Book/Page 4389/685 
Property Rights Fee Simple 
Conditions of Sale Arm's-Length 
Financing Cash to Seller 
Verification Other sources: Public Records, Confirmed by Thomas Whitelaw 
  
Sale Price $850,000   
  
Land Data  
Zoning PUD, Open Rural 
Topography Generally level and at or near road grade 
Utilities Access to unities 
Shape Irregular 
  



   
 

Page | 41 
 

 
Land Sale No. 1 (Cont.) 

 
Land Size Information  
Gross Land Size 22.160 Acres or 965,290 SF   
Planned Units 44 
Front Footage State Road 16; 
  
Indicators  
Sale Price/Gross Acre $38,357 
Sale Price/Planned Unit $19,318 
 
 
Remarks  
This is the sale of a vacant land parcel in St Augustine, St Johns County, Florida.  The property 
was covered with trees and natural vegetation.  The property was purchased for the development 
of 44 single-family residential lots by KB Homes. The property sold for approximately $38,357 
per acre or $19,318 per lot. 

  



   
 

Page | 42 
 

Land Sale No. 2 
 
 

 
 

Property Identification  
Record ID 7335 
Property Type Residential, Single-family Subdivision 
Property Name Vacant Single-Family Residential Development 
Address Deerfield Forest Drive, St. Augustine, St. Johns County, Florida 

32086 
Location Located on the south side of Deerfield Forest Drive just south of 

Watson Road 
Tax ID 140430-0021 
MSA Jacksonville 
  
Sale Data  
Grantor Deerfield Meadows, LLC 
Grantee Deerfield Holdings, LLC 
Sale Date February 15, 2017  
Deed Book/Page 4322/1913 
Property Rights Fee Simple 
Conditions of Sale Arm's Length 
Financing Cash-to-seller 
Verification Henry Rogers (Buyer Broker);; Confirmed by Thomas Whitelaw 
  
Sale Price $1,295,000   
  

  



   
 

Page | 43 
 

Land Sale No. 2 (Cont.) 
 
Land Data  
Zoning PUD, Planned Unit Development 
Topography Generally level and at or near road grade 
Utilities All available 
Shape Rectangular 
  
Land Size Information  
Gross Land Size 42.940 Acres or 1,870,466 SF   
Useable Land Size  31.860 Acres or 1,387,822 SF, 74.20% 
Wetlands Land Size  11.080 Acres or 482,645 SF, 25.80% 
  
Indicators  
Sale Price/Gross Acre $30,158 
Sale Price/Lot $17,500 
 
 
Remarks  
This is the sale of a vacant residential land parcel in St. Augustine, St. Johns County, Florida. The 
property consists of a total of 42.940± AC which contains approximately 31.86± AC with 
approximately 11.08± acres of wetlands.  The site is approved for 74 single-family residences.  

  



   
 

Page | 44 
 

Land Sale No. 3 
 
 

 
 

Property Identification  
Record ID 6712 
Property Type Residential, Single-family 
Property Name Vacant Residential Subdivision 
Address Greenbrier Road, St. Johns, St. Johns County, Florida 32259 
Location Located on the north side of Greenbrier Road, just west of its 

intersection with Longleaf Pine Parkway 
Tax ID 001360-0040 
MSA Jacksonville 
  
Sale Data  
Grantor William H. Goodman 
Grantee Mill Creek Plantation North, LLC 
Sale Date August 06, 2015  
Deed Book/Page 4068/1549 
Property Rights Fee Simple 
Conditions of Sale Arm's-Length 
Financing Cash to Seller 
Verification Confidential; Confirmed by Thomas Whitelaw 
  
Sale Price $2,200,000   
  
Land Data  
Zoning Residential 
Topography Generally level and at or near road grade 
Utilities All available 
Shape Slightly Irregular 
  
Land Size Information  
Gross Land Size 40.010 Acres or 1,742,836 SF   

  



   
 

Page | 45 
 

Land Sale No. 3 (Cont.) 
 
Planned Units 66 
Front Footage Greenbriar Road; 
  
Indicators  
Sale Price/Gross Acre $54,986 
Sale Price/Lot $33,333 
 
 
Remarks  
This is the sale of a vacant residential land parcel located in St Johns, St Johns County, Florida.   
The site was mostly partially wooded at the time of sale. This site was purchased for the 
development of a single-family residential subdivision called Lakes at Mill Creek Plantation.  The 
subdivision will consist of 66 lots.  Therefore, the property sold for approximately $54,986 per acre 
or $33,333.33 per lot.   

  



   
 

Page | 46 
 

Land Sale No. 4 
 
 

 
 

Property Identification  
Record ID 7159 
Property Type Residential, Single-family Subdivision 
Address Valley Ridge Blvd, Jacksonville, Duval County, Florida 32081 
Location Located on the southeast corner of Valley Ridge Blvd and 

Stonemason Way 
Tax ID 168149-6440 
MSA Jacksonville 
  
Sale Data  
Grantor Sonoc Company, LLC 
Grantee Standard Pacific of Florida 
Sale Date November 17, 2014  
Deed Book/Page 16979/2163 
Property Rights Fee Simple 
Conditions of Sale Arm's Length 
Financing Cash-to-Seller 
  
Sale Price $3,999,999   
  
Land Data  
Zoning PUD, Planned Unit Development 
Topography Generally level and at or near road grade 
Shape Slightly irregular 

  



   
 

Page | 47 
 

Land Sale No. 4 (Cont.) 
 
  
Land Size Information  
Gross Land Size 96.480 Acres or 4,202,669 SF   
Planned Units 196 
  
Indicators  
Sale Price/Gross Acre $41,459 
Sale Price/Lot $20,408 
 
 
Remarks  
This is the sale of a vacant single-family residential subdivision site located in the Nocatee area of 
Duval County. The property was approved for 196 lots which were age-restricted to 55 and older.  
The property was wooded at the time of sale. The property sold for approximately $41,459 per acre 
or $20,408 per lot.  

  



   
 

Page | 48 
 

Land Sales Analysis 

The preceding sales were determined to offer the best indication of value of the subject site via the 
Sales Comparison Approach.  A number of sales were examined, and in the final analysis, they were 
narrowed to the three most comparable transactions.  We have researched sales specifically entitled 
residential land sites from St. Johns and Duval Counties. 
 
There are several units of comparison generally employed in the analysis of entitled residential 
land.  In this instance, the market dictates the most appropriate index is price per acre.   
 
Comparable Land Sale Adjustments 

All of the sales are analyzed, and adjustments are made for differences in the various elements of 
comparison, including real property rights, financing terms, conditions of sale, expenditures made 
immediately after purchase, market conditions, location, size, and other relevant factors.  If the 
comparable sale is considered superior to the subject, we applied a negative adjustment to the 
comparable.  A positive adjustment to the comparable is applied if it is considered inferior to the 
subject.  A summary of the elements of comparison follows. 
 
Transaction Adjustments 

Transaction adjustments include 1) real property rights conveyed, 2) financing terms, 3) conditions 
of sale and 4) expenditures made immediately after purchase.  These items are applied prior to the 
application of the market conditions and property adjustments, and are discussed as follows:  
 
Property Rights 

Real property rights conveyed influence sale prices and must be considered when analyzing a sale 
comparable.  Typically, taken into account is fee simple and leased fee interests.  We have 
appraised the fee simple value herein.   
 
All of the comparable land sales represented the fee simple value; therefore, no adjustments are 
warranted for property rights conveyed. 
 
Financing 

The transaction price of one property may differ from that of an identical property due to different 
financial arrangements.  Sales involving financing terms that are not at or near market terms require 
adjustments for cash equivalency to reflect typical market terms.  A cash equivalency procedure 
discounts the atypical mortgage terms to provide an indication of value at cash equivalent terms. 
All of the transactions were financed at market terms; hence, no adjustments for financing were 
required.  If atypical financing were involved in the transaction, the appraiser would determine if 
those terms had a quantifiable effect on the sale price necessitating an adjustment. 

Conditions of Sale 

When the conditions of sale are atypical, the result may be a price that is higher or lower than that 
of a normal transaction.  Adjustments for conditions of sale usually reflect the motivations of either 
a buyer or a seller who is under duress to complete the transaction.  Another more typical condition 
of sale involves the downward adjustment required to a comparable property’s for-sale listing 



   
 

Page | 49 
 

price, which usually reflects the upper limit of value.  Each transaction was confirmed to be arm's 
length between willing buyers and sellers; therefore, no adjustments for abnormal conditions of sale 
were necessary.   
 
Expenditures after Purchase 

A knowledgeable buyer considers expenditures that will have to be made upon purchase of a 
property because these costs affect the price the buyer agrees to pay.  Such expenditures may 
include: (1) costs to demolish and remove any portion of the improvements, (2) costs to petition 
for a zoning change, and/or (3) costs to remediate environmental contamination. 
 
The relevant figure is not the actual cost incurred, but the cost that was anticipated by either the 
buyer, the seller or both.  Unless the sales involved expenditures anticipated upon the purchase 
date, no adjustments to the comparable sales are required for this element of comparison. 
 
Market Conditions 

Market conditions change over time because of inflation, deflation, fluctuations in supply and 
demand, and other factors.  Changing market conditions creates the need for adjustments to sales 
that represent transactions during periods of dissimilar market conditions. 
 
Based on an analysis of the chosen comparables, there does not appear to be a measurable increase 
or decrease in market conditions.   The sale comparables represent recent sale transactions near the 
date of value with no market conditions adjustments necessary.  
 
Property Adjustments 

Property adjustments are usually expressed quantitatively as percentages that reflect the increase 
or decrease in value attributable to the various characteristics of the property.  In some instances, 
however, qualitative adjustments are used.  These adjustments are based on locational and physical 
characteristics and are applied after the application of transaction and market conditions 
adjustments.  
 
The following is a narration of the property adjustments made to each of the sales.  The discussion 
will analyze each adjustment category deemed applicable to the subject property. 
 
Location 
Location adjustments may be required when the locational characteristics of a comparable property 
are different from those of the subject property.  These include, but are not limited to, general 
neighborhood characteristics, interstate accessibility, street exposure, corner versus interior lot 
location, neighboring properties, view amenities, and other factors.   

Land Sale No. 1 is located in an inferior location along State Road 16 which a less densely populated 
area compared to the subject property.  Therefore, we have adjusted the comparable upward.  

Land Sale No. 2 is located in an inferior location along Deerfield Forest Drive which a less densely 
populated area compared to the subject property.  Therefore, we have adjusted the comparable 
upward.  



   
 

Page | 50 
 

Land Sale Nos. 3 and 4 are located in a similar overall location compared to the subject property and 
required no adjustment.  
 
Number of Entitled Lots 
The subject property is entitled for 363 single-family lots that are platted but not yet recorded. 

All of the comparables were adjusted downward because of their smaller number of approved 
units.  Less density results in a shorter sell off period and thus a higher unit price than a larger deal 
than which would take longer to sell off.  
 
Amenities 
The subject property will feature an amenity center with state of the art fitness center, tennis and 
pickle ball courts, walking/biking trails, and swimming pool.  The subject property and Land Sale 
No. 4 benefit from these highly amenitized features.  Therefore, we have adjusted Land Sale Nos. 
1, 2 and 3 upward for their inferior amenities as compared to the subject property.  
 
Entitlements/Impact Fees 
The subject property benefits from being an age-restricted subdivision community because of the 
reduced impact and concurrency fees required for development of the site.  This is considered a 
superior characteristic.  
 
Land Sale Nos. 1, 2 and 3 are considered inferior to the subject property and require additional 
impact and concurrency fees as compared to the subject property.  Land Sale No. 4 was considered 
similar to the subject property and required no adjustment. 
 
Summary of Adjustments 
Based on the preceding analysis, we have summarized adjustments to the sale comparables on the 
following adjustment grid.  These quantitative adjustments are based on our market research, best 
judgment, and experience in the appraisal of similar properties. 
  



   
 

Page | 51 
 

 

 
 

Sales Comparison Approach Conclusion – Land Valuation 

From the market data available, land sales in competitive market areas were selected as most 
comparable to the subject.  The final adjusted sale prices reflected a per acre price range from 
$33,174 to $54,986 per acre, with an average of $42,435 per acre.  All of the comparable sales were 
given weight in concluding an, “as is”, unit value for the subject property. Based on the data 
presented herein, we conclude a unit value of $40,000 per acre for the subject property. 
 

 
  

Subject Comp 1 Comp 2 Comp 3 Comp 4
Location: International Golf Parkway State Road 16 Deerfield Forest Drive Greenbrier Road Valley Ridge Blvd
County: St. Johns St. Johns St. Johns St. Johns Duval
Seller: Northeast Quadrant 

Properties, LLC Tomoka Pines, LLC Deerfield Meadows, LLC William H. Goodman Sonoc Company, LLC
Buyer: NGMB Properties, LLC KB Home Jacksonville, LLC Deerfield Holdings, LLC Mill Creek Plantation North, LLC Standard Pacific of Florida
Date of Sale: October 20, 2017 June 13, 2017 February 15, 2017 August 6, 2015 November 17, 2014
Sale Price: $9,943,900 $850,000 $1,295,000 $2,200,000 $3,999,999
Site Size (Gross Acres): 267.40 22.16 42.94 40.01 96.48
Proposed Lots 363 44 74 66 196
Unadjusted Price/Acre: $37,187 $38,357 $30,158 $54,986 $41,459

Rights Transferred: Fee simple Fee simple Fee simple Fee simple
0% 0% 0% 0%

Financial Considerations: Market Market Market Market
0% 0% 0% 0%

Conditions of Sale: Arm's Length Arm's Length Arm's Length Arm's Length
0% 0% 0% 0%

Expenditures After Purchase: None None None None
0% 0% 0% 0%

Market Conditions - Time: Stable Stable Stable Stable
0% 0% 0% 0%

Time Adj. Cash Equiv. Price/Acre:    $38,357 $30,158 $54,986 $41,459
Location: Inferior Similar Similar Similar

10% 10% 0% 0%
No. of Entitled Lots 363 44 74 66 196

-15% -15% -15% -5%
Amenities Inferior Inferior Inferior Similar

10% 10% 10% 0%
Entitlements/Impact Fees Inferior Inferior Inferior Inferior

5% 5% 5% 0%
Net Adjustments: 10% 10% 0% -5%
Adjusted Price/Gross Acre: $42,193 $33,174 $54,986 $39,386

Land Sales Summary and Adjustment Grid

Indicated 
Unit Value

Indicated 
Value

Right-of-ways 21.3 AC $40,000 $852,000
Lakes 21.8 AC $40,000 $872,000
Buffer/Common Area 8.4 AC $40,000 $336,000
Amenity 4.4 AC $40,000 $176,000
Total $2,236,000
Total (Rounded) $2,235,000

Units

Summary of Land Values



   
 

Page | 52 
 

Sales Comparison Approach - Conservation/Wetlands Area 
Land is most often valued using the Sales Comparison Approach.  This approach is based on the 
premise that a buyer would pay no more for a specific property than the cost of obtaining a property 
with the same utility.  In the sales comparison approach, the opinion of market value is based on 
closed sales, listings and pending sales of properties similar to the subject property, using the most 
relevant units of comparison.  The comparative analysis focuses on the difference between the 
comparable sales and the subject property using all appropriate elements of comparison. 
 
A systematic procedure for applying the sales comparison approach includes the following steps: 
(1) researching and verifying transactional data, (2) selecting relevant units of comparison, (3) 
analyzing and adjusting the comparable sales for differences in various elements of comparison, 
and (4) reconciling the adjusted sales into a value indication for the subject site. 
 
As previously discussed, we utilized an “across the fence” valuation. Whereby, the subject 
property is “associated” and valued based on the parent tract.  The “across the fence” valuation 
method is utilized to develop the various portions (Right-of-Ways (21.3± AC), Lakes (21.8± AC), 
Buffer/Common Area (8.4± AC), Amenity Area (4.4± AC), and Preservation/Conservation Land 
(148.0± AC) to be conveyed to the CDD in fee simple as of the effective date of the appraisal.  
These various portions are integral to the larger parent tract development of the Parkland Preserve 
at World Golf Village development.  We have utilized preservation/conservation land sales to 
value the wetland/conservation areas. 
 
Unit of Comparison 

The unit of comparison depends on land use economics and how buyers and sellers use the 
property.  The unit of comparison in this analysis is price per gross acre. 
 
Elements of Comparison 

Elements of comparison are the characteristics or attributes of properties and transactions that 
cause the prices of real estate to vary.  The main elements of comparison that are considered in 
sales comparison analysis are as follows: (1) real property rights conveyed, (2) financing terms, 
(3) conditions of sale, (4) expenditures made immediately after purchase, (5) market conditions, 
(6) location and (7) physical characteristics. 
 
Comparable Sales Data 

A search of data sources and public records, a field survey, interviews with knowledgeable real 
estate professionals in the area, and/or a review of our internal database were conducted to obtain 
and verify comparable sales and listings of vacant land properties.   
 
We have included three comparables in our analysis for the conservation/preservation land, as 
these sales are judged the most comparable in developing an indication of the market value of the 
subject property. Conservation/wetland transactions are typically sold based on a price per acre 
basis as indicated by market participants. Adjustments to the sales are not applicable due to the 
limited development potential imposed by the conservation easement and wetland areas. The 
following sales of encumbered land were considered most comparable.  
  



   
 

Page | 53 
 

Land Sale Summary 
 

 
Land Sale Map 

 

 
  

No. Location Sale Date Price Size in AC Price/AC 
1. Otis Road, Jacksonville, FL 6/24/2016 $531,200 265.57 $2,000 
2. County Road 13 North, St. 

Augustine, FL 
10/30/2015 $98,000 90.75 $1,080 

3. Volusia Forest Trails, Pierson, 
FL 

04/14/2015 $1,200,000 585.00 $2,051 

 



   
 

Page | 54 
 

Land Sale No. 1 

 

 
Property Identification  
Record ID 7026 
Property Type Agricultural, Timber 
Address Otis Road, Jacksonville, Duval County, Florida 32219 
Location Located on the north side of Otis Road, approximately 3,800' 

southeast of US 301 
Tax ID 001339-0200, 001339-0100 
  
Sale Data  
Grantor Rayonier Atlantic Timber Company F/K/A Timberlands Holding 

Company Atlantic  
Grantee Christopher Klay Vause etux, Johnna C. Vause  
Sale Date June 24, 2016  
Deed Book/Page 17622-2435 
Property Rights Fee Simple  

  



   
 

Page | 55 
 

Land Sale No. 1 (Cont.) 
 
Marketing Time Unknown  
Conditions of Sale Arm's length  
Financing Cash to seller  
Verification Christopher Vause; 904-759-9681; Confirmed by Thomas 

Whitelaw 
  
Sale Price $531,200   
  
Land Data  
Zoning AG-R, Agricultural 
Topography See remarks 
Utilities Electric, well and septic 
Shape Irregular 
  
Land Size Information  
Gross Land Size 265.570 Acres or 11,568,229 SF   
Useable Land Size  71.704 Acres or 3,123,426 SF, 27.00% 
Unusable Land Size  193.866 Acres or 8,444,803 SF, 73.00% 
  
Indicators  
Sale Price/Gross Acre $2,000 
 
 
Remarks  
This is the sale of an agricultural land in Jacksonville, Duval County, FL. The site consists of 
approximately 265.57 acres (11,568,229 square feet), of which approximately 73% (193.886 acres) 
is wetlands and 27% (71.704 acres) is uplands. After the sale the rear portion of the property was 
sold to another party. According to the confirmation source the property did not have merchantable 
timber at the time of sale.  

  



   
 

Page | 56 
 

Land Sale No. 2 
 
 

 

 
Property Identification  
Record ID 7333 
Property Type Specialty Uses, Conservation 
Address County Road 13 North, St. Augustine, St. Johns County, Florida 

32092 
Location Located on the north and south County Road 13 North 

approximately 1 mile north of County Road 214 
Tax ID 017520-0000 
MSA Jacksonville 
  
Sale Data  
Grantor Angela C. Babcock, a/k/a Filomena C. Babcock and Daniel W. 

Babcock 
Grantee Jeffrey G. Czyzewski 
Sale Date October 30, 2015  
Deed Book/Page 4107/295 
Property Rights Fee Simple 
Conditions of Sale Arm's Length 
Financing Cash-to-seller 
Verification Angela Babcock (Seller); 904-824-0561, March 12, 2018; 

Confirmed by Thomas Whitelaw 
  
Sale Price $98,000   



   
 

Page | 57 
 

  
Land Sale No. 2 (Cont.) 

 
Land Data  
Zoning OR, Open Rural 
Topography Conservation 
Shape Irregular 
  
Land Size Information  
Gross Land Size 90.750 Acres or 3,953,070 SF   
  
Indicators  
Sale Price/Gross Acre $1,080 
 
 
Remarks  
This is the sale of conservation/agricultural land in St. Johns County, Florida. The site consists of 
two non-contiguous parcels which are located on the north and south side of County Road 13 North. 
The area north of County Road 13 is located on the St. Johns River and Tocoi Creeks and contains 
all wetlands. The area along the south of the road has approximately 23.750± AC of upland area 
(26%).  The remainder of the site contains approximately 67.000± AC of wetlands (74%).  The 
highest and best use of this site is conservation land. 

 
  



   
 

Page | 58 
 

Land Sale No. 3 
 
 

 

 
Property Identification  
Record ID 7336 
Property Type Agricultural, Conservation 
Address Volusia Forest Trails, Pierson, Flagler County, Florida 32110 
Location Located along the northwest quadrant of Washington Street and 

Volusia Forest Trail 
Tax ID 18-14-29-0000-04020-0000 & 19-14-29-0000-01010-0000 
  
Sale Data  
Grantor St. Johns River Water Management District 
Grantee E.B. Conoley and Lorraine B. Conoley 
Sale Date April 14, 2015  
Deed Book/Page 2063/472 
Property Rights Fee Simple 
Conditions of Sale Arm's Length 
Financing Cash-to-Seller 
Verification Ray Bunton (SJRWMD); Confirmed by Thomas Whitelaw 
  
Sale Price $1,200,000   
  
Land Data  
Zoning AC, Agricultural 
Shape Irregular 
  



   
 

Page | 59 
 

Land Sale No. 3 (Cont.) 
 
Land Size Information  
Gross Land Size 585.000 Acres or 25,482,600 SF   
  
Indicators  
Sale Price/Gross Acre $2,051 
 
 
Remarks  
This is the sale of two contiguous parcels of agricultural/conservation land in Pierson, Flagler 
County, Florida. The property consists of approximately 69% uplands and 31% of jurisdictional 
wetlands.  The site is encumbered by five easements which state "there can be no conversion of 
natural areas to improved areas, no intensification of land uses, no timber harvesting in the uplands, 
no residential, commercial or industrial development, and no mining.  The highest and best use of 
the site was for conservation/preservation land.  

 
  



   
 

Page | 60 
 

 
 
Reconciliation and Conclusion of Value – Land (Conservation/Wetlands) 

The sales reflect a range of $1,080 - $2,051 per acre. To arrive at an indication of value, we have 
considered each of the comparable sales and have arrived at an overall unit price of $1,500 per 
acre. 

 
 

  

Subject Comp 1 Comp 2 Comp 3
OR Book/Page 1991/1155 4107/295 2063/472
Address International Golf Parkway Otis Road County Road 13 North Volusia Forest Trails
City St. Johns Jacksonville St. Augustine Pierson
County St Johns Duval St. Johns Flagler
Date of Sale March 27, 2018 June 24, 2016 October 30, 2015 April 14, 2015
Sale Price N/A $531,200 $98,000 $1,200,000 
Gross Acres 148.000 265.570 90.750 585.000
Gross Square Feet 6,446,880 11,568,229 3,953,070 25,482,600
Wetland Acres 148.000 193.866 23.750 181.350
Wetland Square Feet 6,446,880 8,444,807 1,034,550 7,899,606
Usable Acres 0.000 71.704 67.000 403.650
Usable Square Feet 0 3,123,422 2,918,520 17,582,994
Zoning PUD AG-R OR AC
Price Per Gross Acre $2,000 $1,080 $2,051
Rights Transferred Fee Simple Fee Simple Fee Simple

% Adjustment 0% 0% 0%
Financial Considerations Cash to Seller Cash to Seller Cash to Seller

% Adjustment 0% 0% 0%
Conditions of Sale Arm's-length Arm's-length Arm's-length

% Adjustment 0% 0% 0%
Market Conditions # of Months 21.37 29.30 35.93

Monthly Market Cond 0.00% 0% 0% 0%
Current Price per Gross Acre $2,000 $1,080 $2,051

Land Sales Summary and Adjustment Grid

Indicated Value per Gross Acre $1,500
Subject Gross Acre x 148.000
Indicated Value $222,000
Rounded $220,000



   
 

Page | 61 
 

Final Value Conclusions 
Reconciliation is the process of analyzing alternative results and through the exercise of judgment, 
reaching a conclusion (final estimate of market value).  A meaningful, defensible conclusion is 
based on the appropriateness, accuracy, and quantity of evidence available for each approach to 
value. 

Market Value, As Is 

The Sales Comparison Approach is generally considered the most reliable indicator of value when 
the data available closely corresponds to the location, age, size, and quality of the property being 
appraised, since it reflects the interaction of buyers and sellers in the marketplace.  The Sales 
Comparison Approach includes adequate sales available for critical analysis and provides a 
reasonable indication of the As Is Market Value of the subject site. 

 
 
“As Is” Market Value via Sales Comparison Approach $2,455,000 
 
 
  

Land Value - (Right-of-Ways, Lakes, Buffer/Common Area and Amenity) $2,235,000
Land Value - Preservation/Wetland Area $220,000
Total $2,455,000



   
 

Page | 62 
 

Marketing Time 
The reasonable marketing time is an opinion of the amount of time it might take to sell a real or 
personal property interest at the concluded Market Value level during the period immediately after 
the effective date of an appraisal.  Marketing time differs from exposure time, which is always 
presumed to precede the effective date of an appraisal.  In this instance, we have determined a twelve 
to twenty-four months marketing time for the subject. 
 
Exposure Time 
Reasonable exposure time is one of a series of conditions in most Market Value definitions.  
Exposure time is always presumed to precede the effective date of the appraisal. 
 
Exposure time is defined in the Dictionary of Real Estate Appraisal, 6th Edition, page 83, published 
by the Appraisal Institute, as: 
 

1 The time a property remains on the market. 
 
2. [The] estimated length of time that the property interest being appraised would have 
been offered on the market prior to the hypothetical consummation of a sale at market value 
on the effective date of the appraisal. Comment: Exposure time is a retrospective opinion 
based on an analysis of past events assuming a competitive and open market. (USPAP, 
2018-2019 ed.) 

 
Exposure period can be based on statistical information about days on market; information gathered 
through sales verification and interviews of market participants.  In this instance, we have determined 
a 12-month exposure time for the subject. 
 
The Market Value of the property appraised in this report is determined as of the date shown in the 
Certification.  Constantly changing economic conditions have varying effects upon real property 
values.  Even after the passage of a relatively short period, property values may change substantially. 
  



   
 

Page | 63 
 

Certification – Courtland Carter Eyrick, MAI 
I certify that, to the best of our knowledge and belief: 

1. The statements of fact contained in this report are true and correct. 

2. The reported analyses, opinions, and conclusions are limited only by the reported 
assumptions and limiting conditions and are our personal, impartial, and unbiased 
professional analyses, opinions, and conclusions. 

3. I have no present or prospective interest in the property that is the subject of this report and 
no personal interest with respect to the parties involved. 

4. I have performed no services, as an appraiser or in any other capacity, regarding the 
property that is the subject of this report within the three-year period immediately 
preceding acceptance of this assignment. 

5. We have no bias with respect to the property that is the subject of this report or to the 
parties involved with this assignment. 

6. Our engagement in this assignment was not contingent upon developing or reporting 
predetermined results. 

7. Our compensation for completing this assignment is not contingent upon the development 
or reporting of a predetermined value or direction in value that favors the cause of the 
client, the amount of the value opinion, the attainment of a stipulated result, or the 
occurrence of a subsequent event directly related to the intended use of this appraisal. 

8. I have not made a personal inspection of the property that is the subject of this report 

9. Our analyses, opinions, and conclusions were developed, and this report has been prepared, 
in conformity with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice, 2018-2019 
Edition. 

10. Our analyses, opinions, and conclusions have been developed, and this report has been 
prepared, in compliance with the requirements of the Code of Professional Ethics and 
Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP) as promulgated by the Appraisal 
Standards Board of The Appraisal Foundation, and in accordance with the appraisal-related 
mandates within Title XI of the Federal Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery, and 
Enforcement Act of 1989 (FIRREA).  This report was also prepared in conformance with 
the State of Florida Standards for Certified General Real Estate Appraisers appraisal 
requirements. 

11. The use of this report is subject to the requirements of the Appraisal Institute relating to 
review by its duly authorized representatives. 

12. As of the date of this report, I have completed the continuing education program for 
Designated Members of the Appraisal Institute. 

13. As of the date of this report, I have completed the Standards and Ethics Education 
Requirements for Candidates of the Appraisal Institute. 

14. As of the date of this report, I have completed the Standards and Ethics Education 
Requirements for Practicing Affiliates of the Appraisal Institute. 



   
 

Page | 64 
 

15. As of the date of this report, I have completed the continuing education program for 
Practicing Affiliates of the Appraisal Institute. 

16. We certify that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, our analyses, opinions and 
conclusions were developed, and this Report complies with the Standards of Valuation 
Practice of the Appraisal Institute. 

17. I, Courtland Carter Eyrick, the supervisory appraiser of a registered appraiser trainee who 
contributed to the development or communication of this appraisal, hereby accepts full and 
complete responsibility for any work performed by the registered appraise trainee named 
in this report as if it were my own work. 

 
Certified by, 
FLORIDA VALUATION 
 

 
 
Courtland Carter Eyrick, MAI 
Principal 
Florida State-Certified General 
Real Estate Appraiser License #RZ2856 
License Expires 11-30-2018 
ceyrick@floridavaluation.com 
 
  



   
 

Page | 65 
 

Certification – Thomas L. Whitelaw 
1. The statements of fact contained in this report are true and correct. 

2. The reported analyses, opinions, and conclusions are limited only by the reported 
assumptions and limiting conditions and are our personal, impartial, and unbiased 
professional analyses, opinions, and conclusions. 

3. I have no present or prospective interest in the property that is the subject of this report and 
no personal interest with respect to the parties involved. 

4. I have performed no services, as an appraiser or in any other capacity, regarding the 
property that is the subject of this report within the three-year period immediately 
preceding acceptance of this assignment. 

5. We have no bias with respect to the property that is the subject of this report or to the 
parties involved with this assignment. 

6. Our engagement in this assignment was not contingent upon developing or reporting 
predetermined results. 

7. Our compensation for completing this assignment is not contingent upon the development 
or reporting of a predetermined value or direction in value that favors the cause of the 
client, the amount of the value opinion, the attainment of a stipulated result, or the 
occurrence of a subsequent event directly related to the intended use of this appraisal. 

8. I have made a personal inspection of the property that is the subject of this report 

9. Our analyses, opinions, and conclusions were developed, and this report has been prepared, 
in conformity with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice, 2018-2019 
Edition. 

10. Our analyses, opinions, and conclusions have been developed, and this report has been 
prepared, in compliance with the requirements of the Code of Professional Ethics and 
Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP) as promulgated by the Appraisal 
Standards Board of The Appraisal Foundation, and in accordance with the appraisal-related 
mandates within Title XI of the Federal Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery, and 
Enforcement Act of 1989 (FIRREA).  This report was also prepared in conformance with 
the State of Florida Standards for Certified General Real Estate appraisal requirements. 

11. The use of this report is subject to the requirements of the Appraisal Institute relating to 
review by its duly authorized representatives. 

12. I certify that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, our analyses, opinions and 
conclusions were developed, and this Report complies with the Standards of Valuation 
Practice of the Appraisal Institute. 

 
  



   
 

Page | 66 
 

Certified by, 
FLORIDA VALUATION 
 

 
 
Thomas L. Whitelaw 
Appraiser 
Florida State-Registered Trainee 
Appraiser License # RI23873 
License Expires 11-30-2018 
twhitelaw@floridavaluation.com 
 
 
  



   
 

Page | 67 
 

Definitions 
Definition of Market Value1 
“Market Value,” as used in this appraisal, is defined as “the most probable price that a property 
should bring in a competitive and open market under all conditions requisite to a fair sale, the 
buyer and seller each acting prudently and knowledgeably, and assuming the price is not affected 
by undue stimulus.”  Implicit in this definition are the consummation of a sale as of a specified 
date and the passing of title from seller to buyer under conditions whereby: 

 
 Buyer and seller are typically motivated. 
 Both parties are well informed or well advised, each acting in what they consider 

their own best interests; 
 A reasonable time is allowed for exposure in the open market; 
 Payment is made in terms of cash in U.S. dollars or in terms of financial 

arrangements comparable thereto; and 
 The price represents the normal consideration for the property sold unaffected by 

special or creative financing or sale concessions granted by anyone associated with 
the sale.” 

 
(Source: Appraisal Institute, The Dictionary of Real Estate Appraisal, 6th ed., s.v.“market value.” 
(Chicago: Appraisal Institute, 2015), PDF e-book and from 55FR34696, Aug. 24, 1990 - 
F.I.R.R.E.A Title XI Subpart C 34.42 (g))
 
Client 
The party or parties who engage an appraiser (by employment or contract) in a specific assignment. 
 
Assignment 
A valuation service provided as a consequence of an agreement between an appraiser and a client.  
 
Intended Use 
The use or uses of an appraiser’s reported appraisal, appraisal review, or appraisal consulting 
assignment opinions and conclusions, as identified by the appraiser based on communication with 
the client at the time of the assignment. 
 
Intended User 
The client and any other party as identified, by name or type, as users of the appraisal, appraisal 
review, or appraisal consulting report by the appraiser based on communication with the client at 
the time of the assignment.  
 
Extraordinary Assumption 

An assumption, directly related to a specific assignment, which, if found to be false, could alter 
the appraiser’s opinions or conclusions.  
 

Comment: Extraordinary assumptions presume as fact otherwise uncertain information about 
physical, legal, or economic characteristics of the subject property; or about conditions external to 
the property, such as market conditions or trends; or about the integrity of data used in an analysis.  



   
 

Page | 68 
 

The definition of “extraordinary assumption” builds upon the definition of “assumption”. 
Therefore, the first thing to acknowledge with regard to an extraordinary assumption is that we 
really believe an extraordinary assumption to be true. Second, we acknowledge that if we found 
that the extraordinary assumption was actually not true, then our value opinion could be impacted 
or changed as a result. This is what makes it extraordinary, because it is so relevant to our appraisal 
or value opinion. Therefore SR 2-1(a) requires that all extraordinary assumptions be disclosed, so 
that everyone knows that the value opinion depends upon the extraordinary assumption being true.  
 
Hypothetical Condition 

That which is contrary to what exists but is supposed for the purpose of analysis.  
 

Extraordinary Assumptions Compared to Hypothetical Conditions 
 The best way to distinguish between an extraordinary assumption and a hypothetical condition 
is, if as of the date of value, the condition in question is known to be false; then it is a hypothetical 
condition.  If, as the date of value, the fact of the condition is unknown and it is reasonable to believe 
that the condition is true, then the condition is an extraordinary assumption. 
 
 Comment: Hypothetical conditions assume conditions contrary to known facts about physical, 
legal, or economic characteristics of the subject property; or about conditions external to the 
property, such as market conditions or trends; or about the integrity of data used in an analysis.   
 



   
 

Page | 69 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ADDENDA  



   
 

Page | 70 
 

Property Appraiser’s Record 

 
 



   
 

Page | 71 
 

 
 

 



   
 

Page | 72 
 

 

 



   
 

Page | 73 
 

 


	ADPD0E.tmp
	RESOLUTION 2018-01
	1. DISTRICT OFFICERS.  The District officers are as follows:
	___________________________ is appointed Chairperson.
	___________________________ is appointed Vice-Chairperson.
	2. CONFLICTS.  All Resolutions or parts of Resolutions in conflict herewith are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict.
	3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption.

	CDD budget worksheet (version 2).pdf
	sample

	Exhibit 24 Funding Request #1.pdf
	Sheet1

	Report-4-13-18.pdf
	2018_04_13 Parkland Preserve - Engineer's Report COVER 
	signature
	2018_04_13 Parkland Preserve - Engineer's Report
	A
	2018-03-16 - Parkland_CDD Boundary Exhibit A
	B
	2018-03-16 - Parkland_CDD Boundary Exhibit B
	C
	2018-03-16 - Parkland_CDD Boundary Exhibit C
	D
	2018-03-16 - Parkland_CDD Boundary Exhibit D 01
	2018-03-16 - Parkland_CDD Boundary Exhibit D 02




